# **JMIR Mental Health**

## Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (2023): 4.8 Volume 8 (2021), Issue 6 ISSN 2368-7959 Editor in Chief: John Torous, MD, MBI

# Contents

#### **Reviews**

Benefits of Digital Health Resources for Substance Use Concerns in Women: Scoping Review (e25952)	
Lena Quilty, Branka Agic, Michelle Coombs, Betty-Lou Kristy, Jill Shakespeare, Adrienne Spafford, Reena Besa, Shadini Dematagoda, Alina Patel, Rebecca Persaud, Leslie Buckley	3
Ethics and Law in Research on Algorithmic and Data-Driven Technology in Mental Health Care: Scoping Review (e24668)	
Piers Gooding, Timothy Kariotis.	60

# **Original Papers**

XSL•F<del>0</del> RenderX

Factors Predicting Trial Engagement, Treatment Satisfaction, and Health-Related Quality of Life During a Web-Based Treatment and Social Networking Trial for Binge Drinking and Depression in Young Adults: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial (e23986)	
Samineh Sanatkar, Milena Heinsch, Peter Baldwin, Mark Rubin, Jenny Geddes, Sally Hunt, Amanda Baker, Kathryn Woodcock, Terry Lewin, Kathleen Brady, Mark Deady, Louise Thornton, Maree Teesson, Frances Kay-Lambkin.	16
Typology and Impact of YouTube Videos Posted in Response to a Student Suicide Crisis: Social Media Metrics and Content Analyses (e15551)	
Qijin Cheng, Carrie Lui, Flora Ip, Paul Yip	29
Design and Implementation of an Informatics Infrastructure for Standardized Data Acquisition, Transfer, Storage, and Export in Psychiatric Clinical Routine: Feasibility Study (e26681)	
Rogério Blitz, Michael Storck, Bernhard Baune, Martin Dugas, Nils Opel.	42
Preliminary Outcomes of an Ecological Momentary Intervention for Social Functioning in Schizophrenia: Pre-Post Study of the Motivation and Skills Support App (e27475)	
Daniel Fulford, David Gard, Kim Mueser, Jasmine Mote, Kathryn Gill, Lawrence Leung, Jessica Mow	82
Needs and Experiences of Users of Digital Navigation Tools for Mental Health Treatment and Supportive Services: Survey Study (e27022)	
Elizabeth Stafford, Teri Brister, Ken Duckworth, Natali Rauseo-Ricupero, Sarah Lagan.	96
Impact of Jointly Using an e–Mental Health Resource (Self-Management And Recovery Technology) on Interactions Between Service Users Experiencing Severe Mental Illness and Community Mental Health Workers: Grounded Theory Study (e25998)	
Anne Williams, Ellie Fossey, John Farhall, Fiona Foley, Neil Thomas.	104

Twitter Users' Views on Mental Health Crisis Resolution Team Care Compared With Stakeholder Interviews and Focus Groups: Qualitative Analysis (e25742)	
Natasha Chilman, Nicola Morant, Brynmor Lloyd-Evans, Jane Wackett, Sonia Johnson.	117
Trajectories of Change in an Open-access Internet-Based Cognitive Behavior Program for Childhood and Adolescent Anxiety: Open Trial (e27981)	
Sonja March, Philip Batterham, Arlen Rowe, Caroline Donovan, Alison Calear, Susan Spence.	129
Indications of Depressive Symptoms During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Germany: Comparison of National Survey and Twitter Data (e27140)	
Caroline Cohrdes, Seren Yenikent, Jiawen Wu, Bilal Ghanem, Marc Franco-Salvador, Felicitas Vogelgesang	143
Psychological Crisis Intervention for COVID-19 Lockdown Stress in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: Survey Study and Qualitative Analysis (e28097)	
Katarzyna Cyranka, Dominika Dudek, Maciej Małecki, Bartłomiej Matejko, Tomasz Klupa	158

# Viewpoint

COVID-19 and Open Notes: A New Method to Enhance Patient Safety and Trust (e29314)	
Charlotte Blease, Liz Salmi, Maria Hägglund, Deborah Wachenheim, Catherine DesRoches.	38

# **Corrigenda and Addenda**



# Benefits of Digital Health Resources for Substance Use Concerns in Women: Scoping Review

Lena Quilty<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Branka Agic<sup>1,2</sup>, MD, PhD; Michelle Coombs<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Betty-Lou Kristy<sup>4</sup>; Jill Shakespeare<sup>1</sup>, MSW; Adrienne Spafford<sup>5</sup>, BCom; Reena Besa<sup>1</sup>, MLS; Shadini Dematagoda<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Alina Patel<sup>1,2</sup>, MA; Rebecca Persaud<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Leslie Buckley<sup>1,2</sup>, MD, MPH

<sup>1</sup>Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>2</sup>University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>3</sup>The Jean Tweed Treatment Centre, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Centre for Innovation in Peer Support, Support House, Oakville, ON, Canada

<sup>5</sup>Addictions and Mental Health Ontario, Toronto, ON, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Lena Quilty, PhD Centre for Addiction and Mental Health 1025 Queen Street West Toronto, ON, M6J 1H1 Canada Phone: 1 4165358501 Email: Lena.Quilty@camh.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** Digital health resources are being increasingly used to support women with substance use concerns. Although empirical research has demonstrated that these resources have promise, the available evidence for their benefit in women requires further investigation. Evidence supports the capacity of interventions that are sex-, gender-, and trauma-informed to improve treatment access and outcomes and to reduce health system challenges and disparities. Indeed, both sex- and gender-specific approaches are critical to improve health and gender equity. Violence and trauma are frequent among those with substance use concerns, but they disproportionately affect those who identify as female or women, further underscoring the need for trauma-informed care as well.

**Objective:** The objective of this investigation was to evaluate the evidence supporting the efficacy or effectiveness of online or mobile interventions for risky or harmful substance use in adults who identify as female or women, or who report a history of trauma.

**Methods:** This scoping review is based on an academic search in MEDLINE, APA PsycINFO, Embase, Cochrane Central, and CINAHL, as well as a grey literature search in US and Canadian government and funding agency websites. Of the 7807 records identified, 465 remained following title and abstract screening. Of these, 159 met all eligibility criteria and were reviewed and synthesized.

**Results:** The 159 records reflected 141 distinct studies and 125 distinct interventions. Investigations and the interventions evaluated predominantly focused on alcohol use or general substance use. Evaluated digital health resources included multisession and brief-session interventions, with a wide range of therapeutic elements. Multisession online and mobile interventions exhibited beneficial effects in 86.1% (105/122) of studies. Single-session interventions similarly demonstrated beneficial effects in 64.2% (43/67) of study conditions. Most investigations did not assess gender identity or conduct sex- or gender-based analyses. Only 13 investigations that included trauma were identified.

**Conclusions:** Despite the overall promise of digital health interventions for substance use concerns, direct or quantitative evidence on the efficacy or effectiveness of interventions in females or women specifically is weak.

(JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e25952) doi:10.2196/25952

#### **KEYWORDS**

women; female; gender-specific; digital health; internet; mobile app; technology; technology interventions; technology-based intervention; substance use concerns; trauma

#### Introduction

#### Background

Despite the higher prevalence of substance misuse and substance use disorders in men compared with women, a substantial proportion of women do experience harms associated with substance use. Moreover, research suggests that substance use and associated harms have been increasing in women over time. For example, the frequency and volume of alcohol use in women increased substantially from the 2000s to 2010s [1,2]. Cannabis use has exhibited an increase over even shorter time periods, and recent estimates suggest that 10% of women in Canada self-reported having a dependence on some form of illicit drug [1,3]. Substance use in women is further associated with staggering personal and societal costs. In particular, it is strongly linked to mental health concerns, including depression and suicidal thoughts and behaviors [4], as well as physical health concerns, including morbidity and mortality [5]. Substance misuse has associated health impacts on maternal health, fetal and neonatal morbidity, prematurity, and small for gestational age. It also leads to parenting deficits related to psychological and environmental concerns [6,7]. Overall, societal costs associated with substance use are widespread and growing, as illustrated by increasing hospitalizations due to substance use [8] and increasing loss in productivity, which is estimated to be over Can \$15 billion [7].

#### Sex-, Gender-, and Trauma-Informed Supports for Substance Use Concerns

Despite an increase in substance use among women, women are generally underrepresented in treatment settings [9]. Research has suggested that women are less inclined to seek treatment until negative consequences become severe [10,11]. Additionally, research has demonstrated that women experience specific barriers to care, from psychological barriers, such as stigma and discrimination, to practical barriers, such as decreased opportunity due to caregiving roles and responsibilities, relationship abuse and violence, etc [12]. Women are more likely to be principal caregivers to children and other family members, and concerns regarding the potential involvement of child protection services or other social services as a result of seeking support can be a particularly powerful deterrent. These barriers can thus delay treatment seeking, such that women presenting to specialized services exhibit both acute and complex needs to impact both treatment engagement and outcomes.

Evidence supports the capacity of interventions that are sex-, gender-, and trauma-informed to improve treatment access and outcomes and to reduce health system challenges and disparities. Indeed, both sex- and gender-specific approaches are critical to improve health and gender equity, attending to the biological factors that impact the response to substances and biological treatments, as well as the gendered experiences of substance use challenges and their management [13]. Trauma is critical

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25952
```

to consider in this context. While specifics may vary, trauma is generally defined as an emotional consequence of a deeply distressing or disturbing event [14] that has overcome an individual's ability to cope [13]. An elevated prevalence of substance use among those with a history of trauma supports a strong overall association between trauma exposure and substance misuse [15]. Strikingly, 75% of women and more than 25% of men who enter treatment for substance use disorders report histories of abuse and trauma [15-17]. Those with a history of trauma have been shown to experience more complications in treatment for substance use disorders, with higher levels of distress, lower treatment adherence, and longer courses, when compared with those without a history of trauma [18]. Despite high prevalence rates and significant implications, trauma is not frequently assessed or addressed in the treatment of substance use disorders [19]. Thus, although trauma and substance use concerns frequently co-occur, adults who identify as female or women are disproportionately affected by trauma and the impact of trauma on care. This health disparity further underscores the need for sex-, gender-, and trauma-informed interventions.

Current evidence-based best practice guidelines have therefore highlighted the importance of gender- and trauma-informed treatments for substance use concerns in women. Gender-informed practices include integrated treatment approaches addressing a wide range of women's needs (eg, physical, social, and mental health needs, and child-centered services such as prenatal services, parenting programs, and child care) and are associated with improvements in recovery, parenting skills, and emotional health [20]. Trauma-informed practices, in turn, follow the principles of trauma awareness/acknowledgment; maintaining trust and safety; promoting choice and collaboration; maintaining focus on strength/skills building; attending to cultural, historical, and gender issues such as intimate partner violence; peer support; and mutual self-help. Trauma-informed care is also associated with improved service user experiences and clinical outcomes [21].

It is notable then that the gender- and trauma-informed practices most appropriate to women with substance use difficulties primarily comprise integrated psychosocial interventions, most commonly provided in-person and in group formats. Yet, in many jurisdictions, this model of care delivery is not possible to maintain during the COVID-19 global pandemic. Similar to other health care settings, substance use treatment centers serving women are increasingly turning to digital health solutions to provide support, particularly while physical distancing measures are necessary to protect public health. Digital health solutions may in fact overcome numerous barriers to care experienced by women and provide a valuable addition to the health system even beyond the current crisis.

In a recent review, Nesvåg and McKay [22] evaluated the feasibility and therapeutic benefits of digital interventions to

XSL•FO RenderX

prevent and treat substance use concerns. This review located 28 unique interventions, which were categorized as simple or complex based on the number of features. Simple interventions were generally mobile apps integrated within other services and supports, whereas complex interventions were more frequently delivered as stand-alone interventions, using a personal computer and/or a mobile app format. A large proportion of participants (70%-90%) found the interventions to be useful, and more than half of the studies found small to medium positive effects in comparison to a control group. This review supported the feasibility of digital health resources for substance use concerns, but found less consistent support for their efficacy or effectiveness. In a review centered on women of childbearing age, Hai et al [23] evaluated the efficacy of technology-based interventions for substance use, with a focus on randomized controlled trials. This review located 15 trials, and a meta-analysis of 13 trials supported the efficacy of the digital health interventions for alcohol use concerns specifically compared with control conditions.

This review extends the foundational work in several ways. First, Hai et al [23] specifically focused on studies conducted in women of childbearing age, precluding an evaluation of differential effects across sex or gender. Second, both Hai et al [23] and Nesvåg and McKay [22] specifically focused on randomized controlled trials; however, initial investigations as well as investigations with a focus on effectiveness and/or implementation outcomes in real-world settings may utilize different research designs. Third, previous reviews have not systematically extracted data regarding the trauma endorsed by samples, limiting the capacity to determine the degree to which this crucial clinical feature is integrated into research designs, analyses, and interpretations. The current investigation therefore conducted a scoping review to evaluate the nature of the evidence for the efficacy and/or effectiveness of digital health resources to treat substance use and/or associated risks or harms. Consistent with recommendations [24], we conducted a scoping review to evaluate the types of available evidences in the field, which we envisioned would therefore either act as a precursor to a systematic review or support the analysis of knowledge gaps, contingent upon the results. We therefore implemented a search strategy including a wide range of research designs and requiring a limited proportion of adults who identify as female or women, or who report a history of trauma, regardless of sex or gender. We focused on web-based interventions as classified by Barak et al [25], specifically self-guided interventions with or without adjunctive tailored human support. We did not incorporate remotely delivered synchronous interventions due to stakeholder-identified needs for digital interventions that do not necessitate clinician mediation or delivery and that may extend the capacity of the limited workforce to meet increasing clinical demands [26].

The aim of this investigation was to evaluate the current evidence for digital health resources for substance use concerns, with a focus on resources that have been evaluated in females or women, or in those who report a history of trauma, regardless of sex or gender. Although current resources may not have been designed to fully incorporate gender- and trauma-based principles, their therapeutic benefit in these groups is

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25952
```

nevertheless an important consideration in evaluating currently available resources, as well as identifying priorities for both clinical and research initiatives.

## Methods

#### Overview

The methodology for this scoping review was based on the framework developed by Arksey and O'Malley [27] and later refined by Levac et al [28]. The stages are briefly outlined as (1) identifying the research question, (2) identifying relevant studies, (3) study selection, (4) charting the data, and (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting the resources. Each stage is described below.

#### **Stage 1: Identifying the Research Question**

The scoping review was conducted to answer the following research questions:

- 1. What digital health resources have been evaluated in those who identify as female/women or those reporting a history of trauma, regardless of sex or gender?
- 2. What digital health resources have empirical support for their efficacy/effectiveness in those who identify as female/women or those reporting a history of trauma, regardless of sex or gender?

For the purpose of this study, a scoping review was defined as a type of research synthesis that aims to "map the literature" on a particular topic or research area and provide an opportunity to identify key concepts; gaps in the research; and types and sources of evidence to inform practice, policymaking, and research [29]. Through answering the above questions our objective was to evaluate the nature of the evidence base for the efficacy and/or effectiveness of digital health resources for reducing substance use and/or associated harms in those identifying as female/women or in those reporting a history of trauma, regardless of sex or gender.

#### Stage 2: Identifying Relevant Studies

A comprehensive search strategy was developed by a librarian (RB) in consultation with the research team. The following databases were searched from inception: MEDLINE (including Epub ahead of print, in-process, and other nonindexed citations), APA PsycINFO, Embase, Cochrane Central, and CINAHL. No language limits were applied at this stage. For the searches, combinations of controlled vocabulary in the form of database-specific subject headings and relevant free-text keywords were included. The database searches were conducted in June 2020. The full MEDLINE search strategy is available for viewing in Multimedia Appendix 1.

In addition, nonpeer reviewed (grey) literature was also retrieved. The research team conducted a web search of Canadian and US Government and Funding Agencies in Canada and the United States using Google from July to August 2020. These searches were conducted using variations of the following (including but not limited to): "substance use," "drug use," "alcohol use," or "addiction;" "online intervention," "digital health," "eHealth," or "mobile health;" and "women" or "female."

XSL•FO

#### **Stage 3: Study Selection**

Studies were selected according to the following eligibility criteria:

- 1. Language: We included articles in English.
- 2. Date: We included articles from database inception to the date of extraction (June 30, 2020).
- 3. Publication type: We only considered original research articles, including secondary analyses. Dissertations, commentaries, conference proceedings, letters, editorials, and reviews were excluded to ensure presence of sufficient methodology and data needed to map and evaluate the nature of the evidence.
- 4. Sample: We considered adults aged 18 years or older, who endorsed or exhibited risky or harmful substance use. Similar to previous reviews [22,23], we did not include nicotine or caffeine. A minimum of 20% of participants was required to identify as female and/or women, or to report a trauma history, regardless of sex or gender. Although in many contexts, a higher proportion would be more appropriate and/or necessary to ensure power of sexor gender-based analyses, this lower limit permits broad sampling of evidence to evaluate current practices.
- 5. Setting: We considered all settings (eg, health care, forensic, and educational).
- 6. Design: We included all prospective designs (eg, single vs multiple arms and augmentation vs stand-alone intervention). Randomization or a comparison/control group was not required.
- 7. Intervention: We considered web- or mobile-based interventions targeting substance use or substance use disorder symptoms. All theoretical orientations and durations of treatments were included; however, formats that were computer-based, but not online, or that were interactive were excluded (eg, telephone, video, and text-based interactive psychosocial interventions with a clinician and social networking/platforms such as peer support discussion boards).
- 8. Outcomes: We considered substance use or substance use disorder symptoms. Outcomes that were focused only on acceptability or feasibility were excluded.

Following the initial extraction and removal of duplicates, two research staff independently (1) screened the titles and abstracts of all unique records, (2) conducted full-text reviews for all records not excluded, and (3) extracted data from included studies. Team members demonstrated substantial agreement during title and abstract screening (96% agreement;  $\kappa$ =0.74) and during the full-text review (92% agreement;  $\kappa$ =0.84). Discrepancies were resolved by consensus, with the support of a member of the investigation team as needed (LQ).

#### **Stage 4: Charting the Data**

Procedures were consistent with Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) guidelines [30]. The following data were extracted from records included in synthesis: study design features (eg, setting and randomized controlled trial), sample features (eg, size and demographic information), intervention (eg, duration and components), outcomes (eg, instruments and indicators), and bias and fidelity indicators. Two research staff independently extracted data, and discrepancies were resolved by consensus.

# Stage 5: Collating, Summarizing, and Reporting the Results

The Cochrane Risk of Bias Tool was used to evaluate bias at the study level across the following six domains: sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding, incomplete data, selective reporting, and overall risk [31]. Each domain was given a rating of high, low, or some concerns of bias.

# Results

#### **Study Identification**

The study selection process is illustrated in Figure 1. We located a total of 8617 published and 1773 grey literature records. A total of 7807 records remained after removing duplicates, and then, 465 remained following the screening of titles and abstracts. Records excluded at this first stage most commonly did not report original data or did not include critical design (eg, not original research and not a prospective design), sample (eg, adults with harmful/risk substance use), or intervention features (eg, online/mobile intervention targeting substance use or harms). Of the 465 remaining records, 306 were excluded because they did not include original (n=68) or prospective (n=10) research; did not include an adult sample (n=9) endorsing substance use risk or harms (n=69) with the minimum proportion of females/women or trauma (n=17); or did not include online or mobile interventions (n=93) targeting substance misuse (n=23). A total of 159 records were therefore included in this review. These 159 records reflected 141 distinct studies, including 125 distinct interventions.



Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flow diagram.



#### **Study Characteristics**

The study characteristics are provided in Table 1. In-depth characteristics of the included studies are described in Multimedia Appendix 2 and Multimedia Appendix 3, and the intervention characteristics are shown in Multimedia Appendix 4. The majority of studies were conducted in the United States (94/161, 58.4%). The other locations were the European Union (38/161, 23.6%), United Kingdom (7/161, 4.3%), Australia and New Zealand (11/161, 6.8%), Canada (7/161, 4.3%), and others (<4%). Studies included one to six conditions (mean 2.3, median 2), with the majority (n=149) randomizing participants to conditions. The majority of studies included control conditions (n=115), including treatment as usual (n=31), assessment only

(n=20), waitlist (n=12), and other control conditions specifically relevant to the research question. Sample sizes ranged from 13 to 4165 (mean 453, median 217), and sample types included clinical (50/159, 31.4%), community (56/159, 35.2%), college/university (40/159, 25.2%), and veteran samples (7/159, 4.4%) and others (5/159, 3.1%). The mean age of the participants ranged from 18 to 53 years (mean 31.83, median 34). The majority of studies were focused on alcohol use, risks, and/or harms (109/159, 68.5%), although a substantial minority focused on multiple substances or any substance (28/159, 17.6%), cannabis specifically (12/159, 7.5%), opioids specifically (4/159, 2.5%), or other specific substances (<3% each).

 Table 1. Characteristics of the included studies (N=159)

Quilty et al

Parameters and characteristics	Studies, n (%) <sup>a</sup>
Study metadata	
Study design	
Randomized controlled trial	122 (76.3%)
Secondary analyses	18 (11.3%)
Single-arm studies	19 (11.9%)
Location <sup>b</sup>	
United States	94 (58.4%)
Canada	7 (4.4%)
European Union	38 (23.6%)
United Kingdom	7 (4.4%)
South America	1 (0.6%)
Australia and New Zealand	11 (6.8%)
Asia	3 (1.9%)
Population characteristics	
Sample size	
≤100	41 (25.6%)
101-500	66 (41.3%)
501-1000	39 (24.4%)
>1000	14 (8.8%)
Mean age (years) <sup>c</sup>	31.83
Percentage women/female	
≤10%	3 (1.9%)
11%-50%	95 (59.4%)
51%-99%	54 (33.8%)
100%	8 (5.0%)
Study characteristics	
Target substance	
Alcohol	110 (69.2%)
Cannabis	12 (7.6%)
Opioids	4 (2.5%)
Any substance	28 (17.6%)
Other substances	5 (3.1%)
Conducted sex- and gender-based analyses	
Yes	27 (17.0%)
No	123 (77.3%)
N/A <sup>d</sup>	9 (5.7%)
Assessed gender	
Yes	19 (12.0%)
No	140 (88.0%)
Assessed trauma	
Ves	13 (9.1%)

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25952

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Ment Health 2021 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e25952 | p.8 (page number not for citation purposes)

JMIR MENTAL HEALTH	Quilty et al
Parameters and characteristics	Studies, n (%) <sup>a</sup>
No	147 (90.9%)
Intervention characteristics (n=190)	
Language	
English	150 (79.0%)
Spanish	3 (1.6%)
Swedish	15 (7.9%)
German	6 (3.2%)
Norwegian	2 (1.1%)
Multiple	6 (3.2%)
Other	5 (2.6%)
Nature of the intervention	
Single-session intervention	68 (35.8%)
Multisession intervention	122 (64.2%)
Mode of delivery	
Mobile (app)	27 (14.2%)
Mobile (text)	13 (6.8%)
Online	148 (77.9%)
Combined (online + mobile)	2 (1.1%)

<sup>a</sup>Percentages were rounded and may not sum to 100.

<sup>b</sup>Numbers do not add up to 159 as two studies were conducted in multiple locations.

<sup>c</sup>Mean age was not reported in nine studies.

<sup>d</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### **Intervention Characteristics**

Digital health resources included multisession interventions (122/190, 64.2%) with multiple components or modules, such as screening and assessment, motivational enhancement, psychoeducation, and cognitive and behavioral skills building. Multisession interventions were available online (82/122, 67.2%), on mobile devices (mobile apps [25/122, 20.5%] and text [13/122, 10.7%]), and in a combination of both online and mobile methods (2/122, 1.6%). A substantial minority comprised single-session interventions (68/190, 35.8%), which were primarily available online (67/68, 99%) rather than on mobile devices (mobile apps [1/68, 2%]). There were no single-session interventions that were provided over text or that comprised a combination of both online and mobile methods. Each of these broad categories of digital health resources will be discussed in turn below. The digital health intervention duration ranged from one session (n=68) to 12 months, with other frequent durations including 4 weeks (n=7), 8 weeks (n=10), and 12 weeks (n=28). A substantial minority did not report or include a follow-up period (n=35). Follow-up durations ranged from 2 weeks to 2 years, with the most frequent periods including 1 month (n=37), 3 months (n=49), and 6 months (n=52). Overall, interventions were primarily in the English language (150/190, 78.9%), although others were available in multiple languages

(6/190, 3.2%) or other specific languages such as Swedish (15/190, 7.9%) and others (German [6/190, 3.2%], Norwegian [2/190, 1.1%], Spanish [3/190, 1.6%], other [5/190, 2.6%]; all <4%). In line with the study focus as reviewed above, the majority of interventions themselves targeted alcohol use, risks, and/or harms (95/124, 76.6%) in their content, with a substantial minority including a treatment targeting multiple substances or any substance (15/124, 12.1%), cannabis specifically (11/124, 8.9%), or other specific substances or substance combinations (<2% each).

#### **Study Quality or Bias**

Overall, the majority of studies were found to exhibit features associated with some concerns of bias (93/160, 58.1%), with 11.9% (19/160) associated with high bias and 30.0% (48/160) associated with low bias, according to the Cochrane Risk of Bias Tool (Figure 2). More specifically, 68.1% (109/160) of studies were evaluated to have low bias associated with the randomization process (Domain 1), suggesting that adequate processes were put in place within these studies to minimize issues with randomization. The 39 studies associated with some concerns reported limited information on randomization methods or the concealment of assigned interventions, while the 12 with high bias did not randomize participants.

Figure 2. Risk of bias distributions.



Domain 2 examined the risk of bias due to deviations from the intended interventions. Approximately 48% (76/160, 47.5%) of studies were evaluated as having some concerns of bias in this domain, mostly due to the use of analyses that were not appropriate to estimate the effect of assignment to the intervention, or the lack of adequate information regarding deviations from the planned protocol. The 22.5% (36/160) of studies with high bias tended to have issues regarding both of these points, whereas the 30.0% (48/160) of studies with low bias used intention-to-treat analyses to estimate the effect of assignment and had adequate blinding measures in place.

Domain 3 examined risk of bias due to missing outcome data, with 71.9% (115/160) of studies being evaluated as having low bias. Low bias in this domain signified that outcome data were available for nearly all participants or that adequate measures were put in place to evaluate bias due to missing outcome data. The 12.5% (20/160) of studies with some concerns were evaluated as such if it was possible that the results were biased by missing outcome data, such that study withdrawal occurred due to participants' health status, whereas the 15.6% (25/160) of studies with high bias were evaluated as such if it was *likely* that study withdrawal occurred for this reason.

Domain 4 examined risk of bias in measurement of the outcome variables. Approximately 77% (123/160, 76.9%) of studies were evaluated to have low bias in this section, due to appropriate outcome measures being used and appropriate blinding if outcomes were assessed by outcome assessors or participant blinding if outcomes were assessed using self-report measures. The 17.5% (28/160) of studies evaluated as having some concerns in this domain were characterized by some likelihood that measures of outcomes could have been influenced by the intervention received, and the 5.6% (9/160) of studies rated as

RenderX

having high bias in this domain were found to have inadequate information in this regard.

Domain 5 examined risk of bias in the selection of the reported results. Approximately 61% (98/160, 61.3%) of studies were rated as having some concerns in this domain, particularly due to lack of prespecified analysis plans. The 37.5% (60/160) of studies with low risk of bias were found to have prespecified analysis plans and report all outcome measures and analyses in accordance with these plans. The 1.3% (2/160) of studies evaluated as having high risk of bias were found to be potentially selective in reporting outcome measurements and analyses, based on the results. All domains were coded according to a standardized scoring algorithm. Detailed information regarding the risk of bias for each study is presented in Multimedia Appendix 5. See Multimedia Appendix 6 for the references for all studies.

#### **Study Outcomes**

Overall, studies concluded that digital health resources for substance use or associated harms were efficacious or effective (155/190, 81.6%). The proportion of participants who identified as female or women ranged from 7% to 100% (mean 48%, median 46%; six studies were below 20%, but were eligible as over 20% endorsed trauma). In the vast majority of cases, participants identified as female, as only 16 studies explicitly assessed gender identity. Many studies appeared to use the terms sex and gender interchangeably (n=41). For example, indicating that gender was assessed (rather than sex) and specifying that reported genders were female and male. Sex- and gender-based analyses were conducted in only 17.0% (27/159) of studies, with 77.4% (123/159) of studies not conducting such analyses and 5.7% (9/159) not applicable (ie, no females or women were included in the sample, or the sample included only females or women). Thus, although digital health resources were found to

be efficacious or effective in general, this was quantitatively confirmed for females or women in only 13.7% (26/190) of studies, with 81.1% (154/190) of studies not reporting relevant analyses and 5.3% (10/190) finding that the intervention was not effective for female or women participants. Only 13 of the studies reported that at least 20% of participants had a trauma history, and only seven of these reported that at least 20% of participants were female or women, and reported trauma (ie, six studies included at least 20% of participants with a trauma history, but less than 20% were female or women; these studies were nevertheless retained to present the nature of the evidence for those who have been exposed to violence or trauma). These studies included two studies of single-session interventions as follows: BSAFER (developed for any substance [32]; demonstrated effectiveness at a 3-month follow-up in a small sample) and VetChange (developed for alcohol [33]; demonstrated effectiveness over 1, 3, and 6 months). Two studies evaluated a mobile app (A-CHESS) developed for any substance and delivered over 6 to 8 months, which demonstrated effectiveness in an entirely female sample [34], as well as a mixed sample [35], although sex- or gender-based analyses were not conducted in the latter. Another study evaluated a mobile text message intervention for alcohol in young adults following emergency room treatment, with improvements at a 3-month follow-up [36]. Finally, two widely investigated interventions (CBT4CBT and TES) developed for any substance and delivered over 12 weeks were evaluated in samples involving females and trauma, and although both interventions were effective, sex- or gender-based analyses were not conducted [37,38].

A total of 122 study conditions comprised online multisession interventions, primarily targeting alcohol (n=53) or any substance (n=19), although more targeted interventions for cannabis and opioids were present as well. These interventions included both openly available and commercial products, which varied in their provision of screening, assessment, or monitoring; however, most included psychoeducation, goal setting, cognitive and behavioral skills training, and links to resources. Primary outcomes were most frequently substance consumption, although substance use harms or substance use disorder symptoms were also included. Overall, 87% (73/84) of these relatively intensive interventions exhibited acute impacts on primary outcomes following up to 8 or 12 weeks of treatment; in some cases, these were retained in subsequent follow-up assessments.

Mobile interventions included both apps (n=27) and text-based messaging interventions (n=13). Mobile apps targeted alcohol (n=21) and any substance (n=4) or cannabis (n=3), and 87% (73/84) of these apps demonstrated improvements in the primary outcomes after approximately 4 to 12 weeks of use. Text-based messaging interventions targeted alcohol (n=9) or cannabis (n=1), and 85% (11/13) demonstrated benefits following 2 to 12 weeks of use.

A total of 67 study conditions evaluated brief interventions, which were primarily delivered online (n=66) as compared to via a mobile device (n=1). The majority of these brief interventions addressed harmful or risky alcohol use, with only a small number addressing general drug use (n=10) or cannabis use (n=3). These brief interventions frequently took the form

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25952
```

XSI•FC

of noncommercial programs that provided initial screening and personalized normative feedback, as well as psychoeducation and resources. The primary outcome was most frequently substance consumption, primarily quantity or frequency (eg, number of standard alcoholic drinks per week and binge or heavy drinking frequency). Approximately 64% (43/67) of these brief interventions did exhibit short-term impacts on the primary outcomes.

### Discussion

#### **Principal Results**

The empirical investigations of the efficacy or effectiveness of digital health resources for adults who identify as female or women, or who report a history of trauma, appear to be principally conducted in the United States and Europe, with the majority in the English language. These investigations and the interventions evaluated predominantly focused on alcohol use or associated harms/risks, although a substantial minority of investigations was broadly applicable to substance use in general. The majority of studies randomized participants to study conditions, with a range of active and control conditions evident across studies. Similar to other reviews of psychosocial interventions, a substantial proportion of investigations was judged to have some concerns associated with bias, primarily related to participant or assessor blinding, lack of intent-to-treat analysis, or lack of a reported prespecified or registered analytical plan. Lower bias was evident regarding randomization, missing data, and outcome measurement.

The digital health resources evaluated included multisession and brief (ie, single) session interventions, with a wide range of therapeutic elements. Across all interventions, the primary outcome was most frequently substance use quantity and frequency. More intensive online and mobile interventions, frequently several months or more in duration and including numerous therapeutic components, exhibited moderate to strong effects in the vast majority of studies. Brief interventions, which consisted of a single session of varied duration (but most commonly less than 1 hour), demonstrated efficacy in most studies, although it was notable that these effects decreased over longer follow-ups in many studies.

Overall, studies that included a substantial proportion of adults who identified as female or women concluded that digital health resources for substance use or associated harms were efficacious or effective (155/190, 81.6%). A minimum threshold of 20% of the sample identifying as female or women, or endorsing trauma, was implemented to ensure the relevance of evidence reviewed to the research question. This eligibility requirement resulted in the exclusion of a limited number of records (n=17), which shared many of the study and intervention features described above. Notably, in many contexts, a much higher proportion would be required to conduct sex- or gender-based analyses and to support generalizability to our target populations. In fact, the majority of studies did include 40% or more of participants who were female or women, with larger proportions more common in community and trainee samples. Yet, most investigations did not assess gender identity, and many used sex and gender terms interchangeably. Further, sex- or

gender-based analyses were not conducted in the majority of studies (n=113); thus, direct or quantitative evidence for the efficacy or effectiveness of interventions in females or women specifically is weak.

Evidence for adults reporting a history of trauma was even more limited. Only 13 studies were found that met this liberal inclusion criterion, and even then, the association between trauma history and clinical outcomes was not evaluated. There is a critical need to assess and report trauma in the evaluation of digital health resources in this context to identify those most likely to be of benefit to adults with a trauma history. Of note, the current results appear unlikely to be the result of lower access to individuals with past or current experiences of violence and trauma. Among women presenting to treatment, significantly higher rates of sexual abuse have been observed in comparison to community samples of women meeting criteria for the diagnosis of substance use disorders, suggesting that experiences of trauma may play a role in the process of treatment initiation [10,39]. In fact, 61% of people in a population of treatment-seeking men and women specifically cited the experience of a recent traumatic event as the reason for seeking treatment for their substance misuse, demonstrating a clear need for a trauma-focused approach [39].

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

Similar to the current investigation, previous systematic reviews and meta-analyses have highlighted the large number of digital interventions for alcohol, with a preponderance of brief interventions with small immediate benefits but low evidence for longer-term clinically significant effects [40]. Evidence for digital interventions for other substances is promising but more limited [41].

The most recent and focused investigation of digital health resources for women with substance use disorders focused on the childbearing age. Notably, the current broader synthesis noted that, in fact, there appears to be a dearth of studies in older adult samples as well as studies in other important groups. For example, studies in samples across the lifespan, across racial backgrounds, and with other important social determinants of health and those who face barriers to care (eg, rural communities, homeless or houseless individuals, forensic samples, and adults of varied physical and mental abilities) are critical to conduct. Thus, although a range of sample types was evident in the current review, future research would benefit from extending across the lifespan and including other types of samples with more varied demographic and clinical features.

#### Limitations

This investigation focused on a specific category of digital health resources, which necessarily limits its scope. The consideration of virtual psychotherapy, digital recovery support networks, and other forms of resources would be a valuable extension of this work. Similarly, this investigation focused on adults reporting or exhibiting substance use risks or harms, and interventions targeting substance use or associated risks or harms, which would preclude larger-scale population health interventions targeting a broader range of lower-risk individuals as well as interventions with lifestyle or health/wellness foci. Focused reviews of these broader groups and interventions would benefit a range of stakeholders. This review focused on adults who identify as female or women and neglected other sex and gender groups. Thus, increased attention to treatment outcomes across the gender continuum is needed. Finally, the incorporation of other key identity features, particularly those related to race, culture, and ethnicity, is critical to examine how the intersections of these different components of identity are linked to treatment outcomes. Very limited research in this area has been conducted to date, highlighting this key gap.

#### Conclusions

This project represents a synthesis of available evidence for digital health resources for adults who identify as female or women with substance use concerns. Although substance use has been increasing in these individuals, adults who identify as female or women are underrepresented in in-person clinical services and exhibit unique treatment barriers, preferences, and needs. Importantly, trauma is elevated in this group, highlighting the clinical priority of interventions that are sensitive to not only gender-specific psychoeducation and skills building, but also trauma-informed approaches. Although this synthesis simultaneously provides promising support for the therapeutic benefit of digital health resources for this priority population, it also highlights critical clinical and research priorities. Increased assessments of both sex and gender identities, and the implementation of sex- and gender-based analyses are critical in future empirical investigations of digital health resources. Increased integration of trauma and other key participant features is also needed to contribute to the further development of these interventions. Trauma, intersectionality, and key social determinants of health are critical to understand not only the value of these resources but also how to successfully implement them in varied geographical regions and health systems.

#### Acknowledgments

This project was supported by operating funds from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), who approved the research proposal, including the objectives and methodology, but had no involvement in the research design, conduct, analysis, interpretation, or reporting.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25952

XSL•FC RenderX

Multimedia Appendix 2 Study demographic characteristics. [DOCX File , 174 KB - mental\_v8i6e25952\_app2.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Study design characteristics. [DOCX File, 153 KB - mental\_v8i6e25952\_app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Intervention characteristics. [DOCX File, 85 KB - mental v8i6e25952 app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Risk of bias. [DOCX File, 57 KB - mental\_v8i6e25952\_app5.docx ]

Multimedia Appendix 6 References for articles included in the scoping review. [DOCX File, 61 KB - mental\_v8i6e25952\_app6.docx]

#### References

- 1. CAMH Monitor. CAMH. URL: <u>https://www.camh.ca/en/science-and-research/institutes-and-centres/</u> institute-for-mental-health-policy-research/camh-monitor [accessed 2020-04-28]
- Tebeka S, De Premorel Higgons A, Dubertret C, Le Strat Y. Changes in alcohol use and heavy episodic drinking in U.S. Women of childbearing-age and peripartum between 2001-2002 and 2012-2013. Addict Behav 2020 Aug;107:106389. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106389] [Medline: 32244086]
- Shokoohi M, Bauer GR, Kaida A, Lacombe-Duncan A, Kazemi M, Gagnier B, CHIWOS Research Team. Substance use patterns among women living with HIV compared with the general female population of Canada. Drug Alcohol Depend 2018 Oct 01;191:70-77. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.06.026] [Medline: 30086425]
- 4. Cormier RA, Dell CA, Poole N. Women and Substance Abuse Problems. BMC Women's Health 2004 Aug 25;4(Suppl 1):S8. [doi: 10.1186/1472-6874-4-s1-s8]
- Shield KD, Taylor B, Kehoe T, Patra J, Rehm J. Mortality and potential years of life lost attributable to alcohol consumption in Canada in 2005. BMC Public Health 2012 Jan 31;12:91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-91] [Medline: 22293064]
- Popova S, Lange S, Poznyak V, Chudley AE, Shield KD, Reynolds JN, et al. Population-based prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder in Canada. BMC Public Health 2019 Jun 28;19(1):845 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7213-3] [Medline: 31253131]
- Sorge JT, Young M, Maloney-Hall B, Sherk A, Kent P, Zhao J, et al. Estimation of the impacts of substance use on workplace productivity: a hybrid human capital and prevalence-based approach applied to Canada. Can J Public Health 2020 Apr;111(2):202-211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.17269/s41997-019-00271-8] [Medline: 31792845]
- Myran DT, Hsu AT, Smith G, Tanuseputro P. Rates of emergency department visits attributable to alcohol use in Ontario from 2003 to 2016: a retrospective population-level study. CMAJ 2019 Jul 22;191(29):E804-E810 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.181575] [Medline: 31332048]
- 9. Andréasson S, Danielsson A, Wallhed-Finn S. Preferences regarding treatment for alcohol problems. Alcohol Alcohol 2013;48(6):694-699. [doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agt067] [Medline: 23842842]
- Drapalski A, Bennett M, Bellack A. Gender differences in substance use, consequences, motivation to change, and treatment seeking in people with serious mental illness. Subst Use Misuse 2011;46(6):808-818 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/10826084.2010.538460] [Medline: 21174496]
- 11. Rhodes BE, Gottfredson NC, Hill LM. Desistance and Treatment Seeking Among Women With Substance Use Disorders. Qual Health Res 2018 Jul;28(8):1330-1341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1049732318767637] [Medline: 29671376]
- 12. Taylor OD. Barriers to Treatment for Women With Substance Use Disorders. Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment 2010 May 10;20(3):393-409. [doi: 10.1080/10911351003673310]
- 13. New Terrain: Tools to Integrate Trauma and Gender Informed Responses into Substance Use Practice and Policy. Centre of Excellence for Women's Health. 2018. URL: <u>https://bccewh.bc.ca/2018/06/</u>

<u>new-terrain-tools-to-integrate-trauma-and-gender-informed-responses-into-substance-use-practice-and-policy/</u> [accessed 2021-05-30]

- 14. Krupnik V. Trauma or adversity? Traumatology 2019 Dec;25(4):256-261. [doi: 10.1037/trm0000169]
- Keyser-Marcus L, Alvanzo A, Rieckmann T, Thacker L, Sepulveda A, Forcehimes A, et al. Trauma, gender, and mental health symptoms in individuals with substance use disorders. J Interpers Violence 2015 Jan;30(1):3-24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0886260514532523] [Medline: 24811286]
- 16. Clark HW, Masson CL, Delucchi KL, Hall SM, Sees KL. Violent traumatic events and drug abuse severity. J Subst Abuse Treat 2001 Mar;20(2):121-127. [doi: 10.1016/s0740-5472(00)00156-2] [Medline: 11306214]
- 17. Ouimette PC, Kimerling R, Shaw J, Moos RH. Physical and Sexual Abuse Among Women and Men with Substance Use Disorders. Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly 2000 Nov 29;18(3):7-17. [doi: <u>10.1300/j020v18n03\_02</u>]
- Pirard S, Sharon E, Kang SK, Angarita GA, Gastfriend DR. Prevalence of physical and sexual abuse among substance abuse patients and impact on treatment outcomes. Drug Alcohol Depend 2005 Apr 04;78(1):57-64. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2004.09.005] [Medline: 15769558]
- 19. Blakey JM, Bowers PH. Barriers to Integrated Treatment of Substance Abuse and Trauma Among Women. Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions 2014 Aug 21;14(3):250-272. [doi: <u>10.1080/1533256x.2014.933731</u>]
- 20. Milligan K, Niccols A, Sword W, Thabane L, Henderson J, Smith A, et al. Maternal substance use and integrated treatment programs for women with substance abuse issues and their children: a meta-analysis. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy 2010 Sep 01;5:21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1747-597X-5-21] [Medline: 20809957]
- Kahan D, Lamanna D, Rajakulendran T, Noble A, Stergiopoulos V. Implementing a trauma-informed intervention for homeless female survivors of gender-based violence: Lessons learned in a large Canadian urban centre. Health Soc Care Community 2020 May;28(3):823-832. [doi: 10.1111/hsc.12913] [Medline: <u>31814189</u>]
- Nesvåg S, McKay JR. Feasibility and Effects of Digital Interventions to Support People in Recovery From Substance Use Disorders: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Aug 23;20(8):e255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9873] [Medline: 30139724]
- Hai AH, Hammock K, Velasquez MM. The Efficacy of Technology-Based Interventions for Alcohol and Illicit Drug Use Among Women of Childbearing Age: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2019 Dec;43(12):2464-2479. [doi: 10.1111/acer.14203] [Medline: 31557336]
- Munn Z, Peters MDJ, Stern C, Tufanaru C, McArthur A, Aromataris E. Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. BMC Med Res Methodol 2018 Nov 19;18(1):143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x] [Medline: 30453902]
- Barak A, Klein B, Proudfoot JG. Defining internet-supported therapeutic interventions. Ann Behav Med 2009 Aug;38(1):4-17. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12160-009-9130-7</u>] [Medline: <u>19787305</u>]
- 26. Litvin EB, Abrantes AM, Brown RA. Computer and mobile technology-based interventions for substance use disorders: an organizing framework. Addict Behav 2013 Mar;38(3):1747-1756. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2012.09.003] [Medline: 23254225]
- 27. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. International Journal of Social Research Methodology 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- 28. Levac D, Colquhoun H, O'Brien KK. Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. Implement Sci 2010 Sep 20;5:69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-5-69] [Medline: 20854677]
- Daudt HML, van Mossel C, Scott SJ. Enhancing the scoping study methodology: a large, inter-professional team's experience with Arksey and O'Malley's framework. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013 Mar 23;13:48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-48] [Medline: 23522333]
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018 Oct 02;169(7):467-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M18-0850] [Medline: 30178033]
- 31. Higgins JPT, Altman DG. Assessing Risk of Bias in Included Studies. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions: Cochrane Book Series. London, England: Cochrane; 2017:187-242.
- 32. Choo EK, Zlotnick C, Strong DR, Squires DD, Tapé C, Mello MJ. BSAFER: A Web-based intervention for drug use and intimate partner violence demonstrates feasibility and acceptability among women in the emergency department. Subst Abus 2016;37(3):441-449 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08897077.2015.1134755] [Medline: 26714233]
- Livingston NA, Mahoney CT, Ameral V, Brief D, Rubin A, Enggasser J, et al. Changes in alcohol use, PTSD hyperarousal symptoms, and intervention dropout following veterans' use of VetChange. Addict Behav 2020 Aug;107:106401. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106401] [Medline: 32272356]
- Johnston DC, Mathews WD, Maus A, Gustafson DH. Using Smartphones to Improve Treatment Retention Among Impoverished Substance-Using Appalachian Women: A Naturalistic Study. Subst Abuse 2019;13:1178221819861377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1178221819861377] [Medline: 31312084]
- Gustafson DH, McTavish FM, Chih M, Atwood AK, Johnson RA, Boyle MG, et al. A smartphone application to support recovery from alcoholism: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiatry 2014 May;71(5):566-572 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.4642] [Medline: 24671165]

- Suffoletto B, Callaway C, Kristan J, Kraemer K, Clark DB. Text-message-based drinking assessments and brief interventions for young adults discharged from the emergency department. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2012 Mar;36(3):552-560. [doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01646.x] [Medline: 22168137]
- Tofighi B, Campbell ANC, Pavlicova M, Hu MC, Lee JD, Nunes EV. Recent Internet Use and Associations with Clinical Outcomes among Patients Entering Addiction Treatment Involved in a Web-Delivered Psychosocial Intervention Study. J Urban Health 2016 Oct;93(5):871-883 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11524-016-0077-2] [Medline: 27653383]
- Paris M, Silva M, Añez-Nava L, Jaramillo Y, Kiluk BD, Gordon MA, et al. Culturally Adapted, Web-Based Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Spanish-Speaking Individuals With Substance Use Disorders: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Am J Public Health 2018 Nov;108(11):1535-1542. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304571] [Medline: 30252519]
- Lincoln AK, Liebschutz JM, Chernoff M, Nguyen D, Amaro H. Brief screening for co-occurring disorders among women entering substance abuse treatment. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy 2006 Sep 07;1:26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1747-597X-1-26] [Medline: 16959041]
- Dedert EA, McDuffie JR, Stein R, McNiel JM, Kosinski AS, Freiermuth CE, et al. Electronic Interventions for Alcohol Misuse and Alcohol Use Disorders: A Systematic Review. Ann Intern Med 2015 Aug 04;163(3):205-214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M15-0285] [Medline: 26237752]
- 41. Hoch E, Preuss UW, Ferri M, Simon R. Digital Interventions for Problematic Cannabis Users in Non-Clinical Settings: Findings from a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Eur Addict Res 2016;22(5):233-242 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000445716] [Medline: 27160333]

Edited by J Torous; submitted 22.11.20; peer-reviewed by J D'Arcey, W Zhang, C Richardson; comments to author 16.12.20; revised version received 24.04.21; accepted 29.04.21; published 07.06.21.

Please cite as:

Quilty L, Agic B, Coombs M, Kristy BL, Shakespeare J, Spafford A, Besa R, Dematagoda S, Patel A, Persaud R, Buckley L Benefits of Digital Health Resources for Substance Use Concerns in Women: Scoping Review JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e25952 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25952 doi:10.2196/25952 PMID:<u>34096879</u>

©Lena Quilty, Branka Agic, Michelle Coombs, Betty-Lou Kristy, Jill Shakespeare, Adrienne Spafford, Reena Besa, Shadini Dematagoda, Alina Patel, Rebecca Persaud, Leslie Buckley. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 07.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Factors Predicting Trial Engagement, Treatment Satisfaction, and Health-Related Quality of Life During a Web-Based Treatment and Social Networking Trial for Binge Drinking and Depression in Young Adults: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial

Samineh Sanatkar<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Milena Heinsch<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Peter Andrew Baldwin<sup>3</sup>, MPsychol, PhD; Mark Rubin<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Jenny Geddes<sup>1</sup>, BSc, MPsych, MAPS; Sally Hunt<sup>1,4</sup>, PhD; Amanda L Baker<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Kathryn Woodcock<sup>3</sup>, BA (Hons); Terry J Lewin<sup>1</sup>, BCom (Hons); Kathleen Brady<sup>5</sup>, MD, PhD; Mark Deady<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Louise Thornton<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Maree Teesson<sup>2</sup>, FAHMS, FASSA; Frances Kay-Lambkin<sup>1,2</sup>, BSc (Hons), PhD

<sup>3</sup>Black Dog Institute, UNSW Sydney, Randwick, Australia

<sup>4</sup>School of Psychology, The University of Newcastle, Callaghan, Australia

<sup>5</sup>Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States

**Corresponding Author:** 

Samineh Sanatkar, PhD Centre for Brain and Mental Health Research School of Medicine and Public Health The University of Newcastle University Drive Callaghan, 2308 Australia Phone: 61 02 9065 9179 Email: <u>samineh.sanatkar@uon.edu.au</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Mental health and alcohol use problems are among the most common causes of disease burden in young Australians, frequently co-occur (comorbidity), and lead to significant lifetime burden. However, comorbidities remain significantly underdetected and undertreated in health settings. Digital mental health tools designed to identify at-risk individuals, encourage help-seeking, or deliver treatment for comorbidity have the potential to address this service gap. However, despite a strong body of evidence that digital mental health programs provide an effective treatment option for a range of mental health and alcohol use problems in young adults, research shows that uptake rates can be low. Thus, it is important to understand the factors that influence treatment satisfaction and quality-of-life outcomes for young adults who access e-mental health interventions for comorbidity.

**Objective:** In this study, we seek to understand the factors that influence treatment satisfaction and quality-of-life outcomes for young adults who access e-mental health interventions for comorbid alcohol and mood disorders. The aim is to determine the importance of personality (ie, Big Five personality traits and intervention attitudes), affective factors (ie, depression, anxiety, and stress levels), and baseline alcohol consumption in predicting intervention trial engagement at sign-up, satisfaction with the online tool, and quality of life at the end of the iTreAD (Internet Treatment for Alcohol and Depression) trial.

**Methods:** Australian adults (N=411) aged between 18 and 30 years who screened positive for depression and alcohol use problems signed up for the iTreAD project between August 2014 and October 2015. During registration, participants provided information about their personality, current affective state, alcohol use, treatment expectations, and basic demographic information. Subsequent follow-up surveys were used to gauge the ongoing trial engagement. The last follow-up questionnaire, completed at 64 weeks, assessed participants' satisfaction with web-based treatment and quality-of-life outcomes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Centre for Brain and Mental Health Research, School of Medicine and Public Health, The University of Newcastle, Callaghan, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Matilda Centre for Research in Mental Health and Substance Use, The University of Sydney, Camperdown, Australia

**Results:** Multiple linear regression analyses were used to assess the relative influence of predictor variables on trial engagement, treatment satisfaction, and quality-of-life outcomes. The analyses revealed that the overall predictive effects of personality and affective factors were 20% or lower. Neuroticism constituted a unique predictor of engagement with the iTreAD study in that neuroticism facilitated the return of web-based self-assessments during the study. The return of incentivized follow-up assessments predicted treatment satisfaction, and state-based depression predicted variance in quality-of-life reports at study completion.

**Conclusions:** Our findings suggest that traditional predictors of engagement observed in face-to-face research may not be easily transferable to digital health interventions, particularly those aimed at comorbid mental health concerns and alcohol misuse among young adults. More research is needed to identify what determines engagement in this population to optimally design and execute digital intervention studies with multiple treatment aims.

**Trial Registration:** Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ACTRN): 12614000310662; http://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=365137&isReview=true.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1186/s12889-015-2365-2

#### (JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e23986) doi:10.2196/23986

#### **KEYWORDS**

digital mental health; personality; negative affect; study engagement; life quality

### Introduction

#### Background

Mental health and alcohol use disorders are the leading causes of disability among young adults globally [1,2]. This trend is reflected in Australia, with alcohol misuse and poor mental health reported as the primary contributors to disease burden among Australian youth, including young adults [3]. The burden of disease increases when substance use and mental health disorders co-occur. For example, comorbidity of alcohol use disorder and major depressive disorder is associated with elevated risks of alcohol dependence, higher instances of attempted suicide, and lower levels of functioning and life satisfaction [4,5]. Consequently, treatment prognoses for this population tend to be relatively poor [6,7].

Complicating the path to recovery, young Australians in their teens and 20s see their general practitioners or mental health professionals less frequently than their older counterparts [8]. Recent research found that across 1306 adults presenting for assessment of their general practitioners, comorbid alcohol use and major depressive disorders were correctly detected in only 21% of cases [9]. This situation highlights the need to improve the identification of comorbid disorders because high nondetection rates constitute a major barrier to access appropriate and timely treatment.

Digital technologies offer a promising opportunity to identify comorbid disorders and enhance access to high-quality mental health care for young adults [10,11]. Digital services can function as stand-alone programs or in conjunction with face-to-face or web-based clinical support. These types of services are acceptable to young people and align with recent findings that young people use digital apps for numerous purposes (including supporting their health and well-being) at a greater rate than any other age group [12]. Previous research indicates that 44% of Australians aged between 16 and 25 years use the internet to access health information [13]. A recent review found that face-to-face help-seeking among young people aged between 12 and 25 years may improve after using computerized mental health programs and services [14].

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e23986
```

However, sustained engagement with digital interventions has proved difficult, and limited participation and high attrition rates are common [11]. This is concerning because the amount of exposure to an intervention is often an important prerequisite for intervention outcomes [15].

Studies that have evaluated engagement in digital health interventions suggest that it may be an important contributor to participant satisfaction and quality of life at the conclusion of a research study or treatment program. For example, in a post hoc analysis of a randomized controlled trial evaluating the effectiveness of an online support group on primary care patients' mental health, Geramita et al [16] found that those who engaged more frequently with a study-specific online support group reported significant improvements in health-related quality of life 6 months after the trial phase had ended compared with participants who had engaged the least. Consequently, evaluating engagement with mental health treatment protocols has been identified as critical for improving intervention impact and success [17]. Although engagement with digital interventions is not identical to engagement in clinical trials of these interventions, dropout rates in clinical trials can reflect disengagement rates with digital interventions in naturalistic settings when sample bias and trial *push factors* are kept to a minimum [18-20].

Person-based characteristics can predict engagement with health treatment protocols and intervention success in younger adult samples. In particular, personality patterns, such as high levels of conscientiousness and low levels of neuroticism, predicted adherence to study protocols in trials for smoking cessation therapy, asthma control, and health-related quality of life [21-23], whereas negative emotional states and unfavorable attitudes toward treatments can negatively influence engagement and treatment satisfaction displayed by young adults in clinical trials across a variety of health conditions [24-29]. Personality patterns of low conscientiousness, high neuroticism, and extraversion have consistently been associated with problematic levels of alcohol consumption among adolescents and young adults [30], indicating that personality may influence both the formation of and recovery from health-related complications in

young adulthood. This highlights the usefulness of considering young adults' personality, affect, and treatment beliefs as predictors of engagement with study protocols. Clarifying the unique role played by each of these factors may help to remedy the poor uptake of web-based mental health interventions [11,31].

#### Objectives

This study aims to examine the relative importance of personality factors (ie, conscientiousness and neuroticism), negative emotional states (ie, stress, anxiety, and depression), recent alcohol use, and treatment expectations in predicting engagement with a web-based mental health study designed to reduce depressive symptoms and incidences of heavy episodic drinking (binge drinking) in young adulthood. In addition, we examined the predictive strength of personality, negative emotions, alcohol consumption, treatment expectations, and study engagement on participants' self-reported treatment satisfaction and quality of life at the end of the web-based mental health study. Specifically, it was hypothesized that a pattern of low neuroticism, high conscientiousness, lower emotional distress, lower alcohol consumption, and greater expectations of treatment success at sign-up would predict higher levels of subsequent study engagement, treatment satisfaction, and quality-of-life ratings at the last assessment point. It was further predicted that higher study engagement levels during the trial would predict greater treatment satisfaction and quality of life at the last assessment point. To our knowledge, this is the first study to assess these predictors simultaneously within a randomized controlled trial design that evaluates the effectiveness of a web-based mental health program to reduce the severity of comorbid substance use disorder and major depression among young Australian adults. In doing so, our study seeks to contribute to the literature on web-based mental health program acceptance among young adults in line with the recommendations of Clarke et al [11].

# Methods

#### Overview

The iTreAD (Internet Treatment for Alcohol and Depression) trial study protocol was prospectively registered with the Australian and New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ACTRN12614000310662) and approved by the UNSW Sydney Human Research Ethics Committee (HC13299). The protocol has been previously published [32].

#### **Participants and Procedures**

Recruitment to iTreAD occurred between August 2014 and October 2015. Following an initial screener, a total of 421 eligible candidates from Australia (aged between 18 and 30 years) who reported current depressive symptoms and alcohol misuse and had internet access completed the informed consent process and baseline survey and were randomly allocated to one of three conditions: (1) web-based self-assessments, (2) web-based self-assessments with an additional digital mental health program, or (3) web-based self-assessments, digital mental health programs, and an additional clinician-guided digital forum (refer Kay-Lambkin et al [32] for further details on the study design). In total, 10 participants subsequently withdrew their consent to participate in the iTreAD study and were removed from the analysis. The final sample consisted of 411 participants, of which 135 were allocated to the web-based self-assessment control group, 131 to the web-based self-assessment and digital mental health program group, and 145 to the joint web-based self-assessment, digital mental health program, and clinician-guided forum group. Most participants were female (252/411, 61.3%) and had a mean age of 23 (SD 3.67) years.

The overall study duration was 64 weeks. During this time, all participants were asked to complete 12 monthly web-based self-assessments and four follow-up surveys at 26, 39, 52, and 64 weeks after their initial baseline assessment. Participants were reimbursed up to Aus \$20 (US \$15.44) for their baseline assessment and for each follow-up assessment they completed, regardless of participation rates in any of the three study conditions. No reimbursement was provided for the 12-monthly web-based self-assessments. Only participants allocated to either of the two treatment groups gained access to their respective web-based intervention components.

#### Measures

#### Personality

Conscientiousness was measured using the 9-item *Conscientiousness* subscale of the Big Five Inventory (BFI) [33], which asks participants to rate their agreement with statements such as, "I see myself as someone who does a thorough job." Neuroticism was measured using the 2-item *Neuroticism* subscale of the BFI short form [34], which asks participants to rate their agreement with statements such as, "I see myself as someone who gets nervous easily." Both the long and short forms of the BFI have been found to be reliable and valid measures of the Big Five trait dimensions [33-36].

#### Negative Affective States

Recent experiences of negative affective states were measured using the Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale-21 items (DASS-21) [37]. The DASS-21 has been demonstrated to have good psychometric properties in clinical, nonclinical, and adolescent samples and has been used in previous research assessing affective states of web-based intervention users [38-40]. An example item for depression is, "I couldn't seem to experience any positive feeling at all."

#### **Alcohol Consumption**

Heavy drinking and probable alcohol dependence were assessed using the 3-item Consumption Short Form of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test-Concise (AUDIT-C) [41]. The AUDIT-C is a valid and reliable measure to screen for possible alcohol use disorders similar to the AUDIT long form [41,42]. An example item is, "How often did you have six or more drinks on one occasion?" with responses ranging from 0 (*never*) to 4 (*daily*). Overall AUDIT-C scores range from 0 to 12, with a score of 3 or above warranting further assessment of whether an alcohol use disorder may be present.

#### Treatment Expectations and Satisfaction

Treatment expectations at the beginning of the study were measured by asking participants, "By the end of treatment, how much improvement in binge drinking and depression do you think could occur as a result of internet delivered treatment?" Participants responded to this question in increments of 10 points ranging from the lowest (0-10) to highest expected improvement (91-100). Treatment satisfaction at the end of the study was measured using the general 8-item Client Satisfaction Questionnaire [43], which has demonstrated concurrent validity among Australians seeking treatment for alcohol and substance abuse [44]. An example item for client satisfaction is, "In an overall general sense, how satisfied are you with the service you received?"

#### Study Engagement

We considered returned web-based self-assessments (0-12) and follow-up questionnaires (0-4) as indicators of participants' engagement with the iTreAD study. Web-based self-assessments were part of the iTreAD treatment protocol because reflecting on one's recent mood and alcohol consumption was thought to have a mild therapeutic effect [45], and the completion of follow-up questionnaires constituted an indicator of study adherence. Thus, the self-assessments and follow-up questionnaires captured elements of treatment and study protocol engagement in the iTreAD trial. No other engagement indices were shared across the experimental and control groups.

#### Quality of Life

Participants' health-related quality of life was assessed using the 20-item standard version of the Assessment of Quality of Life questionnaire (AQoL-6D) [46]. The instrument considers various physical and psychological indicators of quality of life and general functioning. The validity of its components has been confirmed in Australian adult samples [47]. An example item is, "How often do you feel in control of your life?" Higher scores on the AQoL-6D were indicative of *lower* perceived quality of life.

#### **Analytic Plan**

With regard to the primary outcomes of the iTreAD trial, multilevel regression models revealed significant decreases in depression severity and binge drinking episodes throughout the study; however, these improvements did not vary by treatment condition (Kay-Lambkin et al, unpublished data, April 2021). This pattern of results suggested that there were no systematic differences between groups in the outcome measures, either at baseline or as a result of any intervention. Therefore, we collapsed the three trial conditions across all outcome measures to retain a sufficiently powered sample size for the analysis regarding study engagement. After collapsing across groups, 390 participants completed all relevant measures at registration. A total of 190 participants completed the treatment satisfaction questionnaire, and 191 participants completed the quality-of-life assessment at the last assessment point at 64 weeks. This reduction in available data was because of the study attrition and optional completion of the questionnaire components. Using G\*Power 3.1 (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf) [48], power calculations indicated that a sample size of 205 was

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e23986

required to detect small-to-medium effects typical in personality research with  $\alpha$  of .05, a power of 0.80, and 9 predictor variables. These power calculations indicated that the treatment satisfaction and quality-of-life analyses were slightly underpowered and would be more suitable for detecting medium-sized effects.

Predictor variables were identified based on the literature, indicating a likely impact on engagement. These variables were the personality traits of conscientiousness and neuroticism, the negative affective states of depression, anxiety, stress, alcohol use, and treatment expectations at the outset of the study. The BFI subscales of neuroticism and conscientiousness were used to describe personality trait dimensions. The DASS-21 subscales of depression, anxiety, and stress were used as predictor variables of negative affect. AUDIT-C scores were used to indicate alcohol consumption levels, and the single-item measure "By the end of treatment, how much improvement in binge drinking and depression do you think could occur as a result of internet delivered treatment?" assessed at baseline was used as a proxy for treatment expectations. The total number of returned study questionnaires (ie, web-based self-assessments and follow-up questionnaires) were computed to describe indices of study engagement. The sum scores of the 8-item Client Satisfaction Questionnaire and AQoL-6D were used to measure treatment satisfaction and quality of life, respectively, at the end of the study.

Multiple linear regression analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 25 (IBM Corporation) to assess the extent to which baseline levels of personality, negative affect, alcohol consumption, and treatment expectations might predict subsequent study engagement and to assess the ability of personality, negative affect, alcohol consumption, treatment expectations, and study engagement to predict treatment satisfaction and quality of life at the end of the study. The resulting prediction models reveal the unique and combined contributions of the predictor variables that help explain the proportion of the total variance of each outcome variable. As we considered three outcomes, we tested a total of three model predictions.

#### Results

#### **Sample Characteristics**

Table 1 presents the descriptive and between-group statistics of the iTreAD study participants. There were no significant differences in key variables between groups, including treatment satisfaction at the end of the study (mean 23.90, SD 5.17;  $F_{2,196}$ =2.14; P=.12), except for engagement. On average, participants in the control condition returned around two additional questionnaires (mean 6.51, SD 4.19) from the web-based self-assessment component compared with participants in experimental conditions 1 (mean 3.75, SD 3.87) and 2 (mean 4.43, SD 4.19;  $F_{2,408}$ =16.59; P<.001). It is possible that these differences were because of limited engagement options in the control condition (ie, questionnaire assessment only), whereas the experimental conditions offered web-based activities in addition to the questionnaire completion options.

XSL•FO

Table 1. Scale response anchors: means, SDs, and between-group statistics on key variables.

Variable	Scale anchors	Control group (n=135) Experimental group (n=131)		al group 1	Experimenta (n=145)	al group 2	F test (df)	P value	
	Range	Mean (SD)	n <sup>a</sup> (%)	Mean (SD)	n <sup>a</sup> (%)	Mean (SD)	n <sup>a</sup> (%)		
Age (years) <sup>b</sup>	18-30	23.24 (3.59)	129 (95.6)	23.2 (3.67)	128 (97.7)	23.68 (3.74)	134 (92.4)	0.71 (2, 388)	.494
Conscientiousness	1-5	3.35 (0.66)	128 (94.8)	3.25 (0.65)	128 (97.7)	3.26 (0.66)	138 (95.2)	0.82 (2, 391)	.44
Neuroticism	1-5	3.84 (1.06)	127 (95.1)	3.87 (1.02)	128 (97.7)	3.84 (1.08)	138 (95.2)	0.03 (2, 390)	.97
Depression	0-42	25.22 (9.53)	133 (98.5)	26.43 (8.5)	130 (99.2)	25.74 (9.40)	144 (99.3)	0.58 (2, 404)	.56
Anxiety	0-42	16.72 (8.78)	133 (98.5)	17.88 (8.74)	130 (99.2)	17.97 (9.87)	144 (99.3)	0.78 (2, 404)	.46
Stress	0-42	23.56 (8.30)	133 (98.5)	24.97 (8.51)	130 (99.2)	24.71 (8.49)	144 (99.3)	1.05 (2, 404)	.35
Alcohol consumption	0-12	7.66 (1.99)	135 (100)	7.55 (2.16)	131 (100)	7.57 (2.05)	143 (98.6)	0.11 (2, 406)	.90
Treatment expectation	0-100	46.23 (22.04)	130 (96.3)	47.44 (21.77)	129 (98.5)	45.07 (22.48)	138 (95.2)	0.38 (2, 394)	.68
Self-assessments	0-12	6.51 (4.19)	135 (100)	3.75 (3.87)	131 (100)	4.43 (4.19)	145 (100)	16.59 (2, 408)	<.001
Follow-ups	0-4	2.35 (1.61)	135 (100)	1.92 (1.73)	131 (100)	2.14 (1.66)	145 (100)	2.21 (2, 406)	.11
Treatment satisfaction <sup>c</sup>	8-32	22.9 (5.72)	72 (53.3)	24.56 (4.84)	57 (43.5)	24.39 (4.73)	70 (48.3)	2.14 (2, 196)	.12
Quality of life <sup>d</sup>	20-99	39.51 (9.63)	73 (54.1)	40.28 (11.24)	57 (43.5)	41.27 (11.67)	70 (48.3)	0.48 (2, 197)	.62

<sup>a</sup>Responses to items were optional. Actual numbers ranged from 57 to 145 per group.

<sup>b</sup>Age, personality, emotional distress, and treatment expectation statistics were computed at registration.

<sup>c</sup>Treatment satisfaction and quality of life were assessed at trial completion after 64 weeks postbaseline.

<sup>d</sup>Lower scores on the quality-of-life measure indicate higher life quality.

Table 2 lists Pearson correlations between variables. Conscientiousness showed consistent weak-to-moderate negative correlations with neuroticism, depression, anxiety and stress levels, and alcohol consumption (r ranged between -0.20 and -0.26) and was associated with higher levels of study engagement (the correlation with self-assessment returns was r=0.12 and with follow-up returns was r=0.11) and higher reported quality of life at the end of iTreAD at 64 weeks (r=-0.25). Conversely, higher initial reported stress and anxiety levels as well as alcohol consumption were negatively associated with web-based self-assessment returns (r=-0.15 and r=-0.12,

respectively), and higher initial levels of alcohol consumption were negatively associated with returns of follow-up assessments (r=-0.14). Neuroticism and negative affect at baseline showed moderate correlations with decreased quality of life at the 64-week follow-up (r ranged between 0.23 and 0.41). In addition, lower perceived quality of life was associated with lower levels of treatment satisfaction at the 64-week follow-up (r=-0.20). Treatment satisfaction was positively correlated with the number of returned follow-up assessments (r=0.18) in this study.



Table 2. Pearson correlations between key variables<sup>a</sup>.

Var	iable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. (	Conscienti	ousness									
	r	b	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
	P value	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
2. N	Neuroticis	n									
	r	-0.24	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
	P value	<.001	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
3. I	Depression	l									
	r	-0.24	0.20	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
	P value	<.001	<.001	_		_	_	_	_	_	_
<b>4.</b> A	Anxiety										
	r	-0.26	0.44	0.45	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
	P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
5.8	tress										
	r	-0.20	0.46	0.53	0.69		—	_	_	_	_
	P value	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	_	_	_	_	_	_
<b>6.</b> A	lcohol co	nsumption									
	r	-0.12	-0.06	0.21	0.11	0.12	_	_	_	_	_
	P value	.02	.21	<.001	.02	.02	_	_	_	_	_
7. 1	reatment	expectation									
	r	0.08	-0.00	0.07	0.08	0.13	-0.07	_	_	_	—
	P value	.10	.96	.18	.13	.01	.18	_	_	_	—
<b>8.</b> S	elf-assess	ments									
	r	0.12	0.05	-0.07	-0.15	-0.12	-0.08	0.05	_	_	_
	P value	.02	.35	.18	.003	.02	.10	.32	_	_	_
9. I	follow-ups	;									
	r	0.11	0.03	-0.03	-0.10	-0.06	-0.14	0.08	0.70	_	_
	P value	.03	.56	.49	.05	.22	.006	.09	<.001	_	_
10.	Treatmen	t satisfaction	l								
	r	0.04	0.05	-0.04	0.06	0.04	-0.11	0.14	-0.01	0.18	_
	P value	.54	.53	.56	.43	.54	.14	.05	.90	.01	_
11.	Quality of	f life <sup>c</sup>									
	r	-0.25	0.23	0.41	0.35	0.40	0.08	-0.01	-0.05	-0.13	-0.20
	P value	<.001	.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.25	.93	.44	.08	.005

<sup>a</sup>Personality, emotional distress, and treatment expectation statistics were computed at registration; treatment satisfaction and quality of life were assessed at trial completion 64 weeks postbaseline. Responses to items were optional. Actual n ranged between 192 and 415.

<sup>b</sup>Not applicable.

<sup>c</sup>Lower scores on the quality-of-life measure indicated higher life quality.

#### **Regression Models**

For model 1, personality, negative affect, alcohol consumption, and treatment expectation variables were included as predictors of iTreAD study engagement, as indicated by the return of web-based self-assessments (Table 3) and follow-up

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e23986

questionnaires (Table 4). The models predicting self-assessment ( $F_{7,382}$ =3.09; P=.003) and follow-up returns ( $F_{7,382}$ =2.61; P=.01) were significant. However, the predictors only accounted for about 5% of the variance in study engagement ( $R^2$ =0.05), indicating that personality, negative affect, alcohol consumption, and expectations of treatment success together played a minor

role in determining continuous study participation. Neuroticism remained a statistically significant predictor of study engagement, although its unique predictive power was low. Neuroticism alone accounted for approximately 2% of the variance in web-based self-assessments. In other words, an increase of about one point (0.71) in the neuroticism dimension was predictive of returning an additional web-based self-assessment.

**Table 3.** Standard regression results for personality, negative affect, and treatment expectations predicting engagement with web-based self-assessments  $(n=390)^{a}$ .

Model	<i>b</i> (SE)	β	Pearson r	sr <sup>b</sup>	Structure coefficient
Constant	1.81 (1.93)	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A
Conscientiousness	0.67 (0.34)	.10	0.12	0.10	0.500
Neuroticism <sup>d</sup>	0.71 (0.24)	.18	0.05	0.15	0.203
Depression	0.02 (0.03)	.04	-0.07	0.03	-0.289
Anxiety	-0.07 (0.03)	14	-0.14	-0.10	-0.595
Stress	-0.05 (0.04)	10	-0.11	-0.07	-0.474
Alcohol consumption	-0.06 (0.11)	03	-0.11	-0.03	-0.319
Treatment expectation	0.01 (0.01)	.07	0.05	0.06	0.228

 ${}^{a}R^{2}=0.05$ ; adjusted  $R^{2}=0.04$ .

<sup>b</sup>sr: the semipartial correlation.

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>d</sup>*P*<.01.

**Table 4.** Standard regression results for personality, negative affect, and treatment expectations predicting engagement with follow-up questionnaires  $(n=390)^{a}$ .

Model	<i>b</i> (SE)	β	Pearson r	sr <sup>b</sup>	Structure coefficient
Constant	1.81 (0.75)	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A
Conscientiousness	0.23 (0.13)	.09	0.11	0.09	0.519
Neuroticism	0.18 (0.09)	.12	0.04	0.10	0.164
Depression	0.01 (0.01)	.04	-0.05	0.03	-0.243
Anxiety	-0.02 (0.01)	09	-0.09	-0.07	-0.435
Stress	-0.01 (0.02)	06	-0.07	-0.04	-0.313
Alcohol consumption	-0.08 (0.04)	10	-0.13	-0.10	-0.617
Treatment expectation	0.01 (0.00)	.08	0.08	0.08	0.393

 ${}^{a}R^{2}=0.05$ , adjusted  $R^{2}=0.03$ .

<sup>b</sup>*sr*: the semipartial correlation.

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

Model 2 (presented in Table 4) examined the predictive strength of personality, negative affect, treatment expectations, and study engagement on participants' satisfaction with the iTreAD program. Contrary to expectations, the overall model only approached significance ( $F_{9,180}$ =1.90; P=.06), indicating that the variance of satisfaction with the treatment program could not be explained by the prediction model. However, the study engagement variable of follow-up assessments showed a significant association with treatment satisfaction in the overall model. The return of follow-up assessments explained 2.5% of the variance in treatment satisfaction, whereby the completion of about 2 (1.6) additional questionnaires was predictive of a 1-point increase in treatment satisfaction.

Personality, negative affect, treatment expectations, and study engagement were used to predict the self-reported quality of life at study cessation in model 3 (Tables 5 and 6). The prediction model was significant ( $F_{9,181}$ =6.34; P<.001). The combined predictors accounted for approximately 20% of the variance in quality of life ( $R^2$ =0.24; adjusted  $R^2$ =0.20). Only depression scores at baseline had a significant influence on subsequent quality-of-life ratings and, given the other variables in the model, only accounted for about 3% of the variance in quality of life. In other words, a 0.3-point increase on the DASS-21 depression measure uniquely accounted for a 1-point increase on the AQoL-6D (ie, a 1-unit decrement in life quality).



#### Sanatkar et al

**Table 5.** Standard regression results for personality, negative affect, treatment expectations, and study engagement predicting treatment satisfaction  $(n=190)^{a}$ .

Model	<i>b</i> (SE)	β	Pearson r	sr <sup>b</sup>	Structure coefficient
Constant	16.78 (3.88)	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A
Conscientiousness	0.32 (0.63)	.04	0.06	0.04	0.194
Neuroticism	0.23 (0.43)	.05	0.05	0.04	0.180
Depression	-0.06 (0.05)	11	-0.07	-0.09	-0.252
Anxiety	0.03 (0.06)	.06	0.05	0.04	0.167
Stress	0.03 (0.07)	.04	0.03	0.03	0.099
Alcohol consumption	-0.10 (0.19)	04	-0.09	-0.04	0.310
Treatment expectation	0.03 (0.02)	.13	0.13	0.13	0.446
Self-assessments	-0.14 (0.11)	11	-0.00	-0.10	0.003
Follow-ups <sup>d</sup>	1.63 (0.54)	.25	0.20	0.22	0.677

 ${}^{a}R^{2}=0.09$ ; adjusted  $R^{2}=0.04$ .

<sup>b</sup>*sr*: the semipartial correlation.

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>d</sup>*P*<.01.

Table 6.	Standard regression resul	ts for personality,	negative affect,	treatment expectations,	, and study	y engagement predict	ing quality of life (n=191) <sup>a</sup> .
----------	---------------------------	---------------------	------------------	-------------------------	-------------	----------------------	--

Model	<i>b</i> (SE)	β	Pearson r	sr <sup>b</sup>	Structure coefficient
Constant	38.40 (7.23)	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A
Conscientiousness	-1.94 (1.17)	12	-0.25	-0.11	-0.502
Neuroticism	0.65 (0.81)	.06	0.25	0.05	0.506
Depression <sup>d</sup>	0.30 (0.09)	.27	0.39	0.22	0.802
Anxiety	0.08 (0.11)	.07	0.34	0.05	0.688
Stress	0.17 (0.13)	.14	0.39	0.08	0.788
Alcohol consumption	-0.19 (0.36)	04	0.10	-0.03	0.202
Treatment expectation	-0.03 (0.03)	06	-0.01	-0.06	-0.014
Self-assessments	0.19 (0.20)	.07	-0.04	0.06	0.084
Follow-ups	-1.74 (1.01)	13	-0.16	-0.11	-0.331

 ${}^{a}R^{2}=0.24$ ; adjusted  $R^{2}=0.20$ ; lower scores on the quality-of-life measure indicated higher quality of life.

<sup>b</sup>*sr*: the semipartial correlation.

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.  $^{d}P < .01$ .

#### 1<.01.

RenderX

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

We hypothesized that a combination of personality traits (conscientiousness and neuroticism), recent feelings of negative affect (depression, anxiety, and stress), recent alcohol use, and expectations of treatment effectiveness could predict subsequent study engagement within a young adult–focused web-based intervention trial (iTreAD). We further hypothesized that personality, negative affect, alcohol use, treatment expectations, and study engagement would predict treatment satisfaction and self-reported quality of life at the end of iTreAD. We expected that conscientiousness, treatment expectations, and study

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e23986
```

engagement would exert a positive influence on study engagement and outcomes, whereas neuroticism, negative affect, and greater alcohol consumption at baseline would pose obstacles to study engagement and derive any intended benefit. This study sought to extend the existing literature by combining these predictive factors into a single model to test the overall magnitude of influence and discern the unique contributions of predictor variables.

As there were no previous studies known to us that had assessed predictors of engagement, treatment satisfaction, and quality-of-life outcomes simultaneously, we had no a priori expectations regarding the shared and unique contributions of predictor variables in explaining outcomes. Our results indicated

that the combined effects of personality, negative affect, alcohol use, and attitudes in predicting study engagement were relatively low. Although conscientiousness, anxiety, stress, and alcohol consumption showed significant zero-order correlations with our measures of study engagement, only 5% of the variance in study engagement exhibited by young Australian adults could be attributed to personality, negative affect, alcohol use, and treatment expectations at the time of study registration, when considering all predictor variables. This is a clinically important finding, indicating that this range of presenting characteristics supporting engagement in mental health services in previous research was not as salient in a population of young adults with comorbid depression and alcohol use problems. It is well recognized that comorbid substance use and mental disorders are among the strongest factors associated with nonengagement with mental health treatment [49], and young people represent a particular subgroup of our community who are among the hardest to engage in treatment [6]. Although treatment engagement is a complex and multidimensional issue, a review of people with mental illness highlighted the potential for digital tools to remove many of the traditional barriers to access mental health treatment, to encourage ongoing psychoeducation, to outreach to people in environments in which they feel comfortable and safe, and to promote autonomy and empowerment [6]. These issues may be particularly important for young people considering treatment for sensitive mental health problems and for people with comorbidities who may experience service fragmentation and disconnection when seeking care. It may be that the digital environment offered our study population an opportunity that overcame some of these typical predictors of engagement. Future research should seek to understand digital tools in this context, particularly given that our study still reported high levels of attrition over time.

Among the predictors of study engagement, and contrary to expectations, only elevated neuroticism levels at baseline seemed to be associated with increased numbers of monthly web-based self-assessments returned. Previous studies demonstrated that neuroticism could indeed be beneficial for performance because of individuals' increased tolerance for negative affect [50], which may have played a supportive role in participants' willingness to complete self-assessments in this study. These findings resemble what previous researchers have coined healthy neuroticism, where a combination of neurotic self-awareness and conscientious decision making indicates engaging in favorable health behaviors such as increased doctor visits and fewer risky behaviors such as alcohol consumption and smoking [51-54]. Importantly, Weston and Jackson [52] found that healthy neurotics were more successful than other personality types in implementing effective behavior change after disease onset, suggesting that awareness of a chronic condition facilitated healthful actions particularly well in this group. Hence, it is possible that among treatment-seeking young people, moderate levels of neuroticism are beneficial to increase the chances of ongoing engagement with a digital mental health intervention study.

Concerning treatment satisfaction, the prediction model did not yield statistical significance, indicating that our predictors did not explain substantive variance in treatment satisfaction.

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e23986
```

Reductions in the adjusted R-squared value compared with the initial R-squared value indicated that the variables entered were in fact detrimental to explaining variance in treatment satisfaction. Although the overall model did not reach the statistical level of significance, it is worth noting that, in line with zero-order correlations, completion of incentivized follow-up assessments was uniquely predictive of satisfaction ratings at the conclusion of the study. Participants were invited to complete follow-up assessments 26, 39, 52, and 64 weeks after study registration and were reimbursed each time they returned a follow-up assessment. It is possible that the ongoing reflection on symptom scores combined with positive reinforcement through the incorporation of a tangible monetary reward system facilitated satisfaction with the study overall. This may hint toward the utility of supervision and blended care models, where some clinician guidance takes place alongside digital mental health therapy. Furthermore, personality, emotional distress, the severity of alcohol consumption, and even treatment allocation did not seem to affect satisfaction with the trial negatively. Satisfaction ratings with the study were good across all the conditions. These results warrant further exploration of factors influencing young adults' satisfaction with web-based treatment components in particular, given the increasing focus on providing web-based health tools to young, digitally native populations [14].

Most notably, personality, affect, treatment expectation, and engagement variables together predicted about one-fifth of the variance in quality-of-life responses at the end of the iTreAD study. Although there were numerous moderate-sized zero-order associations with quality of life, when all predictors were included within one model (and with this, the sizable correlations between the predictor variables were accounted for), only depression remained a unique contributor to the variance in quality of life. These results underscore that depressive symptoms are a robust contributor to poor functioning in young people facing problems with alcohol and deserve attention in the design and delivery of digital mental health interventions.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

Although the strength of this analysis lies in the simultaneous inspection of predictive factors, several limitations warrant consideration. First, our study's engagement measures were somewhat limited in scope. Although our study engagement variables captured both treatment and trial engagement, only one common aspect of the treatment protocol (monthly web-based self-assessments) could be considered for the analysis. Ideally, web-based treatment engagement metrics would comprise several treatment components, such as the number of log-ins and module completion rates within the digital mental health intervention [55]. Power requirements prevent such an approach in our analyses; however, future research should attempt to uncover person-based predictors of web-based treatment engagement using more content-valid engagement measures. Second, although the decision as to which variables to include in this analysis was informed by the existing literature, the results revealed that the overall contribution of personality, affect, alcohol use, and expectations in predicting markers of treatment success were small, indicating that other, more

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

important factors determined engagement in this digital treatment trial. Third, because of the optional completion of study components and study attrition, analyses including variables assessed at the conclusion of the study (ie, treatment satisfaction and quality of life) were slightly underpowered and thus needed to be interpreted with caution.

#### Conclusions

Taken together, our findings suggest that web-based mental health trials should continue to consider and aim to treat initial levels of depression to optimally improve quality-of-life experiences at the conclusion of the intervention period. In addition, neuroticism may constitute a positive predictor of subsequent engagement with the treatment protocol, and study adherence incentivized through monetary rewards may indicate improved satisfaction with the digital service overall.

Digital mental health interventions have the potential to become an integral part of health promotion strategies aimed at young people [11]. However, to meet this objective, web-based treatments need to capture their target audience's demands and deliver health information and mental health support in a comprehensive, effective, and engaging way. Our findings suggest that traditional predictors of engagement observed in face-to-face and even some web-based research may not be easily transferable to evaluate digital health interventions, particularly those aimed at comorbid mental health concerns and alcohol misuse among young adults.

Future research should continue to assess which factors and their combinations reliably and substantially predict young adults' engagement with digital mental health tools. As a next step, similar to face-to-face psychotherapy recommendations [56], supervised and tailored approaches to digital health and mental health promotion may yield the most engaging prospect as interventions can be personalized and delivered in a manner that suits the person undertaking web-based treatment [15].

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Erskine HE, Moffitt TE, Copeland WE, Costello EJ, Ferrari AJ, Patton G, et al. A heavy burden on young minds: the global burden of mental and substance use disorders in children and youth. Psychol Med 2014 Dec 23;45(7):1551-1563. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291714002888]
- Pedrelli P, Shapero B, Archibald A, Dale C. Alcohol use and depression during adolescence and young adulthood: a summary and interpretation of mixed findings. Curr Addict Rep 2016 Mar 4;3(1):91-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40429-016-0084-0] [Medline: 27162708]
- 3. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian burden of disease study: impact and causes of illness and death in Australia 2015. In: Australian Burden of Disease, Series No. 19. Cat. No. BOD 22. Canberra: AIHW; 2019.
- Brière FN, Rohde P, Seeley JR, Klein D, Lewinsohn PM. Comorbidity between major depression and alcohol use disorder from adolescence to adulthood. Compr Psychiatry 2014 Apr;55(3):526-533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2013.10.007] [Medline: 24246605]
- Carton L, Pignon B, Baguet A, Benradia I, Roelandt J, Vaiva G, et al. Influence of comorbid alcohol use disorders on the clinical patterns of major depressive disorder: a general population-based study. Drug Alcohol Depend 2018 Jun 01;187:40-47. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.02.009] [Medline: 29626745]
- 6. Dixon LB, Holoshitz Y, Nossel I. Treatment engagement of individuals experiencing mental illness: review and update. World Psychiatry 2016 Feb;15(1):13-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20306] [Medline: 26833597]
- 7. McHugh R. Alcohol use disorder and depressive disorders. Alcohol Res Curr Rev 2019;40(1):1-8. [doi: 10.35946/arcr.v40.1.01]
- Patient experiences in Australia: summary of findings; reference period 2019-20 financial year. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2020 Nov 06. URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/health-services/</u> <u>patient-experiences-australia-summary-findings/latest-release#data-download</u> [accessed 2021-01-10]
- Hobden B, Bryant J, Sanson-Fisher R, Oldmeadow C, Carey M. Co-occurring depression and alcohol misuse is under-identified in general practice: a cross-sectional study. J Health Psychol 2018 Jul 25;23(8):1085-1095. [doi: 10.1177/1359105316643855] [Medline: 27114213]
- 10. Uhlhaas P, Torous J. Digital tools for youth mental health. NPJ Digit Med 2019 Oct 18;2(1):2-4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0181-2] [Medline: 31646184]
- 11. Clarke AM, Kuosmanen T, Barry MM. A systematic review of online youth mental health promotion and prevention interventions. J Youth Adolesc 2015 Jan;44(1):90-113. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10964-014-0165-0</u>] [Medline: <u>25115460</u>]
- 12. Wartella E, Rideout V, Montague H, Beaudoin-Ryan L, Lauricella A. Teens, health and technology: a national survey. Media Commun 2016 Jun 16;4(3):13-23. [doi: 10.17645/mac.v4i3.515]
- 13. Burns JM, Birrell E, Bismark M, Pirkis J, Davenport TA, Hickie IB, et al. The role of technology in Australian youth mental health reform. Aust Health Rev 2016 Mar 03;40(5):584-590. [doi: 10.1071/AH15115] [Medline: 26934382]
- 14. Pretorius C, Chambers D, Coyle D. Young people's online help-seeking and mental health difficulties: systematic narrative review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 19;21(11):e13873 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13873] [Medline: 31742562]

- Garrido S, Millington C, Cheers D, Boydell K, Schubert E, Meade T, et al. What works and what doesn't work? A systematic review of digital mental health interventions for depression and anxiety in young people. Front Psychiatry 2019 Nov 13;10:759 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00759] [Medline: 31798468]
- 16. Geramita EM, Belnap BH, Abebe KZ, Rothenberger SD, Rotondi AJ, Rollman BL. The association between increased levels of patient engagement with an internet support group and improved mental health outcomes at 6-month follow-up: post-hoc analyses from a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 17;20(7):e10402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10402] [Medline: 30021711]
- 17. Yeager CM, Benight CC. If we build it, will they come? Issues of engagement with digital health interventions for trauma recovery. Mhealth 2018;4:37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2018.08.04] [Medline: 30363749]
- Christensen H, Mackinnon A. The law of attrition revisited. J Med Internet Res 2006 Sep 29;8(3):20-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.8.3.e20</u>] [Medline: <u>17032636</u>]
- Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005 Mar;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]
- 20. Fleming T, Bavin L, Lucassen M, Stasiak K, Hopkins S, Merry S. Beyond the trial: systematic review of real-world uptake and engagement with digital self-help interventions for depression, low mood, or anxiety. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 06;20(6):e199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9275] [Medline: 29875089]
- Axelsson M, Emilsson M, Brink E, Lundgren J, Torén K, Lötvall J. Personality, adherence, asthma control and health-related quality of life in young adult asthmatics. Respir Med 2009 Jul;103(7):1033-1040 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2009.01.013] [Medline: 19217764]
- 22. Scherphof CS, van den Eijnden RJ, Lugtig P, Engels RC, Vollebergh WA. Adolescents' use of nicotine replacement therapy for smoking cessation: predictors of compliance trajectories. Psychopharmacology 2014 Mar 5;231(8):1743-1752. [doi: 10.1007/s00213-014-3511-8]
- Martinez K, Frazer SF, Dempster M, Hamill A, Fleming H, McCorry NK. Psychological factors associated with diabetes self-management among adolescents with Type 1 diabetes: a systematic review. J Health Psychol 2018 Nov 22;23(13):1749-1765. [doi: 10.1177/1359105316669580] [Medline: 27663288]
- 24. Cox L, Hunt J. Factors that affect adolescents' adherence to diabetes treatment. Nurs Child Young People 2015 Feb 11;27(1):16-21. [doi: 10.7748/ncyp.27.1.16.e565] [Medline: 25671752]
- 25. Kondryn HJ, Edmondson CL, Hill J, Eden TO. Treatment non-adherence in teenage and young adult patients with cancer. Lancet Oncol 2011 Jan;12(1):100-108. [doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(10)70069-3]
- Dima AL, Schweitzer A, Diaconiţ R, Remor E, Wanless RS. Adherence to ARV medication in Romanian young adults: self-reported behaviour and psychological barriers. Psychol Health Med 2013 May;18(3):343-354. [doi: 10.1080/13548506.2012.722648] [Medline: 22985131]
- 27. Zeitlin H. Psychiatric comorbidity with substance misuse in children and teenagers. Drug Alcohol Depend 1999 Jul;55(3):225-234. [doi: 10.1016/s0376-8716(99)00018-6]
- Bucks RS, Hawkins K, Skinner TC, Horn S, Seddon P, Horne R. Adherence to treatment in adolescents with cystic fibrosis: the role of illness perceptions and treatment beliefs. J Pediatr Psychol 2009 Sep 05;34(8):893-902. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsn135] [Medline: 19196850]
- 29. Quast L, Gutiérrez-Colina A, Cushman G. Adherence barriers for adolescent and young adult transplant recipients: relations to personal. J Pediatr Psychol 2020 Jun;45(5):540-549. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsaa017</u>]
- King KM, Patock-Peckham JA, Dager AD, Thimm K, Gates JR. On the mismeasurement of impulsivity: trait, behavioral, and neural models in alcohol research among adolescents and young adultsity. Curr Addict Rep 2014 Jan 4;1(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1007/s40429-013-0005-4]
- 31. Umaki TM, Umaki MR, Cobb CM. The psychology of patient compliance: a focused review of the literature. J Periodontol 2012 Apr;83(4):395-400. [doi: 10.1902/jop.2011.110344] [Medline: 21819248]
- 32. Kay-Lambkin FJ, Baker AL, Geddes J, Hunt SA, Woodcock KL, Teesson M, et al. The iTreAD project: a study protocol for a randomised controlled clinical trial of online treatment and social networking for binge drinking and depression in young people. BMC Public Health 2015 Oct 06;15(1):1025 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2365-2] [Medline: 26444863]
- 33. John O, Srivastava S. The big-five trait taxonomy: history, measurement, and theoretical perspectives. In: Pervin LA, John OP, editors. Handbook of Personality: Theory and Research, Second Edition. New York: Guilford Press; 1999.
- 34. Rammstedt B, John OP. Measuring personality in one minute or less: a 10-item short version of the Big Five Inventory in English and German. J Res Pers 2007 Feb;41(1):203-212. [doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2006.02.001]
- 35. Rammstedt B. The 10-item big five inventory. Eur J Psychol Assess 2007 Jan;23(3):193-201. [doi: 10.1027/1015-5759.23.3.193]
- 36. Soto CJ, John OP. Ten facet scales for the Big Five Inventory: convergence with NEO PI-R facets, self-peer agreement, and discriminant validity. J Res Pers 2009 Feb;43(1):84-90. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jrp.2008.10.002</u>]
- Lovibond P, Lovibond S. The structure of negative emotional states: comparison of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) with the Beck Depression and Anxiety Inventories. Behav Res Ther 1995 Mar;33(3):335-343. [doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(94)00075-U]

- Deady M, Mills KL, Teesson M, Kay-Lambkin F. An Online Intervention for Co-Occurring Depression and Problematic Alcohol Use in Young People: Primary Outcomes From a Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res 2016 Mar 23;18(3):e71. [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5178] [Medline: 27009465]
- 39. Proudfoot J, Clarke J, Gunn J, Fletcher S, Sanatkar S, Wilhelm K, et al. A web-based public health intervention to reduce functional impairment and depressive symptoms in adults with type 2 diabetes (The Springboard Trial): randomized controlled trial protocol. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Aug 03;6(8):e145 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.7348] [Medline: 28778848]
- 40. Szabó M. The short version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): factor structure in a young adolescent sample. J Adolesc 2010 Feb;33(1):1-8. [doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2009.05.014] [Medline: 19560196]
- Bush K, Kivlahan DR, McDonell MB, Fihn SD, Bradley KA. The AUDIT alcohol consumption questions (AUDIT-C): an effective brief screening test for problem drinking. Ambulatory Care Quality Improvement Project (ACQUIP). Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. Arch Intern Med 1998 Sep 14;158(16):1789-1795. [doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.158.16.1789</u>] [Medline: <u>9738608</u>]
- 42. Rubinsky AD, Dawson DA, Williams EC, Kivlahan DR, Bradley KA. AUDIT-C scores as a scaled marker of mean daily drinking, alcohol use disorder severity, and probability of alcohol dependence in a U.S. general population sample of drinkers. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2013 Aug;37(8):1380-1390. [doi: 10.1111/acer.12092] [Medline: 23906469]
- 43. Larsen DL, Attkisson C, Hargreaves WA, Nguyen TD. Assessment of client/patient satisfaction: development of a general scale. Eval Program Plann 1979 Jan;2(3):197-207. [doi: 10.1016/0149-7189(79)90094-6]
- 44. Kelly PJ, Kyngdon F, Ingram I, Deane FP, Baker AL, Osborne BA. The Client Satisfaction Questionnaire-8: psychometric properties in a cross-sectional survey of people attending residential substance abuse treatment. Drug Alcohol Rev 2018 Jan 07;37(1):79-86. [doi: 10.1111/dar.12522] [Medline: 28480521]
- 45. Drake G, Csipke E, Wykes T. Assessing your mood online: acceptability and use of Moodscope. Psychol Med 2012 Nov 13;43(7):1455-1464. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291712002280]
- 46. Richardson JR, Peacock SJ, Hawthorne G, Iezzi A, Elsworth G, Day NA. Construction of the descriptive system for the Assessment of Quality of Life AQoL-6D utility instrument. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2012 Apr 17;10(1):38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-10-38] [Medline: 22507254]
- 47. Allen J, Inder KJ, Lewin TJ, Attia JR, Kelly BJ. Construct validity of the Assessment of Quality of Life 6D (AQoL-6D) in community samples. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2013 Apr 17;11(1):61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-11-61] [Medline: 23590808]
- 48. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, Lang A. Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behav Res Methods 2009 Nov;41(4):1149-1160. [doi: <u>10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149</u>] [Medline: <u>19897823</u>]
- Kreyenbuhl J, Nossel IR, Dixon LB. Disengagement from mental health treatment among individuals with schizophrenia and strategies for facilitating connections to care: a review of the literature. Schizophr Bull 2009 Jul 02;35(4):696-703 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp046] [Medline: 19491314]
- 50. Tamir M. Don't worry, be happy? Neuroticism, trait-consistent affect regulation, and performance. J Pers Soc Psychol 2005 Sep;89(3):449-461. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.89.3.449] [Medline: 16248724]
- Turiano NA, Mroczek DK, Moynihan J, Chapman BP. Big 5 personality traits and interleukin-6: evidence for "healthy Neuroticism" in a US population sample. Brain Behav Immun 2013 Feb;28:83-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.10.020] [Medline: 23123863]
- 52. Weston SJ, Jackson JJ. Identification of the healthy neurotic: personality traits predict smoking after disease onset. J Res Pers 2015 Feb;54:61-69. [doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2014.04.008]
- 53. Friedman HS. Long-term relations of personality and health: dynamisms, mechanisms, tropisms. J Pers 2000 Dec 25;68(6):1089-1107. [doi: 10.1111/1467-6494.00127] [Medline: 11130733]
- 54. Graham E, Weston S, Turiano N. Is healthy neuroticism associated with health behaviors? A coordinated integrative data analysis. Collabra Psychol 2020;6(1):33. [doi: 10.1525/collabra.268]
- Sieverink F, Kelders SM, van Gemert-Pijnen JE. Clarifying the concept of adherence to eHealth technology: systematic review on when usage becomes adherence. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 06;19(12):e402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8578] [Medline: 29212630]
- 56. Norcross JC, Wampold BE. What works for whom: tailoring psychotherapy to the person. J Clin Psychol 2011 Feb 24;67(2):127-132. [doi: <u>10.1002/jclp.20764</u>] [Medline: <u>21108312</u>]

#### Abbreviations

AUDIT-C: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test-Concise AQoL-6D: Assessment of Quality of Life questionnaire BFI: Big Five Inventory DASS-21: Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale-21 items iTreAD: Internet Treatment for Alcohol and Depression

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e23986
```

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 31.08.20; peer-reviewed by L Balcombe, S Six; comments to author 28.10.20; revised version received 10.01.21; accepted 17.04.21; published 07.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Sanatkar S, Heinsch M, Baldwin PA, Rubin M, Geddes J, Hunt S, Baker AL, Woodcock K, Lewin TJ, Brady K, Deady M, Thornton L, Teesson M, Kay-Lambkin F Factors Predicting Trial Engagement, Treatment Satisfaction, and Health-Related Quality of Life During a Web-Based Treatment and Social Networking Trial for Binge Drinking and Depression in Young Adults: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e23986 URL: <u>https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e23986</u> PMID:34096873

©Samineh Sanatkar, Milena Heinsch, Peter Andrew Baldwin, Mark Rubin, Jenny Geddes, Sally Hunt, Amanda L Baker, Kathryn Woodcock, Terry J Lewin, Kathleen Brady, Mark Deady, Louise Thornton, Maree Teesson, Frances Kay-Lambkin. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 07.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



### Original Paper

# Typology and Impact of YouTube Videos Posted in Response to a Student Suicide Crisis: Social Media Metrics and Content Analyses

Qijin Cheng<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Carrie Lui<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Flora Wai Lam Ip<sup>2</sup>, BSc; Paul Siu Fai Yip<sup>2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Social Work, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong)

<sup>2</sup>Hong Kong Jockey Club Centre for Suicide Research and Prevention, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China (Hong Kong)

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Paul Siu Fai Yip, PhD Hong Kong Jockey Club Centre for Suicide Research and Prevention The University of Hong Kong 2/F, 5 Sassoon Road, Pokfulam Hong Kong China (Hong Kong) Phone: 852 28315232 Email: <u>sfpyip@hku.hk</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Videos relating to suicide are available on YouTube, but their characteristics and impacts have seldom been examined.

**Objective:** This study aimed to examine YouTube videos posted in response to a sudden spate of student suicides in Hong Kong during the 2015-2016 school year and evaluate the impacts of those videos.

**Methods:** Keyword search was performed on YouTube, and relevant videos were identified. Video typology was examined through content analysis, specifically grouping the videos by who uploaded the videos, what presentation formats were used in the videos, whether the videos were originally created by the uploaders, and whether the videos disclosed the uploaders' personal experiences with suicide. Impacts of the videos were assessed in terms of reach (measured by view count), engagement (measured by comment count), and insights (measured as to what extent the comments to each video could reveal personal suicide risk and attitude toward help-seeking). Statistical analysis was conducted to compare the impacts of different types of videos. The 7 most impactful videos that were originally created by the YouTubers were selected for further analysis. They were compared with 7 videos uploaded by the same YouTubers right before the student suicide videos and 7 right after the student suicide videos. The comparison focused on their impacts and the network structure of the comments to those videos.

**Results:** A total of 162 relevant YouTube videos were identified. They were uploaded by 7 types of stakeholders, and the most common format was one person talking to the camera. A total of 87.0% (141/162) of the videos were originally created by the uploaders and only 8.0% (13/162) of the videos disclosed uploader personal experiences with suicide. The uploader profiles being popular or top YouTubers and the video containing disclosure of the uploader's personal experiences were found to be significantly correlated with greater impacts (P<.001). Focusing on the 7 most impactful original videos, it is found that those videos generated more engagement, especially more interactions between the viewers, and more insights than regular videos uploaded by the same YouTubers.

**Conclusions:** When responding to a youth suicide crisis, videos made by key opinion leaders on YouTube sharing their own experiences of overcoming suicide risks could generate significant positive impacts. These types of videos offer a precious opportunity to craft online campaigns and activities to raise suicide prevention awareness and engage vulnerable youth.

#### (JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e15551) doi:10.2196/15551

## KEYWORDS

suicide; suicide prevention; social media; infodemiology; internet; digital health; YouTube; impact evaluation; network visualization



#### Cheng et al

# Introduction

Youth suicide is an alarming public health problem. Suicide is the second leading cause of death among young people aged 15 to 24 years globally and accounts for over 16% of all deaths among youth [1]. Social media is a ubiquitous form of communication for young people nowadays, and this has become a double-edged sword for suicide prevention [2-5]. On one hand, social media may increase the availability and accessibility of suicide method information or connect suicidal people to form suicide pacts. On the other hand, social media can also offer a new channel for raising public awareness and for suicidal people to disclose their feelings and look for help [6]. Making good use of social media to engage at-risk youngsters and connect them with preventive resources is imperative for youth suicide prevention.

YouTube, a video-sharing site which has over a billion users globally, is one of the most popular social media sites [7]. A couple recent studies used keyword search to identify YouTube videos about suicide in English or German and conducted content analyses on the most-viewed videos or a random sample of the returned videos [8,9]. One study applied existing media guidelines of responsibly reporting suicide to evaluate the appropriateness of suicide-related YouTube videos in the German language and found that those videos exhibited more potentially harmful than protective characteristics [8]. However, the other study applied the open coding method to summarize the content themes exhibited in YouTube videos about teen suicide in English and found that the majority of them were educational or raised awareness of suicide prevention [9]. Another approach is to assess the impacts of a specific YouTube video using social media metrics [10]. The commonly evaluated metrics include: (1) reach (ie, number of views); (2) engagement (ie, number of comments or responses); and (3) insights (ie, whether the audience engagement is positive, neutral, or negative) [11]. Furthermore, a study has applied a machine learning method to automatically identify YouTube comments in the Traditional Chinese language that showed suicide risk for further intervention [12]. Nonetheless, compared to other online media, such as search engines, online forums, Facebook, Twitter, and Weibo (a Chinese social media), YouTube has been the focus of relatively fewer studies as related to suicide.

In the 2015-2016 school year (from September 1 to August 31), 33 students unfortunately died by suicide in Hong Kong, of which the majority were teenagers and the most common method was jumping from height [13,14]. The significant increase of incidents was alarming when compared to 19 student suicides in each of the 2013-2014 and 2014-2015 school years [14]. When 11 student suicides occurred during the period between February 12 and March 28, 2016, the seeming cluster triggered intense media coverage and online discussion. To curb the crisis of student suicides, the Hong Kong government set up a committee on student suicide prevention on March 30, 2016,

constituting public health experts, psychiatrists, psychologists, social workers, school principals and teachers, parents, youth leaders, and government officials. Responding to the committee's advice, local press reduced sensational reporting of student suicides and published more preventive information, which was found to be associated with a subsequent decrease in student suicides toward the end of 2016 [13]. During the process, various community members spontaneously made use of YouTube to voice their thoughts and opinions regarding student suicides.

The series of events, which will be referred as the student suicide crisis hereafter, offered a precious opportunity for us to observe what role YouTube can play when a youth suicide crisis is in the spotlight. Combining the approaches of both content analysis and impact assessment, this study specifically examined what YouTube videos were posted in response to the student suicide issue in Hong Kong and what impacts those videos generated. Specifically, our research questions include the following:

- What kinds of videos are publicly accessible on YouTube regarding the student suicide crisis?
- How much impact did different kinds of videos generate in terms of reach, engagement, and insights?
- Which types of videos were more likely to generate greater impacts?

As the study was exploratory and data-driven in nature and there was no previous study on the same topic, we had no hypothesis regarding those questions.

# Methods

#### **Data Collection**

The data collection procedure is illustrated in Figure 1. Using YouTube's open application programming interface, videos were searched and downloaded with the Traditional Chinese keywords relating to student suicides that were frequently being used in local newspapers when reporting the student suicide crisis. The query was written as [學生自殺 (student suicide), 學童自殺 (school children suicide) OR 學生跳樓 (student jumping from height) OR 學業壓力 (academic pressure) OR 珍惜生命 (cherish life)]. The search period was restricted to the 2015-2016 school year (ie, from September 1, 2015, to August 31, 2016). Data such as the title and description of each video, URL, uploader's user names and self-report profiles, upload date, as well as the numbers of views, likes, dislikes, comments, and replies were downloaded up until June 8, 2017. Readers are reminded that there are two layers of comments on YouTube, of which the first layer are the comments directly address to the video and the second layer are the replies to some of the first layer comments. YouTube counts the total number from both layers when reporting the number of comments. To protect YouTube users' privacy, their user names were replaced by nonidentical numbers in this paper.

Figure 1. Procedure of video searching, screening, and analysis.



The search initially yielded 390 videos. Each video was assessed on its relevance with the student suicide crisis and only videos meeting the following criteria were eligible for further review: the video must be presented in the Chinese language, either Cantonese or Mandarin, and the video's content should be reporting or addressing the series of student suicides that happened during the specified period in Hong Kong. A total of 162 videos were found to be eligible for further analyses. The full-text content of the comments and replies to the 162 videos

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e15551/
```

RenderX

and the user IDs of those who posted comments and replies were then downloaded.

After we analyzed the impact metrics of the eligible videos, 7 videos were identified as the most impactful. An additional analysis on the impacts of the 7 videos was conducted. For each of the 7 videos (hereinafter referred as the student suicide videos), one video posted by the same YouTuber right before the incident video (hereinafter referred as the prevideo) and another video right after the incident video (hereinafter referred

#### **Content Analyses**

by controlling the uploaders' profiles.

The content of the videos and video uploader profiles as described in the About section of the 162 relevant videos were reviewed. Two authors (QC and FI) examined the 162 videos together and categorized the 162 video uploaders and video format by intensive discussions. The two authors reached a full consensus on the final coding scheme and results.

Video uploaders were first differentiated as either an organization or an individual, according to the descriptions in their About Us page. Furthermore, they were categorized into 7 groups: (1) traditional media (media outlets that operate not only YouTube channels but also publish offline formats such as newspapers, TV, or radio channels); (2) online organizations (media or professional organizations that only publish content online); (3) government bodies, which include the Hong Kong government's information department and the police force; (4) politicians, who are mostly local legislators; (5) top YouTubers (individuals operating YouTube channels with 100,000 or more subscribers); (6) popular YouTubers (individuals operating YouTube channels with 10,000 to 100,000 subscribers); and (7) regular YouTubers (individuals operating YouTube channels with fewer than 10,000 subscribers). The first 3 categories were all self-presented as organizations, whereas the other 4 were all individuals.

The video formats were categorized into 4 groups: (1) simple speech, which is one person talking in front of a camera; (2) conversations, which are often talk shows, panel discussions, or debates at legislative meetings; (3) news or documentaries, which are often news reports or feature reports produced by media professionals; and (4) fictional performances, which include one short film created by a group of students and a music video. Each video was assigned to only one type of uploader and one type of video format. In addition, whether a video was originally created by the uploader and whether the video disclosed the uploader's personal experiences with suicidal thoughts or behaviors were also marked.

As for the comments, the two authors first randomly selected 100 comments and individually conducted open coding on their content, focusing on the impact measurements. The two then compared their codes and discussed their interpretations. Based on their discussions, a coding scheme was generated. The scheme categorized 3 common themes from the comments: displaying positive or negative attitudes toward the subject video, disclosing that the commenter was having or has had suicidal thoughts or behaviors before, and showing supportive or discouraging tendencies toward help-seeking. For theme 3, comments showing supportive tendencies to help-seeking included those showing willingness to seek help, showing support to people who needed help, and sharing experiences of how they received help from others. Comments showing discouraging tendencies to help-seeking were those indicating

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e15551/
```

that existing help resources were useless. Another 100 comments were randomly selected and the two authors individually annotated whether a comment exhibiting one of the 3 themes. The interrater reliability between the two authors was then examined by Krippendorff alpha and the result was .94, indicating high reliability [15]. Thereafter, one of the two authors (FI) completed the coding of all comments following the coding scheme.

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Among the 3 impact metrics, reach and engagement were measured by the numbers of views and comments, which were directly extracted from the YouTube archive data. Insights were measured by counting how many comments showed a theme identified by the content analysis. Comparing different categories of video impacts, a Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test was employed to examine the variance due to nonnormality of the impact metrics. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (version 23, IBM Corp).

During the data analysis, we noted that 7 videos that were uploaded by popular and top YouTubers who disclosed their personal experiences with suicide generated significantly greater impacts than other videos. In view of their special influence, a further analysis focusing on the 7 videos was conducted to rule out the possible effects from their large number of subscribers on the impact metrics. Specifically, we compared the 7 student suicide videos with their corresponding prevideos and postvideos made by the same 7 YouTubers. Descriptive statistics were used to quantify the number of total comments and the number of unique users who only commented on the student suicide videos but not on the prevideos and postvideos. Furthermore, the lengths of comments (ie, number of words) were compared between the student suicide prevention videos and the prevideos and postvideos and postvideos and postvideos by t test.

Network visualization was also used to compare the interaction network structures between the student suicide videos and the prevideos and postvideos. Based on the comment data, the network graph depicts each unique user ID as a node and a comment as a directed edge from who posted the comment to whom the comment was addressed. Three network graphs were produced to illustrate the commenting structures at the moment of the prevideos, the student suicide videos, and the postvideos. The network graphs were visualized with the open-source software Gephi.

# Results

#### **Typology of the Videos**

As shown in Table 1, the majority of the videos were uploaded by traditional media (52/162, 32.1%) and online organizations (44/162, 27.2%), followed by regular YouTubers (35/162, 21.6%), politicians (12/162, 7.4%), popular YouTubers (10/162, 6.2%), government bodies (5/162, 3.1%), and top YouTubers (4/162, 2.5%). All videos showed a general tendency to support suicide prevention, although they had varied views on what prevention measures might be effective or ineffective. Most of the videos were shot in a simple speech format (ie, one person talking in front of a camera; 82/162, 50.6%), followed by

XSL•FO RenderX

professionally edited news clips or documentaries (56/162, 34.6%) and conversations between multiple people (22/162, 13.6%). Only two videos (2/162, 1.2%) were fictional performances. About 87% (141/162) were originally created by the uploaders, with 8% (13/162) disclosing personal

experiences on how to battle with suicidal thoughts or behaviors. The remaining 13% (21/162) were news clips or video records of legislative meetings or other public activities created by the uploaders.

Table 1.	Categories of	YouTube videos responding to	the student suicide issue	and a comparison on the	ir reach and engagement (n=162).
----------	---------------	------------------------------	---------------------------	-------------------------	----------------------------------

Category	Videos, n	Number of views			Number of comments		
		Median (range)	Mean rank	Chi-square ( <i>P</i> value)	Median (range)	Mean rank	Chi-square ( <i>P</i> value)
By uploader profile	a	_	_	39.3 (<.001)	_		36.6 (<.001)
Traditional media	52	1700 (51-45,143)	97.31	_	.75 (0-45)	86.66	_
Online organizations	44	476 (7-41,237)	79.56	_	.28 (0-34)	67.22	_
Regular YouTubers	35	151 (22-373,478)	53.46	_	.39 (0-104)	72.87	_
Politicians	12	275 (22-22,712)	61.63	_	.56 (0-21)	79.71	_
Popular YouTubers	10	5784 (121-16,015)	115.10	_	18.50 (0-229)	128.40	_
Government bodies	5	148 (71-698)	48.60	_	.20 (0-1)	61.20	_
Top YouTubers	4	97,215 (72,049-13,1596)	159.50	_	965.50 (402-1582)	160.50	_
By video format	_	_	_	5.3 (.15)	_	_	4.6 (.20)
One person talking	82	351.50 (22-373,478)	74.80	_	.53 (0-1582)	81.52	_
News or documentary	56	1308 (44-45,143)	93.04	_	.71 (0-45)	85.40	_
Two or more people talking	22	489.50 (7-6280)	76.55	_	.28 (0-24)	68.00	_
Fictional performance	2	1266.50 (281-2252)	87.75	_	5.00 (1-9)	119.75	_
Original creation	_	_	_	0.004 (.95)	_	_	.10 (.75)
Yes	141	499 (7-131,596)	81.41	_	.56 (0-104)	81.11	_
No	21	536 (27-343,478)	82.10	_	.57 (0-1582)	84.14	_
Disclosure of personal experience	_	_	_	9.4 (.002)	_	_	11.9 (.001)
Yes	13	5764 (81-121,719)	119.69	_	4.33 (0-1260)	119.35	_
No	149	433 (7-343,478)	78.17		.48 (0-1582)	78.20	

<sup>a</sup>Not applicable.

# Relationships Between Video Characteristics and Video Impacts

Table 1 and Multimedia Appendix 1 compared different types of video impacts. Results showed that disclosing uploader's personal experience with suicide was significantly correlated with greater impacts in all dimensions except for the number of comments criticizing the video and the number of comments negative to help seeking. In other words, videos with this feature demonstrated greater positive impacts than those without it, but there was no significant difference from those without it in terms of negative impacts.

Uploader profiles were found to be another factor related to the video impacts. Pairwise post hoc test of Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test (see details in Multimedia Appendix 2) found that, in terms of reach, top YouTubers outperformed politicians, government bodies, and regular YouTubers but not popular YouTubers, traditional media, or online organizations. This might be attributed to that fact the YouTube channels of popular YouTubers, traditional media, and online organizations also

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e15551/
```

RenderX

have substantial numbers of subscribers, which laid a foundation for higher view counts. In terms of engagement, top YouTubers further outperformed traditional media and online organizations, and only popular YouTubers reported comparable numbers of comments with top YouTubers. Among the 7 types of uploaders, government body videos received the smallest numbers of views (median 148, maximum 698) and comments (median 0.20, maximum 1). In terms of insights, top YouTubers even significantly outperformed popular YouTubers except for the number of comments showing negative attitude toward help-seeking. In summary, although those uploaders with larger numbers of subscribers mostly generated greater reach, top and popular YouTuber videos were more engaging, and top YouTuber videos were able to stimulate more insightful comments. This phenomenon might be explained by the disclosing of the uploaders' personal experiences with suicide because most of the student suicide videos uploaded by the top YouTubers mentioned their own suicidal thoughts when they were students and how they overcame the thoughts by getting help from their friends or family members. In contrast, half of the videos uploaded by popular YouTubers were reposting news

clips or just sharing other people's experiences of suicidal thoughts.

Informed by the results, we decided to focus on the 7 videos uploaded by top and popular YouTubers (referred as KOLs, or key opinion leaders) who disclosed their personal experiences with suicide to conduct additional analysis on their impacts.

# KOL Student Suicide Videos Versus Their Regular Videos

The 7 selected videos were uploaded by 7 different YouTubers. For each of the videos, one prevideo and one postvideo uploaded by the same YouTuber were included for the comparison. The prevideos and postvideos were found to be related to internet gaming, traveling, or other entertainment topics, which are regular trendy content created by those KOLs.

As shown in Multimedia Appendix 3, compared with the prevideos and postvideos, the student suicide videos received fewer view counts but attracted more and longer comments. Those KOLs also had been more active in replying to their viewer comments regarding the student suicide videos (29 vs 60 replies) than their regular videos (5 vs 33 replies). The only exception was one top YouTuber's prevideo (ie, Top 2 in Multimedia Appendix 3), in which a new video game was introduced, that received more comments than his student suicide video (1946 vs 1259). However, his prevideo received

fewer second layer replies than his student suicide video (161 vs 404). In addition, his prevideo's first layer comments and second layer replies were both significantly shorter than his student suicide video's (P<.001; see details in Multimedia Appendix 3). The results suggested that even with the same influential YouTubers, their student suicide videos could generate more in-depth interactions among their viewers. Multimedia Appendix 3 also demonstrates that 83.1% (133/160) to 96.8% (637/658) of the users who commented on the student suicide videos did not post any comments on the same YouTuber's prevideos and postvideos, suggesting that they may not be actively engaged by those regular videos. Figure 2 illustrates the social network structures of the comments. The prevideo and postvideo comments network figures (Figure 2a and 2c) were rather similar. They both had 7 centralized clusters surrounding the 7 KOLs, and both were dominated by purple edges, reflecting that regular viewers were generally commenting to the KOLs. The 7 clusters were not well connected with each other, if not at all, suggesting little overlapping between users who commented to different KOLs' regular videos. By contrast, blue edges in Figure 2b were more noticeable, indicating more interactions among regular viewers which distracted the KOLs' centralization role. In addition, the 7 clusters became better connected with each other directly or indirectly in Figure 2b.

**Figure 2.** Network graph comparison of the comments to the 7 most impactful student suicide videos with their pre- and post-videos uploaded by the same YouTubers: (a) comments to the pre-videos (2187 nodes, 2398 edges), (b) comments to the student suicide-related videos (2175 nodes, 2816 edges), and (c) comments to the post-videos (721 nodes, 825 edges). Notes: Red nodes denote video uploaders and blue nodes denote users who posted comments. Purple edges denote first layer comments from commenters to the video uploaders and blue edges denote replies from commenters to commenter.



# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to examine the typology and impact metrics of YouTube videos responding to a student suicide crisis. When a spate of student suicides occurred in Hong Kong, various community members voiced their concerns through YouTube videos and, fortunately, we found the videos were generally supportive of suicide prevention and encouraged young people to cherish their lives. The results

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e15551/

highlighted the important role of YouTube KOLs, including popular and top YouTubers who create their own original content, in suicide prevention. Although other YouTube channels with large numbers of subscribers, such as traditional media and online organizations, could also achieve a substantial reach, KOL videos, especially those disclosing their own experiences with overcoming suicidal thoughts, exhibited more outstanding performance in terms of engagement and insights. Those videos might have resonated with viewers and validated their feelings more, especially for those who also had suicidal

thoughts. In addition, there were more peer interactions in the comments to those KOL student suicide videos, which might have made the viewers feel less lonely and encouraged further disclosure of their experiences and feelings. The findings add new evidence to the potential positive effects of social media when the media content is about suicide prevention [13,16,17]. It is noted that popular YouTubers can achieve comparable impacts to top YouTubers in most of the dimensions. Therefore, when there is a dearth of top YouTubers and they are too costly to be partner with, we could engage popular YouTubers on a larger scale as an alternative to achieve desirable impacts.

This study found that the local government bodies and professional organizations did release suicide prevention videos on YouTube addressing the student suicide crisis, but their impacts were far smaller than the KOL videos. Notably, the 14 videos uploaded by top and popular YouTubers generated significantly more views and comments than the 49 videos uploaded by government bodies and online organizations (465,596 views and 4509 comments vs 206,630 views and 86 comments). The findings suggests that, if professional organizations and government bodies would like to make use of YouTube to raise awareness of suicide prevention among young people and engage vulnerable youth, they might be more effective by leveraging KOL influences and life experiences to create videos rather than producing their own videos. Although not captured in this study, we should be aware that occasional incidents of YouTube videos showing suicide scenes or the process of suicidal behaviors or containing tips on how to commit suicide have been reported by the news media. Therefore, suicide prevention professionals are advised to have in-depth discussions with KOLs to understand their background and views on suicide and suicide prevention, if a formal collaboration is going to be established.

Comparing the same KOLs' regular videos, their student suicide videos were particularly engaging in terms of the number and length of comments and the interaction among the audience. The finding could encourage KOLs to produce more of these kinds of videos because it would be beneficial for them to engage their followers and form a healthy and caring online community.

Meanwhile, the findings also deserve suicide prevention professionals' attention and follow-up. The comments offered valuable insights to uncover at-risk individuals, discern what people appreciate or dislike in a suicide prevention video and why people at risk would seek help or not. Even though some comments were negative or discouraging to help-seeking, they have provided critical feedback for future improvements of social support in society. Furthermore, in view of some KOLs' genuine interests in suicide prevention, gatekeeper training and support should be provided to them to empower them with the appropriate skills to communicate with their followers who are at risk of suicide and refer those in need of professional care and interventions. As disclosed in the comments of the student suicide videos, there were users who were at risk of suicide or indicated willingness to help with suicide prevention activities. For the former, suicide prevention professionals can work with the KOLs to engage vulnerable individuals and refer them to suicide prevention services such as online 24/7 emotional support services [18]. For the latter, they can be engaged as gatekeepers to promote suicide prevention in the online social network or within their own social circles. It would be helpful if a connected care model can be established to facilitate online gatekeepers to refer vulnerable youth to offline professional services.

#### Limitations

A few limitations of the study should be noted. First, some relevant videos may not be included in the study if those videos did not explicitly include the keywords that we employed or were uploaded in the private domain. There might also be private communications between the YouTube users that could not be captured in this study. Second, since the reviewed videos were posted on different dates, direct comparison of the number of views and comments of the videos was seemingly unfair. Nonetheless, the vast majority of views and comments on the YouTube videos were received on the first week after release, and the data collection date in this study was at least 5 months after the release dates of those videos. This can minimize the bias in the discrepancies of the data. The cutoff of subscriber numbers for defining popular and top YouTubers in this study was adopted from the common practice in the marketing industry in Hong Kong in 2017. As the number of users of YouTube varies in different contexts, the cutoff of popular and top YouTubers is also context-sensitive. Other researchers need to check the up-to-date marketing reference to identify KOLs in their own context.

#### Conclusion

Youth suicide prevention is a global challenge. During the difficult times of COVID-19, the risk of suicide is also increasing [19]. This study demonstrates that, when responding to a public crisis of youth suicide, videos made by YouTube KOLs sharing their own experiences of overcoming suicide risks could generate significant positive impacts. Suicide prevention professional and government bodies should take the opportunity to collaborate with those KOLs to deliver online campaigns and interventions to raise awareness of suicide prevention and engage vulnerable youth. Also, the KOLs themselves can seize the opportunity to provide support for their followers. Participating in promoting mental wellness would likely enhance their public image and reachability to the social media users. In the meantime, more empirical evaluations of this type of videos are imperative to further identify effective measures that can make the best of social media for suicide prevention.



#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the Hong Kong General Research Fund and the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Charity Fund for supporting this research. The funding sources have no involvement in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; or in the decision to submit the article for publication.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Comparison of the insights different types of videos generated. [DOCX File, 15 KB - mental\_v8i6e15551\_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Pairwise post hoc tests on the relationships between different types of videos and their impacts. [DOCX File, 30 KB - mental\_v8i6e15551\_app2.docx]

#### Multimedia Appendix 3

Comparing the top 7 impactful student suicide-related videos with their pre- and post-videos uploaded by the same YouTubers. [DOCX File , 16 KB - mental v8i6e15551 app3.docx ]

#### References

- 1. Preventing suicide: a global imperative. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014. URL: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/</u> 10665/131056/1/9789241564779\_eng.pdf?ua=1&ua=1 [accessed 2021-06-01]
- Pourmand A, Roberson J, Caggiula A, Monsalve N, Rahimi M, Torres-Llenza V. Social media and suicide: a review of technology-based epidemiology and risk assessment. Telemed J E Health 2019 Oct;25(10):880-888. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2018.0203] [Medline: 30362903]
- 3. Sedgwick R, Epstein S, Dutta R, Ougrin D. Social media, internet use and suicide attempts in adolescents. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2019 Nov;32(6):534-541 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000547] [Medline: 31306245]
- 4. Marchant A, Hawton K, Stewart A, Montgomery P, Singaravelu V, Lloyd K, et al. A systematic review of the relationship between internet use, self-harm and suicidal behaviour in young people: the good, the bad and the unknown. PLoS One 2017;12(8):e0181722. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181722] [Medline: 28813437]
- 5. Luxton DD, June JD, Fairall JM. Social media and suicide: a public health perspective. Am J Public Health 2012 May;102 Suppl 2:S195-S200. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2011.300608] [Medline: 22401525]
- Thorn P, Hill NT, Lamblin M, Teh Z, Battersby-Coulter R, Rice S, et al. Developing a suicide prevention social media campaign with young people (The #Chatsafe Project): co-design approach. JMIR Ment Health 2020 May 11;7(5):e17520 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17520] [Medline: 32391800]
- 7. YouTube for press. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/yt/about/press/</u> [accessed 2019-08-10]
- Niederkrotenthaler T, Schacherl R, Till B. Communication about suicide in YouTube videos: content analysis of German-language videos retrieved with method-and help-related search terms. Psychiatry Res 2020 Aug;290:113170. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113170] [Medline: 32526517]
- 9. Dagar A, Falcone T. High viewership of videos about teenage suicide on YouTube. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2020 Jan;59(1):1-3. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2019.10.012] [Medline: 31678555]
- 10. Cheng Q, Shum AKY, Ip FWL, Wong HK, Yip WKK, Kam AHL, et al. Co-creation and impacts of a suicide prevention video. Crisis 2020 Jan;41(1):7-14. [doi: 10.1027/0227-5910/a000593] [Medline: 31066312]
- 11. Chung J. Antismoking campaign videos on YouTube and audience response: application of social media assessment metrics. Comput Human Behav 2015 Oct;51:114-121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.04.061]
- 12. Gao J, Cheng Q, Philip L. Detecting comments showing risk for suicide in YouTube. In: Proceedings of the Future Technologies Conference. Cham: Springer; 2018:385-400.
- Cheng Q, Chen F, Lee EST, Yip PSF. The role of media in preventing student suicides: a Hong Kong experience. J Affect Disord 2018 Feb;227:643-648. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.007</u>] [Medline: <u>29174737</u>]
- 14. Committee on prevention of student suicides: final report. Education Bureau of Hong Kong. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.edb.gov.hk/attachment/en/teacher/prevention-of-student-suicides/Reports%20and%20Related%20Documents/</u> <u>The%20Committee%20on%20Prevention%20of%20Student%20Suicide(CPSS)%20-%20Final%20Report%20(Nov%202016).</u> <u>pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-10]
- 15. De Swert K. Calculating inter-coder reliability in media content analysis using Krippendorff's Alpha. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.polcomm.org/wp-content/uploads/ICR01022012.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-01]
- Pirkis J, Rossetto A, Nicholas A, Ftanou M, Robinson J, Reavley N. Suicide prevention media campaigns: a systematic literature review. Health Commun 2019 Apr;34(4):402-414. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2017.1405484</u>] [Medline: <u>29190128</u>]
- Torok M, Calear A, Shand F, Christensen H. A systematic review of mass media campaigns for suicide prevention: understanding their efficacy and the mechanisms needed for successful behavioral and literacy change. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2017 Dec;47(6):672-687. [doi: 10.1111/sltb.12324] [Medline: 28044354]
- Yip P, Chan WL, Cheng Q, Chow S, Hsu SM, Law Y, et al. A 24-hour online youth emotional support: Opportunities and challenges. The Lancet Regional Health - Western Pacific 2020 Nov;4:100047 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2020.100047]
- Gunnell D, Appleby L, Arensman E, Hawton K, John A, Kapur N, COVID-19 Suicide Prevention Research Collaboration. Suicide risk and prevention during the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Jun;7(6):468-471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30171-1] [Medline: 32330430]

# Abbreviations

KOL: key opinion leader

Edited by G Eysenbach, C Pagliari; submitted 04.08.19; peer-reviewed by GJ Shieh, J Robinson; comments to author 26.10.20; revised version received 22.03.21; accepted 13.04.21; published 18.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Cheng Q, Lui C, Ip FWL, Yip PSF Typology and Impact of YouTube Videos Posted in Response to a Student Suicide Crisis: Social Media Metrics and Content Analyses JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e15551 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e15551/ doi:10.2196/15551 PMID:

©Qijin Cheng, Carrie Lui, Flora Wai Lam Ip, Paul Siu Fai Yip. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 18.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# COVID-19 and Open Notes: A New Method to Enhance Patient Safety and Trust

Charlotte Blease<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Liz Salmi<sup>1</sup>, AS; Maria Hägglund<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Deborah Wachenheim<sup>1</sup>, MPP; Catherine DesRoches<sup>1,3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Division of General Medicine, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Women's and Children's Health, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

<sup>3</sup>Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Charlotte Blease, PhD Division of General Medicine Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center 133 Brookline Avenue HVMA Second Floor Annex Boston, MA, 02215 United States Phone: 1 6173201281 Email: cblease@bidmc.harvard.edu

# Abstract

From April 5, 2021, as part of the 21st Century Cures Act, all providers in the United States must offer patients access to the medical information housed in their electronic records. Via secure health portals, patients can log in to access lab and test results, lists of prescribed medications, referral appointments, and the narrative reports written by clinicians (so-called open notes). As US providers implement this practice innovation, we describe six promising ways in which patients' access to their notes might help address problems that either emerged with or were exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic.

(JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e29314) doi:10.2196/29314

# KEYWORDS

COVID-19; patient portals; electronic health records; patient safety; patient-centered care

COVID-19 has left an indelible legacy on patient care. Tragic numbers of lives have been lost to the virus, and it is not known how many excess deaths are due to reduced access to services or patients delaying health care [1]. With enforced isolation and savage stresses on essential workers, mental health and well-being have been affected [2]. The pandemic has also given rise to a new chronic condition: *long COVID*. Prevalence and susceptibility are poorly understood but patients may experience persistent symptoms including fatigue, body or muscle pains, insomnia, headaches, depression, and anxiety for months after their acute illness [3]. Compounding these problems are racial inequities in vaccine distribution and fears among certain segments of the public about the trustworthiness of vaccines [4,5]—a reticence, recent evidence suggests, is heightened among white politically conservative men [6].

Despite all the tragedy wrought by COVID-19, the pandemic has been a catalyst for innovating new practices in medicine.

In Spring 2020, in the space of a few short weeks, with the enforcement of physical distancing and stay-at-home rules to

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e29314

RenderX

avoid transmission of the virus, patients and doctors were compelled to use different forms of communication [7]. In the United States, for example, telemedicine-the use of phones and videos for clinical visits-soared from fewer than 2% of primary care visits in 2019 to more than 35% by April 2020 [8]. Complementing telemedicine, and perhaps overshadowed by the pandemic, another practice innovation-allowing patients to access their own clinical records—is also taking hold [9]. As of April 5, 2021, as part of the 21st Century Cures Act, all providers in the United States must offer patients access to the medical information housed in their electronic records [10,11]. Via secure health portals, patients can log in to access lab and test results, lists of prescribed medications, referral and appointment times, and the words written by clinicians (so-called open notes). With few permitted exceptions, information that was previously hidden from view and the eyes of patients must now be available.

Open notes are not without precedent. By December 2020, around 55 million patients across 260 health systems in the

United States and Canada were offered access to their clinical notes. In other countries, such as Sweden, the practice is advanced, and during the pandemic, studies show substantial increases in use of the nationwide health portal [12]. Prepandemic, approximately 80,000 new users logged into the Swedish portal each month; since June 2020, this number steadily reached more than 100,000 new users per month, peaking in November 2020 at 165,000. Health systems in the United States have seen similar upticks in patient portal registration throughout the pandemic, in some cases due to the technology for telemedicine visits being offered only through portal log-in. This indicates that the pandemic not only increased use among already existing portal users but also spurred adoption among new patients.

Promising evidence suggests that open notes might play a role in mitigating challenges with care, some of which emerged with the pandemic and some which have been exacerbated by COVID-19. We reflect on six ways in which open notes might help meet some of the challenges of COVID-19.

- In light of the uptick in telemedicine, with social distancing measures in place, patients and clinicians have been compelled to rapidly navigate new modes of visits, and it is not yet known whether the quality of patient-clinician communication has been affected. Against these uncertainties, there is compelling evidence that open notes may help strengthen clinician-patient exchanges [9]. Large-scale online surveys conducted prior to the pandemic show that when patients can readily access their notes they better understand and remember their care plan, including the reasons why treatments have been prescribed and when (and why) referrals and follow-up appointments are scheduled [13,14].
- 2. During the pandemic, when many face-to-face ambulatory visits are still delayed or not possible, caregivers have faced considerable challenges in supporting family and friends. Unable to accompany patients to clinical visits or see loved ones in the hospital, they have lost important opportunities to find out what is going on and to fully participate in care. However, open notes may help to close this information gap. In studies, considerable numbers of patients report sharing notes with others [13]. Such access may be even more important for older adult patients or those who rely on care partners by helping them, and their carers, to understand treatment plans and to remember to access test results or follow up with referrals.
- 3. Open notes could also play a crucial role in closing the chasm of health disparities further deepened by COVID-19 [15]. Compared with White patients, Black, Hispanic, and Asian patients in the United States are more likely to report that reading their notes enhances trust in their doctors. In surveys, historically marginalized patients such as those who identify with an ethnic or racial minority group, persons with lower incomes, those with fewer years of formal education, or those whose first language differs from their clinician are the most enthusiastic about open notes when they log in to portals [16,17]. On the other hand, the

"digital divide" in health care—driven by lack of broadband internet access [18], lack of email address or use, and low digital literacy—remains a barrier to the adoption of patient portals among these patient populations [19]. Although there is evidence this digital divide is narrowing, with greater commitment to safety net interventions such as patient outreach programs or the distribution of WiFi-enabled tablets, patients who have the most to gain from reading their notes could reap the benefits.

- 4. COVID-19 has taken a toll on mental health. However, patients with anxiety or depression who read their notes may benefit from better understanding their clinicians' recommendations, helping them to stay on track with their care plan. In a large-scale survey of nearly 20,000 patients prescribed medications, 14% of patients who accessed their notes reported doing a better job adhering to their medications [20]. For patients with mental health diagnoses the figures were higher: 20% of patients with serious mental illnesses such as major depression, bipolar disorders, or schizophrenia and 18% of patients with other mental health diagnoses said they were more likely to take their prescribed medications after reading their clinical notes [14]. Preliminary findings from psychotherapy also show that open notes can improve the therapeutic alliance between patients and therapists, help build trust, and deepen patients' understanding about what goes on in therapy sessions [21].
- 5. Patients experiencing symptoms of long COVID may feel marginalized or uncertain about their health care. In multiple surveys, patients who access open notes report feeling more empowered and engaged with managing their health [13,22,23]. As an asynchronous communication tool, open notes can serve as an online extension of the visit, helping improve a sense of control and engagement with care. This may be especially important for offering reassurance to patients with long COVID whose symptoms are still poorly understood [24,25].
- 6. Working under the considerable pressures wrought by the pandemic, it is not yet known whether patient safety has been negatively affected by human error [9]. Studies conducted prior to the pandemic show that around 1 in 5 patients who read their notes can, and do, perceive errors [26]. With more eyes on the charts, patients can help clinicians to correct inaccuracies or omissions and improve the feedback loop in care—all the more essential as a patient safety mechanism when routines have been disrupted and clinicians and patients are laboring under high levels of stress.

The effects of COVID-19 will be with us for years to come, but perhaps the most important memorial will be clinicians, patients, and care partners seizing on novel opportunities to improve care. Open notes do not offer a magic solution to the challenges of the pandemic, but by partnering with patients and families, through an invitation to read notes and be on the same page as their clinicians, it may offer an important new strategy to improve engagement, increase trust, and demonstrate respect for patients.



# Acknowledgments

This work was partly supported by NordForsk through the funding to Nordic eHealth for Patients: Benchmarking and Developing for the Future (NORDeHealth), project number 100477. CB was supported by a Keane Scholar Award.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Woolf SH, Chapman DA, Sabo RT, Weinberger DM, Hill L, Taylor DDH. Excess deaths from COVID-19 and other causes, March-July 2020. JAMA 2020 Oct 20;324(15):1562-1564 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2020.19545</u>] [Medline: <u>33044483</u>]
- O'Connor RC, Wetherall K, Cleare S, McClelland H, Melson A, Niedzwiedz C, et al. Br J Psychiatry 2020 Oct 21:1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.2020.212] [Medline: 33081860]
- Logue JK, Franko NM, McCulloch DJ, McDonald D, Magedson A, Wolf CR, et al. Sequelae in adults at 6 months after COVID-19 infection. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Feb 01;4(2):e210830 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0830] [Medline: 33606031]
- 4. Bajaj SS, Stanford FC. Beyond Tuskegee vaccine distrust and everyday racism. N Engl J Med 2021 Feb 04;384(5):e12. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMpv2035827</u>] [Medline: <u>33471971</u>]
- 5. Deliso M. Racial disparities trouble COVID-19 vaccine rollout. ABC News. 2021. URL: <u>https://abcnews.go.com/Health/</u> racial-disparities-trouble-covid-19-vaccine-rollout/story?id=75544447 [accessed 2021-03-31]
- 6. BIDJP105. NPR/PBS NewsHour/Marist Poll National Tables March 3rd through March 8th, 2021. Marist Poll. 2021. URL: http://maristpoll.marist.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/
- <u>NPR PBS-NewsHour Marist-Poll USA-NOS-and-Tables 202103091124.pdf#page=3</u> [accessed 2021-03-31]
  Patel P, Cobb J, Wright D, Turer R, Jordan T, Humphrey A, et al. Rapid development of telehealth capabilities within pediatric patient portal infrastructure for COVID-19 care: barriers, solutions, results. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Jul 01;27(7):1116-1120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa065] [Medline: 32302395]</u>
- Alexander GC, Tajanlangit M, Heyward J, Mansour O, Qato DM, Stafford RS. Use and content of primary care office-based vs telemedicine care visits during the COVID-19 pandemic in the US. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Oct 01;3(10):e2021476 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.21476] [Medline: 33006622]
- 9. Kriegel G, Bell S, Delbanco T, Walker J. Covid-19 as innovation accelerator: cogenerating telemedicine visit notes with patients. NEJM Catalyst. 2020. URL: <u>https://catalyst.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/CAT.20.0154</u> [accessed 2021-03-28]
- 21st Century Cures Act: Interoperability, Information Blocking, and the ONC Health IT Certification Program. Federal Register. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/05/01/2020-07419/</u> 21st-century-cures-act-interoperability-information-blocking-and-the-onc-health-it-certification [accessed 2020-06-15]
- Salmi L, Blease C, Hägglund M, Walker J, DesRoches CM. US policy requires immediate release of records to patients. BMJ 2021 Feb 18;372:n426. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.n426</u>] [Medline: <u>33602667</u>]
- 12. Hägglund M, Blease C, Scandurra I. Mobile access and adoption of the Swedish national patient portal. Stud Health Technol Inform 2020 Nov 23;275:82-86. [doi: 10.3233/SHTI200699] [Medline: 33227745]
- Walker J, Leveille S, Bell S, Chimowitz H, Dong Z, Elmore J, et al. OpenNotes after 7 years: patient experiences with ongoing access to their clinicians' outpatient visit notes. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 06;21(5):e13876 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13876] [Medline: 31066717]
- 14. Blease C, Dong Z, Torous J, Walker J, Hägglund M, DesRoches CM. Association of patients reading clinical notes with perception of medication adherence among persons with serious mental illness. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Mar 01;4(3):e212823 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.2823] [Medline: 33760088]
- 15. Blease C, Fernandez L, Bell SK, Delbanco T, DesRoches C. Empowering patients and reducing inequities: is there potential in sharing clinical notes? BMJ Qual Saf 2020 Oct;29(10):1-2. [doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2019-010490] [Medline: 32188711]
- Gerard M, Chimowitz H, Fossa A, Bourgeois F, Fernandez L, Bell S. The importance of visit notes on patient portals for engaging less educated or nonwhite patients: survey study. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 24;20(5):e191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9196] [Medline: 29793900]
- 17. Bell SK, Folcarelli P, Fossa A, Gerard M, Harper M, Leveille S, et al. Tackling ambulatory safety risks through patient engagement: what 10,000 patients and families say about safety-related knowledge, behaviors, and attitudes after reading visit notes. J Patient Saf 2018 Apr 27:1. [doi: 10.1097/PTS.000000000000494] [Medline: 29781979]
- 18. Rodriguez J, Lipsitz S, Lyles C, Samal L. Association between patient portal use and broadband access: a national evaluation. J Gen Intern Med 2020 Dec;35(12):3719-3720. [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-05633-4] [Medline: 31925739]
- Casillas A, Abhat A, Mahajan A, Moreno G, Brown A, Simmons S, et al. Portals of change: how patient portals will ultimately work for safety net populations. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 23;22(10):e16835 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16835] [Medline: 33094732]

- DesRoches CM, Bell SK, Dong Z, Elmore J, Fernandez L, Fitzgerald P, et al. Patients managing medications and reading their visit notes: a survey of OpenNotes participants. Ann Intern Med 2019 Jul 02;171(1):69-71. [doi: <u>10.7326/M18-3197</u>] [Medline: <u>31132794</u>]
- O'Neill S, Chimowitz H, Leveille S, Walker J. Embracing the new age of transparency: mental health patients reading their psychotherapy notes online. J Ment Health 2019 Oct;28(5):527-535. [doi: <u>10.1080/09638237.2019.1644490</u>] [Medline: <u>31364902</u>]
- 22. Peck P, Torous J, Shanahan M, Fossa A, Greenberg W. Patient access to electronic psychiatric records: a pilot study. Health Policy Technol 2017 Sep;6(3):309-315. [doi: 10.1016/j.hlpt.2017.06.003]
- Moll J, Rexhepi H, Cajander A, Grünloh C, Huvila I, Hägglund M, et al. Patients' experiences of accessing their electronic health records: national patient survey in Sweden. J Med Internet Res 2018 Nov 01;20(11):e278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9492] [Medline: 30389647]
- 24. Denneson L, Pisciotta M, Hooker E, Trevino A, Dobscha S. Impacts of a web-based educational program for veterans who read their mental health notes online. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Jan 01;26(1):3-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocy134] [Medline: 30445648]
- 25. Kipping S, Stuckey M, Hernandez A, Nguyen T, Riahi S. A web-based patient portal for mental health care: benefits evaluation. J Med Internet Res 2016 Nov 16;18(11):e294 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6483] [Medline: 27852556]
- Bell SK, Delbanco T, Elmore JG, Fitzgerald PS, Fossa A, Harcourt K, et al. Frequency and types of patient-reported errors in electronic health record ambulatory care notes. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Jun 01;3(6):e205867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.5867] [Medline: 32515797]

Edited by J Torous; submitted 01.04.21; peer-reviewed by A Hill, K Wickersham; accepted 16.05.21; published 21.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Blease C, Salmi L, Hägglund M, Wachenheim D, DesRoches C COVID-19 and Open Notes: A New Method to Enhance Patient Safety and Trust JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e29314 URL: <u>https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e29314</u> doi:10.2196/29314 PMID:<u>34081603</u>

©Charlotte Blease, Liz Salmi, Maria Hägglund, Deborah Wachenheim, Catherine DesRoches. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 21.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Design and Implementation of an Informatics Infrastructure for Standardized Data Acquisition, Transfer, Storage, and Export in Psychiatric Clinical Routine: Feasibility Study

Rogério Blitz<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Michael Storck<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Bernhard T Baune<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Prof Dr, MPH, MBA, FRANZCP; Martin Dugas<sup>1,5\*</sup>, Prof Dr; Nils Opel<sup>2,6,7\*</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Medical Informatics, University of Münster, Münster, Germany

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of Münster, Münster, Germany

<sup>3</sup>The Florey Institute of Neuroscience and Mental Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Melbourne Medical School, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>7</sup>Interdisciplinary Centre for Clinical Research of the Medical Faculty, University of Münster, Münster, Germany

\*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Nils Opel, MD Department of Psychiatry University of Münster Albert-Schweitzer-Str. 11 Münster, 48149 Germany Phone: 49 2518358160 Email: n\_opel01@uni-muenster.de

# Abstract

**Background:** Empirically driven personalized diagnostic applications and treatment stratification is widely perceived as a major hallmark in psychiatry. However, databased personalized decision making requires standardized data acquisition and data access, which are currently absent in psychiatric clinical routine.

**Objective:** Here, we describe the informatics infrastructure implemented at the psychiatric Münster University Hospital, which allows standardized acquisition, transfer, storage, and export of clinical data for future real-time predictive modelling in psychiatric routine.

**Methods:** We designed and implemented a technical architecture that includes an extension of the electronic health record (EHR) via scalable standardized data collection and data transfer between EHRs and research databases, thus allowing the pooling of EHRs and research data in a unified database and technical solutions for the visual presentation of collected data and analyses results in the EHR. The Single-source Metadata ARchitecture Transformation (SMA:T) was used as the software architecture. SMA:T is an extension of the EHR system and uses module-driven engineering to generate standardized applications and interfaces. The operational data model was used as the standard. Standardized data were entered on iPads via the Mobile Patient Survey (MoPat) and the web application Mopat@home, and the standardized transmission, processing, display, and export of data were realized via SMA:T.

**Results:** The technical feasibility of the informatics infrastructure was demonstrated in the course of this study. We created 19 standardized documentation forms with 241 items. For 317 patients, 6451 instances were automatically transferred to the EHR system without errors. Moreover, 96,323 instances were automatically transferred from the EHR system to the research database for further analyses.

**Conclusions:** In this study, we present the successful implementation of the informatics infrastructure enabling standardized data acquisition and data access for future real-time predictive modelling in clinical routine in psychiatry. The technical solution presented here might guide similar initiatives at other sites and thus help to pave the way toward future application of predictive models in psychiatric clinical routine.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Institute of Medical Informatics, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Institute for Translational Psychiatry, University of Münster, Münster, Germany

#### (JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e26681) doi:10.2196/26681

#### **KEYWORDS**

medical informatics; digital mental health; digital data collection; psychiatry; single-source metadata architecture transformation; mental health; design; implementation; feasibility; informatics; infrastructure; data

# Introduction

#### Scientific Background

Psychiatric disorders represent one of the leading causes of disability worldwide. In the challenge to provide advanced treatment and prevention strategies for psychiatric disorders, previous research has focused on better understanding of the neurobiological basis of affective disorders [1]. However, the translation of such findings into clinical application remains an unresolved problem up to now. For this reason, the focus of psychiatric research has shifted from sole neurobiological characterization at the group level toward the application of multivariate machine learning methods trained on multimodal data for individualized prediction of clinical outcomes [2,3]. Multivariate machine learning applications have been proven to be innovative and powerful tools in translational psychiatric research. In this regard, the successful utilization of machine learning algorithms for individualized predictions of treatment response [4-6], depression severity [7], disease risk [8], differential diagnosis [9,10], and relapse risk [11] has yielded the first promising results. However, up to now, several obstacles have prevented the successful transfer of individual predictive modeling to clinical routine application, as discussed in recent reviews [12-15]. In this regard, the gap between homogeneous well-characterized samples acquired in experimental studies [16] and heterogeneous unvalidated data from day-to-day clinical routine has proven to be a major obstacle in the translation of predictive models to clinical application. Hence, ecologically valid predictive models would require access to standardized real world data collected at the point of care [17].

Importantly, large-scale studies reporting the successful application of multivariate models trained on data from electronic health records (EHRs), including features such as diagnosis and procedures, laboratory parameters, and medications for the prediction of suicide risk or weight gain following antidepressant treatment have demonstrated the capacity and generalizability of predictive models trained on real-world data [18-20]. Further extension of EHRs via standardized collection of predictive variables such as known risk factors might further enhance the potential of this novel data entity for predictive analytics in psychiatry [21,22]. Standardized electronic collection of patient-reported outcomes that has previously been shown to improve clinical outcomes such as survival in patients with cancer represents another possibility to enrich EHR data. Similarly, combining data from EHRs with research data might provide new opportunities for the discovery and validation of psychiatric endophenotypes as demonstrated via recent validation of a polygenic risk score in a Danish population study [23]. However, future application of predictive models for personalized diagnostic and treatment requires their validation via clinical trials that, in turn, critically

depend on the availability of the informatics infrastructure for the application of predictive models in routine care. The required informatics infrastructure should facilitate the acquisition of standardized real world data at the point of care, potential enrichment with patient-reported outcomes or research data, and subsequent access to data for clinicians and researchers. However, while these technical requirements are already available in selected clinical settings, for example, in the United States [24], they are up to now absent in the clinical working environment of psychiatry hospitals in many European countries. More concretely, ORBIS, the EHR system that is the market leader in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland, does not currently support standardized form metadata, clinical data, or annotated data sets. Our approach thus addresses the currently unmet need to (1) implement the technical requirements for standardized data acquisition and analysis in one of the most widely used EHR systems in Europe and (2) to specifically design a technical solution, including appropriate data collection routines, for the domain of clinical psychiatry.

This study aims to present the design and implementation of the technical requirements to address the aforementioned challenges with the ultimate goal of providing the basis for a successful future translation of predictive models to clinical application in psychiatric disorders. The implementation of the outlined technical solution will ultimately allow the evaluation of the potential of predictive models for the clinical management of psychiatric disorders under real-world conditions. In detail, we present the design and implementation of the informatics infrastructure, including technical solutions for (1) extension of the EHR via standardized electronic collection of patient-reported outcomes, (2) data transfer between EHRs and research databases, (3) pooling of EHRs and research data in a unified database, and (4) visual presentation of the analyses results in the EHRs.

#### **Objective of This Study**

The main objective of this study was the design and successful implementation of the informatics infrastructure required to train and validate predictive models in day-to-day clinical application in psychiatry as part of the SEED 11/19 study [25]. Our study consisted of the following steps in detail:

- 1. Implementation of standardized documentation forms in EHRs.
- The set-up of an interface for direct data transfer between clinical documentation systems and a database for predictive analysis.
- The set-up of a unified database that allows pooling of clinical data with further research data for predictive analysis.
- 4. Visual presentation of relevant data entities and results of predictive analysis in EHRs at the point of care.

XSL•FO

# Methods

#### Setting

The Münster University Hospital in Germany is a tertiary care hospital with 1457 beds and 11,197 staff who treated 607,414 patients (inbound and outbound) in 2019 [26]. The department for psychiatry and psychotherapy at the University Hospital treated 1341 cases in the study period from February 25, 2019 to July 31, 2020 (1042 cases in 2018 [27,28]). Validation was carried out by 25 doctors and 61 specialists from the health care sector.

#### **System Details**

The EHR system ORBIS by Dedalus Healthcare is used at Münster University Hospital in more than 40 clinics and is the market leader in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland with over 1300 installations [29]. The EHR system has an 8700 GB Oracle database, 7938 users, and 1927 user sessions per day (status at July 2020) at Münster University Hospital. No standardized metadata form, clinical data, and annotated data sets are supported.

#### **Requirement Engineering**

To address the study aims, the following requirements were identified through focus groups including physicians and researchers at Münster University Hospital in Germany.

- 1. Extension of the EHR via standardized data collection: At first sight, the widely established usage of electronic documentation systems in clinical routine might supplement the notion of a fast translation of predictive models. However, until now, the majority of clinical data is still acquired and stored in an unstructured way that cannot be directly used for predictive modeling. Extension of EHR data via standardized forms of data collection in routine care is therefore required to provide a sufficient database for the development of predictive models. Importantly, the technical solution should be flexible and allow to update the content of the collected EHR data. Content-wise, in an initial step, standardized extension of EHR data should include assessment of symptomatology in order to allow both patient stratification at baseline as well as outcome measurement following intervention. Furthermore. standardized assessment of known risk factors, including life events and sociodemographic data, appears meaningful.
- 2. Data transfer: Routine EHR data storage systems are usually strictly separated from research databases for safety reasons and hence are not directly accessible for predictive analyses. Training and validation of predictive models based on EHR data requires the set-up of interfaces and a database in which EHR data can be transferred and subsequently stored in a standardized way. In line with our study aim, the technical solutions should be scalable and allow data transfer in real time. EHR data transferred and stored in the database must be accessible for researchers in order to allow the development of predictive models.
- Combination of EHRs and research data: Again, since routine EHR data storage systems are strictly separated from research databases, pooling of EHR and research data

RenderX

is not possible within state-of-the art EHR databases. Pooling EHR with research data in a unified database would allow the enrichment of predictive models trained on EHR data by adding already existing research data and furthermore to validate EHR data based on research data. To this end, in order to combine each patient's EHR and research data, a unified scalable research database is needed that allows the integration of EHRs and research data acquired via experimental studies.

4. Presentation of standardized data within the EHR: Once collected, clinically useful standardized data as well as results of any analysis must be transferred back to the main EHR system in real time and presented to the clinician at the point of care.

#### **Solution Requirements**

An informatics infrastructure enabling real-time clinical predictive modeling based on the single-source architecture was derived from the named requirements. Custom metadata must be supported. The Clinical Data Interchange Standards Consortium (CDISC) Operational Data Model (ODM) (version 1.3.2) was used as a flexible standard for exchange and archiving of metadata within the framework of clinical studies [30,31]. Mobile apps must be able to communicate with the architecture. Automatic data transfer into the database of the EHR system and from the EHR system to a research database was carried out via a communication server. ODM files were transported automatically to the database of the EHR system with Health Level 7 (HL7) messages [32]. NextGen Connect [33] was used as a communication server. HL7 version 2.5 and message type ORU^R01 were used. The plausibility and completeness of form data were validated by the clinical users.

#### Analysis of Technical and Clinical Feasibility

The technical feasibility was demonstrated by the implementation of an infrastructure that enables clinical predictive modeling in real time. Java version 1.8.0\_181 [34], JavaScript ECMAScript 6 [35], TypeScript version 3.7.2 [36], and the proprietary language of the EHR system were used as programming languages. MongoDB Java Drivers version 3.9.1 [37] and Json-lib version 2.4 [38] were used as third-party libraries. MongoDB version 4.2.3 [39] was used as a research database, Docker version 19.03.13 [40] for operating system-level virtualization, and Red Hat Enterprise version 7.8 [41] as research server. The clinical feasibility was determined by piloting the architecture in the clinic for psychiatry and psychotherapy and for a prospective analysis of the clinical documentation forms used. The clinical users of the system were 25 doctors and 61 health care sector specialists. The stakeholder of the study at Münster University Hospital is the Institute for Translational Psychiatry, Department of Psychiatry. Evaluation began on February 25, 2019 and ended on July 31, 2020. EHR data from daily clinical routine (eg, laboratory data, diagnostic codes) and self-reports/patient-reported outcomes that were experimentally collected as an extension of the clinical routine documentation as part of the SEED research project were examined. The following evaluation criteria were analyzed: (1) measurement of data completeness in the created documentation forms, (2) measurement of data completeness

in the research database, (3) monitoring of system stability, and (4) monitoring of data transfer. SPSS Statistics version 25 (IBM Corp) [42] was used for descriptive data analysis. Adobe Photoshop version 11.0 [43] and Microsoft Visio version 16.0.4849.1000 [44] were used to depict the workflow.

# Results

# System Architecture

The Single-source Metadata ARchitecture Transformation (SMA:T) was used as the software architecture [45]. SMA:T is an extension of the EHR system of the Münster University Hospital and uses module-driven software development [46] to generate standardized applications and interfaces. Every SMA:T form has a generic built-in interface for exchanging standardized data. Embedded applications [45] were used as the application type. These are linked to an ODM file in the EHR database, from which a documentation form is generated. All metadata and clinical data are available in the ODM developed by CDISC version 1.3.2. Patient-reported outcomes are recorded via Mobile Patient Survey (MoPat) [47,48] on mobile devices (generation 6 iPads) and via the web application Mopat@home (a modified version of the tablet-based web app MoPat) [49] for follow-up assessments following discharge from inpatient treatment. Collected data are transferred to the communication server via

an HL7 message and from there to the database of the EHR system. Data are sent in the OBX-5 segment of the HL7 message. SMA:T provides database storage. A reference to the imported clinical data is saved. Clinical data are automatically inserted by SMA:T when the documentation form is opened for the first time. A unique ID from the HL7 header is used for this purpose. Each ID is linked to an imported clinical record. The structure of the architecture is shown in Figure 1. Data transfer to the research database takes place via the researcher module from SMA:T. This provides a front end to the EHR system and an extension of the communication server for data transfers. Both prospective and retrospective standardized data exports of EHR data points are supported, specifically, vital signs, laboratory data, medication data, and administrative data. Each data export can be customized by individual parameters. The following parameters are supported: name of data export, export interval, database query, destination parameters for electronic data capture systems, or research databases. MongoDB and RedCap [50] are currently provided as destination templates in the EHR system. The destination portfolio can easily be expanded with interface functions of SMA:T. The research database is embedded in a Docker container of a virtualized Red Hat Enterprise Linux server. The data flow from EHR to electronic data capture is shown in Figure 2. The software architecture is shown in Figure 3.

**Figure 1.** Unified Modeling Language sequence diagram of the data collection workflow. In process steps 1-3, the patient completes the forms and sends data to the communication server. In process steps 4-8, the communication server sends data to the electronic health record system and creates a blank documentation form. This form is populated with imported data. In process steps 9-13, SMA:T creates the documentation form with metadata and imported data. EHR: electronic health record; HL7: Health Level 7; MoPat: Mobile Patient Survey; ODM: operational data model; SMA:T: Single-source Metadata ARchitecture Transformation.





#### Blitz et al

**Figure 2.** Unified Modeling Language sequence diagram of the data extraction workflow. In process steps 1-8, a study query is created with SMA:T and a generic operational data model file is saved in the database of the electronic health record system. In process steps 9-18, a generic Mirth Channel is created based on the study query. In process steps 19-20, data points are automatically extracted from the electronic health record system and transferred to the study database using operational data model standard format. EDC: electronic data capture; EHR: electronic health record; HDD: Hard Disc Drive; HL7: Health Level 7; LOC: Lines Of Code; MoPat: Mobile Patient Survey; ODM: operational data model; SMA:T: Single-source Metadata ARchitecture Transformation.





Figure 3. SEED software architecture of the Münster University Hospital. EHR: electronic health record; MoPat: Mobile Patient Survey; SMA:T: Single-source Metadata ARchitecture Transformation; \*supports custom applications.



#### **System Implementation**

The implementation of the architecture is divided into 4 areas: data collection, data transfer, data storage, and data visualization. Agile methods were used for Project Life Cycle and Development Cycle [51].

#### Data Collection

SMA:T provides 2 options for data collection, namely, the EHR system in clinical routine and dedicated web applications. Data input via web applications can be designed freely. In this study, EHR data generated as part of clinical routine documentation comprised, among others, laboratory data, medication, information on diagnosis, time of admission, and length of stay and are presented in detail in Table 1. MoPat [47,48] was selected for the collection of patient-reported outcomes. After input of the patient case ID, staff handed the patient an iPad

with the MoPat app. Patients were then guided through a series of documentation forms comprising different questionnaires and they entered data on the mobile device (Figure 4). The iPad was then returned to the medical staff. Further details regarding the collection of patient-reported outcomes during inpatient treatment have previously been described [25]. In brief, the self-reports applied in this study are based on well-established questionnaires and scales in the domain of psychiatry and clinical psychology. In addition, to the retention of single item information, sum scales were calculated based on the recommendations provided in the original manuals and references [52-58]. In addition, Mopat@home was used for the collection of patient-reported outcomes following discharge. To this end, patients were sent an email, which provided a link to a website in which the above referenced questionnaires were presented and could be filled out [49].



Blitz et al

Table 1.	Research	documentation	used in the	Department	of Psychiatry
----------	----------	---------------	-------------	------------	---------------

Name of the documentation form	Items
SEED ClinicalData Admission Date & Time	4
SEED ClinicalData Classification	2
SEED ClinicalData Diagnosis-Related Groups/Diagnosis	3
SEED ClinicalData Electroconvulsive Therapy	11
SEED ClinicalData Laboratory Assessments	7
SEED ClinicalData Medication	5
SEED ClinicalData Patient	4
SEED ClinicalData Vital Signs	3

Figure 4. One item of Beck Depression Inventory presented in the MoPat app (clinic for psychiatry and psychotherapy at Münster University Hospital).

	BDI 1 / 22	Α.	A*	nächste Frage	0
A					
• 0. Ich bin nicht traurig					
• 1. Ich bin traurig					
<ul> <li>2. Ich bin die ganze Zeit traurig und kon</li> </ul>	nme nicht davon los				
3. Ich bin so traurig oder unglücklich, da	ass ich es kaum noch ertrage				(
	8 2013 - 2020 Institut für Maditialache Informatik			MoP	Pat/
Coherent and take was Manufer	Westfällische Wilhelms-Universität Münster				

#### Data Transfer

SMA:T provides 2 types of data transfer in the present scenario, that is, data transfer into the EHR system and transfer into the electronic data capture system. MoPat sends data to the EHR system via the communication server of the University Hospital. Data are saved in the ClinicalData structure of the ODM format. The ODM document is embedded in an HL7 message. Each HL7 message creates a form in the EHR system. The header of the HL7 message determines which form is automatically created. Data transfer to the electronic data capture takes place via SMA:T interfaces. Both retrospective and prospective data exports in real time are supported. When a study query was activated via the EHR frontend, metadata and corresponding

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e26681

RenderX

structured query language statements were read by the SMA:T extension of the communication server. SMA:T uses its code library and channel framework to generate unique Mirth channels. These send a database query to the EHR system and transfers the output directly to the electronic data capture system. Both metadata (clinical documentation form) and clinical patient data are provided by SMA:T in the ODM format. Data records are combined into an ODM document. In this study, SMA:T converts the resulting XML-based ODM document into JavaScript Object Notation format [59] (JODM format [60]). The JavaScript Object Notation schema [61] of JODM [60] is open source and currently limited to Study and ClinicalData nodes, including all subnodes of the ODM in version 1.3.2.

#### Data Storage

Data storage addresses metadata and clinical data. Metadata of clinical documentation forms are stored centrally in the SMA:T database. The SMA:T database model is part of the EHR database model. Metadata and clinical data are available in the ODM format. MoPat also supports ODM format; therefore, the same data model can be used for both systems. Clinical data are clearly identified by unique object identifiers and the associated object identifier on the documentation form.

#### Data Presentation

Usability principles were applied to visualize data [62-64]. A one-column layout was implemented according to the requirements of the 10 web form design guidelines [65]. Those forms are displayed via SMA:T within the EHR system (see Multimedia Appendix 1 and Multimedia Appendix 2). SMA:T supports item-based real-time notifications as well as centralized notification services to display analysis results in real time.

#### **Technical and Clinical Feasibility**

As part of the study, 11 standardized documentation forms with 202 items were created for the clinic for psychiatry and psychotherapy (Table 2): Beck Depression Inventory [66], Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-S) [67], Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-XS) [68], Childhood Trauma Questionnaire [69], Family Mental History [70], Hamilton Depression Scale [71], Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire [72], Symptom Checklist-90 Somatization Scale [73], sociodemographic questionnaire [74], questions on individual disease course [75], and questions on somatic comorbidities [76]. Data models without license restrictions are available in the portal of medical data models. A documentation form is a document from the EHR system (see Multimedia Appendix 1) and consists of several items. An item consists of an input field and the associated label. For example, 1 item from Multimedia Appendix 1 is the drop-down box labeled A; 5866 instances were created by the patients and automatically transferred to the EHR system of the Münster University Hospital without errors. An instance is a form created by a user; 412 cases from 317 patients were processed by 86 users (Table 3). A case is

Table 2. Routine documentation used in the Department of Psychiatry.

defined as an inpatient stay or an outpatient visit to a hospital or clinic. Of the 123 of the medical staff of the clinic for psychiatry and psychotherapy, 86 (69.9%) worked with those documentation forms. The data quality could be improved by the ODM. Metadata was a critical step in building a generic and automated workflow. All items are now provided with a unique object identifier, have a typing of the data types, and a code list for converting text into numeric values. Automatic generation of documentation forms was accepted in routine clinical use. Standardized data transfer from the communication server into the EHR system was completed without error. It was possible to display all items (n=202) from ODM structures in full by using the generic workflow. Clinical data from 317 patients was stored in the EHR database; 96.7% (4360/4509) of the scores could be calculated and transferred into the EHR system (Beck's Depression Inventory [52,53], Big Five Inventory [54], Childhood Trauma Questionnaire [55], Hamilton Depression Scale [56], Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire [57], and Symptom Checklist-90 Somatization Scale [58]) (Table 4), and 111,842 items were completed by patients on mobile devices (Table 5). Approximately 99.3% (91,329/91,974) of forms with scores (91,974 items/645 uncompleted items) were completed and 88.1% (12,617/14,318) of forms without scores (14,318 items/1701 uncompleted items) were completed. The validity of the acquired data on depressive symptomatology was already analyzed in a feasibility study [25]. Eight standardized documentation forms with 39 items were created for the retrospective data export (Table 1): SEED ClinicalData Admission Date & Time [77], SEED ClinicalData Classification [78], SEED ClinicalData Diagnosis-Related group/Diagnosis [79], SEED ClinicalData electroconvulsive therapy [80], SEED ClinicalData Laboratory Assessments [81], SEED ClinicalData Medication [82], SEED ClinicalData Patient [83], and SEED ClinicalData Vital Signs [84]. A total of 96,323 instances of vital signs, laboratory data, medication data, and administrative data could be automatically transferred from the EHR system to the research database (Table 6). Retrospective ODM-based data export worked correctly without technical errors, and 585 instances were created by the patients with Mopat@home and transferred to the research database via SMA:T (Table 7).

Name of the documentation form (n=11)	Items (n=202)
Beck Depression Inventory	23
Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-S)	35
Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-XS)	20
Childhood Trauma Questionnaire	34
Family Mental History	14
Hamilton Depression Scale	25
Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire	9
Symptom Checklist-90 Somatization Scale	14
Sociodemographic questionnaire	5
Questions on individual disease course	18
Questions on somatic comorbidities	5

Table 3. Number of instances created for each documentation form: the counts of patients, patient cases, and users are shown.

Name of the documentation form	Cases	Patients	Instances	Users
Beck Depression Inventory	380	307	1266	50
Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-S)	358	303	559	25
Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-XS)	258	217	692	19
Childhood Trauma Questionnaire	313	303	354	33
Family Mental History	315	305	343	31
Hamilton Depression Scale	350	296	516	42
Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire	357	302	558	20
Symptom Checklist-90 Somatization Scale	360	303	564	18
Sociodemographic questionnaire	315	305	344	26
Questions on individual disease course	315	305	342	26
Questions on somatic comorbidities	313	303	328	10

 Table 4. Data quality of patient-based documentation regarding score calculation.

Name of the documentation form	Instances	Scores	Missing data <sup>a</sup>
Beck Depression Inventory	1266	1238	28
Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-S)	559	540	19
Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-XS)	692	656	36
Childhood Trauma Questionnaire	354	320	34
Hamilton Depression Scale	516	502	14
Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire	558	550	8
Symptom Checklist-90 Somatization Scale	564	554	10

<sup>a</sup>Missing data frequency is determined by missing data entries.

# Table 5. Data on the completeness of the documentation forms.<sup>a</sup>

Name of the documentation form	Items	Completed items	Uncompleted items
Beck Depression Inventory	29,118	29,015	103
Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-S)	19,565	19,519	46
Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-XS)	13,840	13,739	101
Childhood Trauma Questionnaire	12,036	11,985	51
Family Mental History	4802	4354	448
Hamilton Depression Scale	12,384	12,076	308
Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire	5031	5012	19
Symptom Checklist-90 Somatization Scale	7896	7879	17
Sociodemographic questionnaire	1720	1715	5
Questions on individual disease course	6156	5453	703
Questions on somatic comorbidities	1640	1095	545

<sup>a</sup>In this context, completeness means that the documentation form contains values in all data points.



Table 6. Number of retrospectively transferred research documentation forms (electronic health record to electronic data capture).<sup>a</sup>

Name of the documentation form	Instances in electronic health records
SEED ClinicalData Admission Date & Time	245
SEED ClinicalData Classification	8260
SEED ClinicalData Diagnosis-Related Groups/Diagnosis	1163
SEED ClinicalData Electroconvulsive therapy	452
SEED ClinicalData Laboratory Assessments	22,886
SEED ClinicalData Medication	14,244
SEED ClinicalData Patient	245
SEED ClinicalData Vital Signs	48,828

<sup>a</sup>Electronic health record data were extracted with generic study queries in the Single-source Metadata ARchitecture Transformation system.

Table 7. Number of instances created with Mopat@home for each documentation form.

Name of the documentation form	Instances
Beck Depression Inventory	65
Big Five Inventory (BFI-2-S)	64
Childhood Trauma Questionnaire	65
Family Mental History	65
Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire	64
Symptom Checklist-90 Somatization Scale	66
Sociodemographic questionnaire	66
Questions on individual disease course	65
Questions on somatic comorbidities	65

# Discussion

#### Answers to the Study Questions

The aim of this study was the design and implementation of an informatics infrastructure enabling standardized data acquisition at the point of care and subsequent accessibility of clinical data for analytic purposes, which is required for future application of predictive models in day-to-day clinical routine in psychiatry. In this study, we have shown the overall technical feasibility of the implemented solution. Standardized documentation forms were implemented to extend EHR data domains and to improve data quality in the EHR system. An automated transfer of data into the EHR system and the research database was implemented, thus enabling the pooling of EHR data with already existing research data from ongoing cohort studies. This system was accepted by clinical staff from the Department of Psychiatry of Münster University Hospital in Germany. Widespread use of documentation forms could be demonstrated. Standardized electronic data collection in the EHR at the point of care was successfully implemented. The latter solution can similarly be applied for the presentation of results from predictive models.

#### Strengths and Weaknesses of This Study

The major strengths of this study are standardized acquisition, transfer, storage, and export of data in real time with a generic informatics infrastructure. This system fulfills the prerequisites

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e26681
```

RenderX

for future predictive modelling in clinical routine in psychiatry [85-87]. Standardized data transfer in ODM format provides scalability in the context of complex medical data structures. The Define-XML standard, an extension of the ODM standard, is mandated by regulatory authorities such as Food and Drug Administration for metadata [88]. Compliance with regulatory standards is the major advantage of our infrastructure regarding future clinical studies. The data format had to be converted due to the research database, which is a limitation. MongoDB was chosen for rapid analysis of large amounts of data in previous work [89]. Standardized automatic data transfer into research databases was possible for both retrospective and prospective research questions. The data of the EHR system was responsible for the number of documentation forms for the retrospective export. Data export can be configured centrally from the EHR system in compliance with local data protection regulations. Our approach is scalable because ORBIS EHR systems are used in more than 1300 hospitals in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland. The evaluation concentrated on technical and clinical feasibility. Limitations include the lack of elaborated standardized evaluations of the user experience of the system by clinical staff. Moreover, further evaluation is necessary in order to assess the sustainable benefit in everyday clinical practice. Although the feasibility and acceptability of the implemented data input interface has been demonstrated in a recent publication [24] and the wide-spread use of the implemented data presentation format in the EHR indicates

acceptability, it appears important to note that no further feedback from clinicians (ie, in the form of structured interviews or questionnaires) has been acquired, which limits the informative value regarding user satisfaction. This important issue should therefore be addressed by future works based on elaborated user feedback. Of note, the projected acquisition of data from several hundred cases per year based on our set-up results in a database of modest scale was comparable to that by successfully established deep learning models in other fields of medicine [90]. Yet, it appears important to take into account that that the current state-of-the-art machine learning approaches in psychiatric research are based on cohorts with smaller sample sizes that were acquired over a period of multiple years [91-93]. The present initiative that aims to train predictive models on data from clinical routine documentation thus offers a perspective to significantly increase sample sizes in machine learning research in psychiatry. The training of predictive models as well as their validation in clinical applications is not within the scope of the this study but will be the focus of subsequent work building on the technical infrastructure outlined in this study. Importantly, as our standardized data acquisition protocol covers established risk factors and symptom profiles that have in part already been successfully used for predictive analytics in psychiatric cohort studies [91,93], it appears reasonable to assume their predictive validity for the intended prediction of symptom trajectories and functional outcomes in future work.

#### **Results in Relation to Other Studies**

Through our study, we extend a previous line of research on predictive modeling based on EHR data. While previous studies have demonstrated empirical evidence for the predictive validity of EHR data in psychiatric use cases [18-20], to the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to not only report on the design but also on the successful implementation and technical feasibility of the informatics infrastructure for standardized acquisition, transfer, storage, and access of real world data for analytic purposes in psychiatric care, which is the basic requirement for the application and validation of predictive models in future clinical studies. Although we are not aware of any other study that has reported successful implementation of a comparable informatics infrastructure in psychiatric clinical routine, several preliminary reports should be taken into account. Complementary to the work presented in this study, Khalilia et al [94] described a Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR) web modeling service that was tested on a pilot intensive care unit dataset. A multi-source approach was used. No binding standard is used for clinical studies; instead, the standard Observational Medical Outcomes Partnership Common Data Model was applied [95] and an FHIR server and database are required for this system, which might limit potential implementations at multiple sites, considering that many EHR systems currently do not yet use an FHIR server. Of note, we are aware of several large-scale efforts aiming to translate predictive models into psychiatric practice [96] that, once implemented, might serve as a future base for comparison of system stability and performance. Importantly, the presented infrastructure represents a flexible solution that allows compatibility with existing initiatives and concepts of data

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e26681
```

RenderX

standardization such as the Common Data Elements repository of the National Institutes of Health [97]. The choice of the ODM as the data standard implies the automatic provision of a metadata provider for each item. Thus, data points can be enriched with additional codes based on standards such as the Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine Clinical Terms or the Unified Medical Language System [98,99]. The integration takes place via the alias node or the SMA:T schema extension of the ODM. This makes it possible to enrich the survey data with additional metadata. International standardizations are hence compatible with the operating data model based on a 1-1 mapping of item definition nodes.

#### Generalizability of This Study

The informatics infrastructure for standardized data acquisition, transfer, storage, and export in real time for future predictive modelling outlined in this study is an important step in the complex process toward the implementation of machine learning and clinical decision support solutions in routine care. Our study shows that this approach is technically feasible. Owing to the standardization, this concept is also scalable for other medical areas. Data warehouse applications of a heterogeneous hospital landscape can be implemented with this software architecture. In addition to local artificial intelligence applications, multi-site implementations of the architecture could also transfer pseudonymized data points into a global predictive model. The implementation of national and international predictive models in medicine would be possible.

#### **Future Work**

Artificial intelligence systems rely on high-quality data. In the future, artificial intelligence applications might send real-time evaluations directly back into the EHR system. Clinical staff could access and respond to calculated predictions. Selected data will be provided in a modular dashboard. Medical device regulation needs to be taken into account for implementation of such systems. Direct data transfer back from the clinic would be possible. Real-time adjustments of the prediction models would thus be possible. Standardization of clinical routine documentation via SMA:T can provide high-quality structured data points. It is planned to augment this database with further research data from existing cohort studies, for example, covering neuroimaging and genetic data. Specific prediction models can be trained in this way with the same architecture. Generic model pipelines can be set up. Model clusters can be set up to answer complex medical questions. Basically, SMA:T forms a solid technical infrastructure for the implementation of artificial intelligence solutions in medicine. Scheme extensions of the ODM standard can be implemented to optimize communication between systems. Observational and interventional studies are warranted to evaluate the predictive validity of machine learning models in psychiatric routine. For multi-center studies, SMA:T needs to be reimplemented in the respective EHR environments to process CDISC ODM files. A software blueprint is available [45]. If SMA:T and MoPat are already in use, the architecture can be set up within a short time frame of approximately 1 week. The generic concept of the architecture enables the reuse of our data models, database queries, and server architecture. Retrospective database queries might have to be reimplemented

in the EHR environments. The necessary data can be used from our repository on GitHub [100]. Another important consideration is the potential future enrichment of EHR data with mobile assessments, including ecological momentary assessments and passive sensor data derived from smartphones. Recent reports on successful real-time prediction of depressive symptoms based on ecological momentary assessment data supplement this notion [101]. Thus, future studies should explore technical solutions that allow data transfer between EHRs and patients' smartphones. Future work will evaluate the predictive potential of the acquired data entities by training and validating machine learning models for an individual level prediction of treatment response, functional outcome, and depression relapse. In accordance with findings from previous machine learning approaches in psychiatric cohort studies, in a first step, well-established predictive algorithms such as support vector machines will be trained on features covering risk and symptom profiles, sociodemographic variables, medication, and treatment history [7,91,93]. Yet importantly, as opposed to previous cohort studies, the technical infrastructure outlined in this study will allow to train and validate predictive models in naturalistic patient samples in routine care.

#### Conclusions

The presented informatics infrastructure enabling standardized data acquisition, transfer, storage, and export in real time for future predictive modelling in clinical routine in psychiatry is technically feasible. The outlined architecture provides a technical basis for the application, first and foremost, and the validation of clinical decision support systems and artificial intelligence applications in clinical studies.

#### Acknowledgments

We are deeply indebted to all the participants of this study. This study was supported by a grant from BMBF (HiGHmed 01ZZ1802V). Funding was provided by the Interdisciplinary Center for Clinical Research (IZKF) of the medical faculty of Münster (Grant SEED 11/19 to NO) as well as the "Innovative Medizinische Forschung" (IMF) of the medical faculty of Münster (Grants OP121710 to NO).

#### **Authors' Contributions**

RB and NO drafted the manuscript. RB developed the software architecture and conducted the statistical analyses. NO was responsible for the formulation of the overarching research goal and aims, the study design, conception, development of the methodology, management and coordination responsibility for the research activity planning and execution, data acquisition and design, creation of data models, and data analysis. NO and MD acquired financial support for the conduction of this study. MS supported programming and the implementation of computer code. All authors contributed to the interpretation of data. All authors critically reviewed and substantially revised the final manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Beck Depression Inventory documentation form created with Single-source Metadata ARchitecture Transformation. [PNG File , 37 KB - mental\_v8i6e26681\_app1.png ]

#### Multimedia Appendix 2

Symptom Checklist-90 Somatization Scale documentation form created with Single-source Metadata ARchitecture Transformation. [PNG File , 119 KB - mental\_v8i6e26681\_app2.png ]

#### References

- Schmaal L, Hibar D, Sämann P, et al. Cortical abnormalities in adults and adolescents with major depression based on brain scans from 20 cohorts worldwide in the ENIGMA Major Depressive Disorder Working Group. Molecular Psychiatry volume 22 2017:900-909 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.60]
- Hahn T, Marquand AF, Ehlis A, Dresler T, Kittel-Schneider S, Jarczok TA, et al. Integrating neurobiological markers of depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2011 Apr;68(4):361-368. [doi: <u>10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.178</u>] [Medline: <u>21135315</u>]
- 3. Huys QJM, Maia TV, Frank MJ. Computational psychiatry as a bridge from neuroscience to clinical applications. Nat Neurosci 2016 Mar;19(3):404-413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nn.4238] [Medline: 26906507]
- Chekroud AM, Zotti RJ, Shehzad Z, Gueorguieva R, Johnson MK, Trivedi MH, et al. Cross-trial prediction of treatment outcome in depression: a machine learning approach. Lancet Psychiatry 2016 Mar;3(3):243-250. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00471-X] [Medline: 26803397]
- Koutsouleris N, Meisenzahl EM, Borgwardt S, Riecher-Rössler A, Frodl T, Kambeitz J, et al. Individualized differential diagnosis of schizophrenia and mood disorders using neuroanatomical biomarkers. Brain 2015 Jul;138(Pt 7):2059-2073 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/brain/awv111] [Medline: 25935725]

- Redlich R, Opel N, Grotegerd D, Dohm K, Zaremba D, Bürger C, et al. Prediction of Individual Response to Electroconvulsive Therapy via Machine Learning on Structural Magnetic Resonance Imaging Data. JAMA Psychiatry 2016 Jun 01;73(6):557-564. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.0316] [Medline: 27145449]
- Kessler RC, van Loo HM, Wardenaar KJ, Bossarte RM, Brenner LA, Cai T, et al. Testing a machine-learning algorithm to predict the persistence and severity of major depressive disorder from baseline self-reports. Mol Psychiatry 2016 Oct;21(10):1366-1371 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.198] [Medline: 26728563]
- 8. Opel N, Zwanzger P, Redlich R, Grotegerd D, Dohm K, Arolt V, et al. Differing brain structural correlates of familial and environmental risk for major depressive disorder revealed by a combined VBM/pattern recognition approach. Psychol. Med 2015 Sep 10;46(2):277-290. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291715001683]
- Koutsouleris N, Meisenzahl EM, Borgwardt S, Riecher-Rössler A, Frodl T, Kambeitz J, et al. Individualized differential diagnosis of schizophrenia and mood disorders using neuroanatomical biomarkers. Brain 2015 Jul;138(Pt 7):2059-2073 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/brain/awv111] [Medline: 25935725]
- Redlich R, Almeida JJR, Grotegerd D, Opel N, Kugel H, Heindel W, et al. Brain morphometric biomarkers distinguishing unipolar and bipolar depression. A voxel-based morphometry-pattern classification approach. JAMA Psychiatry 2014 Nov;71(11):1222-1230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1100] [Medline: 25188810]
- Cearns M, Opel N, Clark S, Kaehler C, Thalamuthu A, Heindel W, et al. Predicting rehospitalization within 2 years of initial patient admission for a major depressive episode: a multimodal machine learning approach. Transl Psychiatry 2019 Nov 11;9(1):285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41398-019-0615-2] [Medline: 31712550]
- 12. Hirschtritt ME, Insel TR. Digital Technologies in Psychiatry: Present and Future. Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ) 2018 Jul;16(3):251-258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.20180001] [Medline: 31975919]
- Hsin H, Fromer M, Peterson B, Walter C, Fleck M, Campbell A, et al. Transforming Psychiatry into Data-Driven Medicine with Digital Measurement Tools. NPJ Digit Med 2018;1:37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-018-0046-0] [Medline: 31304319]
- 14. Rutledge RB, Chekroud AM, Huys QJ. Machine learning and big data in psychiatry: toward clinical applications. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2019 Apr;55:152-159. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.conb.2019.02.006</u>] [Medline: <u>30999271</u>]
- 15. Torous J, Baker JT. Why Psychiatry Needs Data Science and Data Science Needs Psychiatry: Connecting With Technology. JAMA Psychiatry 2016 Jan;73(1):3-4. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2622] [Medline: 26676879]
- Zimmerman M, Clark HL, Multach MD, Walsh E, Rosenstein LK, Gazarian D. Have Treatment Studies of Depression Become Even Less Generalizable? A Review of the Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria Used in Placebo-Controlled Antidepressant Efficacy Trials Published During the Past 20 Years. Mayo Clin Proc 2015 Sep;90(9):1180-1186. [doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.06.016] [Medline: 26276679]
- 17. Skyttberg N, Vicente J, Chen R, Blomqvist H, Koch S. How to improve vital sign data quality for use in clinical decision support systems? A qualitative study in nine Swedish emergency departments. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016 Jun 04;16:61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0305-4] [Medline: 27260476]
- Barak-Corren Y, Castro VM, Javitt S, Hoffnagle AG, Dai Y, Perlis RH, et al. Predicting Suicidal Behavior From Longitudinal Electronic Health Records. Am J Psychiatry 2017 Feb 01;174(2):154-162. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.16010077</u>] [Medline: <u>27609239</u>]
- Barak-Corren Y, Castro VM, Nock MK, Mandl KD, Madsen EM, Seiger A, et al. Validation of an Electronic Health Record-Based Suicide Risk Prediction Modeling Approach Across Multiple Health Care Systems. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Mar 02;3(3):e201262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.1262] [Medline: 32211868]
- Blumenthal SR, Castro VM, Clements CC, Rosenfield HR, Murphy SN, Fava M, et al. An electronic health records study of long-term weight gain following antidepressant use. JAMA Psychiatry 2014 Aug;71(8):889-896. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.414] [Medline: 24898363]
- 21. Simon GE. Big Data From Health Records in Mental Health Care: Hardly Clairvoyant but Already Useful. JAMA Psychiatry 2019 Apr 01;76(4):349-350. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.4510] [Medline: 30810728]
- 22. Weissman MM, Pathak J, Talati A. Personal Life Events-A Promising Dimension for Psychiatry in Electronic Health Records. JAMA Psychiatry 2020 Feb 01;77(2):115-116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.3217] [Medline: 31642873]
- 23. Musliner KL, Mortensen PB, McGrath JJ, Suppli NP, Hougaard DM, Bybjerg-Grauholm J, Bipolar Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. Association of Polygenic Liabilities for Major Depression, Bipolar Disorder, and Schizophrenia With Risk for Depression in the Danish Population. JAMA Psychiatry 2019 May 01;76(5):516-525 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.4166] [Medline: 30698613]
- 24. Epic Systems Corporation. URL: <u>https://www.epic.com</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 25. Richter M, Storck M, Blitz R, Goltermann J, Seipp J, Dannlowski U, et al. Continuous digital collection of patient-reported outcomes during inpatient treatment for affective disorders implementation and feasibility. MedRxiv. Preprint posted online on September 1, 2020. [doi: 10.1101/2020.08.27.20183400]
- 26. Geschäftsbericht 2019. UKM. URL: <u>https://www.ukm.de/fileadmin/ukminternet/daten/zentralauftritt/presse-services/</u> <u>downloads/Logbuch/UKM-Geschaeftsbericht-2019/index.html#book/page/64-65</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]

- 27. Qualitätsbericht 2018. UKM. URL: <u>https://www.g-ba-qualitaetsberichte.de/api/file/download/260550131-00-2018-xml.</u> pdf [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 28. Geschäftsbereich medizinisches management medizincontrolling. UKM. URL: <u>https://www.ukm.de/index.php?id=mc</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 29. Dedalus to acquire Agfa's HCIS business: The signify view. Signify Research. URL: <u>https://www.signifyresearch.net/</u> <u>digital-health/dedalus-acquire-agfas-hcis-business-signify-view/</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 30. Operational data model (ODM)-XML. CDISC. URL: <u>https://www.cdisc.org/standards/data-exchange/odm</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 31. Define-XML. CDISC. URL: <u>https://www.cdisc.org/standards/data-exchange/define-xml</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 32. Health Level Seven International (HL7). URL: <u>http://www.hl7.org/</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 33. NextGen Connect (formerly Mirth Connect). URL: <u>https://www.nextgen.com/</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 34. Java. Oracle. URL: https://java.com [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 35. ECMAScript 6. W3 Schools. URL: https://www.w3schools.com/js/js\_es6.asp [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 36. What is TypeScript? TypeScript. URL: https://www.typescriptlang.org/ [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 37. MongoDB Java drivers. MongoDB. URL: <u>https://mongodb.github.io/mongo-java-driver/</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 38. Json-lib. Sourceforge. URL: <u>https://sourceforge.net/projects/json-lib/files/json-lib/json-lib-2.4/</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 39. MongoDB. URL: <u>https://www.mongodb.com/</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 40. Docker. URL: <u>https://www.docker.com/</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 41. Red Hat. URL: <u>https://www.redhat.com</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 42. SPSS statistics. IBM. URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/analytics/spss-statistics-software</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 43. Adobe photoshop. Adobe. URL: <u>https://www.adobe.com/de/products/photoshop.html</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 44. Microsoft Visio. URL: <u>https://products.office.com/de-de/visio/flowchart-software?tab=tabs-1</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- Blitz R, Dugas M. Conceptual Design, Implementation, and Evaluation of Generic and Standard-Compliant Data Transfer into Electronic Health Records. Appl Clin Inform 2020 May;11(3):374-386. [doi: <u>10.1055/s-0040-1710023</u>] [Medline: <u>32462639</u>]
- 46. Stahl T, Efftinge S, Haase A, Volter M. Modellgetriebene Softwareentwicklung: Techniken, Engineering, Management. Germany: dpunkt.verlag; 2012.
- 47. Soto-Rey I, Rehr M, Bruland P, Zeidler C, Riepe C, Steinke S, et al. Electronic Collection of Multilingual Patient-Reported Outcomes across Europe. Methods Inf Med 2018 Dec;57(S 02):e107-e114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1675397] [Medline: 30453339]
- 48. Soto-Rey, Dugas M, Storck M. Implementation of an ODM and HL7 Compliant Electronic Patient-Reported Outcome System. Stud Health Technol Inform 2016;228:421-425. [Medline: <u>27577417</u>]
- 49. Storck M, Dugas-Breit S, Dugas M, Soto-Rey I. MOPAT@HOME: electronic patient reported outcomes filled out at home, evaluated at the hospital. In: Studies in Health Technology and Informatics; Volume 244-The Practice of Patient Centered Care-Empowering and Engaging Patients in the Digital Era. Amsterdam, Netherlands: iOS Press; 2017.
- 50. REDCap. URL: <u>https://www.project-redcap.org/</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- Kannan V, Basit M, Youngblood J. Agile co-development for clinical adoption and adaptation of innovative technologies. In: Health Innov Point Care Conf. 2017 Presented at: 2017 IEEE Healthcare Innovations and Point of Care Technologies (HI-POCT); 6-8 Nov 2017; Bethesda. [doi: 10.1109/hic.2017.8227583]
- 52. Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown GK. Manual for the Beck Depression Inventory-II. San Antonio: APA PsycNet; 1996.
- 53. Kühner C, Bürger C, Keller F, Hautzinger M. Reliability and validity of the Revised Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II). Results from German samples. Nervenarzt 2007 Jun;78(6):651-656. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00115-006-2098-7</u>] [Medline: <u>16832698</u>]
- 54. Soto CJ, John OP. Short and extra-short forms of the Big Five Inventory–2: The BFI-2-S and BFI-2-XS. Journal of Research in Personality 2017 Jun;68:69-81. [doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2017.02.004]
- 55. Childhood trauma questionnaire. APA PsycNet. 1994. URL: https://doi.org/10.1037/t02080-000 [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 56. Hamilton M. The Hamilton rating scale for depression. In: Assessment of Depression. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag; 1986:143-152.
- Leckelt M, et al. Supplemental Material for Validation of the Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire Short Scale (NARQ-S) in Convenience and Representative Samples. Psychological Assessment 2017 Mar 2:86-96. [doi: 10.1037/pas0000433.supp]
- 58. The SCL-90-R and brief symptom inventory, and matching clinical rating scales. APA PsycNet. URL: <u>https://psycnet.</u> apa.org/record/1999-02767-022 [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 59. JavaScript Object Notation. URL: <u>https://www.json.org/json-en.html</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 60. JavaScript operational data model. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/764374625489/Seed/blob/main/datamodels/jodm</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 61. JavaScript Object Notation Schema. URL: <u>https://json-schema.org/</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 62. Bargas-Avila J, Brenzikofer O, Roth S, User A. Simple but crucial user interfaces in the world wide web: introducing 20 guidelines for usable web form design. IntechOpen. 2010. URL: <u>https://www.intechopen.com/books/user-interfaces/</u> simple-but-crucial-user-interfaces-in-the-world-wide-web-introducing-20-guidelines-for-usable-web-fo [accessed 2021-05-28]

- Idrus Z, Razak N. Using three layer model (TLM) in web form design: WeFDeC checklist development. In: ICCEA NTAA. 2010 Presented at: 2010 Second International Conference on Computer Engineering and Applications; 19-21 March 2010; Bali. [doi: 10.1109/ICCEA.2010.81]
- 64. Research-based web design and usability guidelines. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. 2010. URL: <u>https://www.usability.gov/sites/default/files/documents/guidelines\_book.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-05-28]
- 65. Seckler M, Heinz S, Bargas-Avila J. Designing usable web forms: Empirical evaluation of web form improvement guidelines. New York, USA: ACM; 2014 Presented at: Proceedings of the 2014 Annual Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; 2014; Toronto. [doi: 10.1145/2556288.2557265]
- 66. Beck depression inventory. Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/</u> 27300 [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 67. Big five inventory (BFI-2-S) Big five SEED studie. Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/41674</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 68. Big five inventory (BFI-2-XS) SEED studie. Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/41673</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 69. Childhood trauma questionnaire (CTQ). Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/9946</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 70. Family mental history SEED-studie. Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/41444</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- Worboys M. The Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression: The making of a "gold standard" and the unmaking of a chronic illness, 1960-1980. Chronic Illn 2013 Sep;9(3):202-219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1742395312467658] [Medline: 23172888]
- 72. NARQ-S. Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/41440</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 73. SCL-90 somatisation scale SEED-studie. Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/41671</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 74. Sociodemographic questionnaire SEED-studie. Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/41441</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 75. Questions on individual disease course SEED-studie. Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/41442</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 76. Questions on somatic comorbidities SEED-studie. Portal für Medizinische Datenmodelle (MDM-Portal). URL: <u>https://medical-data-models.org/41443</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 77. Seed clinical data admission date/time. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/764374625489/Seed/blob/main/datamodels/odm/</u> 2020\_0000037.xml [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 78. Seed clinical data classification. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/764374625489/Seed/blob/main/datamodels/odm/</u> 2020\_0000036.xml [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 79. Seed clinical data DRG/diagnosis. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/764374625489/Seed/blob/main/datamodels/odm/</u> 2020\_0000032.xml [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 80. Seed clinical data ECT. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/764374625489/Seed/blob/main/datamodels/odm/2020\_0000035.</u> <u>xml</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 81. Seed Clinical data laboratory assessments. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/764374625489/Seed/blob/main/datamodels/odm/2020\_0000031.xml</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 82. Seed clinical data medication. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/764374625489/Seed/blob/main/datamodels/odm/</u> 2020\_0000052.xml [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 83. Seed clinical data patient. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/764374625489/Seed/blob/main/datamodels/odm/2020\_0000039.</u> <u>xml</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 84. Seed clinical data vital signs. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/764374625489/Seed/blob/main/datamodels/odm/</u> 2020\_0000053.xml [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 85. Kim E, Rubinstein SM, Nead KT, Wojcieszynski AP, Gabriel PE, Warner JL. The Evolving Use of Electronic Health Records (EHR) for Research. Semin Radiat Oncol 2019 Oct;29(4):354-361. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.semradonc.2019.05.010</u>] [Medline: <u>31472738</u>]
- 86. Skyttberg N, Chen R, Koch S. Man vs machine in emergency medicine a study on the effects of manual and automatic vital sign documentation on data quality and perceived workload, using observational paired sample data and questionnaires. BMC Emerg Med 2018 Dec 13;18(1):54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12873-018-0205-2] [Medline: 30545312]
- 87. Butler A, Wei W, Yuan C, Kang T, Si Y, Weng C. The Data Gap in the EHR for Clinical Research Eligibility Screening. AMIA Jt Summits Transl Sci Proc 2018;2017:320-329 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>29888090</u>]
- 88. FDA resources for data standards. US Food and Drug Administration. URL: <u>https://www.fda.gov/industry/fda-resources-data-standards</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]

- 89. Genomics England uses MongoDB to power the data science behind the 100,000 genomes project. MongoDB. URL: https:// /www.mongodb.com/press/genomics-england-uses-mongodb-to-power-the-data-science-behind-the-100000-genomes-project [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 90. Esteva A, Kuprel B, Novoa RA, Ko J, Swetter SM, Blau HM, et al. Dermatologist-level classification of skin cancer with deep neural networks. Nature 2017 Jan 25;542(7639):115-118. [doi: 10.1038/nature21056]
- 91. Kambeitz J, Cabral C, Sacchet MD, Gotlib IH, Zahn R, Serpa MH, et al. Detecting Neuroimaging Biomarkers for Depression: A Meta-analysis of Multivariate Pattern Recognition Studies. Biol Psychiatry 2017 Sep 01;82(5):330-338. [doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.10.028] [Medline: 28110823]
- Cearns M, Opel N, Clark S, Kaehler C, Thalamuthu A, Heindel W, et al. Predicting rehospitalization within 2 years of 92. initial patient admission for a major depressive episode: a multimodal machine learning approach. Transl Psychiatry 2019 Nov 11;9(1):285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41398-019-0615-2] [Medline: 31712550]
- Koutsouleris N, Dwyer DB, Degenhardt F, Maj C, Urquijo-Castro MF, Sanfelici R, PRONIA Consortium. Multimodal 93. Machine Learning Workflows for Prediction of Psychosis in Patients With Clinical High-Risk Syndromes and Recent-Onset Depression. JAMA Psychiatry 2021 Feb 01;78(2):195-209 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.3604] [Medline: <u>33263726</u>]
- 94. Khalilia M, Choi M, Henderson A, Iyengar S, Braunstein M, Sun J. Clinical Predictive Modeling Development and Deployment through FHIR Web Services. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2015;2015:717-726 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26958207]
- 95. OMOP data model. Observational Medical Outcomes Partnership. URL: https://www.ohdsi.org/data-standardization/ the-common-data-model/ [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 96. Fusar-Poli P, Oliver D, Spada G, Patel R, Stewart R, Dobson R, et al. Real World Implementation of a Transdiagnostic Risk Calculator for the Automatic Detection of Individuals at Risk of Psychosis in Clinical Routine: Study Protocol. Front Psychiatry 2019;10:109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00109] [Medline: 30949070]
- 97. NIH common data elements repository. National Library of Medicine. URL: https://cde.nlm.nih.gov/ [accessed 2021-05-25]
- Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine. URL: https://www.snomed.org/ [accessed 2021-05-25] 98.
- Unified Medical Language System. URL: https://www.nlm.nih.gov/research/umls/index.html [accessed 2021-05-25] 99.
- 100. Seed project. GitHub. URL: https://github.com/764374625489/Seed [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 101. Hallensleben N, Glaesmer H, Forkmann T, Rath D, Strauss M, Kersting A, et al. Predicting suicidal ideation by interpersonal variables, hopelessness and depression in real-time. An ecological momentary assessment study in psychiatric inpatients with depression. Eur Psychiatry 2019 Feb;56:43-50. [doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2018.11.003] [Medline: 30530103]

# Abbreviations

CDISC: Clinical Data Interchange Standards Consortium **EHR:** electronic health record FHIR: Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources HL7: Health Level 7 MoPat: Mobile Patient Survey **ODM:** operational data model SMA:T: Single-source Metadata ARchitecture Transformation

Edited by J Torous; submitted 21.12.20; peer-reviewed by X Jing, A Sule; comments to author 25.01.21; revised version received 14.03.21; accepted 02.04.21; published 09.06.21.

Please cite as:

Blitz R, Storck M, Baune BT, Dugas M, Opel N Design and Implementation of an Informatics Infrastructure for Standardized Data Acquisition, Transfer, Storage, and Export in Psychiatric Clinical Routine: Feasibility Study JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e26681 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e26681 doi:10.2196/26681 PMID:34106072

©Rogério Blitz, Michael Storck, Bernhard T Baune, Martin Dugas, Nils Opel. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 09.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic

information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Review**

# Ethics and Law in Research on Algorithmic and Data-Driven Technology in Mental Health Care: Scoping Review

Piers Gooding<sup>1,2\*</sup>, BA (Hon 1st), PhD; Timothy Kariotis<sup>3\*</sup>, BA, BNutriSci, BSocSci, MPH

<sup>1</sup>Melbourne Law School, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>2</sup>Mozilla Foundation, Mountain View, CA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Melbourne School of Government, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Piers Gooding, BA (Hon 1st), PhD Melbourne Law School University of Melbourne 185 Pelham Street Melbourne, 3053 Australia Phone: 61 383440910 Email: p.gooding@unimelb.edu.au

# Abstract

**Background:** Uncertainty surrounds the ethical and legal implications of algorithmic and data-driven technologies in the mental health context, including technologies characterized as artificial intelligence, machine learning, deep learning, and other forms of automation.

**Objective:** This study aims to survey empirical scholarly literature on the application of algorithmic and data-driven technologies in mental health initiatives to identify the legal and ethical issues that have been raised.

**Methods:** We searched for peer-reviewed empirical studies on the application of algorithmic technologies in mental health care in the Scopus, Embase, and Association for Computing Machinery databases. A total of 1078 relevant peer-reviewed applied studies were identified, which were narrowed to 132 empirical research papers for review based on selection criteria. Conventional content analysis was undertaken to address our aims, and this was supplemented by a keyword-in-context analysis.

**Results:** We grouped the findings into the following five categories of technology: social media (53/132, 40.1%), smartphones (37/132, 28%), sensing technology (20/132, 15.1%), chatbots (5/132, 3.8%), and miscellaneous (17/132, 12.9%). Most initiatives were directed toward detection and diagnosis. Most papers discussed privacy, mainly in terms of respecting the privacy of research participants. There was relatively little discussion of privacy in this context. A small number of studies discussed ethics directly (10/132, 7.6%) and indirectly (10/132, 7.6%). Legal issues were not substantively discussed in any studies, although some legal issues were discussed in passing (7/132, 5.3%), such as the rights of user subjects and privacy law compliance.

**Conclusions:** Ethical and legal issues tend to not be explicitly addressed in empirical studies on algorithmic and data-driven technologies in mental health initiatives. Scholars may have considered ethical or legal matters at the ethics committee or institutional review board stage. If so, this consideration seldom appears in published materials in applied research in any detail. The form itself of peer-reviewed papers that detail applied research in this field may well preclude a substantial focus on ethics and law. Regardless, we identified several concerns, including the near-complete lack of involvement of mental health service users, the scant consideration of algorithmic accountability, and the potential for overmedicalization and techno-solutionism. Most papers were published in the computer science field at the pilot or exploratory stages. Thus, these technologies could be appropriated into practice in rarely acknowledged ways, with serious legal and ethical implications.

# (JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e24668) doi:10.2196/24668

# KEYWORDS

RenderX

digital psychiatry; digital mental health; machine learning; algorithmic technology; data-driven technology; artificial intelligence; ethics; regulation; law; mobile phone

# Introduction

# Background

Data-driven technologies for mental health have expanded in recent years [1,2]. The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated this shift, with physical distancing measures fast-tracking the digitization and virtualization of health and social services [3,4]. These initiatives extend from hospital- to community-based services for people with mental health conditions and psychosocial disabilities (the term mental health conditions and psychosocial disabilities is used to refer to the broad range of mental health conditions and the associated disability; the term is used by the World Health Organization [5]). Government agencies, private technology firms, service user groups, service providers, pharmaceutical companies, professional associations, corporate services, and academic researchers are among the actors involved [5-7]. The technologies they create serve various functions, including information sharing, communication, clinical decision support, digital therapies, patient or service user and population monitoring, bioinformatics and personalized medicine, and service user health informatics [1]. Only some of these broader digital technologies will use algorithmic technologies to which this paper will turn.

Throughout this paper, we use the term algorithmic and data-driven technologies to describe various technologies that rely on complex information processing to analyze large amounts of personal data and other information deemed useful to making decisions [6]. The term is used here to encompass technologies variously referred to as artificial intelligence, machine learning, deep learning, natural language processing, robotics, speech processing, and similar automation technologies. The paper is premised on the view that the term *algorithmic and data-driven technologies* offers a useful category for the purposes of this review, although important conceptual and practical differences exist between technologies within this broad category (eg, between artificial intelligence and machine learning).

In the mental health context, algorithmic and data-driven technologies are generally used to make inferences, predictions, recommendations, or decisions about individuals and populations. Predictive analysis is largely aimed at assessing a person's health conditions. Data collection may occur in a range of settings, from services concerning mental health, suicide prevention, or addiction support. Collection may also occur beyond these typical domains. For example, web-based platforms can draw on users' posts or purchasing habits to flag their potential risk of suicide [7]. CCTV systems with machine learning sensors in suicide hotspots can be programmed to assess bodily movements that may precipitate a person's suicide attempt [8]. Education institutions may flag students who appear to be in distress based on attendance records, social media use, and physiometric monitoring [9]. There are also examples of algorithmic technologies being used in forensic mental health settings [10] and other criminal justice settings [11], including databases that combine noncriminal mental health data with user-generated social media content for the apparent purpose of preventive policing [12].

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e24668
```

Some prominent mental health professionals have argued that digital technologies, including algorithmic and data-driven technologies, hold the potential to bridge the "global mental health treatment gap" [13] by "reach[ing] billions of people" worldwide [14]. A 2019 Lancet Psychiatry editorial describes a "general agreement that big data and algorithms will help optimize performance in psychiatry" [15]. Others have described "widespread agreement by health care providers, medical associations, industry, and governments that automation using digital technology could improve the delivery and quality of care in psychiatry, and reduce costs" [16]. Indeed, governments and some private sector actors appear enthusiastic [1]. For people who use mental health services and their representative organizations, views on algorithmic technology in mental health care appear more ambivalent, although research by service user researchers, advocates, and their representative organizations comprises only a very small part of scholarship and commentary in the field [17-19].

This study set out to identify to what extent and on what matters legal and ethical issues were considered in the empirical research literature on algorithmic and data-driven technologies in mental health care. *Empirical research* refers simply to scholarship that seeks to use algorithmic and data-driven technology in an applied way in the mental health context.

#### **Ethics and Law**

Ethics refer to guiding principles, whereas laws, which may be based on ethical or moral principles, are enforceable rules and regulations with penalties for those who violate them. Scholarship on the ethical and legal dimensions of algorithmic and data-driven technologies in mental health care is relatively scant but growing [20-26]. Existing research generally draws together two strands of research: first, the ethicolegal issues involved in algorithmic and data-driven technological mental health initiatives [25-27] and, second, a broader scholarship concerning algorithmic and data-driven technologies [28-30]. We briefly discuss each of these strands of research.

According to Lederman et al [25], most web-based mental health interventions have not been subject to ethical scrutiny, particularly those that go beyond one-to-one web-based or phone-based counseling, such as mental health apps and moderated web-based forums. Lederman et al [25] suggest using the classic health ethics framework, with its four principles of nonmaleficence, beneficence, respect for autonomy, and justice, particularly given its widespread use and acceptance among the health professions [26]. However, given the emergence of digital mental health initiatives in nonclinical settings (eg, in education, work settings, social media, and financial services), other ethical frameworks and practices may be required [7,31]. Nonhealth settings are not governed by the same entrenched bioethical principles, norms of conduct, or regulatory frameworks as formal health care systems [31]. Burr et al [31] pointed out that the transfer of responsibility from traditional health care providers to institutions, organizations (both private and public), and individuals who are creating web-based mental health initiatives gives rise to new ethical considerations. These include the duty to intervene in emergencies, competency to address people's support needs, and ensuring the decisional capacity

and health literacy of consumers of commercialized products [31]. This expanded scope is a sign that the ethical literature concerning digital technology in the mental health context is growing [20,24,32-34], even if ethical analyses may not occur in most applied initiatives, as suggested by Lederman et al [25]. Legal scholarship on digital technology in mental health care is sparse [1] but tends to focus on the regulatory frameworks applicable to digital health, privacy, confidentiality, cybersecurity, and software as medical devices [35-39].

The broader ethical and legal dimensions of algorithmic technologies have been the subject of a much larger scholarship [28-30,40,41]. Scholars in this field are typically concerned with issues of fairness, accountability, transparency, privacy, security, reliability, inclusivity, and safety, which are examined in contexts as diverse as criminal law, consumer transactions, health, public administration, migration, and employment. Legal scholars have tended to call for technological due process (involving fair, accountable, and transparent adjudications and rulemaking), net neutrality (broadly, equal treatment of web-based content by providers of internet access services) [42], and nondiscrimination principles [43]. Early legal and ethical scholarship focused on efforts to ensure basic standards of algorithmic transparency and auditing, but a more recent movement of scholars, regulators, and activists has begun to ask more fundamental questions, including whether algorithmic systems should be used at all in certain circumstances, and if so, who gets to govern them [44].

# Methods

# Design

This study adapted a scoping review methodology to undertake a broad exploration of the literature. Scoping reviews are particularly useful for surveying a potentially large and interdisciplinary field that has not yet been comprehensively reviewed and for which clarification of concepts is required [45], a characterization that appears apt for the use of algorithmic and data-driven technologies in mental health care. The scoping review method was also considered the most appropriate approach because it could capture the literature from several sources and disciplines with varying terminology and conceptual boundaries. We adapted the Arksey and O'Malley framework for scoping reviews [46]. The framework involves the following five steps or framework stages: (1) identifying the research question; (2) identifying relevant studies; (3) selecting studies; (4) charting results; and (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting results.

A description of each step is outlined below.

We drew on elements of the Joanna Briggs Institute scoping review methodology [47] and PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses) extension for scoping reviews [48] to support the rigor of our methods. Study selection included all study types, and the overall aim was to chart data according to key issues, themes, and gaps [46]. Materials were analyzed using conventional content analysis supplemented with keyword-in-context analysis (discussed below).

#### Identifying the Research Question (Step 1)

We sought to identify all studies within a selective sampling frame [49] that answered the following research questions:

- In what ways are algorithmic and data-driven technologies being used in the mental health context?
- How and to what extent are issues of law and ethics being addressed in these studies?

These questions were chosen to maintain a wide approach to generate the breadth of coverage [46].

#### **Identifying Relevant Studies (Step 2)**

A rapid or streamlined literature search was conducted. We started with a search string that emerged from our initial literature review (noted in the *Background* section). However, the search string was updated as we surveyed the literature, and new terms and ideas from other disciplines and practices were considered. We also undertook a hand search of relevant reference lists of included papers to identify other papers for inclusion. The search was not exhaustive because of the breadth of the topic area, but it aimed to be inclusive of diverse disciplines and varying conceptualizations of the topic.

The following search strings emerged through an iterative process (Textbox 1). They were applied in keyword fields or abstract and title fields (where available in each database).



#### Textbox 1. Iteratively developed search string.

#### Gooding & Kariotis

#### Scopus

• (TITLE-ABS-KEY ('mental (health OR ill\* OR disability OR impair\*)' OR 'psychiatr\*' OR 'psycholog\*' OR 'beahvioral health') AND TITLE-ABS-KEY ('algorithm\*' OR 'artificial intelligence' OR 'machine learning') AND TITLE-ABS-KEY ('internet' OR 'social media' OR 'chatbot' OR 'smartphone' OR 'tracking'))

#### Embase Ovid

- ('mental (health OR ill\* OR disability OR impair\*)' or 'psychiatr\*' or 'beahvioral health').mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug manufacturer, device trade name, keyword, floating subheading word, candidate term word]
- "mental illness".mp. or mental disease/
- algorithm/ or machine learning/ or artificial intelligence/
- ('algorithm\*' or 'artificial intelligence' or 'machine learning').mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug manufacturer, device trade name, keyword, floating subheading word, candidate term word]
- Internet/ or "web-based".mp.
- ('internet' or 'social media' or 'chatbot' or 'smartphone' or 'tracking').mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug manufacturer, device trade name, keyword, floating subheading word, candidate term word]
- The above search strings were applied in various combinations.

#### Association for Computing Machinery

• ('mental health' OR 'mental ill\*' OR 'psychiatr\*' OR 'behavio\* health') AND ('algorithm\*' OR 'artificial intelligence' OR 'machine learning') AND ('internet' OR 'social media' OR 'chatbot' OR 'smartphone' OR 'tracking')

No date limit was placed, although the search was conducted between August 2019 and February 2020 iteratively. A language filter was applied to focus on English-language results, which was applied for pragmatic reasons to reduce the search scope and complexity (for more on limitations, including terms we appear to have overlooked, see the *Discussion* section).

After an extensive search, 1078 relevant peer-reviewed research studies were identified in the study selection stage. From these, papers that were not available in English, duplicates, and papers not available in the full text were excluded.

#### **Study Selection (Step 3)**

The process of identifying relevant studies among the 1078 papers was iterative, involving several discussions between coauthors. Unlike systematic reviews, where inclusion and exclusion criteria for studies are established at the outset, this study developed these criteria during the search process (Textbox 2) [46]. The purpose of deciding on criteria post hoc is to avoid barring studies that might not align with current understandings of the issue or topic [46]. This was especially important when including computer science databases in the search strategy because of the heterogeneity of studies broadly related to mental health.

Textbox 2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria.

#### Inclusion criteria

- Study undertaken in a mental health context or with application to a mental health context
- Text available in English
- Study related broadly to the use of big data, internet technology, artificial intelligence, sensors, smart technology, and other contemporary algorithmic technologies

#### **Exclusion criteria**

- Commentary pieces
- Studies focused on other health conditions
- Application of data science methods to clinical data collected via clinical technologies (eg, application of data science methods to magnetic resonance imaging data)
- Data science methods paper with no specific real-world application or objective
- Application of data science methods to psychiatric research in general
- Studies applied to animals or animal models

data-driven

and

did not take this step, as the screening and eligibility phases of

the review could take place by reviewing the abstracts or titles

(after all, we were simply looking for applied mental health

algorithmic

Owing to the large number of studies identified at step 2, we did not undertake a full-text review. Instead, we reviewed only the abstract and title according to our inclusion criteria. According to the PRISMA criteria described by Moher et al [50], systematic reviews would include a full-text review after duplicates were removed to assess all articles for eligibility. We

Figure 1. Study selection for review.

Identification

Eligibility Screening

included

ev. Records identified through database searching (n=1078) Records after duplicates removed and records screened (n=132) Records excluded (n=946)

Studies included in

qualitative synthesis (n=132)

research

that

technologies—Figure 1).

used

This adaptation enabled us to review a large body of work in a rapidly expanding field. Our broad inclusion approach was also chosen to prevent the exclusion of studies from disciplines that do not conform to traditionally appropriate research designs, which might preclude them from reviews with stricter inclusion and exclusion criteria (eg, using an insufficient study design description as an exclusion criterion). For example, we found that many computer science papers were published in conference journals [51] and did not always include in-depth methods or an explicit statement of the research aim or objectives.

This process resulted in 132 empirical research papers included in the review. Figure 1 provides a PRISMA diagram that sets out the process of exclusion for our adapted study.

#### **Charting Results (Step 4)**

Through initial deductive analysis of the abstracts and discussions between the researchers, we identified several key issues and themes through which to consider the broad research field. We settled on a typology that considered both the form of technology used in the study (eg, social media, sensors, or

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e24668
```

RenderX

smartphones) and the stated purpose for the mental health initiative (eg, detection and diagnosis, prognosis, treatment, and support).

The second step involved analyzing the data to determine how legal and ethical issues were discussed. The material was analyzed using the computer software package NVivo 12 (QSR International) [52]. Conventional content analysis was undertaken, supplemented by keyword-in-context analysis [52]. We used the following terms, drawn from themes and keywords arising in the literature noted in the *Ethics and Law* section, which are typically associated with legal and ethical matters arising in the use of digital technologies in mental health: *law*\* or *legal*\*; *ethic*\*; *human rights; transparen*\*; *oversight; accountab*\*; *bias; fairness; privacy; trust; regulat*\*

We sought a uniform approach to the 132 studies included in this review. However, in practice, it was often impossible to extract all the information required where research reports used varying terminology and concepts and potentially failed to include relevant material.

# Collating, Summarizing, and Reporting Results (Step 5)

Several typologies can be used to categorize the algorithmic and data-driven technologies identified in these studies. As noted, we integrate two here: (1) the primary *forms* of technology and (2) their stated *purpose*. Such distinctions can help to highlight the predominant areas of technological inquiry and differentiate relevant ethical and legal concerns for the various categories.

# Results

# **Typology: Form and Stated Purpose**

# Overview

We derived five major categories of technology (Textbox 3): (1) social media (53/132, 40.1%), (2) smartphones (37/132, 28%), (3) sensing technology (20/132, 15.1%), (4) chatbots (5/132, 3.8%), and (5) miscellaneous (17/132, 12.9%). We have discussed these categories in detail in the following sections. We further evaluated the papers according to the stated purpose of the technology using a typology created by Shatte et al [53]. They categorized papers into the following four categories: (1) detection and diagnosis; (2) prognosis, treatment, and support; (3) public health; and (4) research and clinical administration.

Textbox 3. Categorization of articles by the form and stated purpose of technology.

#### Social media

- Detection and diagnosis (26/132, 19.7%) [54-79]
- Prognosis treatment and support (4/132, 3%) [80-83]
- Public health (22/132, 16.7%) [84-105]
- Research and clinical administration (1/132, 0.7%) [106]

#### Smartphones

- Detection and diagnosis (17/132, 12.9%) [107-123]
- Prognosis treatment and support (20/132, 15.1%) [124-143]
- Public health (0/132, 0%)
- Research and clinical administration (0/132, 0%)

#### Sensing technology

- Detection and diagnosis (6/132, 4.5%) [144-149]
- Prognosis treatment and support (12/132, 9.1%) [150-161]
- Public health (2/132, 1.5%) [162,163]
- Research and clinical administration (0/132, 0%)

#### Chatbots

- Detection and diagnosis (0/132, 0%)
- Prognosis treatment and support (5/132, 3.8%) [164-168]
- Public health (0/132, 0%)
- Research and clinical administration (0/132, 0%)

#### Miscellaneous

- Detection and diagnosis (8/132, 6.1%) [169-176]
- Prognosis treatment and support (8/132, 6.1%) [177-184]
- Public health (1/132, 0.7%) [185]
- Research and clinical administration (0/132, 0%)

Neat distinctions were not always possible. For example, Nambisan et al [95] sought to validate a method of detecting depression among social media users in a large-scale data set (a common aim in the social media category). At first glance, their study might appear to fall within the *detection and* 

RenderX

*diagnosis* category. However, the ultimate aim of the study was to improve public health informatics, which improves the accuracy of population-wide prevalence analysis. Hence, we placed this study in the public health category (defined in the following sections).

#### Gooding & Kariotis

The four categories by Shatte et al [53] offer clinical or medical framing, which broadly matches the clinical orientation of the scholarship (as a counterview, some researchers have called for the demedicalization of digital platforms designed to help people in mental distress [186], a point to which we will return in our discussion). Shatte et al [53] found that most studies in their scoping review on machine learning in mental health research focused on detection and diagnosis—this is indeed reflected in our own findings. We found that 43.2% (57/132) of the studies broadly concerned detection and diagnosis.

We determined that 37.1% (49/132) of the studies broadly concerned technology aimed primarily at prognosis, treatment, and support, which includes initiatives for personalized or tailored treatment and technologies used in services where treatment is provided. Examples include the use of smartphone apps to provide personalized education to someone based on psychometric data generated by the app.

A total of 18.9% (25/132) of studies were on public health. Public health papers used large epidemiological or public data sets (eg, social media data and usage data from Wi-Fi infrastructure) to monitor or respond to persons who appear to be experiencing or self-disclosing an experience of distress, mental health crisis, or treatment. However, we struggled in applying this category, as many were borderline cases in the detection and diagnosis category. This ambiguity may be because many studies were based in the field of computer science and were contemplated at a higher level of generality, with limited discussion of the specific setting in which they might be used (eg, a social media analytical tool could be used in population-wide prevalence studies or to identify and direct support to specific users of a particular web-based platform).

Our search uncovered only 1 study related to research and clinical administration; this particular study focused on the triage of patients in health care settings.

Finally, it is noteworthy that despite the reasonably large volume of studies, all but a few were at an exploratory and piloting stage. This is not surprising given the predominance in our survey of scholarship from computer science journals in databases such as ACM. A key issue in this area of inquiry is the large context gap between the design of these technological innovations and the context of implementation. In many papers from the computer science discipline, the authors made assumptions or guesses as to how their innovations could be implemented, with seemingly little input from end users. This is not a critique of individual researchers; instead, as we shall discuss later, it reflects the need for interdisciplinary and consultative forms of research at the early stages of ideation and piloting. This matter also raises questions as to whether there is a strong enough signal or feedback loop from practice settings back to designers and computer scientists in terms of what needs they should be responding to and why.

#### Social Media

XSI•FC

We found 53 studies concerning social media, in which data were collected through social media platforms. Two major platform types were identified: mass social media, including mainstream platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Reddit;

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e24668
```

and specialized social media, comprising platforms focused on documenting health or mental health experiences. Both forms of social media involve the collection of textual data shared by users and self-reported mental health conditions, and sometimes expert opinion on diagnoses attributable to users (identified through information shared on the web). For example, researchers may examine whether the content of posts shared correlates with, and can therefore help predict, people's self-reported mental health diagnosis. Most studies concerned mass social media platforms (Twitter: 17/53, 32%; Reddit: 14/53, 26%; Facebook: 6/53, 11%), with a small number concerning specialized social media (*PatientsLikeMe*: 1/53, 2%; *Psycho-babble*:1/53, 2%; *Reachout*: 1/53, 2%).

The largest sub-category in the social media group (26/53, 49%) have focused on predicting or detecting depression, with some concerning other diagnostic categories. Some studies attempted to capture multiple diagnostic categories or aimed to detect broad signs of mental ill-health.

#### Mobile Apps

In total, 38 studies concerned mobile apps used to collect and process data from participants, of which two main subcategories emerged. The first included apps that required active data input by participants (27/38, 71%), which either took the form of validated surveys (eg, Patient Health Questionnaire-9) or an experience sampling method; the second included those that passively collected data from inbuilt smartphone sensors (15/38, 39%). Some papers were counted twice as they had methods that covered both subcategories. Contemporary smartphones include a range of sensors related to sleep patterns, activity (movement), location data (GPS, Wi-Fi, and Bluetooth), communication or in-person human interaction (microphones), web-based activity (phone or text logs and app usage), and psychomotor data (typing and screen taps).

Apps that draw on these data sources can be considered passive sensing because the individual generally does not have to input data actively. Data collection generally requires participants to install an app that collects data from smartphone sensors and sends it to the researchers.

#### Sensing Technology

In total, 20 studies focused on broader sensor technology designed to continuously collect data on a person's activity or environment. We differentiated this category from smartphone passive sensing, although there is a clear crossover with some personal wearables that fall under the sensing technology category. As we use it here, *sensing technology* includes a range of both wearables and environmental sensing technology (our search strings included variations on this theme, including *tracking, biometric monitoring*, and *behavioral sensing*). Many wearables were off-the-shelf personal wearables such as Fitbits, although there were several others, such as radio-frequency identification tags. Environmental sensors refer to technologies that collect data within the environment or about the environment but are not personal wearables, such as smart-home devices.

The list of sensing technologies includes personal wearables (9/20, 45%), smart-home sensors, automated home devices,

internet of things (3/20, 15%), Microsoft Kinect (a software developer kit that includes computer vision, speech models, and algorithmic sensors; 1/20, 5%), skin conductance technology (1/20, 5%), portable electroencephalogram (1/20, 5%), radio-frequency identification tags (2/20, 10%), the use of Wi-Fi metadata (2/20, 10%), and data collected via care robots (eg, Paro Robot; 1/20, 5%).

Some studies have examined sensor systems for use in psychiatric settings. For example, Cheng et al [159] used a wireless monitoring system to monitor the location and heartrate of psychiatric inpatients. Other studies have used sensors in everyday settings. For example, Dickerson et al [158] sought to create a "real-time depression monitoring system for the home" for which data are collected that are "multi-modal, spanning a number of different behavioral domains including sleep, weight, activities of daily living, and speech prosody"

#### **Chatbots**

The fourth group of studies explored the use of chatbots and conversational agents in web-based mental health contexts, of which 5 studies appeared. This group includes studies focused on chatbots being used by both people experiencing mental health conditions or psychosocial disabilities and those who provide them with care or support. For example, D'Alfonso et al [83] studied the development of a "moderated online social therapy" web application, which provides an interactive social media-based platform for youth recovering from psychosis.

#### Miscellaneous

This final group (17/132, 12.9%) included a range of studies that did not fit the previous categories. This category included the collection of data from video games and data sources where there was no explicit outline of how such data would be collected in practice (eg, facial expression data). We included the video game data in this *miscellaneous* category, although it could also possibly sit in the social media category.

# Law and Ethics

#### Law

As noted, we conducted a thematic analysis supplemented by keyword-in-context analysis to identify themes related to law and ethics, as discussed in the *Background* section of this paper. There was little explicit discussion of legal issues, although issues such as privacy, which have precise legal dimensions, were discussed. However, privacy has rarely been discussed in terms of the law in the literature surveyed. We will return to the issue of privacy shortly. The term *law* appeared in just 1 study with reference to the legal implications of the particular algorithmic and data-driven technology being considered [187]. The term *legal* appeared in passing in three papers [92,99], among which the most substantial statement, by Faurholt-Jepson et al [133], referred to legal concerns as one of several considerations in different national contexts:

Using smartphones to collect large amounts of data on personal behavioral aspects leads to possible issues on privacy, security, storage of data, safety, legal and cultural differences between nations that

# all should be considered, addressed and reported accordingly. [133]

A passing reference was made to the rights of user subjects in some studies (eg, Manikonda and De Choudhury [98] asked, "[h]ow...automated approaches, that are themselves prone to errors, [could] be made to act fairly, as well as secure one's privacy, their rights on the platforms, and their freedom of speech?"). Other studies referred very briefly to compliance with the relevant regulatory or legislative frameworks under which the algorithmic and data-driven technologies were tested, such as the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (United States) [73,108,155].

#### **Ethics**

In terms of explicit reference to ethics, 10 studies included a specific section on the ethical issues raised by their work [64,73,80,87,92,98,99,105,163,187] and 10 others included a broad reference to key ethical issues [64,70,122,124,126,133,140,152,184]. The latter material varied from one or two sentences to a paragraph or more. Although we searched for several ethical and legal themes (eg, privacy, security, safety, transparency, autonomy, and justice), the theme of privacy was dominant.

#### Privacy

Privacy was discussed in several ways across all the included studies but was primarily addressed as part of the research method rather than in the real-world implementation of the technology. Approximately 19.7% (26/132) of papers sought to address user privacy through anonymization, deidentification, or paraphrasing of personal information. For example, Li et al [93] stated, "to protect Weibo users' privacy, personally identifiable information (eg, names, usernames) were excluded from any research outputs."

The second major approach concerns what we have referred to as privacy protocols. This included aligning processes to legal requirements [73,108,155,187] but for the most part concerned some kind of process for data management, such as ensuring the consent of and providing notice to user subjects. For example, Manikonda and De Choudhury [98] proposed "guidelines to be incorporated in the design and deployment of [their] interventions and tools," which sought "voluntary consent from the population being studied and those likely to benefit from the technologies." However, unlike Manikonda and De Choudhury [98], very few studies have discussed the issue of consent at the implementation stage of their proposed technology. Instead, most authors discussed consent in terms of how their research was conducted. In some cases, mainly regarding social media, the authors argued that consent was not needed given the public nature of user-generated content on social media (a topic to which we will return).

A collection of privacy engineering approaches was taken, including hashing and encryption and managing the data processing location. There were a variety of approaches around when and where data were processed and how this aligned with ideas about privacy. Some studies have used encryption before sending data to servers for processing, whereas others have analyzed data locally on the smartphone or did not store specific

data postprocessing. Wang et al [141], for example, noted, "we do not record any speech on the phone or upload to the cloud and all audio signal processing and feature extraction is based on privacy preserving algorithms."

Some authors referred to the tension between privacy and data quality-framed, for example, as "[p]rivacy versus lives saved" [92]. This framing was seen within specific methods and technological approaches, such as the data and privacy-preserving qualities of sensor data, compared with Wi-Fi infrastructure data. For example, Ware et al [162] argued that whereas Wi-Fi infrastructure data could be considered more privacy-preserving than collecting data from smartphones, it may also be less accurate. Ji et al [66] discussed how a method they tested "has an advantage over data protection methods because it trains on the entire dataset, but it also violates user privacy and breaks the data protection setting," and ultimately argued that their chosen "method achieves a balance between preserving privacy and accurate detection."

The final point in the privacy theme was expectations. Very few studies have considered the expectations people may have about how their data are used. This led to an acknowledgment that the use of data from sources such as social media or video games to make predictions about people's mental health changes the meaning of these data and could have unintended consequences. Eichstaedt et al [68], for example, noted that social media data used for health reasons might change how people perceive that data and thus the type of data they report. De Choudhury et al [99], in their analysis of *mental health content* in social media, warned that an unhelpful outcome could include "chilling effects in participation in the community, or suicide ideation moving on to fringe or peripheral platforms where such populations might be difficult to extend help to."

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

#### Overview

To summarize, we identified five major types of technology—social media, mobile apps, sensing technology, chatbots, and others—in which algorithmic and data-driven technologies were applied in the mental health context. The primary stated purpose of these technologies was broadly to detect and diagnose mental health conditions (approximately 57/132, 43.2% of studies). Only 15.1% (20/132) of papers discussed ethical implications, with a primary focus on the individual privacy of research participants.

#### Privacy

XSL•FC RenderX

As noted, the privacy of participants was addressed in the studies primarily with reference to engineering methods and, in some instances, concerning regulatory compliance. In the smartphone group, notice and consent combined with engineering methods were used to address user-subject privacy concerns. In the social media group, privacy was discussed in terms of how data were managed and the technical elements of the algorithms used, including privacy-preserving algorithms [96] and limiting the use of identifiable information [87]. In the sensor group, privacy

# was addressed in several ways, particularly by collecting low-fidelity data [150] and anonymization [148].

Questions may be raised about how privacy is (or should be) conceptualized and how the technologies will fare in real-world settings. Taking a strictly legal approach to privacy, for example, may not necessarily confer a social license to operate. An example of a failure to align law and social license is the United Kingdom's proposed *care.data* scheme, where secondary data from general practitioners were to be collected for research purposes [188]. Although this scheme aligned, and in some cases, went further than legal requirements, it still faced a public backlash and was ultimately shut down.

Privacy as a concept exists as an expression of claims to dignity and self-determination. These more expansive concerns of dignity and autonomy were not the subject of explicit consideration in the studies examined in this review. This point raises the issue of possible gaps in the literature.

#### Gaps

#### Overview

It is difficult to discuss what did *not* appear in the literature, as such observations are necessarily subjective and will differ based on a person's disciplinary background, interests, and priorities. For our part, we noted four interconnected matters that we believe are important and which arise in the literature noted in the *Background* section. They are the paucity of ethical inquiry and consideration of algorithmic accountability, the near-complete lack of service user or subject input, and concerns with a medico-technological framing.

#### Gaps in Ethical Enquiry

Notwithstanding the common interest in matters of privacy across almost all papers, there was a relatively low engagement with broader ethical dimensions of the algorithmic and data-driven technology in question—a finding that appears to support the view of some scholars in the field [25].

However, an important distinction should be made between empirical studies designed to validate or explore a particular technology and (as we discussed in the *Background* section) the literature concerned *specifically* with ethical and legal issues arising from algorithmic technology. The very form of journal articles that examine applied research concerning algorithmic and data-driven technologies in mental health care may tend to preclude a focus on the ethical and legal issues that arise (although some authors clearly felt it worth noting pressing issues in their papers). Some disciplines, including computer science, appear to have traditionally separated ethics or legal articles from publications concerned with findings or validation regarding emerging technologies, although this tradition is somewhat challenged in the literature on ethics in design [189,190].

Furthermore, the gap between applied research, on the one hand, and research that is specifically focused on ethics, on the other hand, does not appear to be unique to the mental health context. For example, Hübner et al [191] point out that "ethical values have not yet found their firm place in empirically rigorous health technology evaluation studies" more generally. This dynamic

"sets the stage for further research at the junction of clinical information systems and ethics" [191]. Indeed, others have sought to create frameworks to meet the new ethical and regulatory challenges of health care in the digital age [32].

A minority of the studies in our review discussed these challenges. Birnbaum et al [54], for example, discussed the limits of contemporary ethical standards for research on social media in the mental health context, noting that "[e]xisting ethical principles do not sufficiently guide researchers" and new technological approaches to "illness identification and symptom tracking will likely result in a redefinition of existing clinical rules and regulations." However, many other studies have not discussed or alluded to these challenges. In one study, web-based videogame players were recruited to conduct a web-based survey asking for "sociodemographic and gaming information" and feedback concerning psychometric indicators to develop machine learning to predict psychological disorders. The researchers requested electronic consent from participants to take part in the study but "did not apply for, or receive, any approval from any board or committee for this research as this was a techno-behavioral general study which was non-medicinal, non-intrusive, and non-clinical in nature" [169]. Furthermore, the authors noted, "[we] are affiliated to a technology university which has no internal committee related to research on human subjects" [169].

New critical questions are required. For example, several studies in the social media category, the largest group of studies, eschewed institutional review board approval based on claims that their data sets were *publicly available*, raising ethical and legal concerns surrounding emergent, inferred, or indirect data concerning mental health and the potential appropriation of detection and screening tools in unethical (and potentially even illegal) ways. Such claims are being increasingly challenged, particularly following concerns about the creation of inferred data about unsuspecting and nonconsenting users in the health context generally [192] and the mental health context in particular [193]. Arguably, the likelihood of these risks being overlooked in research is exacerbated by the near-complete exclusion of persons with experience of mental health service use as active contributors to knowledge production in this field, whether as co- or lead investigators or even as advisors.

#### Lack of Service User Involvement

Very few studies (4/132, 3%) in this survey appear to have included people who have used mental health services, those who have experienced mental health conditions or psychosocial disability, or even those who were envisaged as end-beneficiaries of the particular algorithmic and data-driven technology, in the design, evaluation, or implementation of the proposals in any substantive way (except as research participants). In studies where service users were involved, this tended to comprise of research participants being involved in the co-design of content or codeveloping user-interfaces. D'Alfonso et al [83], for example, noted, "[t]he creation of therapy content [in their web-based platform]...was driven by feedback from users and expert youth mental health clinicians through iterative prototyping and participatory design." With very few exceptions, however, the survey indicated a near-complete exclusion of service users in the conceptualization or development of algorithmic and data-driven technologies and their application to mental health initiatives. It is also noteworthy that even mental health practitioners, who may well be end users envisaged by technologists, were involved in relatively few studies.

The active involvement of mental health service users and representative groups for persons with psychosocial disabilities has become a prominent ethos in mental health and disability policies worldwide [194] and is imperative in international human rights law [195]. A study in our survey included an acknowledgment of the limitations of not working with affected populations [105]. However, the authors referred to study populations as research subjects rather than active contributors to technological development. Manikonda and De Choudhury [98] did recommend the "[a]doption of user centered design approaches in intervention and technology development, to investigate specific needs and constraints of the target users, as well as their acceptability, utility, and interpretability." Similarly, Ernala et al [73] noted that the field could benefit extensively from cross-disciplinary partnerships and partnerships between "computational and clinical researchers, and patients." They also recommended "[p]articipatory research efforts such as the Connected and Open Research Ethics (CORE) initiative [for use] to develop dynamic and relevant ethical practices to guide and navigate the social and ethical complexities of patient data collection" [32,73].

From a pragmatic perspective alone, the involvement of service users and others with psychosocial disabilities is generally agreed to increase the likelihood of "viable and effective—rather than disruptive and short-lived—advances" in digital technologies in the mental health context [14].

Of the scant commentary and research in the field by persons with psychosocial disabilities and service users, commentators have raised concerns about: the potential need for a right to explanation concerning algorithmic decision making for individuals (not only the right of an individual to understand how a decision about them was made but also to query the values that go into a particular algorithmic decision system) [196]; the risk of discrimination or harm where sensitive personal information is leaked, stolen, sold, or scraped from social media [197]; and the deployment of data-driven technologies in coercive psychiatric interventions and policing [19,196]. Keyword searches along these lines did not yield any relevant results. Emerencia et al [184] prioritized the ethical imperative of shared decision making ("an approach in which patient and clinician are equal participants in deciding the treatment plan") in their study on algorithmic technologies that might generate "personalized advice for schizophrenia patients", and Saha et al [87] highlighted the potential harms caused by the use of social media data to examine "psychopathological effects subject to self-reported usage of psychiatric medication." However, these were unusual considerations among the studies reviewed and were noted in passing.



#### **Concerns With Algorithmic Accountability**

As discussed in the *Background* section, ethical and legal scholars on algorithmic and data-driven technologies have begun to raise fundamental concerns about whether algorithmic systems should be used at all for certain purposes and, if so, who should govern them [44]. Pasquale [44] illustrates the evolution of these concerns with reference to mental health apps:

For some researchers who are developing mental health apps, the first-wave algorithmic accountability concerns will focus on whether a linguistic corpus of stimuli and responses adequately covers diverse communities with distinct accents and modes of self-presentation. Second-wave critics...may bring in a more law and political economy approach, questioning whether the apps are prematurely disrupting markets for (and the profession of) mental health care in order to accelerate the substitution of cheap (if limited) software for more expensive, expert, and empathetic professionals.

Second-wave concerns give rise to questions as to who is benefiting from (and burdened by) data collection, analysis, and use [44]. Such concerns are spurred by questions about which systems deserve to be built, which problems most need to be addressed, and who is best placed to build and monitor them [198]. Scholarship on algorithmic and data-driven technologies in mental health services appears to have seldom asked such questions, at least explicitly ([196]; notable exceptions include [17] and [23]). The debate about algorithmic accountability in mental health care is likely to accelerate in the coming years amid broader calls for algorithmic decision systems to be subject to contest, account, and redress to citizens and representatives of the public interest.

#### **Overmedicalization and Concerns of Techno-Solutionism**

The issues the studies aimed to address were presented in medical terms and framed as problems that are amenable to digital technological solutions. This is not surprising. However, some scholars have raised concerns regarding this framing. In their survey of the messaging of mental health apps, Parker et al [186] argued that prominent apps tend to overmedicalize states of distress and may overemphasize "individual responsibility for mental well-being." There may be legitimate reasons to demedicalize some approaches to supporting people in distress via digital initiatives and remain cautious about framing the matters as medical problems amenable to digital technological solutions [193,199]. Rose [194] argues that:

most forms of mental distress are inextricably linked to problems of poverty, precarity, violence, exclusion, and other forms of adversity in people's personal and social experiences, and are best addressed not by medicalization, but by low intensity but committed and durable social interventions guided by outcomes that are not measured in terms of symptom reduction, but by the capacities that people themselves desire in their everyday lives. This argument raises broader questions about the politics of mental health, for which it would be unrealistic to expect empirical studies of algorithmic and data-driven technologies in mental health care to resolve. Nevertheless, there is an argument that such political considerations and value choices are currently overlooked, with an overwhelming emphasis on scientific methods and measurements of risk and benefit.

#### **Comparison With Previous Work**

Reviews such as those conducted by Shatte et al [53] and Tai et al [200] applied systematic literature search methods to identify the use of machine learning and artificial intelligence in modifying therapeutics and prevention strategies in psychiatry, and Doorn et al [201] performed a scoping review on its role in psychotherapy. However, to the best of our knowledge, no studies have surveyed the field to identify how ethical and legal issues are incorporated into applied research.

#### Limitations

A disadvantage of using a rapid scoping review method is the difficulty in reproducing the results, given the use of numerous search strings in multiple combinations. This is exacerbated by our aim to cover multiple technology types across several cross-disciplinary databases (resulting in 1078 potential studies reduced manually to 132). There are trade-offs in this broad, exploratory approach. In addition to the challenges of replicability, we cannot claim to have achieved an exhaustive review, as may be possible in systematic reviews of specific technologies or subtypes (such as machine learning). Furthermore, the wide range of new and emerging technologies in our scope poses terminological challenges; hence, we undoubtedly missed studies that used terms overlooked in our search strings (as a peer reviewer pointed out, we did not use the term recommender system). This is exacerbated by the intrinsic challenge of pinning down terms and concepts in any area of rapid technological change [202].

Despite these limitations, a survey of empirical studies offers valuable information. The principal strength of a scoping review is its *breadth*. Our broad and cross-disciplinary approach enabled us to identify cross-cutting trends in the literature as a whole, and the trends we identified are striking, that is, roughly 15.1% (20/132) of the studies in the survey contained even a brief consideration of ethical issues, and only 3% (4/132) of studies appeared to involve mental health service users or affected populations. We argue that this is a significant finding that warrants our chosen method and research design.

#### Conclusions

Our findings suggest that the disciplines undertaking applied research in this field do not generally prioritize *explicit* consideration of ethical and legal issues in their studies—and, perhaps more broadly, "the moral, political, social and policy issues at stake" [203]. Research institutions tend to focus strongly on protecting human participants involved in research, as they should, which is generally reflected in the studies in our survey (although not always). However, other important considerations, such as participatory and community-engaged research, which is an increasingly accepted requirement of mental health research, policy and practice, as well as broader

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e24668
```

ethicolegal issues in the field appear to be overlooked. This situation may have several explanations warranting further investigation, including editorial requirements for scholarly papers, the workings of institutional review mechanisms, funding arrangements, and prevailing evidentiary and epistemological cultures. However, with an increase in adverse effects involving flows of data concerning mental health [1], the situation must surely change.

#### Acknowledgments

Funding for this research was obtained from the Mozilla Foundation and the Australian Research Council (Project ID: DE200100483).

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Gooding P. Mapping the rise of digital mental health technologies: emerging issues for law and society. Int J Law Psychiatry 2019 Nov;67:101498. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2019.101498] [Medline: 31785726]
- Mohr DC, Lyon AR, Lattie EG, Reddy M, Schueller SM. Accelerating digital mental health research from early design and creation to successful implementation and sustainment. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 10;19(5):e153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7725] [Medline: 28490417]
- Torous J, Myrick KJ, Rauseo-Ricupero N, Firth J. Digital mental health and COVID-19: using technology today to accelerate the curve on access and quality tomorrow. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Mar 26;7(3):e18848 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18848] [Medline: 32213476]
- 4. Heibron A. United for Global Mental Health. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.unitedgmh.org/news/covid19seminar6</u> [accessed 2020-07-08]
- 5. WHO QualityRights initiative improving quality, promoting human rights. World Health Organization. 2020. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/mental\_health/policy/quality\_rights/en/</u> [accessed 2020-09-29]
- 6. Castelluccia C, Le Métayer D. Understanding algorithmic decision-making: opportunities and challenges. In: STUDY Panel for the Future of Science and Technology European Parliament. Brussels, Belgium: European Parliamentary Research Service, Scientific Foresight Unit; 2019.
- 7. Marks M. Artificial intelligence based suicide prediction. 2019. URL: <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3324874</u> [accessed 2019-08-20]
- Mishara BL, Bardon C, Dupont S. Can CCTV identify people in public transit stations who are at risk of attempting suicide? An analysis of CCTV video recordings of attempters and a comparative investigation. BMC Public Health 2016 Dec 15;16(1):1245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3888-x] [Medline: 27974046]
- Harwell R. Colleges are turning students' phones into surveillance machines. The Washington Post. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2019/12/24/</u> <u>colleges-are-turning-students-phones-into-surveillance-machines-tracking-locations-hundreds-thousands/</u> [accessed 2020-03-27]
- Tortora L, Meynen G, Bijlsma J, Tronci E, Ferracuti S. Neuroprediction and A.I. in forensic psychiatry and criminal justice: a neurolaw perspective. Front Psychol 2020 Mar 17;11:220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00220] [Medline: 32256422]
- 11. Stevenson M, Doleac JL. Algorithmic risk assessment in the hands of humans. Soc Sci Res Network J 2019 Dec 05:3489440. [doi: <u>10.2139/ssrn.3489440</u>]
- 12. Rado D. Stigmatizing kids? New law forces families to disclose student's mental health treatment. Florida Phoenix. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.floridaphoenix.com/2018/07/11/</u>
- stigmatizing-kids-new-law-forces-families-to-disclose-students-mental-health-treatment/ [accessed 2019-07-18]
  Patel V, Saxena S, Lund C, Thornicroft G, Baingana F, Bolton P, et al. The Lancet Commission on global mental health and sustainable development. Lancet 2018 Oct 27;392(10157):1553-1598. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31612-X] [Medline: 30314863]
- 14. Bhugra D, Tasman A, Pathare S, Priebe S, Smith S, Torous J, et al. The WPA- Lancet Psychiatry Commission on the future of psychiatry. Lancet Psychiatry 2017 Oct;4(10):775-818. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30333-4] [Medline: 28946952]
- 15. Lancet Psychiatry. Digital health: the good, the bad, and the abandoned. Lancet Psychiatry 2019 Apr;6(4):273. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30102-6]
- 16. Bauer M, Monteith S, Geddes J, Gitlin MJ, Grof P, Whybrow PC, et al. Automation to optimise physician treatment of individual patients: examples in psychiatry. Lancet Psychiatry 2019 Apr;6(4):338-349. [doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(19)30041-0]

- Hollis C, Sampson S, Simons L, Davies EB, Churchill R, Betton V, et al. Identifying research priorities for digital technology in mental health care: results of the James Lind Alliance Priority Setting Partnership. Lancet Psychiatry 2018 Oct;5(10):845-854. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30296-7]
- 18. Carr S. Renegotiating the contract. Lancet Psychiatry 2017 Oct;4(10):740-741. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30365-6]
- 19. Harris L. The rise of the digital asylum. Mad In America. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.madinamerica.com/2019/09/</u> <u>the-rise-of-the-digital-asylum/</u> [accessed 2019-10-11]
- Martinez-Martin N. Chapter Three Trusting the bot: addressing the ethical challenges of consumer digital mental health therapy. In: Bárd I, Hildt E, editors. Ethical Dimensions of Commercial and DIY Neurotechnologies, Volume 3; (Developments in Neuroethics and Bioethics, Volume 3) 1st Edition. Cambridge, Massachusetts, United States: Academic Press; 2020:63-91.
- 21. Gooding P, Resnick K. Psychiatry and law in the digital age: untangling the hype, risk and promise. Int J Law Psychiatry 2020 May;70:101553. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2020.101553] [Medline: 32482297]
- 22. Capon H, Hall W, Fry C, Carter A. Realising the technological promise of smartphones in addiction research and treatment: an ethical review. Int J Drug Policy 2016 Oct;36:47-57. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2016.05.013] [Medline: 27455467]
- Torous J, Andersson G, Bertagnoli A, Christensen H, Cuijpers P, Firth J, et al. Towards a consensus around standards for smartphone apps and digital mental health. World Psychiatry 2019 Feb;18(1):97-98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20592] [Medline: 30600619]
- 24. Martinez-Martin N, Insel TR, Dagum P, Greely HT, Cho MK. Data mining for health: staking out the ethical territory of digital phenotyping. NPJ Digit Med 2018 Dec 19;1(1):68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-018-0075-8] [Medline: 31211249]
- 25. Lederman R, D'Alfonso S, Rice S, Coghlan S, Wadley G, Alvarez-Jimenez M. Ethical issues in online mental health interventions. ECIS 2020 Research Papers. 2020. URL: <u>https://aisel.aisnet.org/ecis2020\_rp/66/</u> [accessed 2021-05-19]
- 26. Luxton D, Anderson S, Anderson M. Chapter 11 Ethical issues and artificial intelligence technologies in behavioral and mental health care. In: Luxton DD, editor. Artificial Intelligence in Behavioral and Mental Health Care. Cambridge, Massachusetts, United States: Academic Press; 2015:255-276.
- 27. D'Alfonso S. AI in mental health. Curr Opin Psychol 2020 Dec;36:112-117. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.04.005</u>] [Medline: <u>32604065</u>]
- Jobin A, Ienca M, Vayena E. The global landscape of AI ethics guidelines. Nat Mach Intell 2019 Sep 02;1(9):389-399. [doi: <u>10.1038/s42256-019-0088-2</u>]
- 29. Frankish K, Ramsey W. The Cambridge Handbook of Artificial Intelligence. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2014.
- 30. Pasquale F. The Black Box Society: The Secret Algorithms That Control Money and Information. Cambridge, Massachusetts, United States: Harvard University Press; 2017:1-320.
- 31. Burr C, Morley J, Taddeo M, Floridi L. Digital psychiatry: risks and opportunities for public health and wellbeing. IEEE Trans Technol Soc 2020 Mar;1(1):21-33. [doi: 10.1109/TTS.2020.2977059]
- Torous J, Nebeker C. Navigating ethics in the digital age: introducing connected and open research ethics (CORE), a tool for researchers and institutional review boards. J Med Internet Res 2017 Feb 08;19(2):e38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6793] [Medline: 28179216]
- 33. Barnett I, Torous J. Ethics, transparency, and public health at the intersection of innovation and Facebook's suicide prevention efforts. Ann Intern Med 2019 Feb 12;170(8):565. [doi: 10.7326/m19-0366]
- 34. Swirsky ES, Boyd AD. Adherence, Surveillance, and Technological Hubris. Am J Bioeth 2018 Sep 20;18(9):61-62. [doi: 10.1080/15265161.2018.1498953] [Medline: 30235098]
- Armontrout J, Torous J, Cohen M, McNiel D, Binder R. Current regulation of mobile mental health applications. J Am Acad Psychiatry Law 2018 Jun;46(2):204-211. [doi: <u>10.29158/JAAPL.003748-18</u>] [Medline: <u>30026399</u>]
- 36. Berman AL, Carter G. Technological advances and the future of suicide prevention: ethical, legal, and empirical challenges. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2020 Jun 05;50(3):643-651. [doi: <u>10.1111/sltb.12610</u>] [Medline: <u>31803971</u>]
- 37. Edwards-Stewart A, Alexander C, Armstrong CM, Hoyt T, O'Donohue W. Mobile applications for client use: ethical and legal considerations. Psychol Serv 2019 May;16(2):281-285. [doi: <u>10.1037/ser0000321</u>] [Medline: <u>30570284</u>]
- 38. Kramer GM, Kinn JT, Mishkind MC. Legal, regulatory, and risk management issues in the use of technology to deliver mental health care. Cogn Behav Pract 2015 Aug;22(3):258-268. [doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2014.04.008]
- 39. Sherman J. Double secret protection: bridging federal and state law to protect privacy rights for telemental and mobile health users. Duke L J 2018;67(5):1115-1153.
- 40. Floridi L. The Ethics of Information. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press; 2015:1-380.
- 41. Eubanks V. Automating Inequality. New York, United States: Macmillan; 2018:1-272.
- 42. Maniadaki K. Net neutrality regulation in the EU: competition and beyond. J Eur Compet Law Pract 2019;10(7):479-488. [doi: <u>10.1093/jeclap/lpz049</u>]
- 43. Pasquale F. Internet nondiscrimination principles: commercial ethics for carriers and search engines. University of Chicago Legal Forum. 2008. URL: <u>https://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/uclf/vol2008/iss1/6</u> [accessed 2021-05-25]
- 44. Pasquale F. The second wave of algorithmic accountability. Law and Political Economy Project. 2019. URL: <u>https://lpeblog.</u> <u>org/2019/11/25/the-second-wave-of-algorithmic-accountability/</u> [accessed 2020-07-02]
- 45. Peters MD, Godfrey CM, Khalil H, McInerney P, Parker D, Soares CB. Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. Int J Evid Based Healthc 2015 Sep;13(3):141-146. [doi: 10.1097/XEB.0000000000000050] [Medline: 26134548]
- 46. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- 47. Peters M, Godfrey C, McInerney P, Munn Z, Trico A, Khalil H. Chapter 11: Scoping reviews. In: Aromataris E, Munn Z, editors. JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis. Adelaide: JBI; 2020.
- 48. Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018 Oct 02;169(7):467-473. [doi: 10.7326/M18-0850] [Medline: 30178033]
- 49. Cooper H. Research Synthesis and Meta-Analysis: A Step-by-Step Approach, 4th Ed. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: Sage Publications, Inc; 2009:1-280.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009 Jul 21;6(7):e1000097 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097] [Medline: 19621072]
- 51. Andonie R, Dzitac I. How to write a good paper in computer science and how will it be measured by ISI web of knowledge. Int J Comput Commun 2010 Nov 01;5(4):432. [doi: <u>10.15837/ijccc.2010.4.2493</u>]
- 52. Leech NL, Onwuegbuzie AJ. Beyond constant comparison qualitative data analysis: using NVivo. Sch Psychol Q 2011 Mar;26(1):70-84. [doi: 10.1037/a0022711]
- 53. Shatte AB, Hutchinson DM, Teague SJ. Machine learning in mental health: a scoping review of methods and applications. Psychol Med 2019 Jul;49(9):1426-1448. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291719000151] [Medline: 30744717]
- 54. Birnbaum ML, Ernala SK, Rizvi AF, De Choudhury M, Kane JM. A collaborative approach to identifying social media markers of schizophrenia by employing machine learning and clinical appraisals. J Med Internet Res 2017 Aug 14;19(8):e289 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7956] [Medline: 28807891]
- 55. Fatima I, Mukhtar H, Ahmad HF, Rajpoot K. Analysis of user-generated content from online social communities to characterise and predict depression degree. Jo Inf Sci 2017 Nov 14;44(5):683-695. [doi: 10.1177/0165551517740835]
- Cheng Q, Li TM, Kwok C, Zhu T, Yip PS. Assessing suicide risk and emotional distress in chinese social media: a text mining and machine learning study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jul 10;19(7):e243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7276] [Medline: 28694239]
- 57. Yan H, Fitzsimmons-Craft EE, Goodman M, Krauss M, Das S, Cavazos-Rehg P. Automatic detection of eating disorder-related social media posts that could benefit from a mental health intervention. Int J Eat Disord 2019 Oct 05;52(10):1150-1156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/eat.23148] [Medline: 31381168]
- Cacheda F, Fernandez D, Novoa FJ, Carneiro V. Early detection of depression: social network analysis and random forest techniques. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jun 10;21(6):e12554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12554] [Medline: 31199323]
- 59. Hussain J, Satti FA, Afzal M, Khan WA, Bilal HS, Ansaar MZ, et al. Exploring the dominant features of social media for depression detection. J Inf Sci 2019 Aug 12;46(6):739-759. [doi: 10.1177/0165551519860469]
- 60. Ranganathan A, Haritha A, Thenmozhi D, Aravindan C. Early detection of anorexia using RNN-LSTMSVM classifiers. In: Proceedings of the 20th Working Notes of CLEF Conference and Labs of the Evaluation Forum, CLEF 2019. 2019 Sep 09 Presented at: 20th Working Notes of CLEF Conference and Labs of the Evaluation Forum, CLEF 2019; September 9-12, 2019; Lugano, Switzerland URL: <u>https://www.scopus.com/record/display.uri?eid=2-s2.</u> 0-85070531421&origin=inward&txGid=9fa6a2994e821361ea895a74004966eb
- Nguyen H, Nguyen V, Nguyen T, Larsen M, O'Dea B, Nguyen D, et al. Jointly predicting affective and mental health scores using deep neural networks of visual cues on the web. In: Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Web Information Systems Engineering WISE 2018. 2018 Presented at: 19th International Conference on Web Information Systems Engineering WISE 2018; November 12-15, 2018; Dubai, United Arab Emirates p. 100-110. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-02925-8\_7]
- 62. Krishnamurthy M, Mahmood K, Marcinek P. A hybrid statistical and semantic model for identification of mental health and behavioral disorders using social network analysis. In: Proeedings of the IEEE/ACM International Conference on Advances in Social Networks Analysis and Mining (ASONAM). 2016 Presented at: IEEE/ACM International Conference on Advances in Social Networks Analysis and Mining (ASONAM); Aug. 18-21, 2016; San Francisco, CA, USA p. 1019-1026. [doi: 10.1109/asonam.2016.7752366]
- Karmen C, Hsiung RC, Wetter T. Screening internet forum participants for depression symptoms by assembling and enhancing multiple NLP methods. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2015 Jun;120(1):27-36. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cmpb.2015.03.008</u>] [Medline: <u>25891366</u>]
- 64. Reece AG, Reagan AJ, Lix KL, Dodds PS, Danforth CM, Langer EJ. Forecasting the onset and course of mental illness with Twitter data. Sci Rep 2017 Oct 11;7(1):13006 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12961-9] [Medline: 29021528]

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e24668

- 65. Tariq S, Akhtar N, Afzal H, Khalid S, Mufti MR, Hussain S, et al. A novel co-training-based approach for the classification of mental illnesses using social media posts. IEEE Access 2019;7:166165-166172. [doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2953087]
- 66. Ji S, Long G, Pan S, Zhu T, Jiang J, Wang S. Detecting suicidal ideation with data protection in online communities. In: Li G, Yang J, Gama J, Natwishai J, Tong Y, editors. Database Systems for Advanced Applications. Switzerland: Springer; 2019:225-229.
- 67. Alambo A, Gaur M, Lokala U, Kursuncu U, Thirunarayan K, Gyrard A, et al. Question answering for suicide risk assessment using Reddit. In: Proeedings of the IEEE 13th International Conference on Semantic Computing (ICSC). 2019 Presented at: IEEE 13th International Conference on Semantic Computing (ICSC); Jan. 30 Feb. 1, 2019; Newport Beach, CA, USA. [doi: 10.1109/icosc.2019.8665525]
- Eichstaedt JC, Smith RJ, Merchant RM, Ungar LH, Crutchley P, Preoţiuc-Pietro D, et al. Facebook language predicts depression in medical records. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2018 Oct 30;115(44):11203-11208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1802331115] [Medline: 30322910]
- 69. Katchapakirin K, Wongpatikaseree K, Yomaboot P, Kaewpitakkun Y. Facebook social media for depression detection in the Thai community. In: Proceedings of the 15th International Joint Conference on Computer Science and Software Engineering (JCSSE). 2018 Presented at: 15th International Joint Conference on Computer Science and Software Engineering (JCSSE); July 11-13, 2018; Nakhon Pathom, Thailand p. 227-231. [doi: 10.1109/jcsse.2018.8457362]
- 70. Reece AG, Danforth CM. Instagram photos reveal predictive markers of depression. EPJ Data Sci 2017 Aug 8;6(1):-. [doi: 10.1140/epjds/s13688-017-0110-z]
- 71. Leiva V, Freire A. Towards suicide prevention: early detection of depression on social media. In: Kompatsiaris I, Cave J, Satsiou A, editors. Internet Sci. Switzerland: Springer; 2017:428-436.
- 72. Deshpande M, Rao V. Depression detection using emotion artificial intelligence. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Intelligent Sustainable Systems (ICISS). 2017 Presented at: International Conference on Intelligent Sustainable Systems (ICISS); December 7-8, 2017; Palladam, India. [doi: 10.1109/iss1.2017.8389299]
- 73. Ernala S, Birnbaum M, Candan K, Rizvi A, Sterling W, Kane J, et al. Methodological gaps in predicting mental health states from social media: triangulating diagnostic signals. In: Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2019 Presented at: CHI '19: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 2019; Glasgow, Scotland UK p. 1-16. [doi: 10.1145/3290605.3300364]
- 74. Joshi D, Makhija M, Nabar Y, Nehete N, Patwardhan M. Mental health analysis using deep learning for feature extraction. In: Proceedings of the ACM India Joint International Conference on Data Science and Management of Data. 2018 Presented at: CoDS-COMAD '18: The ACM India Joint International Conference on Data Science & Management of Data; January, 2018; Goa, India p. 356-359. [doi: 10.1145/3152494.3167990]
- 75. Wang Y, Tang J, Li J, Li B, Wan Y, Mellina C, et al. Understanding and Discovering Deliberate Self-Harm Content in Social Media. In: Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on World Wide Web. 2017 Presented at: WWW '17: Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on World Wide Web; April, 2017; Perth, Australia p. 93-102. [doi: 10.1145/3038912.3052555]
- 76. Vedula N, Parthasarathy S. Emotional and linguistic cues of depression from social media. In: Proceedings of the 2017 International Conference on Digital Health. 2017 Presented at: DH '17: International Conference on Digital Health; July 2017; London, UK p. 127-136. [doi: 10.1145/3079452.3079465]
- 77. Chen X, Sykora M, Jackson T, Elayan S. What about mood swings: identifying depression on twitter with temporal measures of emotions. In: Proceedings of the Companion Proceedings of the The Web Conference 2018. 2018 Presented at: WWW '18: The Web Conference 2018; April 2018; Lyon, France p. 1653-1660. [doi: 10.1145/3184558.3191624]
- Ziwei B, Chua H. An Application for Classifying Depression in Tweets. : Association for Computing Machinery; 2019 Presented at: ICCBD 2019: Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Computing and Big Data; October, 2019; Taichung, Taiwan p. 37-41. [doi: 10.1145/3366650.3366653]
- 79. Shuai H, Shen C, Yang D, Lan Y, Lee W, Yu P, et al. Mining online social data for detecting social network mental disorders. In: Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on World Wide Web. 2016 Presented at: WWW '16: 25th International World Wide Web Conference; April, 2016; Montréal Québec Canada p. 275-285. [doi: 10.1145/2872427.2882996]
- Chancellor S, Lin Z, Goodman E, Zerwas S, De Choudhury M. Quantifying and predicting mental illness severity in online pro-eating disorder communities. In: Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing. 2016 Presented at: CSCW '16: Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing; February, 2016; San Francisco, CA, USA p. 1171-1184. [doi: 10.1145/2818048.2819973]
- 81. Wu P, Koh J, Chen A. Event detection for exploring emotional upheavals of depressive people. In: Proceedings of the 34th ACM/SIGAPP Symposium on Applied Computing. 2019 Presented at: SAC '19: The 34th ACM/SIGAPP Symposium on Applied Computing; April 2019; Limassol Cyprus p. 2086-2095. [doi: 10.1145/3297280.3297485]
- 82. Lu J, Sridhar S, Pandey R, Hasan M, Mohler G. Investigate transitions into drug addiction through text mining of Reddit data. In: Proceedings of the 25th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery & Data Mining. 2019 Presented at: KDD '19: The 25th ACM SIGKDD Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining; August, 2019; Anchorage AK USA p. 2367-2375. [doi: 10.1145/3292500.3330737]

- D'Alfonso S, Santesteban-Echarri O, Rice S, Wadley G, Lederman R, Miles C, et al. Artificial intelligence-assisted online social therapy for youth mental health. Front Psychol 2017 Jun 02;8:796 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00796] [Medline: 28626431]
- 84. Rezaii N, Walker E, Wolff P. A machine learning approach to predicting psychosis using semantic density and latent content analysis. NPJ Schizophr 2019 Jun 13;5(1):9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41537-019-0077-9] [Medline: 31197184]
- Ricard BJ, Marsch LA, Crosier B, Hassanpour S. Exploring the utility of community-generated social media content for detecting depression: an analytical study on Instagram. J Med Internet Res 2018 Dec 06;20(12):e11817 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11817] [Medline: 30522991]
- Ernala SK, Rizvi AF, Birnbaum ML, Kane JM, De Choudhury M. Linguistic markers indicating therapeutic outcomes of social media disclosures of schizophrenia. Proc ACM Hum-Comput Interact 2017 Dec 06;1(CSCW):1-27. [doi: 10.1145/3134678]
- 87. Saha K, Sugar B, Torous J, Abrahao B, Kıcıman E, De Choudhury M. A social media study on the effects of psychiatric medication use. In: Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Web and Social Media, ICWSM 2019. 2019 Presented at: 13th International Conference on Web and Social Media, ICWSM 201; June 11-14, 2019; Münich, Germany p. 440-451 URL: <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.</u> 0-85069434115&partnerID=40&md5=6eb1f1d6c8684a897f76cb9725aa6c7c
- 88. Du J, Zhang Y, Luo J, Jia Y, Wei Q, Tao C, et al. Extracting psychiatric stressors for suicide from social media using deep learning. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2018 Jul 23;18(Suppl 2):43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-018-0632-8] [Medline: 30066665]
- Thorstad R, Wolff P. Predicting future mental illness from social media: a big-data approach. Behav Res Methods 2019 Aug 29;51(4):1586-1600. [doi: <u>10.3758/s13428-019-01235-z</u>] [Medline: <u>31037606</u>]
- 90. Fatima I, Abbasi BU, Khan S, Al Saeed M, Ahmad HF, Mumtaz R. Prediction of postpartum depression using machine learning techniques from social media text. Expert Systems 2019 Apr 26;36(4):12409. [doi: 10.1111/exsy.12409]
- 91. Zhou T, Hu G, Wang L. Psychological disorder identifying method based on emotion perception over social networks. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Mar 16;16(6):953 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16060953] [Medline: 30884824]
- 92. Coppersmith G, Leary R, Crutchley P, Fine A. Natural language processing of social media as screening for suicide risk. Biomed Inform Insights 2018 Aug 27;10:A [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1178222618792860] [Medline: 30158822]
- Li A, Jiao D, Zhu T. Detecting depression stigma on social media: a linguistic analysis. J Affect Disord 2018 May;232:358-362. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.02.087] [Medline: 29510353]
- 94. Dao B, Nguyen T, Venkatesh S, Phung D. Effect of social capital on emotion, language style and latent topics in online depression community. In: Proceedings of the IEEE RIVF International Conference on Computing & Communication Technologies, Research, Innovation, and Vision for the Future (RIVF). 2016 Presented at: IEEE RIVF International Conference on Computing & Communication Technologies, Research, Innovation, and Vision for the Future (RIVF). 2016; Hanoi, Vietnam p. 61-66. [doi: 10.1109/rivf.2016.7800270]
- 95. Nambisan P, Luo Z, Kapoor A, Patrick T, Cisler R. Social media, big data, and public health informatics: ruminating behavior of depression revealed through Twitter. In: Proceedings of the 48th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences. 2015 Presented at: 48th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences; Jan. 5-8, 2015; Kauai, HI, USA p. 2906-2913. [doi: 10.1109/hicss.2015.351]
- 96. Nguyen T, Phung D, Dao B, Venkatesh S, Berk M. Affective and content analysis of online depression communities. IEEE Trans Affective Comput 2014 Jul 1;5(3):217-226. [doi: 10.1109/Taffc.2014.2315623]
- 97. Dao B, Nguyen T, Phung D, Venkatesh S. Effect of mood, social connectivity and age in online depression community via topic and linguistic analysis. In: Benatallah B, Bestavros A, Manolopoulos Y, Vakali A, Zhang Y, editors. Web Information Systems Engineering WISE 2014. Switzerland: Springer; 2014:398-407.
- 98. Manikonda L, De Choudhury M. Modeling and understanding visual attributes of mental health disclosures in social media. In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2017 Presented at: CHI '17: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 2017; Denver Colorado USA p. 170-181. [doi: 10.1145/3025453.3025932]
- 99. De Choudhury M, Kiciman E, Dredze M, Coppersmith G, Kumar M. Discovering shifts to suicidal ideation from mental health content in social media. In: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2016 May Presented at: CHI'16: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 2016; San Jose California USA p. 2098-2110 URL: <u>http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/29082385</u> [doi: <u>10.1145/2858036.2858207</u>]
- 100. Gaur M, Kursuncu U, Alambo A, Sheth A, Daniulaityte R, Thirunarayan K, et al. "Let Me Tell You About Your Mental Health!": contextualized classification of Reddit posts to DSM-5 for web-based intervention. In: Proceedings of the CIKM '18: The 27th ACM International Conference on Information and Knowledge Management. 2018 Presented at: CIKM '18: The 27th ACM International Conference on Information and Knowledge Management; October 2018; Torino Italy p. 753-762. [doi: 10.1145/3269206.3271732]
- 101. Bagroy S, Kumaraguru P, De Choudhury M. A social media based index of mental well-being in college campuses. In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2017 Presented at: CHI '17: CHI

Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May, 2017; Denver Colorado USA p. 1634-1646. [doi: 10.1145/3025453.3025909]

- 102. De Choudhury M, Counts S, Horvitz E. Social media as a measurement tool of depression in populations. In: Proceedings of the 5th Annual ACM Web Science Conference. 2013 May Presented at: WebSci '13: Web Science 2013; May 2013; Paris France p. 47-56. [doi: 10.1145/2464464.2464480]
- 103. Sadeque F, Xu D, Bethard S. Measuring the latency of depression detection in social media. In: Proceedings of the Eleventh ACM International Conference on Web Search and Data Mining. 2018 Presented at: WSDM 2018: The Eleventh ACM International Conference on Web Search and Data Mining; February, 2018; Marina Del Rey CA USA p. 495-503. [doi: 10.1145/3159652.3159725]
- 104. Burnap P, Colombo W, Scourfield J. Machine classification and analysis of suicide-related communication on Twitter. In: Proceedings of the 26th ACM Conference on Hypertext & Social Media. 2015 Presented at: HT '15: 26th ACM Conference on Hypertext and Social Media; September, 2015; Guzelyurt Northern Cyprus p. 75-84. [doi: 10.1145/2700171.2791023]
- 105. Sinha P, Mishra R, Sawhney R, Mahata D, Shah R, Liu H. #suicidal a multipronged approach to identify and explore suicidal ideation in Twitter. In: Proceedings of the 28th ACM International Conference on Information and Knowledge Management. 2019 Presented at: CIKM '19: The 28th ACM International Conference on Information and Knowledge Management; November, 2019; Beijing China p. 941-950. [doi: 10.1145/3357384.3358060]
- 106. Milne DN, McCabe KL, Calvo RA. Improving moderator responsiveness in online peer support through automated triage. J Med Internet Res 2019 Apr 26;21(4):e11410 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11410] [Medline: 31025945]
- 107. Perez Arribas I, Goodwin GM, Geddes JR, Lyons T, Saunders KEA. A signature-based machine learning model for distinguishing bipolar disorder and borderline personality disorder. Transl Psychiatry 2018 Dec 13;8(1):274 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0334-0] [Medline: 30546013]
- 108. Berrouiguet S, Barrigón ML, Castroman JL, Courtet P, Artés-Rodríguez A, Baca-García E. Combining mobile-health (mHealth) and artificial intelligence (AI) methods to avoid suicide attempts: the Smartcrises study protocol. BMC Psychiatry 2019 Sep 07;19(1):277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2260-y] [Medline: 31493783]
- 109. Stamate D, Katrinecz A, Stahl D, Verhagen SJ, Delespaul PA, van Os J, et al. Identifying psychosis spectrum disorder from experience sampling data using machine learning approaches. Schizophr Res 2019 Jul;209:156-163. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2019.04.028</u>] [Medline: <u>31104913</u>]
- 110. Stamate D, Katrinecz A, Alghamdi W, Stahl D, Delespaul P, van Os J, et al. Predicting psychosis using the experience sampling method with mobile apps. In: Proceedings of the 16th IEEE International Conference on Machine Learning and Applications (ICMLA). 2017 Presented at: 16th IEEE International Conference on Machine Learning and Applications (ICMLA); Dec. 18-21, 2017; Cancun, Mexico p. 667-673. [doi: 10.1109/icmla.2017.00-84]
- 111. Ben-Zeev D, Scherer EA, Wang R, Xie H, Campbell AT. Next-generation psychiatric assessment: using smartphone sensors to monitor behavior and mental health. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2015 Sep;38(3):218-226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/prj0000130] [Medline: 25844912]
- 112. Ware S, Yue C, Morillo R, Lu J, Shang C, Bi J, et al. Predicting depressive symptoms using smartphone data. Smart Health 2020 Mar;15:100093. [doi: 10.1016/j.smhl.2019.100093]
- 113. Mastoras R, Iakovakis D, Hadjidimitriou S, Charisis V, Kassie S, Alsaadi T, et al. Touchscreen typing pattern analysis for remote detection of the depressive tendency. Sci Rep 2019 Sep 16;9(1):13414 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-50002-9] [Medline: 31527640]
- 114. Wshah S, Skalka C, Price M. Predicting posttraumatic stress disorder risk: a machine learning approach. JMIR Ment Health 2019 Jul 22;6(7):e13946 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13946] [Medline: 31333201]
- 115. Gerych W, Agu E, Rundensteiner E. Classifying depression in imbalanced datasets using an autoencoder-based anomaly detection approach. In: Proceedings of the IEEE 13th International Conference on Semantic Computing (ICSC). 2019 Presented at: IEEE 13th International Conference on Semantic Computing (ICSC); Jan. 30 - Feb. 1, 2019; Newport Beach, CA, USA. [doi: 10.1109/icosc.2019.8665535]
- 116. Kim J, Lim S, Min YH, Shin Y, Lee B, Sohn G, et al. Depression Screening Using Daily Mental-Health Ratings from a Smartphone Application for Breast Cancer Patients. J Med Internet Res 2016 Aug 04;18(8):e216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5598] [Medline: 27492880]
- 117. Farhan A, Lu J, Bi J, Russell A, Wang B, Bamis A. Multi-view bi-clustering to identify smartphone sensing features indicative of depression. In: Proceedings of the IEEE First International Conference on Connected Health: Applications, Systems and Engineering Technologies (CHASE). 2016 Presented at: IEEE First International Conference on Connected Health: Applications, Systems and Engineering Technologies (CHASE); June 27-29, 2016; Washington, DC, USA. [doi: 10.1109/chase.2016.27]
- 118. Wang R, Campbell A, Zhou X. Using opportunistic face logging from smartphone to infer mental health: challenges and future directions. In: Adjunct Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing and Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers. 2015 Presented at: UbiComp '15: The 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing; September 2015; Osaka Japan p. 683-692. [doi: 10.1145/2800835.2804391]

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e24668
```

- 119. Opoku AK, Visuri A, Ferreira D. Towards early detection of depression through smartphone sensing. In: Adjunct Proceedings of the 2019 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing and Proceedings of the 2019 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers. 2019 Presented at: UbiComp '19: The 2019 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing; September 2019; London United Kingdom p. 1158-1161. [doi: 10.1145/3341162.3347075]
- 120. Huang Y, Gong J, Rucker M, Chow P, Fua K, Gerber M, et al. Discovery of behavioral markers of social anxiety from smartphone sensor data. In: Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on Digital Biomarkers. 2017 Presented at: MobiSys'17: The 15th Annual International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services; June 2017; Niagara Falls New York USA p. 9-14. [doi: 10.1145/3089341.3089343]
- 121. Xu X, Chikersal P, Doryab A, Villalba DK, Dutcher JM, Tumminia MJ, et al. Leveraging routine behavior and contextually-filtered features for depression detection among college students. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2019 Sep 09;3(3):1-33. [doi: 10.1145/3351274]
- 122. Gruenerbl A, Osmani V, Bahle G, Carrasco J, Oehler S, Mayora O, et al. Using smart phone mobility traces for the diagnosis of depressive and manic episodes in bipolar patients. In: Proceedings of the 5th Augmented Human International Conference. 2014 Presented at: AH '14: 5th Augmented Human International Conference; March 2014; Kobe Japan p. 1-8. [doi: 10.1145/2582051.2582089]
- 123. Nobles A, Glenn J, Kowsari K, Teachman B, Barnes L. Identification of imminent suicide risk among young adults using text messages. In: Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2018 Presented at: CHI '18: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April, 2018; Montreal QC Canada p. 1-11. [doi: 10.1145/3173574.3173987]
- 124. Bardram J, Frost M, Szántó K, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Vinberg M, Kessing L. Designing mobile health technology for bipolar disorder: a field trial of the monarca system. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2013 Presented at: CHI '13: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April, 2013; Paris France p. 2627-2636 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/doi/abs/10.1145/2470654.2481364</u> [doi: <u>10.1145/2470654.2481364</u>]
- 125. Sarda A, Munuswamy S, Sarda S, Subramanian V. Using Passive Smartphone Sensing for Improved Risk Stratification of Patients With Depression and Diabetes: Cross-Sectional Observational Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jan 29;7(1):e11041 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11041] [Medline: 30694197]
- 126. Berrouiguet S, Ramírez D, Barrigón ML, Moreno-Muñoz P, Camacho RC, Baca-García E, et al. Combining continuous smartphone native sensors data capture and unsupervised data mining techniques for behavioral changes detection: a case series of the evidence-based behavior (eB2) study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Dec 10;6(12):e197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9472] [Medline: 30530465]
- 127. Grünerbl A, Muaremi A, Osmani V, Bahle G, Ohler S, Tröster G, et al. Smartphone-based recognition of states and state changes in bipolar disorder patients. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2015 Jan;19(1):140-148. [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2014.2343154] [Medline: 25073181]
- 128. Meinlschmidt G, Tegethoff M, Belardi A, Stalujanis E, Oh M, Jung EK, et al. Personalized prediction of smartphone-based psychotherapeutic micro-intervention success using machine learning. J Affect Disord 2020 Mar 01;264:430-437. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2019.11.071</u>] [Medline: <u>31787419</u>]
- 129. Whelan P, Machin M, Lewis S, Buchan I, Sanders C, Applegate E, et al. Mobile early detection and connected intervention to coproduce better care in severe mental illness. Stud Health Technol Inform 2015;216:123-126. [Medline: <u>26262023</u>]
- Hidalgo-Mazzei D, Reinares M, Murru A, Bonnin C, Vieta E, Colom F. Signs and symptoms self-monitoring and psychoeducation in bipolar patients with a smart-phone application (SIMPLe) project. Eur Psychiatry 2015 Mar;30:320. [doi: 10.1016/s0924-9338(15)30255-8]
- 131. Francillette Y, Bouchard B, Boucher E, Gaboury S, Bernard P, Romain AJ, et al. Development of an exergame on mobile phones to increase physical activity for adults with severe mental illness. In: Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference. 2018 Presented at: PETRA '18: The 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference; June, 2018; Corfu Greece p. 241-248. [doi: 10.1145/3197768.3201521]
- 132. Hidalgo-Mazzei D, Mateu A, Reinares M, Murru A, Bonnín CD, Varo C, et al. Psychoeducation in bipolar disorder with a SIMPLe smartphone application: feasibility, acceptability and satisfaction. J Affect Disord 2016 Aug;200:58-66. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.04.042] [Medline: 27128358]
- 133. Faurholt-Jepsen M, Busk J, Frost M, Vinberg M, Christensen EM, Winther O, et al. Voice analysis as an objective state marker in bipolar disorder. Transl Psychiatry 2016 Jul 19;6(7):e856 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/tp.2016.123] [Medline: 27434490]
- 134. Wahle F, Kowatsch T, Fleisch E, Rufer M, Weidt S. Mobile sensing and support for people with depression: a pilot trial in the wild. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Sep 21;4(3):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5960] [Medline: 27655245]
- 135. Guidi A, Salvi S, Ottaviano M, Gentili C, Bertschy G, de Rossi D, et al. Smartphone application for the analysis of prosodic features in running speech with a focus on bipolar disorders: system performance evaluation and case study. Sensors (Basel) 2015 Nov 06;15(11):28070-28087 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s151128070] [Medline: 26561811]

- 136. Burns MN, Begale M, Duffecy J, Gergle D, Karr CJ, Giangrande E, et al. Harnessing context sensing to develop a mobile intervention for depression. J Med Internet Res 2011 Aug 12;13(3):e55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1838] [Medline: 21840837]
- 137. Barish G, Aralis H, Elbogen E, Lester P. A mobile app for patients and those who care about them: a case study for veterans with PSTD + anger. In: Proceedings of the 13th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. 2019 Presented at: PervasiveHealth'19: The 13th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare; May 2019; Trento Italy p. 1-10. [doi: 10.1145/3329189.3329248]
- 138. Grünerbl A, Oleksy P, Bahle G, Haring C, Weppner J, Lukowicz P. Towards smart phone based monitoring of bipolar disorder. In: Proceedings of the Second ACM Workshop on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services for HealthCare. 2012 Presented at: SenSys '12: The 10th ACM Conference on Embedded Network Sensor Systems; November 2012; Toronto Ontario Canada p. 1-6. [doi: 10.1145/2396276.2396280]
- Canzian L, Musolesi M. Trajectories of depression: unobtrusive monitoring of depressive states by means of smartphone mobility traces analysis. In: Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing. 2015 Presented at: UbiComp '15: The 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing; September 2015; Osaka Japan p. 1293-1304. [doi: <u>10.1145/2750858.2805845</u>]
- 140. Mehrotra A, Hendley R, Musolesi M. Towards multi-modal anticipatory monitoring of depressive states through the analysis of human-smartphone interaction. In: Proceedings of the 2016 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing: Adjunct. 2016 Presented at: UbiComp '16: The 2016 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing; September, 2016; Heidelberg Germany p. 1132-1138. [doi: 10.1145/2968219.2968299]
- 141. Wang R, Wang W, Aung MH, Ben-Zeev D, Brian R, Campbell AT, et al. Predicting symptom trajectories of schizophrenia using mobile sensing. GetMobile: Mobile Comp Comm 2018 Sep 05;22(2):32-37. [doi: 10.1145/3276145.3276157]
- 142. Carriço L, de Sa M, Duarte L, Antunes T. Therapy: location-aware assessment and tasks. In: Proceedings of the 3rd Augmented Human International Conference. 2012 Presented at: AH '12: Augmented Human International Conference; March 2012; Megève France p. 1-5. [doi: 10.1145/2160125.2160127]
- 143. Saeb S, Zhang M, Kwasny M, Karr C, Kording K, Mohr D. The relationship between clinical, momentary, and sensor-based assessment of depression. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. 2015 Presented at: 9th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth); May 20, 2015; Istanbul Turkey p. 229-232. [doi: <u>10.4108/icst.pervasivehealth.2015.259034</u>]
- 144. Moreira MW, Rodrigues JJ, Kumar N, Saleem K, Illin IV. Postpartum depression prediction through pregnancy data analysis for emotion-aware smart systems. Inf Fusion 2019 May;47:23-31. [doi: 10.1016/j.inffus.2018.07.001]
- 145. Ghandeharioun A, Fedor S, Sangermano L, Ionescu D, Alpert J, Dale C, et al. Objective assessment of depressive symptoms with machine learning and wearable sensors data. In: Proceedings of the Seventh International Conference on Affective Computing and Intelligent Interaction (ACII). 2017 Presented at: Seventh International Conference on Affective Computing and Intelligent Interaction (ACII); Oct. 23-26, 2017; San Antonio, TX, USA. [doi: 10.1109/acii.2017.8273620]
- 146. Sivalingam R, Cherian A, Fasching J, Walczak N, Bird N, Morellas V, et al. A multi-sensor visual tracking system for behavior monitoring of at-risk children. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation. 2012 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation; May 14-18, 2012; Saint Paul, MN, USA. [doi: 10.1109/icra.2012.6225280]
- 147. Qian K, Kuromiya H, Ren Z, Schmitt M, Zhang Z, Nakamura T, et al. Automatic detection of major depressive disorder via a bag-of-behaviour-words approach. In: Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Image Computing and Digital Medicine. 2019 Presented at: ISICDM 2019: The Third International Symposium on Image Computing and Digital Medicine; August 2019; Xi'an China p. 71-75. [doi: 10.1145/3364836.3364851]
- 148. Lu J, Shang C, Yue C, Morillo R, Ware S, Kamath J, et al. Joint modeling of heterogeneous sensing data for depression assessment via multi-task learning. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2018 Mar 26;2(1):1-21. [doi: 10.1145/3191753]
- 149. Frogner J, Noori F, Halvorsen P, Hicks S, Garcia-Ceja E, Torresen J, et al. One-dimensional convolutional neural networks on motor activity measurements in detection of depression. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Multimedia for Personal Health & Health Care. 2019 Presented at: MM '19: The 27th ACM International Conference on Multimedia; October, 2019; Nice France p. 9-15. [doi: 10.1145/3347444.3356238]
- 150. Bennett C, Sabanovic S, Piatt J, Nagata S, Eldridge L, Randall N. A robot a day keeps the blues away. In: Proeedings of the IEEE International Conference on Healthcare Informatics (ICHI). 2017 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Healthcare Informatics (ICHI); Aug. 23-26, 2017; Park City, UT, USA p. 536-540. [doi: 10.1109/ichi.2017.43]
- 151. Alam M, Abedin S, Al Ameen M, Hong C. Web of objects based ambient assisted living framework for emergency psychiatric state prediction. Sensors (Basel) 2016 Sep 06;16(9):1431 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s16091431] [Medline: 27608023]
- 152. Antle A, McLaren E, Fiedler H, Johnson N. Design for mental health: how socio-technological processes mediate outcome measures in a field study of a wearable anxiety app. In: Proceedings of the Thirteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction. 2019 Presented at: TEI '19: Thirteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction; March, 2019; Tempe Arizona USA p. 87-96. [doi: 10.1145/3294109.3295650]

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e24668
```

- 153. Wang R, Wang W, daSilva A, Huckins JF, Kelley WM, Heatherton TF, et al. Tracking depression dynamics in college students using mobile phone and wearable sensing. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2018 Mar 26;2(1):1-26. [doi: 10.1145/3191775]
- 154. Mallol-Ragolta A, Dhamija S, Boult T. A multimodal approach for predicting changes in PSTD symptom severity. In: Proceedings of the 20th ACM International Conference on Multimodal Interaction. 2018 Presented at: ICMI '18: International Conference on Multimodal Interaction; October, 2018; Boulder CO USA p. 324-333. [doi: 10.1145/3242969.3242981]
- 155. Alam M, Cho E, Huh E, Hong C. Cloud based mental state monitoring system for suicide risk reconnaissance using wearable bio-sensors. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Ubiquitous Information Management and Communication. 2014 Presented at: ICUIMC '14: The 8th International Conference on Ubiquitous Information Management and Communication; January, 2014; Siem Reap Cambodia p. 1-6. [doi: 10.1145/2557977.2558020]
- 156. Wan Z, Zhong N, Chen J, Zhou H, Yang J, Yan J. A depressive mood status quantitative reasoning method based on portable EEG and self-rating scale. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Web Intelligence. 2017 Presented at: WI '17: International Conference on Web Intelligence 2017; August, 2017; Leipzig Germany p. 389-395. [doi: 10.1145/3106426.3106471]
- 157. Rubin J, Eldardiry H, Abreu R, Ahern S, Du H, Pattekar A, et al. Towards a mobile and wearable system for predicting panic attacks. In: Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing. 2015 Presented at: UbiComp '15: The 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing; September, 2015; Osaka Japan p. 529-533. [doi: 10.1145/2750858.2805834]
- 158. Dickerson R, Gorlin E, Stankovic J. Empath: a continuous remote emotional health monitoring system for depressive illness. In: Proceedings of the 2nd Conference on Wireless Health. 2011 Presented at: WH '11: Wireless Health 2011; October, 2011; San Diego California p. 1-10. [doi: 10.1145/2077546.2077552]
- 159. Cheng C, Lan T, Chan C. An improved localization algorithm with wireless heartbeat monitoring system for patient safety in psychiatric wards. Eng Appl Artif Intell 2013 Feb;26(2):905-912. [doi: 10.1016/j.engappai.2012.11.013]
- 160. Huang C, Hsiao S, Hsu Y, Chung P, Tsai M, Yang Y. Reliability improvement for an RFID-based psychiatric patient tracking system. In: IFMBE Proceedings. 2007 Presented at: 10th World Congress on Medical Physics and Biomedical Engineering, WC 2006; August 27 - Sept 1, 2006; Seoul, South Korea p. 737-741 URL: <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/ record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84958239233&partnerID=40&md5=eda993e9db7ec67afd867cad85dca4c2</u> [doi: <u>10.1007/978-3-540-36841-0\_173</u>]
- 161. Tsai M, Huang C, Chung P, Yang Y, Hsu Y, Hsiao S. A psychiatric patients tracking system. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems. 2006 Presented at: ISCAS 2006: 2006 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems; May 21-24, 2006; Kos, Greece p. 4050-4053 URL: <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.</u> <u>uri?eid=2-s2.0-34547365849&partnerID=40&md5=b3f8c95d31fc5b17e48ed59c3cf9f151</u>
- 162. Ware S, Yue C, Morillo R, Lu J, Shang C, Kamath J, et al. Large-scale automatic depression screening using meta-data from WiFi infrastructure. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2018 Dec 27;2(4):1-27. [doi: 10.1145/3287073]
- Zakaria C, Balan R, Lee Y. StressMon: scalable detection of perceived stress and depression using passive sensing of changes in work routines and group interactions. Proc ACM Hum-Comput Interact 2019 Nov 07;3(CSCW):1-29. [doi: 10.1145/3359139]
- 164. Joerin A, Rauws M, Ackerman ML. Psychological artificial intelligence service, tess: delivering on-demand support to patients and their caregivers: technical report. Cureus 2019 Jan 28;11(1):e3972 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.3972] [Medline: <u>30956924</u>]
- 165. Househ M, Schneider J, Ahmad K, Alam T, Al-Thani D, Siddig MA, et al. An evolutionary bootstrapping development approach for a mental health conversational agent. Stud Health Technol Inform 2019 Jul 04;262:228-231. [doi: <u>10.3233/SHTI190060</u>] [Medline: <u>31349309</u>]
- 166. Rinaldi A, Oseguera O, Tuazon J, Cruz A. End-to-end dialogue with sentiment analysis features. In: Stephanidis C, editor. HCI International 2017 – Posters' Extended Abstracts. HCI 2017. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol 713. Switzerland: Springer; 2017:480-487.
- 167. Suganuma S, Sakamoto D, Shimoyama H. An embodied conversational agent for unguided internet-based cognitive behavior therapy in preventative mental health: feasibility and acceptability pilot trial. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Jul 31;5(3):e10454 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10454] [Medline: 30064969]
- 168. Fulmer R, Joerin A, Gentile B, Lakerink L, Rauws M. Using psychological artificial intelligence (Tess) to relieve symptoms of depression and anxiety: randomized controlled trial. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Dec 13;5(4):e64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.9782] [Medline: 30545815]
- 169. Aggarwal S, Saluja S, Gambhir V, Gupta S, Satia SPS. Predicting likelihood of psychological disorders in PlayerUnknown's Battlegrounds (PUBG) players from Asian countries using supervised machine learning. Addict Behav 2020 Feb;101:106132. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106132</u>] [Medline: <u>31704370</u>]
- 170. Mandryk RL, Birk MV. The potential of game-based digital biomarkers for modeling mental health. JMIR Ment Health 2019 Apr 23;6(4):e13485 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13485] [Medline: 31012857]

- 171. Ray A, Kumar S, Reddy R, Mukherjee P, Garg R. Multi-level attention network using text, audio and video for depression prediction. In: Proceedings of the 9th International on Audio/Visual Emotion Challenge and Workshop. 2019 Presented at: MM '19: The 27th ACM International Conference on Multimedia; October, 2019; Nice France p. 81-88. [doi: 10.1145/3347320.3357697]
- 172. Salekin A, Eberle JW, Glenn JJ, Teachman BA, Stankovic JA. A weakly supervised learning framework for detecting social anxiety and depression. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2018 Jun 05;2(2):1-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3214284] [Medline: 31187083]
- 173. Suzuki E, Deguchi Y, Matsukawa T, Ando S, Ogata H, Sugimoto M. Toward a platform for collecting, mining, and utilizing behavior data for detecting students with depression risks. In: Proceedings of the 8th ACM International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments. 2015 Presented at: PETRA '15: 8th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments; July, 2015; Corfu Greece p. 1-8. [doi: 10.1145/2769493.2769538]
- 174. Meng H, Huang D, Wang H, Yang H, AI-Shuraifi M, Wang Y. Depression recognition based on dynamic facial and vocal expression features using partial least square regression. In: Proceedings of the 3rd ACM International Workshop on Audio/Visual Emotion Challenge. 2013 Presented at: MM '13: ACM Multimedia Conference; October, 2013; Barcelona Spain p. 21-30. [doi: 10.1145/2512530.2512532]
- 175. Gupta R, Malandrakis N, Xiao B, Guha T, Van Segbroeck M, Black M, et al. Multimodal prediction of affective dimensions and depression in human-computer interactions. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Workshop on Audio/Visual Emotion Challenge. 2014 Presented at: MM '14: 2014 ACM Multimedia Conference; November, 2014; Orlando Florida USA p. 33-40. [doi: 10.1145/2661806.2661810]
- 176. Zhou D, Luo J, Silenzio V, Zhou Y, Hu J, Currier G, et al. Tackling Mental Health by Integrating Unobtrusive Multimodal Sensing. In: Proceedings of the Twenty-Ninth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence. 2015 Presented at: AAAI'15: Twenty-Ninth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence; January 2015; Austin Texas, USA p. 1401-1408. [doi: 10.5555/2887007.2887201]
- 177. Provoost S, Ruwaard J, van Breda W, Riper H, Bosse T. Validating automated sentiment analysis of online cognitive behavioral therapy patient texts: an exploratory study. Front Psychol 2019 May 14;10:1065 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01065] [Medline: 31156504]
- 178. Dias L, Barbosa J. Towards a ubiquitous care model for patients with anxiety disorders. In: Proceedings of the 25th Brazillian Symposium on Multimedia and the Web. 2019 Presented at: WebMedia '19: Brazilian Symposium on Multimedia and the Web; October, 2019; Rio de Janeiro Brazil p. 141-144. [doi: <u>10.1145/3323503.3360642</u>]
- 179. Wade J, Nichols HS, Ichinose M, Bian D, Bekele E, Snodgress M, et al. Extraction of emotional information via visual scanning patterns: a feasibility study of participants with schizophrenia and neurotypical individuals. ACM Trans Access Comput 2018 Nov 22;11(4):1-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3282434] [Medline: 30627303]
- 180. Tuli A, Singh P, Sood M, Deb KS, Jain S, Jain A, et al. Harmony: close knitted mHealth assistance for patients, caregivers and doctors for managing SMIs. In: Proceedings of the 2016 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing: Adjunct. 2016 Presented at: UbiComp '16: The 2016 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing; September, 2016; Heidelberg Germany p. 1144-1152. [doi: 10.1145/2968219.2968301]
- 181. Hirsch T, Soma C, Merced K, Kuo P, Dembe A, Caperton DD, et al. "It's hard to argue with a computer": investigating psychotherapists' attitudes towards automated evaluation. In: Proceedings of the 2018 Designing Interactive Systems Conference. 2018 Presented at: DIS '18: Designing Interactive Systems Conference 2018; June, 2018; Hong Kong China p. 559-571. [doi: 10.1145/3196709.3196776]
- 182. Ferrario M, Simm W, Gradinar A, Forshaw S, Smith MT, Lee T, et al. Computing and mental health: intentionality and reflection at the click of a button. In: Proceedings of the 11th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. In; 2017 Presented at: 11th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare PervasiveHealth ?17. Association for Computing Machinery; May, 2017; Barcelona Spain p. 1-10. [doi: 10.1145/3154862.3154867]
- 183. Lenhard F, Sauer S, Andersson E, Månsson KN, Mataix-Cols D, Rück C, et al. Prediction of outcome in internet-delivered cognitive behaviour therapy for paediatric obsessive-compulsive disorder: a machine learning approach. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2018 Mar 28;27(1):e1576 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/mpr.1576] [Medline: 28752937]
- 184. Emerencia A, van der Krieke L, Sytema S, Petkov N, Aiello M. Generating personalized advice for schizophrenia patients. Artif Intell Med 2013 May;58(1):23-36. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.artmed.2013.01.002</u>] [Medline: <u>23419698</u>]
- 185. Ma-Kellams C, Or F, Baek JH, Kawachi I. Rethinking suicide surveillance. Clin Psychol Sci 2015 Aug 11;4(3):480-484. [doi: <u>10.1177/2167702615593475</u>]
- 186. Parker L, Bero L, Gillies D, Raven M, Mintzes B, Jureidini J, et al. Mental health messages in prominent mental health apps. Ann Fam Med 2018 Jul 09;16(4):338-342 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.2260] [Medline: 29987082]
- 187. Helbich M. Dynamic urban environmental exposures on depression and suicide (NEEDS) in the Netherlands: a protocol for a cross-sectional smartphone tracking study and a longitudinal population register study. BMJ Open 2019 Aug 10;9(8):e030075 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030075] [Medline: 31401609]
- Carter P, Laurie GT, Dixon-Woods M. The social licence for research: why care.data ran into trouble. J Med Ethics 2015 May;41(5):404-409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/medethics-2014-102374] [Medline: 25617016]

- 189. Friedman B, Kahn P. Human values, ethics, and design. In: Sears A, Jacko JA, editors. The Human-Computer Interaction Handbook: Fundamentals, Evolving Technologies and Emerging Applications. Boca Raton, Florida, United States: CRC Press; 2002:1177-1201.
- 190. Shilton K. Values levers: building ethics into design. Sci Technol Human Values 2012 Apr 23;38(3):374-397. [doi: 10.1177/0162243912436985]
- 191. Hübner UH, Egbert N, Schulte G. Clinical information systems seen through the ethics lens. Yearb Med Inform 2020 Aug 21;29(1):104-114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1701996] [Medline: 32823304]
- Marks M. Emergent medical data: health information inferred by artificial intelligence. 11 U.C. Irvine Law Review 995 (2021). 2020. URL: <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3554118</u> [accessed 2020-05-11]
- 193. Friesen P. Digital psychiatry: promises and perils. Association for the Advancement of Philosophy and Psychiatry. 2020. URL: <u>https://aapp.press.jhu.edu/sites/default/files/Bulletins/aapp-bulletin-volume-27-1-july-2020.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-05-20]
- 194. Rose N. Our Psychiatric Future. Hoboken, New Jersey, United States: John Wiley & Sons Inc; 2018:1-248.
- 195. Gooding P. A New Era for Mental Health Law and Policy: Supported Decision-Making and the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press; 2018:1-295.
- 196. Carr S. 'AI gone mental': engagement and ethics in data-driven technology for mental health. J Ment Health 2020 Apr 30;29(2):125-130. [doi: 10.1080/09638237.2020.1714011] [Medline: 32000544]
- 197. Ralston W. They told their therapists everything. Hackers leaked it all. WIRED.com. 2021 Apr 05. URL: <u>https://www.wired.com/story/vastaamo-psychotherapy-patients-hack-data-breach/</u> [accessed 2021-06-01]
- 198. Powles J, Nissenbaum H. The seductive diversion of 'solving' bias in artificial intelligence. Medium. 2018. URL: <u>https://onezero.medium.com/the-seductive-diversion-of-solving-bias-in-artificial-intelligence-890df5e5ef53</u> [accessed 2020-07-02]
- 199. Mills C, Hilberg E. The construction of mental health as a technological problem in India. Crit Public Health 2018 Aug 13;30(1):41-52. [doi: 10.1080/09581596.2018.1508823]
- 200. Tai AM, Albuquerque A, Carmona NE, Subramanieapillai M, Cha DS, Sheko M, et al. Machine learning and big data: implications for disease modeling and therapeutic discovery in psychiatry. Artif Intell Med 2019 Aug;99:101704. [doi: 10.1016/j.artmed.2019.101704] [Medline: <u>31606109</u>]
- 201. Aafjes-van DK, Kamsteeg C, Bate J, Aafjes M. A scoping review of machine learning in psychotherapy research. Psychother Res 2021 Jan 29;31(1):92-116. [doi: <u>10.1080/10503307.2020.1808729</u>] [Medline: <u>32862761</u>]
- 202. Mohr DC, Shilton K, Hotopf M. Digital phenotyping, behavioral sensing, or personal sensing: names and transparency in the digital age. NPJ Digit Med 2020 Mar 25;3(1):45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-0251-5] [Medline: 32219186]
- 203. Resnik DB, Elliott KC. The ethical challenges of socially responsible science. Account Res 2016 Jul 20;23(1):31-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08989621.2014.1002608] [Medline: 26193168]

# Abbreviations

PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses

Edited by J Torous; submitted 29.09.20; peer-reviewed by N Martinez-Martin, MDG Pimentel, I Shubina; comments to author 25.11.20; revised version received 11.03.21; accepted 15.04.21; published 10.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Gooding P, Kariotis T Ethics and Law in Research on Algorithmic and Data-Driven Technology in Mental Health Care: Scoping Review JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e24668 URL: <u>https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e24668</u> doi:10.2196/24668 PMID:<u>34110297</u>

©Piers Gooding, Timothy Kariotis. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 10.06.2021. This is open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License an (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Preliminary Outcomes of an Ecological Momentary Intervention for Social Functioning in Schizophrenia: Pre-Post Study of the Motivation and Skills Support App

Daniel Fulford<sup>1,2</sup>, BA, MS, PhD; David E Gard<sup>3</sup>, BA, MA, PhD; Kim T Mueser<sup>1,2</sup>, BA, MA, PhD; Jasmine Mote<sup>4</sup>, BA, MA, PhD; Kathryn Gill<sup>1</sup>, BA; Lawrence Leung<sup>3</sup>, BA, MA; Jessica Mow<sup>2</sup>, BA, MA

<sup>1</sup>Department of Occupational Therapy, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychological & Brain Sciences, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Psychology, San Francisco State University, San Francisco, CA, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Occupational Therapy, Tufts University, Somerville, MA, United States

## **Corresponding Author:**

Daniel Fulford, BA, MS, PhD Department of Occupational Therapy Boston University 635 Commonwealth Avenue Boston, MA, 02215 United States Phone: 1 6173582889 Email: dfulford@bu.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** People with schizophrenia and other serious mental illnesses often lack access to evidence-based interventions, particularly interventions that target meaningful recovery outcomes such as social functioning and quality of life. Mobile technologies, including smartphone apps, have the potential to provide scalable support that places elements of evidence-based interventions at the palm of patients' hands.

**Objective:** We aim to develop a smartphone app—called Motivation and Skills Support—to provide targeted social goal support (eg, making new friends and improving existing relationships) for people with schizophrenia enrolled in a stand-alone open trial.

**Methods:** In this paper, we presented preliminary outcomes of 31 participants who used the Motivation and Skills Support app for 8 weeks, including social functioning pre- to postintervention, and momentary reports of treatment targets (eg, social motivation and appraisals) during the intervention.

**Results:** The findings suggest that the intervention improved self-reported social functioning from baseline to treatment termination, particularly in female participants. Gains were not maintained at the 3-month follow-up. Furthermore, increased social functioning was predicted by momentary reports of social appraisals, including perceived social competence and the extent to which social interactions were worth the effort.

**Conclusions:** The implications of these findings and future directions for addressing social functioning in schizophrenia using mobile technology have been discussed.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03404219; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03404219

(JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e27475) doi:10.2196/27475

# KEYWORDS

schizophrenia; psychosis; social functioning; social skills; motivation; mHealth; smartphone; mobile phone

# Introduction

### Background

For people with schizophrenia and other serious mental illnesses, psychosocial interventions demonstrate efficacy in improving important recovery outcomes, including occupational and social functioning [1]. In particular, negative symptoms such as low drive can improve through individual and group-based behavioral approaches such as social skills training (SST) and cognitive behavioral therapy for psychosis (CBTp) [2-4]. Although antipsychotic medications are the first line of treatment for both acute psychotic symptoms and prevention of relapses in schizophrenia [5], evidence-based psychosocial approaches can effectively address impairments in functioning that persist despite adequate pharmacological treatment [6,7].

Despite the demonstrated efficacy of psychosocial approaches to care, most individuals with schizophrenia experience long-standing challenges with social impairment [8]. Limited access to evidence-based care and the need for regular support beyond the time-limited nature of existing treatment for people with resource limitations contribute to poor long-term outcomes for these patients [9,10]. Effects of CBTp on functioning, for example, often do not persist far beyond treatment termination [11]. Recent mobile approaches to psychosocial support, such as smartphone apps, can help increase access to evidence-based, ongoing support. This is particularly important now, given increasing smartphone ownership among those with serious mental illnesses [12,13].

App-based interventions also have other advantages beyond in-person treatment. Apps can support real-time self-management outside of the therapy office, which may be particularly useful for addressing the dynamic nature of concerns that can arise during social interactions. Recently developed app-based interventions have shown promise in addressing psychosocial outcomes in a mobile format. For example, the FOCUS smartphone app is a multifaceted mobile intervention that targets auditory hallucinations, mood, sleep, functioning, and medication adherence [14]. FOCUS has demonstrated similar efficacy to standard in-person psychosocial approaches to care for people with schizophrenia, including in reducing symptoms and improving broadly defined recovery outcomes [15]. Other smartphone apps have been designed to address motivational impairment more directly, including in patients with early psychosis [16]. Text message-based approaches incorporating goal setting and other cognitive behavioral elements have also been used to target motivational negative symptoms [17,18]. Granholm et al [19] also recently developed a mobile app called CBT2go to supplement in-person CBTp.

Although existing mobile interventions address the broad needs of individuals with psychotic disorders in a comprehensive approach—including in combination with ongoing face-to-face care—they were not designed to directly target the multifaceted social needs of people with psychotic disorders, often described as the most critical need among patients themselves [20]. Indeed, only one of the reviewed studies showed improvements in social functioning, an effect that did not persist beyond treatment termination [19]. Thus, there remains a need for mobile

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27475
```

approaches to directly target the complex, multifaceted nature of impaired social functioning in psychotic disorders.

### Objectives

To address this need, we aim to develop the Motivation and Skills Support (MASS) smartphone app. Our primary aims are to (1) develop an ecological momentary intervention (EMI) that integrates evidence-based psychosocial treatment approaches with insights from basic affective, motivational, and cognitive science to target key contributors to impaired social functioning in schizophrenia (namely, social motivation); (2) translate elements of SST and CBTp to allow for real-time support of social goal attainment in people's daily lives; (3) systematically enhance social motivation by providing feedback of information about prior affective social experiences related to individuals' social goals; and (4) incorporate stakeholder input (people with schizophrenia and expert clinicians) in the design of the intervention to assess attitudes regarding mobile technology and include content relevant to the everyday social needs of people with schizophrenia (see Fulford et al [21] for a more detailed description of app development, including data on usability and acceptability).

In this paper, we describe the preliminary outcomes of the MASS app in an open pilot trial. We report changes in clinical outcomes from baseline to treatment termination and 3-month follow-up. We also report changes in key intervention targets (ie, social motivation, associated behavior, and appraisals) during the intervention, as reported by ecological momentary assessment (EMA). We hypothesized that social functioning would increase and positive and negative symptoms would decrease during the intervention and that changes would be maintained at follow-up. We also predicted significant improvements in EMA-reported treatment targets throughout the intervention and that these targets would be associated with improvements in clinical outcomes from baseline to termination.

# Methods

### **Study Procedures**

This was a two-site, open pilot intervention study that took place in the Boston and San Francisco Bay areas (registered clinical trial NCT03404219). Clinical and outcome data were collected on three occasions: baseline (preintervention), at the end of the 8-week intervention (treatment termination), and 3 months following treatment termination (follow-up). Participants were first screened over the phone; those who met the screening criteria were invited to complete a baseline session that started with informed consent, followed by an assessment of eligibility and clinical measures. This was followed by an intervention period. At the end of each assessment (baseline, termination, and follow-up), participants were reimbursed for their time with cash payments.

### Participants

We recruited people with schizophrenia using fliers and word-of-mouth at community treatment and rehabilitation centers that serve people with serious mental illness. The inclusion criteria were a diagnosis of schizophrenia between the ages of 18 and 65 years, receiving current pharmacological

XSL•FO RenderX

treatment, psychotherapy, or both and fluency in English. Exclusion criteria were current (past 6 months) substance use disorder, self-reported current suicidal ideation (via structured diagnostic interview), or self-reported diagnosis of a neurological disorder. Although the study was advertised as potentially of interest to those who wished to improve their social lives, social impairment or interest in improving social functioning were not formal inclusion criteria.

## **Intervention: MASS Mobile App**

At the baseline assessment, participants worked with a research assistant to collaboratively select a social goal they wanted to work on, which should be feasible to achieve during the intervention. This social goal was programmed into the app by the research assistant, and then participants were introduced to the smartphone and the app, and they were asked to demonstrate basic phone and app functions to ensure comprehension and identify any potential challenges. Participants were provided with these smartphones to keep (Samsung Galaxy S8), and prepaid data and call and text plans were provided during the intervention period. Participants could access the app at any time during the intervention and could also access the SST video content beyond the study through links on the phone's home screen.

Intervention content was delivered twice daily, 7 days a week for 60 days, via automatic push notifications in concert with the EMA surveys—one in the morning and one in the evening, using semirandom administrations (ie, within blocks of 2.5 hours). We did not reimburse participants to respond to surveys and encouraged the use of the app on an as-needed basis for social goal support. During the intervention period, research assistants attempted to contact participants once weekly (or less frequently if the participant preferred) through brief check-in phone calls to address any technical issues or other questions regarding the intervention. When these check-ins occurred, they were generally no longer than 10 minutes and focused exclusively on technical support for the phone or app, given that some participants did not have a history of smartphone ownership or experience with apps.

Broadly, the intervention was developed as a targeted approach for addressing social functioning (primary outcome) in people with schizophrenia in a scalable mobile format. We used the Ethica Data mobile platform to deliver the intervention content through a native Android operating system app. The key elements included SST to address social skill challenges as they relate to goal progress in daily life and structured social goal support and feedback to address social motivation impairments that interfere with forming and maintaining social bonds, which were the primary targets of the intervention. Elements of cognitive behavioral therapy-including self-monitoring of progress toward social goals and social appraisals (ie, perceptions of social competence in recent interactions), and then feedback based on participants' own ratings from previous EMA instances-were incorporated to address these social motivation impairments. For example, when participants reported low motivation to work toward their social goal, the app would remind them of positive social experiences that occurred in earlier interactions (Figure 1). These components were informed by models of motivational impairment that suggest challenges in accessing memories of prior positive experiences can interfere with the drive to attain goals [22-24]. The app also provides validating and encouraging statements to increase anticipatory pleasure for future social experiences, consistent with the temporal experience of the pleasure model of impairment in schizophrenia [25]. Details on the iterative development process and theoretical framework for the MASS app are provided in a recent paper by our team [21].

Figure 1. Motivation and Skills Support app content: feedback and validation and encouragement to address social motivation impairment.



The format of the MASS app was an EMI, which consisted of push notifications via a smartphone that linked the user to app content related to social goal support and feedback. SST content

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27475

provide modeling of effective communication in real-world JMIR Ment Health 2021 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e27475 | p.84

included social goal support, including a list of specific steps

the user could choose from and video content designed to

contexts. The videos included two pairs of actors (1 man and 1 woman in each) demonstrating eight primary social skills (eg, active listening, sharing pleasant or unpleasant feelings), mirroring those covered in SST (links to SST videos are provided in Multimedia Appendix 1) [26]. All skills were demonstrated in a full-length video that included narratives. Participants were instructed to watch the full-length video on their own time during the first week of the intervention; full-length videos were accessible on the smartphone's home screen. The video narratives included two stories: one involved 2 old friends reconnecting after several years apart, and the other included 2 acquaintances working toward developing a stronger connection. Although not explicitly stated for all characters, the subtext was that each narrative included a character with a history of mental health challenges; as such, disclosing mental health needs was one demonstrated skill. During the intervention, SST videos were delivered in short clips embedded within the EMI content, structured based on which skills were displayed.

The MASS app was personalized during an orientation meeting with the participant so that the goal support was specific to each participant's identified social goal selected from a list of available goals curated by the research team. For example, if the participant chose to make a new friend by going to events as their desired goal at the baseline assessment, during the intervention period, the app would provide a list of steps required to attain that specific goal from which the participant could select (eg, "Identify an event that interests you by searching online or in a newspaper/publication," "Find transportation to an event [eg, ask a relative to drive you, or look up the train, subway, or bus schedule]," or "Introduce yourself to someone at an event and start a conversation by saying hello"). This content is provided in the context of EMI delivered via notifications twice daily throughout the intervention period. Each step included the option to view additional information about how to complete the step and provided specific examples when appropriate (eg, if a participant selected "Identify an event that interests you," the app offered specific websites as suggestions). After being reminded of their primary social goal, the participant had the option of selecting one of the available steps to work on during the next several hours. If the participant elected to work on one of the suggested steps at that time, the EMI would query the participant as to how motivated they were to work toward that step and how much progress they anticipated making on the step (Figure 1). In the final section of the survey, the participant had the opportunity to view SST content videos, with guidance as to which videos would be most relevant, given which step the participant chose to work on related to their goal. In the abovementioned example, the participant could select SST video clips that demonstrated effective ways of using active listening and/or finding common interests.

For instances in which participants either elected to not work on their social goal or when they elected to work on their goal but reported low motivation and/or anticipated progress, they were provided a statement of validation (eg, "Everyone has difficulties working towards their goals sometimes") and encouragement (eg, "We find that the best way to think of social

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27475
```

goals and social skills is that you are building a bridge, brick by brick, day by day. This takes time and effort") randomly administered by the app from a set of 31 potential statements (16 validation and 15 encouragement). These statements were generated by our research team, which includes 4 clinical psychologists with extensive experience working with people with schizophrenia. The participants also had the opportunity to view SST content videos at any time, regardless of whether they wanted to work on their social goals at that time.

#### Measures

#### **Primary Outcome: Social Functioning**

The primary outcome measures for this study were the Social Functioning Scale (SFS [27]) and the Heinrichs Quality of Life Scale–Interpersonal Relations (QLS-IR [28]) subscale. The SFS is a self-report instrument designed to capture a wide range of socially relevant behaviors and activities and is the most widely used scale for assessing social functioning in schizophrenia [29]. The 79-item scale includes assessment of social competence and performance across seven domains: withdrawal (social isolation), interpersonal functioning (social contacts and interpersonal competence), prosocial activities (social recreation activities), recreation (solitary recreation activities), independence - competence (social abilities), independence - performance (actual performance of social skills), and employment. Standard scores were calculated, with a mean of 100 (SD 15) across all domains, and the total score was computed based on the mean of all domains. Lower scores represent more impairment in social functioning. The QLS-IR is an interview-rated measure that includes items designed to address social functioning across a range of social contacts and relationships throughout the past 30 days.

The QLS-IR (along with other domains assessed by the QLS, including role functioning and motivation) was originally designed to measure impairments reflective of the deficit syndrome (ie, persistent, primary negative symptoms), but the scale has been used extensively as an outcome measure in intervention studies [30]. Although the SFS captures more subjective qualities of interpersonal functioning (ie, satisfaction and perceived competence), the QLS-IR assesses both the quantity and quality of social functioning as ascertained by a trained interviewer. As such, we included both assessments as primary outcome measures to gather data on the extent to which the MASS app intervention addressed the broad spectrum of social functioning.

#### Secondary Outcomes: Positive and Negative Symptoms

We used the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale [31] as our measure of positive symptoms. We administered the following items: somatic concern, grandiosity, suspiciousness, hallucinations, unusual thought content, bizarre behavior, disorientation, and conceptual disorganization [32,33]. For negative symptoms, we used the Clinical Assessment Interview for Negative Symptoms (CAINS) [34]. The CAINS assesses experiential (motivation and pleasure [MAP]) and expressive deficits. We only present findings for the MAP items here, given that we did not expect the intervention to improve expressive deficits. Trained interviewers conducted these symptom assessments.

XSL•FO RenderX

# *Treatment Target: Social Motivation (Desire, Behavior, and Interaction Appraisals)*

EMA items addressed multiple components of social motivation, including the desire for social contact, the number of recent social interactions, and appraisals of the outcomes of these interactions. The desire for social contact was assessed with the following question: "How much would you like to talk to or interact with someone right now?" with response options ranging from 1 (not at all) to 5 (extremely). When participants elected to work on their social goal, they were asked, "How motivated are you to work on this step?" with response options ranging from 1 (not at all motivated) to 5 (as motivated as possible). The number of interactions was assessed with the following question: "How many conversations did you have online, by phone/text, or in person, since the last time you filled out a survey?" Response options included *none*, *1*, *2*, or *3 or more*.

We asked participants to rate their appraisals of the outcomes of recent interactions after instances in which they reported having a recent conversation. These included items that addressed perceived social skills ("How well do you think you communicated in those conversations?" with response options ranging from 1 [I did not communicate well at all] to 4 [I communicated very well]), the extent to which interactions were worth the effort ("To what extent were those interactions worth the effort?" with response options ranging from 1 [not worth the effort at all] to 4 [definitely worth the effort]), and how likable they perceived themselves to be ("What do you think other people thought of you in those conversations?" with response options ranging from 1 [very unlikable] to 4 [very likable]).

#### Analyses

We first examined distributions of the outcome measures to assess normality. We also ran bivariate correlations between the sample characteristics and clinical assessments to examine potential confounding factors. Assuming normal distributions, we ran separate repeated measures general linear models with each outcome variable as the dependent variable across the three time points (baseline, termination, and follow-up), including relevant covariates. We present tests of linear change and include effect size estimates (partial eta squared) for each outcome. We followed up general linear models with two-tailed paired-samples t tests to identify changes from baseline to treatment termination and present Cohen d effect sizes to estimate the magnitude of the short-term treatment effect.

For EMA data, we first examined the distributions of the variables of interest. For normally distributed variables, we ran mixed-effects linear models to examine developmental changes in each variable during the 8-week intervention period in separate models. We included the time point as a predictor of each EMA variable.

We also examined the extent to which the intervention target (ie, EMA-reported social motivation) predicted changes in social functioning from baseline to treatment termination. We included any EMA-reported variables that demonstrated a linear change during treatment and used the covariate method to demonstrate changes in social functioning via regression models, with the aggregated EMA variables as predictors, baseline clinical measures as covariates, and termination measures as outcomes [35]. We also included gender as a covariate in analyses of social functioning, given well-documented gender differences in social skills and other social outcomes in schizophrenia [36].

# Results

# Overview

In total, 7 participants completed the study prematurely. Reasons for discontinued participation included no longer being interested in the study after initially enrolling, encountering technical difficulties with the mobile app, or being lost to follow up (Figure 2). This left 31 participants who completed the entire study. The sample characteristics are listed in Table 1. The final sample ranged in age from 22 to 65 years (median 48 years). The sample consisted of roughly half men, half schizophrenia, and half schizoaffective disorder and was racially diverse (17/31, 55% non-White). Most of the sample was unemployed, currently receiving disability payments, noncollege graduates, and never married.

Participants selected a broad range of social goals, including friends, family, and romantic relationships (see Table 2 for the selected goals). After treatment termination, we conducted an exit interview and, of the 28 participants, 19 (68%) reported completing some (10/28, 36%) or all (9/28, 32%) of their social goals (we did not collect these data for our first 3 participants). As one goal in particular—*practice conversation skills with an existing friend*—was potentially easier to achieve than the remaining goals, we tested whether goal attainment rates were higher for this goal than the others. Of the 5 participants who selected this goal, 4 (80%) met at least a part of their goals, 15 (65%) reported meeting at least part of their goals. These proportions were not significantly different ( $X^2_1$ =0.3; *P*=.60).

Participants responded to 42.5% (51/120) of push notifications on average, which was acceptable given the nature of the study (ie, the app was designed to be used on an as-needed basis for social goal support). There was a wide range of engagement in SST video content. One participant never watched the SST videos, whereas, on the other extreme, one participant viewed the videos 422 times. After removing this outlier, participants viewed the videos an average of 13.5 (SD 14.52) times during the 60-day intervention period (median 10).



Figure 2. CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) chart for the Motivation and Skills Support app open pilot.





Fulford et al

Table 1. Participant demographics and sample characteristics (n=31).

Variable	Values
Diagnosis, n (%)	
Schizophrenia	17 (55)
Schizoaffective disorder	14 (45)
Race, n (%)	
Asian American	9 (29)
Black or African American	5 (16)
White	14 (45)
Multiracial	3 (10)
Hispanic or Latinx ethnicity	1 (3)
Age (years), mean (SD)	46 (11)
Illness duration (years), mean (SD)	23.03 (12.52)
Gender (men), n (%)	16 (52)
Antipsychotic medication, n (%)	26 (87)
Marital status (married, cohabitating, or divorced), n (%)	4 (13)
Education (college graduate), n (%)	9 (29)
Employed (full- or part-time), n (%)	11 (36)
Disability (receive disability payments), n (%)	21 (75)
Smartphone history, n (%)	26 (87)

Table 2. Social goals selected and number completed (consider putting goals in order of most to least common; n=31).

Social goal	Participant, n (%)
Make a new friend by going to events	7 (23)
Make a new friend at work	1 (3)
Practice conversation skills with an existing friend	5 (16)
Reconnect with an old friend	2 (7)
Improve an existing friendship with regular activity	1 (3)
Improve relationship with family member you don't live with or see regularly	7 (23)
Improve relationship with family member you live with or see regularly	3 (10)
Start a romantic relationship with someone you already know	1 (3)
Start a romantic relationship through a dating website	4 (13)
Participants who completed part or all of social goal	19 (68) <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>n=28 participants with data on goal attainment.

# **Clinical Outcomes**

Before analyzing clinical treatment outcomes, we examined potential differences in changes in social functioning (SFS and QLS-IR) from baseline to treatment termination based on sample characteristics, including gender (all but 1 participant identified as a man or a woman), age, race or ethnicity, and employment status (because the vast majority were never married, we did not examine this variable). There was only one difference among these variables: women demonstrated significantly greater improvement in SFS scores from baseline to treatment termination than men ( $t_{30}$ =-2.19; *P*=.04; Cohen *d*=0.8).

#### https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27475

RenderX

Primary Outcome: Social Functioning

The intervention outcomes are shown in Table 3. The mean SFS scores showed a moderate increase from baseline (107.99, SD=7.13) to treatment termination (110.13, SD 7.95;  $t_{30}$ =-2.52; P=.02; Cohen d=0.44), but then decreased at follow-up (108.23, SD 7.29; overall  $F_2$ =2.56; P=.09; partial  $\eta^2$ =0.08). In an analysis of covariance model with gender as a between-subjects factor, the time by gender interaction effect was significant ( $F_2$ =3.26; P=.046; partial  $\eta^2$ =0.1). Women showed increases in SFS scores from baseline to termination, which then decreased from termination to follow-up. On the other hand,

men showed relatively little change in SFS scores across the 3-time points (Figure 3). This time by gender interaction was best represented by a quadratic term ( $F_1$ =7.55; P=.01; partial  $\eta^2$ =0.21). The mean QLS-IR scores showed a small increase

from baseline (2.60) to treatment termination (2.90;  $t_{30}$ =-1.33; *P*=.19; Cohen *d*=0.24), and then a decrease at follow-up (2.70; overall *F*<sub>2</sub>=1.13; *P*=.33; partial  $\eta^2$ =0.04).

Table 3. Intervention outcomes: social functioning, positive symptoms, and motivation and pleasure negative symptoms.

Measure	Baseline, mean (SD)	Treatment termination, mean (SD)	3-month follow- up, mean (SD)	Baseline to follow-up		Baseline to termina- tion		Cohen d
				F test ( $df$ )	P value	Post hoc <i>t</i> test ( <i>df</i> )	P value	
SFS <sup>a</sup> total	108.00 (7.13)	110.13 (7.95)	108.23 (7.29)	2.56 (2)	.09	-2.52 (30)	.02	0.44
QLS-IR <sup>b</sup>	2.60 (1.36)	2.90 (1.15)	2.70 (1.25)	1.13 (2)	.33	-1.33 (30)	.19	0.24
BPRS <sup>c</sup> positive symptoms	2.44 (0.70)	2.22 (0.78)	2.14 (0.76)	3.74 (2)	.03	2.49 (30)	.02	0.45
CAINS-MAP <sup>d</sup>	1.64 (0.70)	1.71 (0.60)	1.71 (0.77)	0.19 (2)	.83	-0.65 (30)	.52	0.12

<sup>a</sup>SFS: Social Functioning Scale.

<sup>b</sup>QLS-IR: Quality of Life Scale–Interpersonal Relations.

<sup>c</sup>BPRS: Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale.

<sup>d</sup>CAINS-MAP: Clinical Assessment Interview for Negative Symptoms-Motivation and Pleasure.

**Figure 3.** SFS by gender. SFS scores significantly differed from baseline to treatment termination among female participants (*P*=.04). SFS: social functioning outcomes.



#### **Positive and Negative Symptoms**

Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale positive symptoms decreased significantly across the 3 time points (overall, F=3.74; P=.03; partial  $\eta^2=0.11$ ). Post hoc tests revealed a moderate decrease from baseline to follow-up ( $t_{30}=2.49$ ; P=.02; Cohen d=0.45), and a small decrease from baseline to termination ( $t_{30}=1.65$ ; P=.11; Cohen d=0.30) and from termination to follow-up ( $t_{30}=1.04$ ; P=.31; Cohen d=0.19). CAINS-MAP scores did not change across the 3 time points (overall, F=0.19; P=.83; partial  $\eta^2=0.01$ ).

# Change in Momentary Treatment Targets and Associations With Social Functioning

As reported earlier, the missing data for the EMA surveys were 55%. Missing EMA data were unrelated to sample characteristics (eg, gender, age, or diagnosis) or clinical variables at baseline (eg, social functioning and negative symptoms) nor did it change over time (*b*=–0.002, SE 0.003;  $X^2_1$ =0.5; *P*=.50). Thus, the findings included all the participants in the study.

General desire to interact with others (b=-0.04, SE 0.05) and motivation to work on steps toward social goals (b=0.02, SE 0.08) did not change during the intervention (see Multimedia

Appendix 1 for outputs). The number of interactions reported via EMA decreased across the 8-week intervention period (b=-0.11, SE 0.05;  $t_{30}$ =-2.18; P=.03; 95% CI -0.20 to -0.01). The number of interactions reported showed a small, negative association with the number of missing surveys (r=-0.33; P=.09), suggesting that the decline in reported interactions could have reflected survey burden, or simply that those with fewer interactions were less likely to engage with the app.

A preliminary analysis revealed that the three items assessing social appraisals of recent interactions (how likable they were, how well they communicated, and how much these interactions were worth the effort) were all highly correlated with each other (r>0.80). As such, we calculated a composite social appraisal

variable, which was the average of these three items ( $\alpha$ =.95). This social appraisal composite increased significantly in the intervention period (*b*=0.11, SE 0.05; *t*<sub>30</sub>=2.23; *P*=.03; 95% CI 0.01 to 0.19; Figure 4).

We then examined the degree to which aggregated EMA-reported social appraisals predicted changes in social functioning (SFS and QLS-IR) from baseline to treatment termination using linear regression. We included gender as a covariate in these models. EMA measures of social appraisals predicted significant increases in SFS scores from baseline to treatment termination. Social appraisals were not associated with changes in QLS-IR scores (Table 4).

Figure 4. Changes in ecological momentary assessment-reported social appraisals during the intervention period.



 Table 4. Changes in social functioning (Social Functioning Scale and Quality of Life Scale–Interpersonal Relations) from baseline to treatment termination as predicted by ecological momentary assessment-reported social appraisals.

Soci	al functioning	b (SE)	t test ( $df$ )	P value	$R^2$	$R^2$ change
SFS	<sup>a</sup> termination					
	SFS baseline	0.848 (0.124)	6.820 (30)	<.001	0.594	N/A <sup>b</sup>
	Gender	3.540 (1.701)	2.081 (30)	.047	0.650	0.056
	Social appraisal composite	2.810 (1.362)	2.063 (30)	.049	0.700	0.049
QLS	S-IR <sup>c</sup> termination					
	QLS-IR baseline	0.465 (0.135)	3.447 (30)	.002	0.321	N/A
	Gender	0.461 (0.356)	1.295 (30)	.21	0.362	0.041
	Social appraisal composite	0.031 (0.288)	0.108 (30)	.92	0.363	0.001

<sup>a</sup>SFS: Social Functioning Scale.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>c</sup>QLS-IR: Quality of Life Scale–Interpersonal Relations.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This paper presented the preliminary outcomes of an open pilot trial of the MASS smartphone app in 31 outpatients diagnosed with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. Low study attrition and high levels of engagement in the app suggest that this stand-alone mobile intervention was feasible. In addition, the MASS mobile intervention demonstrated promise for addressing social needs in people with schizophrenia, with significant increases in our primary outcome, self-reported social functioning, as measured by the SFS, from baseline to treatment termination. This is the first study to demonstrate that a stand-alone mobile intervention can be effective at improving social functioning in schizophrenia, making these preliminary findings an important step forward in this important area of high need.

The significant improvement in self-reported social functioning may reflect increased satisfaction with and perceived competence in social interactions. This is evidenced by changes in key intervention targets reported by EMA in the 8-week intervention period. Participants reported significant increases in positive social appraisals, including perceptions of how well they thought they communicated with others, how likable they were, and the degree to which these interactions were worth the effort. Furthermore, the mean levels of these positive social appraisals were associated with significant increases in social functioning from baseline to treatment termination, suggesting that these appraisals show promise as key intervention targets.

Increases in positive social appraisals could have resulted from several components of the MASS app intervention. For example, SST video content and associated opportunities to practice skills could have increased participants' confidence in their social abilities, leading to increased perceptions of effective communication skills. This content could also have led to more effective communication and the associated natural positive consequences of those skills. Perceptions of effective communication could also have resulted from support for social goals, such as regular reminders of specific steps required to attain desired social goals; feedback on goal progress (ie, completing such a step) could have provided concrete evidence of competence. This would be consistent with theories of goal pursuit, including those that form the foundation for organizing goals in ways that make them specific, measurable, attainable, realistic, and time-limited [37,38]. One way the MASS app could have been effective in improving perceived social effectiveness is by serving as a tool to structure larger social goals in ways that make them more attainable, thus increasing confidence in the ability to ultimately reach them.

A potential challenge for people with schizophrenia spectrum disorders is navigating the complexity of social interactions; such complexity may increase the perceived effort required for a successful interaction [39,40]. Thus, increased positive social appraisals could have also led to reductions in perceived effort required to communicate effectively or simply could have enhanced the extent to which these interactions were perceived

as enjoyable. More work is needed to disentangle the specific mechanisms involved in modifying these appraisals.

It is also possible that features of the study other than MASS app content could have served to increase positive social appraisals and social functioning. Although the MASS app was delivered as a stand-alone mobile intervention, our research team did have contact with participants through check-ins over the phone (eg, troubleshooting technical issues and/or discussing any challenges with the intervention app). These check-ins could have had a positive effect on positive social appraisals, an unintended consequence reported in previous EMA work in schizophrenia [41]. It will be helpful to quantify the degree of social contact provided by research staff in future work examining the efficacy of digital interventions to better understand the extent to which this serves as an active intervention ingredient [9]. It is also possible that increased awareness of social activity associated with completing EMA surveys could have served to improve social functioning. For example, repeated monitoring and reporting of social contacts could have primed participants to reach out to others and increase communication, further increasing social functioning by the end of the intervention. However, the impact of awareness alone on overall social functioning was likely to be small relative to the active intervention components.

Improvements in self-reported social functioning were not maintained at the 3-month follow-up. The lack of sustained improvement indicates that ongoing support (or support for a longer period) may be needed to maintain positive social outcomes in people with schizophrenia, especially concerning attaining long-term goals (eg, making a new friend). This is not surprising given longitudinal work demonstrating significant stability in social impairment in this population throughout long periods [8,42] and work showing limited long-term gains in social functioning in the context of time-limited evidence-based interventions (eg, cognitive behavioral therapy) [11]. Important follow-up work should examine adequate dosing and/or the need for the long-term stability of support in social functioning outcomes.

Significant reductions in positive symptoms, particularly suspiciousness, hostility, and unusual thought content, suggest the promise of the MASS intervention in addressing auxiliary experiences associated with social functioning. Active intervention components, such as social goal support, could have served to reduce the potential for ambiguity in social interactions through increased structure and predictability. This structured support could have further reduced feelings of suspiciousness, given the higher likelihood of interpretation biases in ambiguous situations among people who experience paranoia [43]. To better understand this possibility, future work could incorporate momentary measures of interpretation biases (ie, perceiving others as threatening) to examine the extent to which these may have decreased in the intervention. In addition, given the lack of a control group in this study, it is possible that reductions in positive symptoms were because of the passage of time alone and not specific to the intervention. Although we did not recruit participants during a period of heightened symptoms (most were at the low end of the spectrum), it is still possible that those interested in participating were experiencing

```
XSL•FO
```

more distress than usual and that this dissipated naturally over time. However, it is important to note that nearly all participants were on a stable dose of antipsychotic medication at study entry.

There were differences in social functioning outcomes by gender: for women, SFS scores increased significantly from baseline to treatment termination but then returned to baseline levels at the 3-month follow-up assessment). For men, the SFS scores remained relatively unchanged across the three time points. Women with schizophrenia typically have better social functioning than men [44,45]. For example, women show better social skills [36,46] and are more likely to marry [47,48] than men with schizophrenia. However, differences observed in this study did not appear to be related to baseline levels of social functioning, as mean values were not significantly different between genders at baseline. Differences also did not appear to be related to adherence to the intervention (men and women did not differ in EMA surveys completed). Another possibility is that social functioning outcomes are related to the types of social goals selected. There was a noticeable difference in goals selected between genders: 5 men chose to work toward improving a relationship with a family member whom they did not live with or regularly see, whereas only 1 woman chose this goal. It is possible that this goal was more challenging than others; however, given the small sample size, we cannot definitely test this assumption. Nonetheless, in future work, it will be important to collect additional data on the extent to which goals vary in difficulty and how variance in difficulty might influence outcomes.

The lack of a positive impact of the MASS app on interview-rated social functioning (QLS-IR) or the number of social contacts (reported via EMA) suggests that although the intervention improved a broad range of perceived social outcomes (as assessed by the SFS), it did not impact specific markers of social functioning, such as the number of contacts or social network size. Scores on the QLS-IR reflect increases in social network size and degree of contact with relatives and acquaintances, among other objective outcomes, similar to EMA-reported interactions. These and other outcomes, including negative symptoms, may be particularly challenging to improve in a brief, remotely delivered intervention and may require additional support that cannot be delivered in such a platform. As such, a way to improve the effectiveness of the MASS app (as with other mobile interventions) would be as a supplemental, augmentative intervention to be used alongside standard evidence-based interventions delivered in standard, in-person contexts [9]. This approach was recently tested by Granholm et al [19], in which participants received up to 24 weeks of combined weekly group therapy and mobile intervention. Improvements in key targets, including defeatist attitudes and negative symptoms, have been reported. Similar to this study, the authors demonstrated improvements in social functioning, but only from baseline to treatment termination (not over follow-up). Another way to improve the effectiveness of the MASS app, as mentioned earlier, would be to increase the length of the active intervention period, providing support for a sufficient amount of time for participants to achieve their desired social goals fully.

### Conclusions

As reported earlier, the findings are limited to the uncontrolled nature of this pilot study. As such, we cannot rule out the possibility that outcomes could be owing simply to the passage of time. Furthermore, our sample was relatively small, and we may have been underpowered to detect the small effects of the intervention. Another potential limitation of this study is that we provided mobile devices and data plans to all participants, making it unclear whether this intervention approach would be scalable to individuals who lack the resources needed for sustained ownership of personal smartphones. Despite these limitations, the MASS app demonstrates promise as a stand-alone mobile intervention and is ultimately used as a supplemental intervention designed to address social functioning needs in people with schizophrenia.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Motivation and Skills Support app social skills training video content. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 98 KB - mental v8i6e27475 app1.pdf]

# References

- Meyer PS, Gottlieb JD, Penn D, Mueser K, Gingerich S. Individual resiliency training: an early intervention approach to enhance well-being in people with first-episode psychosis. Psychiatr Ann 2015 Nov;45(11):554-560. [doi: 10.3928/00485713-20151103-06]
- 2. Kurtz M, Mueser K. A meta-analysis of controlled research on social skills training for schizophrenia. J Consult Clin Psychol 2008 Jun;76(3):491-504. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.76.3.491] [Medline: 18540742]
- Lutgens D, Gariepy G, Malla A. Psychological and psychosocial interventions for negative symptoms in psychosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 2017 May 02;210(5):324-332. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.bp.116.197103</u>] [Medline: <u>28302699</u>]
- 4. Turner DT, McGlanaghy E, Cuijpers P, van der Gaag M, Karyotaki E, MacBeth A. A meta-analysis of social skills training and related interventions for psychosis. Schizophr Bull 2018 Apr 06;44(3):475-491 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx146] [Medline: 29140460]

- Takeuchi H, Suzuki T, Uchida H, Watanabe K, Mimura M. Antipsychotic treatment for schizophrenia in the maintenance phase: a systematic review of the guidelines and algorithms. Schizophr Res 2012 Feb;134(2-3):219-225. [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.11.021]
- Leucht S, Corves C, Arbter D, Engel RR, Li C, Davis JM. Second-generation versus first-generation antipsychotic drugs for schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Lancet 2009 Jan 03;373(9657):31-41. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61764-X</u>] [Medline: <u>19058842</u>]
- Swartz MS, Perkins DO, Stroup TS, Davis SM, Capuano G, Rosenheck RA, CATIE Investigators. Effects of antipsychotic medications on psychosocial functioning in patients with chronic schizophrenia: findings from the NIMH CATIE study. Am J Psychiatry 2007 Mar;164(3):428-436. [doi: 10.1176/ajp.2007.164.3.428] [Medline: 17329467]
- Velthorst E, Fett AJ, Reichenberg A, Perlman G, van Os J, Bromet EJ, et al. The 20-year longitudinal trajectories of social functioning in individuals with psychotic disorders. Am J Psychiatry 2017 Nov 01;174(11):1075-1085 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.15111419] [Medline: 27978770]
- 9. Fulford D, Mote J. Increasing access to evidence-based care in serious mental illnessmbracing mobile technology while minding the digital divide. Clin Psychol 2019;72(2):1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-23483-6\_14]
- Mojtabai R, Fochtmann L, Chang S, Kotov R, Craig T, Bromet E. Unmet need for mental health care in schizophrenia: an overview of literature and new data from a first-admission study. Schizophr Bull 2009 Jul;35(4):679-695 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp045] [Medline: 19505994]
- Laws KR, Darlington N, Kondel TK, McKenna PJ, Jauhar S. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for schizophrenia outcomes for functioning, distress and quality of life: a meta-analysis. BMC Psychol 2018 Jul 17;6(1):32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40359-018-0243-2] [Medline: 30016999]
- 12. Carras MC, Mojtabai R, Furr-Holden CD, Eaton W, Cullen BA. Use of mobile phones, computers and internet among clients of an inner-city community psychiatric clinic. J Psychiatr Pract 2014 Mar;20(2):94-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/01.pra.0000445244.08307.84] [Medline: 24638044]
- Firth J, Cotter J, Torous J, Bucci S, Firth JA, Yung AR. Mobile phone ownership and endorsement of "mHhealth" among people with psychosis: a meta-analysis of cross-sectional studies. Schizophr Bull 2016 Mar;42(2):448-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv132] [Medline: 26400871]
- Ben-Zeev D, Kaiser SM, Brenner CJ, Begale M, Duffecy J, Mohr DC. Development and usability testing of FOCUS: a smartphone system for self-management of schizophrenia. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2013 Dec;36(4):289-296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/prj0000019] [Medline: 24015913]
- 15. Ben-Zeev D, Brian RM, Jonathan G, Razzano L, Pashka N, Carpenter-Song E, et al. Mobile Health (mHealth) versus clinic-based group intervention for people with serious mental illness: a randomized controlled trial. Psychiatr Serv 2018 Sep 01;69(9):978-985. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201800063] [Medline: 29793397]
- Schlosser D, Campellone T, Kim D, Truong B, Vergani S, Ward C, et al. Feasibility of PRIME: a cognitive neuroscience-informed mobile app intervention to enhance motivated behavior and improve quality of life in recent onset schizophrenia. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Apr 28;5(2):e77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5450] [Medline: 27125771]
- Luther L, Fischer MW, Johnson-Kwochka AV, Minor KS, Holden R, Lapish CL, et al. Mobile enhancement of motivation in schizophrenia: a pilot randomized controlled trial of a personalized text message intervention for motivation deficits. J Consult Clin Psychol 2020 Oct;88(10):923-936. [doi: 10.1037/ccp0000599] [Medline: 32790451]
- Granholm E, Ben-Zeev D, Link PC, Bradshaw KR, Holden JL. Mobile Assessment and Treatment for Schizophrenia (MATS): a pilot trial of an interactive text-messaging intervention for medication adherence, socialization, and auditory hallucinations. Schizophr Bull 2012 May;38(3):414-425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr155] [Medline: 22080492]
- 19. Granholm E, Holden J, Dwyer K, Mikhael T, Link P, Depp C. Mobile-assisted cognitive behavioral therapy for negative symptoms: open single-arm trial with schizophrenia patients. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Dec 01;7(12):e24406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24406] [Medline: 33258792]
- Shumway M, Saunders T, Shern D, Pines E, Downs A, Burbine T, et al. Preferences for schizophrenia treatment outcomes among public policy makers, consumers, families, and providers. Psychiatr Serv 2003 Aug;54(8):1124-1128. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.54.8.1124] [Medline: 12883140]
- Fulford D, Mote J, Gard DE, Mueser KT, Gill K, Leung L, et al. Development of the Motivation and Skills Support (MASS) social goal attainment smartphone app for (and with) people with schizophrenia. J Behav Cogn Ther 2020 Apr;30(1):23-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbct.2020.03.016] [Medline: 33437970]
- Gard DE, Cooper S, Fisher M, Genevsky A, Mikels JA, Vinogradov S. Evidence for an emotion maintenance deficit in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res 2011 May 15;187(1-2):24-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.12.018] [Medline: 21237516]
- 23. Grant PM, Beck AT. Defeatist beliefs as a mediator of cognitive impairment, negative symptoms, and functioning in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 2009 Jul 27;35(4):798-806 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn008] [Medline: 18308717]
- 24. Mote J, Grant PM, Silverstein SM. Treatment implications of situational variability in cognitive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia. Psychiatr Serv 2018 Oct 01;69(10):1095-1097. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201800073</u>] [Medline: <u>30122135</u>]

- Gard DE, Kring AM, Gard MG, Horan WP, Green MF. Anhedonia in schizophrenia: distinctions between anticipatory and consummatory pleasure. Schizophr Res 2007 Jul;93(1-3):253-260 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2007.03.008</u>] [Medline: <u>17490858</u>]
- 26. Bellack A, Mueser K, Gingerich S, Agresta J. Social Skills Training for Schizophrenia, Second Edition: A Step-by-Step Guide. New York, United States: Guilford Press; 1997:1-340.
- 27. Birchwood M, Smith J, Cochrane R, Wetton S, Copestake S. The Social Functioning Scale. The development and validation of a new scale of social adjustment for use in family intervention programmes with schizophrenic patients. Br J Psychiatry 1990 Dec 02;157(6):853-859. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.157.6.853] [Medline: 2289094]
- 28. Heinrichs DW, Hanlon TE, Carpenter WT. The Quality of Life Scale: an instrument for rating the schizophrenic deficit syndrome. Schizophr Bull 1984 Jan 01;10(3):388-398. [doi: 10.1093/schbul/10.3.388] [Medline: <u>6474101</u>]
- Burns T, Patrick D. Social functioning as an outcome measure in schizophrenia studies. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2007 Dec;116(6):403-418. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2007.01108.x] [Medline: 17941964]
- 30. Kane JM, Robinson DG, Schooler NR, Mueser KT, Penn DL, Rosenheck RA, et al. Comprehensive versus usual community care for first-episode psychosis: 2-year outcomes from the NIMH RAISE early treatment program. Am J Psychiatry 2016 Apr 01;173(4):362-372 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15050632] [Medline: 26481174]
- 31. Overall JE, Gorham DR. The Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale. Psychol Rep 2016 Aug 31;10(3):799-812. [doi: 10.2466/pr0.1962.10.3.799]
- 32. Fulford D, Pearson R, Stuart BK, Fisher M, Mathalon DH, Vinogradov S, et al. Symptom assessment in early psychosis: the use of well-established rating scales in clinical high-risk and recent-onset populations. Psychiatry Res 2014 Dec 30;220(3):1077-1083 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.07.047] [Medline: 25278477]
- 33. Mueser K, Curran P, McHugo G. Factor structure of the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale in schizophrenia. Psychol Assess 1997;9(3):196-204. [doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.9.3.196]
- Kring A, Gur R, Blanchard J, Horan W, Reise S. The Clinical Assessment Interview for Negative Symptoms (CAINS): final development and validation. Am J Psychiatry 2013 Feb;170(2):165-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12010109] [Medline: 23377637]
- Petscher Y, Schatschneider C. A simulation study on the performance of the simple difference and covariance-adjusted scores in randomized experimental designs. J Educ Meas 2011;48(1):31-43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1745-3984.2010.00129.x] [Medline: 26379310]
- 36. Mueser K, Bellack A, Morrison R, Wade J. Gender, social competence, and symptomatology in schizophrenia: a longitudinal analysis. J Abnorm Psychol 1990;99(2):138-147. [doi: <u>10.1037/0021-843x.99.2.138</u>]
- 37. Carver C, Scheier M. On the structure of behavioral self-regulation. In: Boekaerts M, Pintrich PR, Zeidner M, editors. Handbook of Self-Regulation. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2000:41-84.
- Eccles JS, Wigfield A. Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. Annu Rev Psychol 2002 Feb;53(1):109-132. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135153] [Medline: 11752481]
- 39. Contreras-Huerta LS, Pisauro MA, Apps MA. Effort shapes social cognition and behaviour: a neuro-cognitive framework. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2020 Nov;118:426-439. [doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.08.003] [Medline: 32818580]
- 40. Fulford D, Campellone T, Gard DE. Social motivation in schizophrenia: how research on basic reward processes informs and limits our understanding. Clin Psychol Rev 2018 Jul;63:12-24. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2018.05.007] [Medline: 29870953]
- 41. Gard DE, Sanchez AH, Cooper K, Fisher M, Garrett C, Vinogradov S. Do people with schizophrenia have difficulty anticipating pleasure, engaging in effortful behavior, or both? J Abnorm Psychol 2014 Nov;123(4):771-782 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/abn0000005] [Medline: 25133986]
- 42. Mueser KT, Bellack AS, Douglas MS, Morrison RL. Prevalence and stability of social skill deficits in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 1991 Sep;5(2):167-176. [doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(91)90044-r]
- 43. Trotta A, Kang J, Stahl D, Yiend J. Interpretation bias in paranoia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Sci 2020 Oct 21;9(1):3-23. [doi: 10.1177/2167702620951552]
- 44. Bardenstein KK, McGlashan TH. Gender differences in affective, schizoaffective, and schizophrenic disorders. A review. Schizophr Res 1990;3(3):159-172. [doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(90)90034-5] [Medline: 2278981]
- 45. Tamminga CA. Gender and schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry 1997;58 Suppl 15:33-37. [Medline: 9427875]
- 46. Lewine RR, Strauss JS, Gift TE. Sex differences in age at first hospital admission for schizophrenia: fact or artifact? Am J Psychiatry 1981 Apr;138(4):440-444. [doi: 10.1176/ajp.138.4.440] [Medline: 7212101]
- 47. Bhatia T, Franzos MA, Wood JA, Nimgaonkar VL, Deshpande SN. Gender and procreation among patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2004 Jun 01;68(2-3):387-394. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2003.08.009</u>] [Medline: <u>15099620</u>]
- 48. Grossman LS, Harrow M, Rosen C, Faull R. Sex differences in outcome and recovery for schizophrenia and other psychotic and nonpsychotic disorders. Psychiatr Serv 2006 Jun;57(6):844-850. [doi: 10.1176/ps.2006.57.6.844] [Medline: 16754762]

# Abbreviations

RenderX

**CAINS:** Clinical Assessment Interview for Negative Symptoms **CBTp:** cognitive behavioral therapy for psychosis

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27475

EMA: ecological momentary assessment EMI: ecological momentary intervention MAP: motivation and pleasure MASS: Motivation and Skills Support QLS-IR: Quality of Life Scale–Interpersonal Relations SFS: Social Functioning Scale SST: social skills training

Edited by J Torous; submitted 26.01.21; peer-reviewed by L Luther, J Fiszdon, J Choi; comments to author 12.02.21; revised version received 05.04.21; accepted 17.04.21; published 15.06.21.

Please cite as:

Fulford D, Gard DE, Mueser KT, Mote J, Gill K, Leung L, Mow J Preliminary Outcomes of an Ecological Momentary Intervention for Social Functioning in Schizophrenia: Pre-Post Study of the Motivation and Skills Support App JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e27475 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27475 doi:10.2196/27475 PMID:34128812

©Daniel Fulford, David E Gard, Kim T Mueser, Jasmine Mote, Kathryn Gill, Lawrence Leung, Jessica Mow. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 15.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Needs and Experiences of Users of Digital Navigation Tools for Mental Health Treatment and Supportive Services: Survey Study

Elizabeth Stafford<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Teri Brister<sup>1</sup>, LPC, PhD; Ken Duckworth<sup>1</sup>, MD; Natali Rauseo-Ricupero<sup>2</sup>, LCSW; Sarah Lagan<sup>2</sup>, BA

<sup>1</sup>The National Alliance on Mental Illness, Arlington, VA, United States <sup>2</sup>Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

Elizabeth Stafford, MPH The National Alliance on Mental Illness 4301 Wilson Boulevard Suite 300 Arlington, VA, 22203 United States Phone: 1 7035247600 Email: estafford@nami.org

# Abstract

**Background:** Despite a recent proliferation in web-based and digital resources that are designed to assist users in finding appropriate mental health treatment and supportive services, it can be overwhelming, confusing, and difficult for an individual or family member to access and use an appropriate navigation tool. As digital resources are increasingly sought after, there is an urgent need for a clearer understanding of digital navigation tools in order to help link individuals with the tool that is best suited to their needs.

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to determine the needs of individuals seeking mental health treatment and supportive services and to quantify their experiences and satisfaction with available digital navigation tools.

**Methods:** A survey was offered via an email newsletter and social media posting throughout the extended membership of the National Alliance on Mental Illness, which includes both individuals with a mental health condition and their family members and support networks. A 13-item anonymous survey, which consisted of multiple-choice and open response options, was developed to measure participants' past use of and experiences with web-based, mobile, and phone-based navigation tools. The survey was available from April 9 through May 21, 2020.

**Results:** A total of 478 respondents completed the survey; the majority of respondents were female (397/478, 83.1%) and aged  $\geq$ 35 years (411/478, 86%). Younger respondents were more likely to report seeking mental health services for themselves, while older respondents were more likely to be searching for such services on behalf of a family member. The majority of respondents seeking such services on behalf of a family member (113/194, 58.2%) required a combination of mental health treatment and supportive services. Furthermore, two-thirds of respondents (322/478, 67.4%) used a navigation tool to find treatment or services. The majority of respondents who provided feedback about their experiences with navigation tools (224/280, 80%) reported difficulties, with data availability and accuracy being the most commonly reported issues.

**Conclusions:** The survey results suggest that issues with data availability and accuracy in available navigation tools remain a major barrier for locating timely and appropriate mental health treatment and supportive services within the population of individuals seeking such services. Particularly for individuals seeking care on behalf of a family member, improving the accuracy of and users' experiences with navigation tools could have a major impact on effectively connecting people to treatment and support services.

# (JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e27022) doi:10.2196/27022

# **KEYWORDS**

mental health; supportive services; perception; quality; satisfaction; needs; digital tools; directories; navigation



# Introduction

Approximately 1 in 5 adults and 1 in 7 adolescents in the United States experience a mental health condition each year [1,2]. Although there has been significant progress in reducing the stigma around seeking care, ensuring parity in insurance coverage, and developing new therapeutic models, many individuals continue to struggle in isolation when attempting to enter and navigate a complex and fractured care system. Each of the over 60 million people with a mental health condition has a unique set of experiences and needs that do not always fit neatly into the array of services that are available to them. Beyond talk therapy, which has become increasingly accessible through advances in telehealth [3], and medication, which can often be prescribed by a primary care physician [4], many people are in immediate need of specialized services, such as crisis care or partial hospitalization programs [5,6]. Additionally, coordinated care for chronic physical health issues [7], housing and legal support, or straightforward guidance and reassurance may be needed as people navigate their overall health care path [8].

In the context of the global COVID-19 pandemic, historic protests against systemic racism and injustice and significantly heightened political tensions, rates of anxiety, depression, and trauma-related stress have skyrocketed [9]. These overlapping crises have brought to light the flaws in our current systems of care. For many individuals, treatment can be inaccessible, unaffordable, and unsuited to their specific needs [1,10,11]. In 2019, approximately 43% of US adults with a mental illness who did not receive needed services stated that they could not afford the cost of treatment, 33% did not know where to go for help, and 20% simply could not afford to invest the necessary time for finding and receiving treatment [1]. For researchers and providers who are invested in reducing this disparity and increasing access to and the appropriate use of mental health services, it is critical to understand how people currently seek out and access treatment and support options.

Health care-focused technology solutions have proliferated in recent years. A recent study of downloadable apps for personal mental health management and support reported more than 1400 individual products in the Google Play and iTunes stores [12]. Insurance providers who offer Affordable Care Act marketplace and Medicare Advantage plans are required to publish provider directories [13,14], and many insurers and health systems offer web-based provider search and appointment scheduling tools. However, successfully connecting to appropriate services can be challenging, even with the aid of a directory or search tool. Users may be unsure about what service is the most appropriate for their specific needs and how to parse information on the internet about a diversity of specialties and treatment modalities with overly technical names and descriptors [15]. Provider directories are prone to inaccurate or out-of-date information [16]. Mental health providers are less likely to participate in insurance network plans and, consequently, may change their offerings and availability at will [17]. Amid a flood of information, users who are likely already experiencing considerable stress may be overwhelmed and left without clear guidance.

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27022

XSL•FO

Current efforts for simplifying this search process and supporting user decision making include the development of e-hubs—web-based directories of local resources and community services that enable users to efficiently search for and organize potential treatment and support options. With the recent rise in web-based mental health tools, more comprehensive e-hubs have emerged to support access to web-based resources such as web-based forums, self-help videos, and support groups [18,19]. It is particularly relevant that these web-based navigation resources and e-hubs have been community [19] and expert driven [18]. Although the availability and complexity of these navigation tools has increased, no single e-hub is recognized as a gold-standard model.

The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance of accessible mental health services [20] and has resulted in a surge in the demand for web-based treatment options. Despite the clear potential that digital navigation tools have for improving accessibility to both web-based and in-person resources, research on this topic is sparse and often limited to the experiences of younger adults [21]. Continued progress requires a more complete understanding of how people search for mental health treatment and related services and how satisfied they are with their experiences of using different tools. Thus, in this survey study, we aimed to assess how people seeking mental health resources use and perceive technology-based navigation resources. As we were aware of prior research suggesting that information on interventions is the most important [22] and that older adults are becoming increasingly comfortable with operating web-based platforms [23], we hypothesized that overall satisfaction with digital navigation tools would be high. However, given the diversity of the needs and experiences of users and the difficulty of maintaining accurate informational resources across a variety of platforms, quantifying the actual experience of users is critical.

# Methods

The National Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI) is a nonprofit, national advocacy group based in the United States. By using a nationwide network of state and local community–based affiliates, NAMI provides education, awareness, and advocacy programs to support the mission of empowering individuals with mental illness and their family members to lead productive and fulfilling lives. An integral part of this work is the operation of the NAMI HelpLine—an information and support center that is staffed by individuals with lived experiences of mental illness. The HelpLine served over 150,000 individuals in 2019 through phone calls, emails, social media interactions, web-based resources, and letters [24]. Throughout the first half of 2020, the HelpLine received a record number of inquiries and requests, which were in large part due to concerns about COVID-19 and stress-related mental health concerns.

In order to better serve the needs of the community and improve service delivery, NAMI conducted a web-based, anonymous survey to assess individuals' needs and experiences when searching for mental health resources. This voluntary survey was promoted through NAMI's national leadership email newsletter and the NAMI Facebook and Twitter accounts. The

#### Stafford et al

survey was available from April 9 through May 21, 2020. The eligibility requirements included any adult (aged  $\geq$ 18 years) located in the United States who had searched for mental health treatment or services for themselves or someone else via the internet.

The survey consisted of 13 questions, including demographic questions, questions abouts the types of mental health services sought, questions about the types of tools used, and questions about prior experience with navigation tools. Multimedia Appendix 1 outlines the questions that were asked in the survey as well as the type of responses available.

were male, and 1.5% (7/478) were gender nonbinary or self-described their gender identity. Half of the respondents were aged  $\geq$ 55 years (242/478, 50.6%), 35.4% (169/478) of individuals were aged 35-54 years, and 13.4% (64/478) of participants reported that they were between the ages of 18 and 34 years. Most participants (403/478, 84.3%) self-identified as White or Caucasian, 6.3% (30/478) of participants self-identified as Black or African American, 2.5% (12/478) reported a self-described identity, 2.1% (10/478) self-identified as mixed or multiracial, 1.7% (8/478) self-identified as Native American or Alaska Native. Demographics are detailed in Table 1.

respondents (397/478, 83.1%) were female, 14.6% (70/478)

# Results

A total of 520 individuals completed the survey, and 478 individuals met the eligibility requirements. A large portion of

Table 1.	Demographic characteristics	of	participants
----------	-----------------------------	----	--------------

Characteristics of survey respondents	Values, n (%)
Gender	
Female	397 (83.1)
Male	70 (14.6)
Nonbinary or self-described	7 (1.5)
Unreported	4 (0.8)
Race and ethnicity	
Asian or Pacific Islander	8 (1.7)
Black or African American	30 (6.3)
Native American or Alaska Native	5 (1)
White or Caucasian	403 (84.3)
Mixed or multiracial	10 (2.1)
Self-described	12 (2.5)
Unreported	10 (2.1)
Age category (years)	
18-34	64 (13.4)
35-54	169 (35.4)
≥55	242 (50.6)
Unreported	3 (0.6)

A total of 67.4% (322/428) of respondents reported that they used a web-based platform, phone-based directory, or mobile app to find mental health services. Older adults were less likely to use navigation tools compared to younger adults, with 37.2% (90/242) of those aged  $\geq$ 55 years reporting that they had never used a web-based platform, phone-based directory, or mobile app to find mental health services, as shown in Table 2. Younger respondents (aged 18-34 years) were less likely to seek support by using the phone-based HelpLine or a phone-based directory compared to middle- and older-aged individuals. While 21.9% (90/411) of respondents aged  $\geq$ 35 years reported seeking resources by using the phone-based HelpLine or a phone-based directory, only 7.8% (5/64) of younger participants used a phone-based directory, and 12.5% (8/64) of younger participants used a mobile app to seek resources. Younger respondents (55/64, 85.9%) and middle-aged respondents (aged 35-54 years; 115/169, 68%) were more likely to report searching for resources for themselves, while older individuals (aged  $\geq$ 55 years) were more likely to report searching for resources on behalf of a family member or another individual who required support (131/242, 54.1%).

Table 2. Use of navigation tools by age.

Stafford	ot	<u>_1</u>
Stanora	et	aı

Responses	All respondents	Respondents aged 18-34 years	Respondents aged 35-54 years	Respondents aged ≥55 years
Tool sought and used, n (%)				
Web-based search platform	289 (60.4)	45 (70.3)	112 (66.3)	131 (54.1)
Mobile app	48 (10)	8 (12.5)	18 (10.7)	22 (9.1)
Phone-based HelpLine or directory	97 (20.3)	5 (7.8)	38 (22.5)	52 (21.5)
No tool used, n (%)	156 (32.6)	17 (26.6)	48 (28.4)	90 (37.2)
Seeking on behalf of self, n (%)	281 (58.8)	55 (85.9)	115 (68)	111 (45.9)
Seeking on behalf of another, n (%)	197 (41.2)	9 (14.1)	54 (32)	131 (54.1)
Total responses, n	478	64	169	242

In total, 48.2% (228/473) of respondents reported only seeking resources that were related to treatment (talk therapy, outpatient psychiatry, inpatient care, or crisis care), while 49.9% (236/473) reported seeking a combination of treatment and support resources (social worker or community resource officer, housing, and legal or financial assistance). Across all age groups, those who were seeking resources on behalf of someone else were the most likely to be seeking a combination of treatment and

supportive services (113/194, 58.2%; Table 3). The top three resources that respondents reported seeking were talk therapy (362/473, 76.5%), outpatient psychiatry (361/473, 76.3%), and crisis care (250/473, 52.9%), as depicted in Figure 1. The highest rated concern reported was whether a service was covered by their insurance. The lowest rated concerns, which are illustrated in Figure 2, included transportation, cultural considerations, and respect for gender identity.

Table 3. Type of service sought among individuals seeking services on behalf of themselves versus those seeking services on behalf of another.

Responses	All respondents	Seeking on behalf of self	Seeking on behalf of another
Total responses, n	473	279	194
Treatment only, n (%)	228 (48.2)	151 (54.1)	77 (39.7)
Support service only, n (%)	9 (1.9)	5 (1.8)	4 (2)
Combination of treatment and support services, n (%)	236 (49.9)	123 (44)	113 (58.2)

Figure 1.	The most common	services	sought by	survey i	respondents



Figure 2. The most common concerns among survey respondents.



Number of Respondents

Of the 280 survey respondents who provided details about their experiences with navigation tools, 224 (80%) indicated that they had experienced frustration or difficulty. The most commonly reported difficulties were about data availability and quality; approximately half of respondents who reported experiencing issues with navigation tools indicated that their search results did not contain enough information (118/280, 42.1%) or that the information provided was incorrect or out of date (132/280, 47.1%), as detailed in Table 4. Older adults who reported using navigation tools (103/132, 78%) were not

significantly more likely than younger age groups (31/42, 74%) to report difficulties (*P*=.57), but participants who were seeking services on behalf of a family member or someone else (89/106, 84%) were somewhat more likely to experience issues compared to those seeking services for themselves (135/174, 77.6%; Table 5). However, the difference was not statistically significant (*P*=.20). For individuals playing caregiver roles, the availability of comprehensive and user-friendly navigation tools is especially relevant, as the services that are needed tend to be more complex in nature.

Table 4.	Difficulties	with	navigation	tools	by	age.
----------	--------------	------	------------	-------	----	------

Responses	All respondents	Respondents aged 18-34 years	Respondents aged 35-54 years	Respondents aged ≥55 years
Provided details about the use of a navigation tool, n	280	42	104	132
Any difficulty, n (%)	224 (80)	31 (73.8)	88 (84.6)	103 (78)
Tool was confusing	50 (17.9)	8 (19)	21 (20.2)	21 (15.9)
Specific need was not covered	95 (33.9)	14 (33.3)	37 (35.6)	43 (32.6)
Geographic area was not covered	53 (18.9)	7 (16.7)	21 (20.2)	24 (18.2)
Not enough information provided	118 (42.1)	22 (52.4)	45 (43.3)	51 (38.6)
Information provided was incorrect or out of date	132 (47.1)	25 (59.5)	47 (45.2)	59 (44.7)
No difficulty, n (%)	56 (20)	11 (26.2)	16 (15.4)	29 (22)



#### Stafford et al

Table 5. Difficulties with navigation tools among individuals seeking services on behalf of themselves versus those seeking services on behalf of another.

Responses	Seeking on behalf of self	Seeking on behalf of another
Provided details about the use of a navigation tool, n	174	106
Any difficulty, n (%)	135 (77.6)	89 (84)
Tool was confusing	32 (18.4)	18 (17)
Specific need was not covered	54 (31)	41 (38.7)
Geographic area was not covered	31 (17.8)	22 (20.8)
Not enough information provided	72 (41.4)	46 (43.4)
Information provided was incorrect or out of date	81 (46.6)	51 (48.1)
No difficulty, n (%)	39 (22.4)	17 (16)

# Discussion

The results from our web-based survey showed that two-thirds (322/478, 67.4%) of adults seeking mental health treatment or support services used web-based, phone, and app-based tools to find resources and information, but the majority (224/280, 80%) experienced difficulties and dissatisfaction largely due to out-of-date and incorrect information. The use of these tools varied with age, with younger people being more likely to use navigation tools, especially web-based platforms or mobile apps, and more likely to seek mental health services for themselves as opposed to seeking such services for someone else.

The survey results suggest that existing digital navigation resources do not meet the demands of users. Although widespread internet access and increased comfort with web-based tools has resulted in the increased visibility of web-based mental health resources, a lack of reliable curation has led to an accumulation of out-of-date and incorrect information. These results suggest that a focus on the quality of content may be the most important next step in this research area. Offering some degree of personalization in insurance coverage matching services also appears to be a crucial factor-one that is not commonly available to date. Furthermore, web-based resources must account for the different needs and priorities within user populations. For instance, a previous study suggested that older adults (aged ≥65 years) were more willing to engage with digital tools after receiving digital skills training and a demonstration of a tool's value [25]. However, an alternative study found significant variance in older individuals' (aged  $\geq$ 65 years) use and perceptions of the benefits of digital tools; the differences were more aligned with racial identity and socioeconomic status than with age [26]. The results from the survey conducted in our study did not show a meaningful

difference in the percentages of older adults who found that navigation tools were confusing to use.

The primary limitation of this study lies in the generalizability of the results. As the survey was conducted via a web-based platform and promoted through digital communication channels, it can be assumed that all participants had reliable internet access and at least a moderate level of comfort with using the internet. Participants with a connection to NAMI may have been more likely than the general population to have past experiences with seeking mental health services and support, and many (eg, those seeking inpatient treatment) were likely to be individuals or family members of an individual with a serious mental illness. Our findings may consequently have limited generalizability to individuals seeking services and support for less intensive and more common mental health conditions. The participant population was heavily weighted toward older White females, indicating that issues affecting members of minority communities are underrepresented. The survey did not collect information on socioeconomic status or geographic location, of which both are factors that may significantly influence users' needs for and experiences with seeking services. Finally, this study was conducted from April to May 2020 (ie, early stage of the COVID-19 pandemic), and we expect that the concerns and experiences of those seeking mental health care may have changed, as the pressures and constraints of the ongoing pandemic have continued to affect both mental health needs and the accessibility of related services. Finally, this study was only offered in English; therefore, it is not representative of many patients and families who read in other languages.

In summary, there remains a need for improved digital navigation resources and e-hubs, as existing services do not meet the needs and expectations of users. As more mental health resources move to web-based platforms, ensuring that services remain easily searchable and accessible will only become more important.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Finding mental health services: Survey on experiences and needs.

# [DOC File, 81 KB - mental\_v8i6e27022\_app1.doc]

### References

- 2019 NSDUH Annual National Report. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). 2020 Sep 11. URL: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/2019-nsduh-annual-national-report</u> [accessed 2020-12-10]
- Whitney DG, Peterson MD. US national and state-level prevalence of mental health disorders and disparities of mental health care use in children. JAMA Pediatr 2019 Apr 01;173(4):389-391 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.5399] [Medline: 30742204]
- 3. Abrams Z. How well is telepsychology working? Monitor on Psychology. 2020 Jul 01. URL: <u>https://www.apa.org/monitor/</u>2020/07/cover-telepsychology [accessed 2020-12-10]
- 4. Beck AJ, Page C, Buche J, et al. Behavioral health service provision by primary care physicians. University of Michigan Behavioral Health Workforce Research Center. 2019 Oct. URL: <u>https://www.behavioralhealthworkforce.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Y4-P10-BH-Capacityof-PC-Phys\_Full.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-10]
- National Mental Health Services Survey (N-MHSS): 2019, data on mental health treatment facilities. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). 2020 Aug 13. URL: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/</u> national-mental-health-services-survey-n-mhss-2019-data-mental-health-treatment-facilities [accessed 2020-12-10]
- Wiess AJ, Barrett ML, Heslin KC, Stocks C. Trends in emergency department visits involving mental and substance use disorders, 2006-2013. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), Healthcare Cost Utilization Project (HCUP). 2016 Dec. URL: <u>https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb216-Mental-Substance-Use-Disorder-ED-Visit-Trends.</u> jsp [accessed 2020-12-10]
- Panagioti M, Bower P, Kontopantelis E, Lovell K, Gilbody S, Waheed W, et al. Association between chronic physical conditions and the effectiveness of collaborative care for depression: An individual participant data meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry 2016 Sep 01;73(9):978-989. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.1794</u>] [Medline: <u>27602561</u>]
- 8. Koh HK, Rudd RE. The arc of health literacy. JAMA 2015 Sep;314(12):1225-1226. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.9978] [Medline: 26247161]
- Czeisler M, Lane RI, Petrosky E, Wiley JF, Christensen A, Njai R, et al. Mental health, substance use, and suicidal ideation during the COVID-19 pandemic - United States, June 24-30, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Aug 14;69(32):1049-1057 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6932a1] [Medline: 32790653]
- Ofonedu ME, Belcher HME, Budhathoki C, Gross DA. Understanding barriers to initial treatment engagement among underserved families seeking mental health services. J Child Fam Stud 2017 Mar;26(3):863-876 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10826-016-0603-6] [Medline: 28584498]
- Gulliver A, Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. BMC Psychiatry 2010 Dec 30;10:113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-10-113] [Medline: 21192795]
- 12. Larsen ME, Huckvale K, Nicholas J, Torous J, Birrell L, Li E, et al. Using science to sell apps: Evaluation of mental health app store quality claims. NPJ Digit Med 2019 Mar 22;2:18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0093-1] [Medline: 31304366]
- Final 2016 Letter to Issuers in the Federally-facilitated Marketplaces. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 2015 Feb 20. URL: <u>https://www.cms.gov/cciio/resources/regulations-and-guidance/downloads/2016-letter-to-issuers-2-20-2015-r.</u> pdf [accessed 2020-12-10]
- 14. Advance Notice of Methodological Changes for Calendar Year (CY) 2016 for Medicare Advantage (MA) Capitation Rates, Part C and Part D Payment Policies and 2016 Call Letter. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 2015 Feb 20. URL: <u>https://www.hhs.gov/guidance/sites/default/files/hhs-guidance-documents/advance2016%20%282%29\_6.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-10]
- 15. Dahlke DV, Fair K, Hong YA, Beaudoin CE, Pulczinski J, Ory MG. Apps seeking theories: results of a study on the use of health behavior change theories in cancer survivorship mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Mar 27;3(1):e31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3861] [Medline: 25830810]
- 16. Adelberg M, Frakt A, Polsky D, Strollo MK. Improving provider directory accuracy: can machine-readable directories help? Am J Manag Care 2019 May;25(5):241-245 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>31120718</u>]
- 17. Davenport S, Gray TJ, Melek SP. Addiction and mental health vs. physical health: Widening disparities in network use and provider reimbursement. Milliman Research Report. 2019 Nov 19. URL: <u>https://www.milliman.com/en/insight/addiction-and-mental-health-vs-physical-health-widening-disparities-in-network-use-and-p</u> [accessed 2020-12-10]
- 18. Hsiung RC. The best of both worlds: An online self-help group hosted by a mental health professional. Cyberpsychol Behav 2004 Jul 05;3(6):935-950. [doi: 10.1089/109493100452200]
- 19. Bennett K, Reynolds J, Christensen H, Griffiths KM. e-hub: an online self-help mental health service in the community. Med J Aust 2010 Jun 07;192(S11):S48-S52. [doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2010.tb03694.x] [Medline: 20528710]
- 20. Liu S, Yang L, Zhang C, Xiang YT, Liu Z, Hu S, et al. Online mental health services in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Apr;7(4):e17-e18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30077-8] [Medline: 32085841]

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27022

- 21. Pretorius C, Chambers D, Coyle D. Young people's online help-seeking and mental health difficulties: Systematic narrative review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 19;21(11):e13873 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13873] [Medline: 31742562]
- 22. Wetterlin FM, Mar MY, Neilson EK, Werker GR, Krausz M. eMental health experiences and expectations: a survey of youths' Web-based resource preferences in Canada. J Med Internet Res 2014 Dec 17;16(12):e293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3526] [Medline: 25519847]
- 23. Anderson M, Perrin A. Tech adoption climbs among older adults. Pew Research Center. 2017 May 17. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/05/17/tech-adoption-climbs-among-older-adults/</u> [accessed 2020-12-10]
- 24. NAMI 2019 Annual Report. National Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI). URL: <u>https://nami.org/NAMI/media/NAMI-Media/PDFs/Financials/2019NAM-AnnualReport-web.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-10]
- 25. Schreurs K, Quan-Haase A, Martin K. Problematizing the digital literacy paradox in the context of older adults' ICT use: Aging, media discourse, and self-determination. Canadian Journal of Communication 2017 May 23;42(2):359-377. [doi: 10.22230/cjc.2017v42n2a3130]
- 26. Cotten SR, Francis J, Kadylak T, Rikard RV, Huang T, Ball C, et al. A tale of two divides: Technology experiences among racially and socioeconomically diverse older adults. In: Human Aspects of IT for the Aged Population. 2016 Jan 01 Presented at: 2nd International Conference on Human Aspects of IT for the Aged Population, ITAP 2016; July 17-22, 2016; Toronto, ON, Canada p. 167-177 URL: <u>https://experts.illinois.edu/en/publications/</u> a-tale-of-two-divides-technology-experiences-among-racially-and-s [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-39943-0\_16]

## Abbreviations

NAMI: National Alliance on Mental Illness

Edited by J Torous; submitted 07.01.21; peer-reviewed by J Firth, G Strudwick; comments to author 06.04.21; revised version received 16.04.21; accepted 17.04.21; published 09.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Stafford E, Brister T, Duckworth K, Rauseo-Ricupero N, Lagan S Needs and Experiences of Users of Digital Navigation Tools for Mental Health Treatment and Supportive Services: Survey Study JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e27022 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27022 doi:10.2196/27022 PMID: 34106079

©Elizabeth Stafford, Teri Brister, Ken Duckworth, Natali Rauseo-Ricupero, Sarah Lagan. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 09.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Impact of Jointly Using an e–Mental Health Resource (Self-Management And Recovery Technology) on Interactions Between Service Users Experiencing Severe Mental Illness and Community Mental Health Workers: Grounded Theory Study

Anne Williams<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Ellie Fossey<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; John Farhall<sup>4,5</sup>, PhD; Fiona Foley<sup>6</sup>, BSc (Hons); Neil Thomas<sup>6,7</sup>, DClinPsy

<sup>7</sup>Monash Alfred Psychiatry Research Centre, Alfred Hospital and Monash University Central Clinical School, Melbourne, Australia

**Corresponding Author:** 

Anne Williams, PhD Department of Nursing and Allied Health School of Health Sciences Swinburne University of Technology PO Box 218 Hawthorn Melbourne, 3122 Australia Phone: 61 92144415 Email: annewilliams@swin.edu.au

# Abstract

**Background:** e-Mental health resources are increasingly available for people who experience severe mental illness, including those who are users of community mental health services. However, the potential for service users (SUs) living with severe mental illness to use e-mental health resources together with their community mental health workers (MHWs) has received little attention.

**Objective:** This study aims to identify how jointly using an interactive website called *Self-Management And Recovery Technology* (SMART) in a community mental health context influenced therapeutic processes and interactions between SUs and MHWs from their perspective.

**Methods:** We conducted a qualitative study using a constructivist grounded theory methodology. Data were collected through individual semistructured interviews with 37 SUs and 15 MHWs who used the SMART website together for 2 to 6 months. Data analysis involved iterative phases of coding, constant comparison, memo writing, theoretical sampling, and consultation with stakeholders to support the study's credibility.

**Results:** A substantive grounded theory, *discovering ways to keep life on track*, was developed, which portrays a shared discovery process arising from the SU-worker-SMART website interactions. The discovery process included choosing to use the website, revealing SUs' experiences, exploring these experiences, and gaining new perspectives on how SUs did and could keep their lives on track. SUs and MHWs perceived that their three-way interactions were enjoyable, beneficial, and recovery focused when using the website together. They experienced the shared discovery process as relationship building—their interactions when using the website together were more engaging and equal.

**Conclusions:** Jointly using an e-mental health resource elicited recovery-oriented interactions and processes between SUs and MHWs that strengthened their therapeutic relationship in real-world community mental health services. Further work to develop and integrate this novel use of e-mental health in community mental health practice is warranted.

(JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e25998) doi:10.2196/25998

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Nursing and Allied Health, School of Health Sciences, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Occupational Therapy, School of Primary and Allied Health Care, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Living with a Disability Research Centre, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Department of Psychology and Counselling, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>NorthWestern Mental Health, Melbourne Health, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Centre for Mental Health, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, Australia

#### **KEYWORDS**

digital mental health; tablet computers; therapeutic relationship; recovery narratives; lived experience video; personal recovery; schizophrenia; mobile phone

# Introduction

#### Background

People experiencing severe mental illnesses are increasingly using digital technologies and are willing to consider using web-based information and interventions. These include web-based and mobile-based interventions collectively defined as e-mental health [1]. Several systematic reviews have demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of e-mental health for this population [2-5]. Features that people who experience severe mental illness value in e-mental health resources include interactivity, access to web-based peer support, and remote human support [2]. However, engagement in and completion of structured e-mental health interventions can be mixed [6,7]. Thomas et al [8] canvassed community mental health service users (SUs) about their views on using e-mental health resources. They found that most respondents used websites and video streaming when seeking information about mental health on the web and were positive about accessing these types of resources with their mental health workers (MHWs). Providing human support also increases the effectiveness of e-mental health interventions that are otherwise often didactic and informational [9]. Making e-mental health resources available to mental health SUs who experience severe mental illness and MHWs to use together thus appears to be worth pursuing and further understanding.

#### **Therapeutic Relationships and e-Mental Health**

The influence that jointly using an e-mental health resource may have on interactions between a SU and MHW, including the potential impact on the nature and quality of their therapeutic relationship, is important to understand. The therapeutic relationship in community mental health has been defined "as an appraisal of the connection and interaction between service users and clinicians that is defined through the delivery of mental health treatment" [10]. Qualities including trust, hope, empathy, and encouragement are argued to be at least as important as any therapeutic technique in mental health [11] and community mental health specifically [12]. The quality of relationships in interventions involving augmentative use of technology is reported to be comparable with those in interventions delivered face-to-face without a technology component [13], although research with people experiencing severe mental illness is rather limited [14].

Therapeutic relationships occurring in the context of technological interventions have also been considered using the associated term *therapeutic alliance*. Dixon et al [15] defined a therapeutic alliance as a component of the therapeutic relationship, specifically "the dynamic ability to work together in the interest of problem solving." Although there are various conceptualizations of the therapeutic alliance [16], three elements have long been considered the foundations of a strong alliance in interventions delivered face-to-face [14,17]. These are establishing an interpersonal bond, agreeing on the goals,

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25998
```

and agreeing on the tasks for working together (as originally outlined by Bordin [18]). Berger [19] explored the therapeutic alliance in psychological internet interventions ranging from internet-based, guided self-help to real-time videoconferencing. He concluded that in all modalities, the client-rated therapeutic alliance was similar to the alliance in face-to-face therapies. Despite these claims, Henson et al [20] were surprised to find insufficient research to draw conclusions about the therapeutic alliance in their narrative review focused on smartphone apps for people living with severe mental illness. The dimensions of the alliance in digital environments may also differ from those in face-to-face relationships for people living with severe mental illness [14]. Overall, our understanding of the therapeutic alliance in e-mental health for people living with severe mental illness is limited and focused on two-way interactions between a SU and an e-mental health resource in the absence of human support. In contrast, three-way interactions named a "triangle of alliance" [13]—that is, the interactions involving an SU, e-mental health resource, and a human supporter that arise when technology is blended with face-to-face therapy-have received less attention.

#### **Recovery-Oriented Interactions and e-Mental Health**

There is another way to understand interactions between SUs and MHWs that may inform the development of e-mental health resources for joint use. Interactions between SUs and MHWs can also be defined in relation to personal recovery, that is, an SU's active, individual, and personal process of constructing a meaningful life in the context of living with a mental illness [21-23]. Supporting personal recovery by providing recovery-oriented practices has become a mandate for community mental health services [21,23]. Recovery-oriented practice includes the nature of the relationship between a worker and SU and the working practices or focus of the interactions that occur within the relationship [24]. Working relationships that support personal recovery share similarities with common relationship-building factors [12]. For example, collaborative, open, respectful, and empathetic relationships that elicit a person's unique goals and active participation are commonly cited as supporting personal recovery [25-27]. Slade et al [24] proposed three working practices that support personal recovery: identifying SU values, amplifying SU strengths, and supporting SUs to strive to achieve their goals. Despite this growing understanding of how to support personal recovery, such interactions can be challenging to achieve in community mental health [24-26], where factors such as the need to interact with several workers at different intensities, ambiguity regarding goals, or involuntary treatments can negatively impact interactions between SUs and workers [10]. In this context, bringing e-mental health resources designed to promote personal recovery into community mental health practice may be helpful.

Emerging research indicates that SUs and MHWs using e-mental health resources together can elicit interactions that support personal recovery. In a scoping review of six jointly used e-mental health resources, Strand et al [28] found that

XSL•FO RenderX

using these resources to create and follow-up personal goals and access peer support was consistent with recovery-oriented practice. Similarly, Williams et al [29] identified that jointly used e-mental health resources could support recovery-oriented practice when the resources included components such as information and education, self-management tools, communication channels with workers and peers, and shared decision-making tools. However, both reviews concluded that using the e-mental health resource together could also negatively influence interactions between SUs and their workers, resulting in communication misunderstandings and mistrust [28,29]. Given these mixed findings, further research to understand the nature of interactions occurring when SUs and MHWs use recovery-oriented e-mental health resources together is warranted.

# Self-Management And Recovery Technology Research Program

This qualitative study addresses this research gap by exploring interactions between SUs and MHWs when they jointly used a website known as Self-Management And Recovery Technology (SMART). Websites that include illness self-management, psychoeducation, and peer-support resources are a common form of feasible and acceptable e-mental health resources for people living with severe mental illness [1,5,6]. The SMART website was codeveloped with people with lived experience of severe mental illness for use in community mental health practice as part of a funded research program [30,31]. The SMART research program was conducted in mental health services in the community, including clinical (government-operated services that employ psychiatrists and workforce) interdisciplinary health care and an community-managed services (nongovernment agencies employing community MHWs and other health professionals). Service locations included urban and regional sites in Victoria, Australia.

# **Study Aim**

As the SMART website was a novel development, the overarching aim of this qualitative research was to explore the experiences of SUs and MHWs who used it in practice within community mental health services. This study specifically aims to identify how jointly using the SMART e-mental health resource in a community mental health context influenced therapeutic processes and interactions between SUs and MHWs from their perspectives.

# Methods

# Overview

A constructivist grounded theory (CGT) methodology was used because it focuses on studying actions and social processes in areas where little is known [32]. This methodology was appropriate to investigate the experience of jointly using an e-mental health resource, which is fundamentally a social and interactive process that is not currently well understood [28,29]. CGT aims to develop an interpretive understanding or theory of an experience in context and to capture the essence of and variations in a social process [32]. Grounded theory methods are well suited to research in mental health contexts [33] and have been used to explore experiences of recovery from an SU [34] and MHW [35] perspective and web-based support among people experiencing mental ill-health [36,37].

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from a metropolitan health service with coordinating ethical authority, Alfred Health (Project 208/15), and accepted by participating universities and mental health services.

# **Participant Recruitment**

SUs and MHWs who had used the SMART website were eligible to participate in this study. Those people who had agreed to receive invitations for further SMART-related research were sent a flyer that provided information about this qualitative study. Participants were informed that the qualitative study was connected to the first author's PhD project.

The initial purposive sampling of SUs and MHWs who had used the SMART website was followed by theoretical sampling. Theoretical sampling techniques are central to the CGT and aim to select participants who are likely to have experiences relevant to emerging issues and categories in the data [32,38]. Theoretical sampling included selecting 6 information-rich participants for a second interview and recruiting MHW participants who had varied experiences using the website. These participants provided data related to the conditions that influenced joint website use.

# Study Context: SMART Website Design, Content, and Use

The SMART website was designed to support self-management and personal recovery. It was based on the CHIME (Connectedness, Hope, Identity, Meaning, and Empowerment) conceptual framework [21], which posits recovery as a personal journey involving the processes of being connected with others, having hope for the future, forming an identity beyond illness, finding meaning in life, and being empowered in one's life [21]. SUs and MHWs had a personal and private log-in to access the website. SUs could use the website in meetings with workers using a tablet device supplied to workers and any other time they chose using their smartphone or computer [30].

The website comprised seven topics: recovery, managing stress, health, me, relationships, empowerment, and life [30]. The key contents for each topic are shown in Textbox 1. A core feature of the website was that each topic included embedded videos, where 11 peers shared their lived experiences. SUs' experiences of watching peer videos have been described elsewhere [39]. Each topic also included a summary text providing topic information and reflective exercises that SUs could complete and save on the website. Examples of the reflective exercises included questions following videos, charts for monitoring different aspects of one's health, and worksheets to identify factors influencing well-being, including strengths, stressors, and coping strategies.



#### Textbox 1. Self-Management And Recovery Technology website content.

#### **Recovery (5 Sections)**

- Introduction to the concept of recovery
- Recommended starting point and use guidance

#### Managing Stress (6 Sections)

- Relationship between stress and mental health
- Common stressors and coping strategies

#### Health (9 Sections)

- Relationship between physical and mental health
- Self-management, including diet, exercise, sleep, and medication

#### Me (11 Sections)

- Identity, including effects of stigma
- Personal growth through lived experience, focusing on strengths

#### **Relationships (7 Sections)**

- Interactions between relationships and mental health
- Nurturing existing relationships and fostering new connections

#### **Empowerment (8 Sections)**

- Empowerment in interactions with mental health service providers
- Getting the most out of services; rights and advocacy

#### Life (9 Sections)

- Developing new meaning in life
- Personal values and identifying related goals

The SMART research program included 2 different studies that influenced the way SUs and MHWs used the website. In SMART Therapy, а randomized controlled trial (NCT02474524), SUs used the SMART website with a trained worker for up to 8×50-minute sessions. These sessions were usually held once a week and were in addition to the SUs receiving their usual community mental health services [30]. The second study, SMART Service, investigated SMART website use in routine practice. The participants in this study were SUs and their current community MHWs. These pairs used the website together in their usual meetings as they chose

(eg, session frequency and length of use were optional) for up to 6 months [31].

#### **Participant Characteristics**

In total, 52 participants were recruited from responses to the study flyer and follow-up contact (Table 1). Participants were recruited from 3 clinical and 5 community-managed mental health services. All participants received a detailed participant information form and provided their informed consent. Reasons for nonparticipation included not responding to the invitation, no longer being connected to the mental health service, not having time, or not being interested.



Table 1. Participant recruitment (N=52).

Participants–SMART <sup>a</sup> study	Clinical services, n (%)	Community-managed services, n (%)	Total, n (%)
Service user			
SMART Therapy			
Female	4 (8)	15 (29)	19 (36)
Male	2 (4)	5 (9)	7 (13)
SMART Service			
Female	1 (2)	4 (8)	5 (10)
Male	2 (4)	4 (8)	6 (12)
MHW <sup>b</sup>			
Both studies			
Female	3 (5)	8 (15)	11 (21)
Male	2 (4)	2 (4)	4 (8)
Total	14 (27)	38 (73)	52 (100)

<sup>a</sup>SMART: Self-Management And Recovery Technology.

<sup>b</sup>MHW: mental health worker.

SU participants (n=37) were predominantly women aged between 18 and 64 years, and all of them had a diagnosis of a schizophrenia-related disorder or either bipolar disorder or major depression with psychotic features present in the last 2 years [31]. None of them were employed full-time and 95% (35/37) received financial support from the government. Nearly all SUs (36/37, 97%) used the internet, and more than half owned at least 2 devices to access the internet, including a mobile phone, computer, or tablet device. Most SUs used SMART with a trained MHW in SMART Therapy, whereas 30% (11/37) used the website with their usual MHW in SMART Service (Table 1). More than half of the SU participants (24/37, 65%) used the SMART website in their own time and with their worker.

MHW participants (n=15) were predominantly women aged between 23 and 60 years (Table 1). Most had worked in mental health services for <5 years. They all had access to computers in the workplace; however, less than half used a tablet device at work before the SMART study. This paper focuses on the experience of 12 workers who used SMART with SUs from once a week to approximately once every 2 months with each SU. Workers in SMART Service used SMART in their usual work with 1 to 3 SUs, whereas those in SMART Therapy used SMART with multiple SUs. In total, 3 worker participants joined the SMART Service study but did not use the website in their work despite offering the website to eligible SUs.

#### **Data Collection and Analysis**

Data collection and analysis occurred systematically, iteratively, and concurrently, as recommended by Charmaz [32]. Data were collected through individual semistructured interviews conducted in mental health services or by telephone from 2015 to 2017. SU and MHW interview guides were developed in consultation with members of the project reference group and are available in Multimedia Appendix 1. The interviewer (first author), an occupational therapist and academic with previous qualitative research and mental health work experience, had no

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25998
```

prior relationship with participants other than having met 2 workers briefly through the SMART project. SU interviews lasted for an average of 40 (SD 13; range 18-65) minutes, and worker interviews lasted for an average of 36 (SD 13; range 22-73) minutes. Interviews were audiorecorded with permission and transcribed for data analysis, or handwritten notes were taken by request for 15% (8/52) of participants. Researcher reflections were recorded immediately after each interview. SU participants were reimbursed with a Aus \$30 (US \$23) gift voucher. Workers were interviewed during their paid work hours. In total, 6 SU participants agreed to the second follow-up interview to explore their use of the website over time. Written interview records were provided to all participants who opted to receive this information.

Data analysis conducted by the first author included initial paper-based coding on the transcripts to label and summarize the data for SU participants and separately for MHW participants. A constant comparative analysis was used to identify the analytic leads [32]. The transcripts were then uploaded to NVivo 11 (QSR International) qualitative data analysis software for focused coding. In this stage of computer-based coding, the analyst condenses and clusters the initial codes into more abstract conceptualizations [32,38,40]. Memo writing, reflective journaling to note researcher responses, freewriting, and diagramming of developing ideas were used to capture thoughts, develop analytical ideas, and identify gaps where more information is needed [32]. The final analytical phase involved reviewing memos, new focused computer-based coding, and considering different explanations of the data using abductive reasoning, as described by Charmaz [32]. This phase unified the data concerning the impact using the SMART website had on SU-MHW interactions from the perspective of all participants. Data collection and analysis continued until a point of conceptual density was reached [41], which is when the developing analytical categories are robust, with well-defined properties, and relationships between categories

Williams et al
#### Williams et al

have been specified [32]. Credibility was enhanced by sharing three newsletters with participants and services that conveyed the evolving analysis, and through meetings with a lived-experience advisory panel, with a lived-experience consultant employed in the SMART research program in the final analytical phase, and regularly with all authors.

# Results

# Substantive Grounded Theory: Discovering Ways to Keep Life on Track

This CGT study aimed to develop an understanding of the therapeutic processes and interactions that arose when SUs and MHWs jointly used an e-mental health resource in community mental health contexts. The substantive grounded theory, *discovering ways to keep life on track*, was identified. This core

interactive process unfolded when SUs and workers used the website together, as illustrated in Figure 1. Getting life back on track and keeping it heading toward a personally desired future was an overarching concern for SUs. They had spent time and effort working toward keeping their lives on track and were willing to try using a new website that might support this endeavor. Workers wanted to support SUs in getting their lives back on track by addressing topics that mattered to SUs beyond their illness symptoms and treatment. Previously, these interactions were sometimes elusive, whereas using the SMART website together involved three-way interactions that facilitated meaningful discussions and a shared focus on keeping life on track. Participants perceived that these SU-worker-website interactions were enjoyable, beneficial, and recovery focused and that using the website together was relationship building. The subprocesses that made up the overarching discovery process are outlined as follows.



# Subprocesses Contributing to the Discovery Process

# Overview

The discovery process involved key interrelated subprocesses: choosing to use the website, revealing experiences of keeping

life on track, exploring personal experiences of keeping life on track, and gaining new perspectives on keeping life on track (Figure 2). These subprocesses are expanded below using anonymized participant quotes attributed to an SU or MHW to illustrate the discovery process in action.



Figure 2. Subprocesses contributing to discovering ways to keep life on track.



#### Choosing to Use the Website

The discovery process was initiated by SUs having choice and control over their website use, both when they began using the SMART website together and over time. This is encapsulated in the subprocess *choosing to use the website*. Initially, MHWs *offering the website* gave SUs a choice about whether to use the website and which topics to explore. Being able to offer a choice was important to workers as they were reluctant to take action that might be perceived as *forcing* use:

It's also nice to think, to be able to give someone an option that you 're not forcing down their throat and that he could turn around and say, "No, I can do that if I want, but I'm going to say no." [Madeleine, MHW]

Workers *offering the website* was also important to SUs as it provided them with support if they were unfamiliar with technology and invited them to explore topics of interest in the website without obligation:

She said to me, "you're free to do this and lead these sessions. If you do just want to talk for a while and not even use this website, I'm happy to do so." [Amy, SU]

Exploring the website together led to SUs *choosing the focus* of the interaction. SUs initially chose topics that they felt were safe to discuss. Erin, an MHW who used SMART with several SUs, noted that the topics of health or managing stress could be easier topics for SUs to start with, as other topics could be "a bit too abstract." SUs could also decline to use the website. This was the case for SU Liam, who explained that despite some initial interest, he doubted the credibility of information on the internet, and his use of the website in meetings "went cold after a few months."

#### **Revealing Experiences of Keeping Life on Track**

The next subprocess involved *revealing experiences of keeping life on track*. The process of exploring self-selected topics on the SMART website led to SUs sharing new personal information with MHWs. Sharing personal information was facilitated by SUs *relating to the peers* in the videos and discovering that they shared experiences with and felt the same as their peers:

#### Well, with them, like, it (watching the videos) made me feel like I know I'm not the only person that's what's happened to me has happened to. It made me feel like I wasn't the only one...[Enigma, SU]

SUs could express that they shared experiences with their peers in the videos rather than finding the words themselves. A variation on *relating to the peers* in the videos occurred for some SUs who perceived that their experiences were different from the peers. The contrast enabled them to highlight their own experiences and thus also revealed their experiences with the worker. Others expressed that they lost interest in using the website if the experiences that the peers shared were too different from their own. This could occur when a SU perceived that they were at a different stage of living with mental illness from the people in the videos.

In addition to the peer videos, *tracking progress* using the charts and tools on the website also revealed experiences. Using the charts provided concrete information about SUs' day-to-day experiences, including their stress, sleep, mood, diet, and exercise, which could be tracked over time:

I found that the charts were helpful to see a baseline of how I had been that week. I was able to look at the charts from week to week (in the meetings), to look back at a chart and then use it again. [Harley, SU]

MHWs also noted that using the charts on the website helped reveal an SU's experiences:

It (SMART) was also useful because we talked about some of his warning signs, him becoming unwell again, and some of these match up with what is in SMART, so you can identify it...I know he was using the charts, especially for keeping the sleep patterns and eating patterns and how he was feeling on those days. [Simon, MHW]

# Exploring Personal Experiences of Keeping Life on Track

Revealed experiences next became the focus of discussions in the subprocess *exploring personal experiences of keeping life on track*. Participants particularly valued the way in which jointly using the SMART website was *starting discussions* about keeping life on track:

It's a really good communication tool, like it's a really good way to open-up conversations about specific topics...opening them up and kind of reading through them and watching those videos...it opened-up for him to be talking about his own lived experience for specific things, and what he used for self-care for instance. [Leona, MHW]

Using the website together to start discussions was especially helpful for workers when their past efforts to communicate had been a struggle. For example, when an SU was "not someone who likes to talk that much" (Madeleine, MHW) or "really reticent, very anxious and had a lot of difficulty producing his own information" (Donna, MHW). Similarly, for Bruce, an SU, the website was a "good framework to start that discussion," after which using the website with a worker was helpful as the worker could "probe...just making you think."

Discussions next shifted to involve *talking things through*, where deeper reflections on the SU's personal experiences of keeping life on track were elicited. This joint discussion and reflection made the experience of using the website highly meaningful to SUs:

It's meant that rather than just going in and reading the material on the site, I actually had the option to discuss that and how it affected me and what it meant to me, and that's just as beneficial as the site itself. It was as important I think as just going through the material on my own, it had far more meaning I think having someone to talk about it with. [Pam, SU]

Joint website use enabled MHWs to support SUs to "talk things through" by noticing how they responded to the website and encouraging them to reflect on the information. This was helpful for SUs who had difficulty concentrating on the written content on the website or who found some of the content challenging:

It really helped to have her (MHW) sit there and talk things through with me, especially when I didn't understand something or you know, went into a, like sometimes I'd be triggered by something that they were talking about or something like that and just to have her to bring me back down, or bring me back into reality. [Reese, SU]

Exploring personal experiences built relationships between SUs and MHWs. SUs and workers who used the SMART website together over time indicated that they were experiencing new ways of interacting that were more open and equal, contributing to *relationship building*. SUs Kali and Shirley perceived that their usual workers got to know them better by using the website together. For MHW Phoebe, conversations were "richer" and "more in-depth." MHW Erin described using the website as very useful "in that relationship building between a worker and the person, for those trust issues, opening that up and helping to understand their point of view and their unique experience." Greater equality in interactions was suggested by Aimee when she described why her experience using the website was "unique" and "the most helpful type of thing I've ever received":

Even though other professionals its based mainly on me, it's just more like I felt really comfortable with

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25998
```

the surrounding, it wasn't uncomfortable, like I didn't have the sense that the person with me was like, higher up than me if that makes any sense. I just felt like this person's like a friend of mine and just teaching me these things, whereas other professionals I don't have that sense, they didn't make me feel comfortable with the situation. [Aimee, SU]

MHWs suggested that using the website shifted their interactions to a more equal footing with SUs by making them more natural:

It was also very natural, instead of kind of trying to do these activities where the client had to just straight away start talking, we were able to use peer support (via peer videos) really beautifully to kind of say compare and contrast what was happening. [Donna, MHW]

#### Gaining New Perspectives on Keeping Life on Track

The final subprocess in the discovery process involved SUs *gaining new perspectives on keeping life on track* in four areas. These included *realizing the personal meaning of recovery, discovering new perspectives on managing day-to-day, reclaiming identity*, and *envisaging an on-track future*. MHWs gained a new and deeper understanding of the meaning of each of these new perspectives to the SU.

The participants' quotes demonstrate these new perspectives. First, "realizing the personal meaning of recovery" by engaging with the website and the worker transformed SUs' perspective on recovery:

I was crying and just found it a lot of relief. I'd gone along years thinking recovery was...you know, more than a doing word. Thinking that recovery was something...that you could strive for and actually cure yourself, and it wasn't that at all, it was different ways of actually coping. [Sylvester, SU]

Second, SUs discovered new perspectives on *managing day-to-day*, such as having a routine, having good relationships, keeping up with appointments, and coping with stress:

I learnt how to um, manage myself, my stress, I learnt how to be able to connect with people. I tried to reconnect with old people, new people, it was just...mainly connection with people really. Communication-wise and stuff like that I didn't understand it before and I got some understanding of it because of this, and it's just really great to have. [Aimee, SU]

Third, using the website with an MHW facilitated a process of *reclaiming identity* as SUs reflected on the challenges of losing their sense of self and self-esteem and were more able to recognize their feelings, identify their strengths and values, and grapple with their feelings of stigma and shame. SU Zara related how talking with a worker changed her perspective on disclosing her experience of mental illness to others:

I don't feel it has to handicap me anymore. I don't feel it's something I have to feel ashamed about, which is a very important point...Because I said to her, "If I was with a group of people I sort of half

knew and we were having a sort of social chat, I've never revealed that I have a history of mental illness." And she said, "Oh you wouldn't?" And then I thought to myself why the heck wouldn't I? You know like it really brought me to the fact that I am covering up; why am I covering up? It must be because I feel ashamed; why should I feel ashamed? It's not my problem of shame, it's their problem if they're going to be judgmental. [Zara, SU]

Finally, SUs and MHWs described how using the website together led to *envisaging an on-track future*. For example, Zara (SU) described how she had gained confidence: "I'm on the right track and that I can go full speed ahead." Similarly, Reese (SU) said, "I'm feeling a lot more positive about me being able to be recovered, be in recovery." Phoebe (MHW) explained that using the website together had enabled the SU she worked with to "at the end to be able to see, oh we've been answering all these questions, this is how they might fit in for me in a plan for the future."

# Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

Mohr et al [9] argue that there is a need to understand how digital technology can "fit into the context of mental health services." This CGT study provides an example of this fit: SUs and MHWs using a self-management and recovery-oriented website together. The in-depth focus on participants' experiences identified that using the website together elicited a process of discovering ways to keep life on track where SUs and workers gained a deeper understanding of the SU's life. SUs and workers who worked together before the SMART study and who used the website flexibly as part of their regular meetings found the discovery process beneficial. So too, did SUs and trained workers who met with the sole purpose of using the website together. Using the website together over time built relationships with the qualities of engagement and equality between SUs and workers. The experience of using an e-mental health resource for SUs and the interactions between an SU and MHW were both enhanced. Thus, this study indicates that e-mental health can be integrated into community mental health with benefits arising from the ensuing three-way interactions. These principal findings are next discussed in relation to personal recovery and therapeutic relationships and compared with existing related research.

# Recovery-Oriented Interactions in the Discovery Process

Interactions between SUs and MHWs when using the SMART website together aligned with processes and practices that support personal recovery. First, the subprocess *choosing to use the website* enabled the important recovery-oriented way of working where SUs are given choices, and self-direction is encouraged [23,25]. This flexible way of using the SMART website appeared to influence its uptake. When choosing to use the website, workers supported those who experienced attention issues or who were unfamiliar with technology, thus overcoming issues that can impact SU engagement with e-mental health [2,6]. Second, the lived-experience videos on the website

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25998
```

validated SUs' experiences, creating a sense of connection with peers and triggering the subprocess of revealing experiences. SUs' actions to manage challenges in their lives were revealed, thus making their strengths apparent. Third, the subprocess of exploring experiences started discussions about what SUs valued in their lives and their goals for the future. Exploring experiences together also provided a safe space for SUs to discuss the emotional responses that can arise from recovery narratives [42]. Fourth, the subprocess of gaining new perspectives involved a discussion about the SU's goals in which workers encouraged SUs to try out new strategies to work toward these goals, thus supporting goal striving. Discussions that explored a SU's identity and the personal meaning of recovery developed a shared vision of the SU as someone with an evolving identity and a positive future. This reflects an important recovery-oriented process that Soundy et al [43] suggest MHWs should pay attention to: "supporting clients to understand and experience the self as a fluid process that is not fixed." In summary, interactions occurring in the discovery process are consistent with recovery-oriented processes [21] and with the recovery-oriented working practices proposed by Slade et al [24]: identifying values, amplifying strengths, and supporting goal striving.

#### **Therapeutic Relationships in the Discovery Process**

Trusting and respectful relationships can be difficult to achieve in community mental health [10]. In this context, it is notable that using the SMART website together built relationships between SUs and MHWs. SU-worker relationships were perceived to be more engaging and more equal when using the website together. Equality and engagement are characteristics that contribute to relationships that SUs value-relationships that are hope-inspiring, empathic, and encouraging [11] and power-balanced [44], which "consist jointly of equality and collaboration" [45]. The subprocess *choosing to use the website* contributed to the sense of equality, as SUs were given control of the digital device and the topics to explore. Overall, the discovery process was engaging as the topics were relevant, and the lived-experience videos and charts stimulated discussions and reflections that were taken further by using the website together.

Using the website together also influenced the bond, task, and goal agreement that underpin therapeutic alliances [14,17,18]. A trusting bond between a SU and an MHW was developed that enabled the exploration of sensitive topics in the discovery process. This bond was supplemented by SUs identifying with their peers in the lived-experience videos. Hearing lived experiences from peers provided an additional source of relatedness, positive regard, and hope [39]. The SMART website, accessed on a digital device, provided an engaging and collaborative activity, which initiated or strengthened a shared focus on the goal of personal recovery. Kidd et al [12] argue that effective working alliances develop through a gradual and patient approach based on flexible ways of engaging. This study indicates that jointly using an e-mental health resource may provide such a flexible way of engaging, with the potential to create a strong triangle of alliance between an SU, a worker, and an e-mental health resource [13].

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

# Comparison With Other Research Into Jointly Using e–Mental Health Resources

This study demonstrates similarities with Norwegian research, where a recovery-oriented e-mental health resource, ReConnect, was integrated into community mental health practice [46]. Using ReConnect facilitated different and positive communication between SUs and MHWs, particularly when expectations about using the resource were matched and the resource was integrated into working together. Strand et al [46] refer to these positive influences as new relational avenues that enrich working relationships. Unlike this study, some ReConnect participants also reported feelings of mistrust and disappointment arising in the SU-worker relationship. Asynchronous web-based communication led to waiting for the other and workers feeling overwhelmed because of increased communication demands [46]. The SMART website was only used together in face-to-face meetings, which avoided a similar issue. The positive findings from this study, in combination with the Strand et al [46] findings, support the assertion by Torous and Hsin [47] that digital mental health tools should be reframed as tools that can strengthen and augment therapeutic relationships, provided there is a clear shared understanding about how and when they will be used. Further implications for using e-mental health tools in community mental health follow.

# Implications for Using e–Mental Health in Community Mental Health

This study indicates that jointly using an e-mental health resource can facilitate recovery-oriented interactions and build therapeutic relationships in community mental health, making this way of using e-mental health worthy of further development and application. It is recommended that future e-mental health resources for people experiencing severe mental illness include lived-experience content, that tools designed to address personal recovery and self-management are incorporated, and that SUs and MHWs use such resources together collaboratively and synchronously. Further research in different settings and using different e-mental health resources is needed to build on these findings.

# Limitations

This study has several limitations. Despite engagement with a lived-experience consultant and advisory panel, the study design may have been strengthened if a person with lived experience was more actively involved as a coresearcher, as has been recommended for studies that concern personal recovery [23] and e-mental health interventions [48]. Study participants were volunteers who were willing to try something new. This willingness has been identified as a limitation in e-mental health research, given the potential differences between willing volunteers and the broader population [9]. The qualitative findings are thus grounded in the study context and are not directly transferable to different mental health settings. Conducting interviews with pairs of SUs and MHWs who used the website together may have enabled a deeper examination of the impact of using the website on their therapeutic relationship. This was not possible because of recruitment timing and the need to obtain independent consent. Finally, the findings reported here do not address the barriers that prevented some workers from using the SMART website with SUs. Further research that explores the barriers and facilitators to jointly use an e-mental health resource will support future implementation in community mental health practice.

# Conclusions

This CGT study identified that when an SU experiencing severe mental illness and an MHW together used an e-mental health resource focused on recovery and self-management, recovery-oriented processes and interactions were elicited. Together, SUs and workers discovered ways that SUs did and could keep their lives on track when using the website became a regular part of their meetings. The tripartite alliance built positive working relationships between SUs and MHWs. Community mental health services seek ways to reorient their services so that they support SUs in their personal recovery. This qualitative study suggests that using an e-mental health resource together can elicit a discovery process that may make a valuable contribution toward this goal. Jointly using e-mental health resources in community mental health practice is therefore recommended as worthy of further development in research and practice.

# Acknowledgments

The Self-Management And Recovery Technology research program was funded by the State Government of Victoria, Department of Health Mental Illness Research Fund (MIRF33). The qualitative research component reported here was undertaken as part of the first author's (AW) PhD studies at La Trobe University, supported by an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship. The authors acknowledge the support of participating services, including Alfred Health, NorthWestern Mental Health, Austin Health, Wellways Australia, Mind Australia, UnitingCare, and Neami. The authors are also grateful for the advice provided by members of the Self-Management And Recovery Technology program reference group and the Swinburne University lived-experience advisory panel. The authors thank all the participants who generously shared their time and experience.

# **Authors' Contributions**

All authors were affiliated with the SMART research project, which was led by NT and managed by FF. All authors collaborated on designing the qualitative research component of the project and have coauthored other related papers. AW implemented the qualitative research project with research supervision provided by EF and JF and project oversight provided by NT and FF. All authors contributed to the preparation of the manuscript and read and approved the final submission.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Qualitative interview guides. [DOCX File, 29 KB - mental v8i6e25998 app1.docx ]

## References

- Gaebel W, Großimlinghaus I, Kerst A, Cohen Y, Hinsche-Böckenholt A, Johnson B, et al. European Psychiatric Association (EPA) guidance on the quality of eMental health interventions in the treatment of psychotic disorders. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2016 Mar;266(2):125-137. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00406-016-0677-6</u>] [Medline: <u>26874958</u>]
- Berry N, Lobban F, Emsley R, Bucci S. Acceptability of interventions delivered online and through mobile phones for people who experience severe mental health problems: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2016 May 31;18(5):e121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5250] [Medline: 27245693]
- 3. Firth J, Torous J. Smartphone apps for schizophrenia: a systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(4):e102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4930] [Medline: 26546039]
- 4. Gire N, Farooq S, Naeem F, Duxbury J, McKeown M, Kundi PS, et al. mHealth based interventions for the assessment and treatment of psychotic disorders: a systematic review. Mhealth 2017;3:1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2017.07.03] [Medline: 28894743]
- Naslund JA, Marsch LA, McHugo GJ, Bartels SJ. Emerging mHealth and eHealth interventions for serious mental illness: a review of the literature. J Ment Health 2015 Aug 19;24(5):321-332. [doi: <u>10.3109/09638237.2015.1019054</u>] [Medline: <u>26017625</u>]
- Alvarez-Jimenez M, Alcazar-Corcoles MA, González-Blanch C, Bendall S, McGorry PD, Gleeson JF. Online, social media and mobile technologies for psychosis treatment: a systematic review on novel user-led interventions. Schizophr Res 2014 Jun;156(1):96-106. [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.03.021] [Medline: 24746468]
- Välimäki M, Hätönen H, Lahti M, Kuosmanen L, Adams CE. Information and communication technology in patient education and support for people with schizophrenia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Oct 17;10:CD007198. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007198.pub2] [Medline: 23076932]
- Thomas N, Foley F, Lindblom K, Lee S. Are people with severe mental illness ready for online interventions? Access and use of the Internet in Australian mental health service users. Australas Psychiatry 2017 Jun;25(3):257-261. [doi: 10.1177/1039856217689913] [Medline: 28139947]
- 9. Mohr DC, Weingardt KR, Reddy M, Schueller SM. Three problems with current digital mental health research . . . And three things we can do about them. Psychiatr Serv 2017 May 01;68(5):427-429. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201600541] [Medline: 28412890]
- 10. Farrelly S, Lester H. Therapeutic relationships between mental health service users with psychotic disorders and their clinicians: a critical interpretive synthesis. Health Soc Care Community 2014 Sep;22(5):449-460. [doi: 10.1111/hsc.12090] [Medline: 24428515]
- Davidson L, Chan KK. Common factors: evidence-based practice and recovery. Psychiatr Serv 2014 May 01;65(5):675-677. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201300274</u>] [Medline: <u>24535634</u>]
- 12. Kidd SA, Davidson L, McKenzie K. Common factors in community mental health intervention: a scoping review. Community Ment Health J 2017 Aug;53(6):627-637. [doi: 10.1007/s10597-017-0117-8] [Medline: 28194599]
- Cavanagh K, Millings A. (Inter)personal computing: the role of the therapeutic relationship in e-mental health. J Contemp Psychother 2013 Jul 17;43(4):197-206. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10879-013-9242-z</u>]
- Tremain H, McEnery C, Fletcher K, Murray G. The therapeutic alliance in digital mental health interventions for serious mental illnesses: narrative review. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Aug 07;7(8):e17204 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/17204</u>] [Medline: <u>32763881</u>]
- 15. Dixon LB, Holoshitz Y, Nossel I. Treatment engagement of individuals experiencing mental illness: review and update. World Psychiatry 2016 Feb;15(1):13-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20306] [Medline: 26833597]
- 16. Elvins R, Green J. The conceptualization and measurement of therapeutic alliance: an empirical review. Clin Psychol Rev 2008 Oct;28(7):1167-1187. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2008.04.002] [Medline: 18538907]
- 17. D'Alfonso S, Lederman R, Bucci S, Berry K. The digital therapeutic alliance and human-computer interaction. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Dec 29;7(12):e21895 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21895] [Medline: 33372897]
- 18. Bordin ES. The generalizability of the psychoanalytic concept of the working alliance. Psychother: Theory Res Pract 1979;16(3):252-260. [doi: 10.1037/h0085885]
- 19. Berger T. The therapeutic alliance in internet interventions: a narrative review and suggestions for future research. Psychother Res 2017 Sep;27(5):511-524. [doi: 10.1080/10503307.2015.1119908] [Medline: 26732852]
- 20. Henson P, Wisniewski H, Hollis C, Keshavan M, Torous J. Digital mental health apps and the therapeutic alliance: initial review. BJPsych Open 2019 Jan;5(1):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjo.2018.86] [Medline: 30762511]

- Leamy M, Bird V, Le BC, Williams J, Slade M. Conceptual framework for personal recovery in mental health: systematic review and narrative synthesis. Br J Psychiatry 2011 Dec;199(6):445-452 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.083733] [Medline: 22130746]
- 22. Pincus HA, Spaeth-Rublee B, Sara G, Goldner EM, Prince PN, Ramanuj P, et al. A review of mental health recovery programs in selected industrialized countries. Int J Ment Health Syst 2016;10:73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13033-016-0104-4] [Medline: 27956939]
- van Weeghel J, van Zelst C, Boertien D, Hasson-Ohayon I. Conceptualizations, assessments, and implications of personal recovery in mental illness: a scoping review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2019 Jun;42(2):169-181. [doi: 10.1037/prj0000356] [Medline: <u>30843721</u>]
- 24. Slade M, Bird V, Le Boutillier C, Farkas M, Grey B, Larsen J, et al. Development of the REFOCUS intervention to increase mental health team support for personal recovery. Br J Psychiatry 2015 Dec;207(6):544-550. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.114.155978] [Medline: 26450586]
- 25. Chester P, Ehrlich C, Warburton L, Baker D, Kendall E, Crompton D. "What is the work of Recovery Oriented Practice? A systematic literature review". Int J Ment Health Nurs 2016 Aug;25(4):270-285. [doi: 10.1111/inm.12241] [Medline: 27381002]
- 26. Davidson L, Tondora J, Pavlo AJ, Stanhope V. Shared decision making within the context of recovery-oriented care. Ment Health Rev J 2017 Sep 11;22(3):179-190. [doi: 10.1108/mhrj-01-2017-0007]
- 27. Slade M. Personal Recovery and Mental Illness: A Guide for Mental Health Professionals. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press; 2009:1-288.
- Strand M, Gammon D, Ruland CM. Transitions from biomedical to recovery-oriented practices in mental health: a scoping review to explore the role of Internet-based interventions. BMC Health Serv Res 2017 Apr 07;17(1):257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2176-5] [Medline: 28388907]
- Williams A, Farhall J, Fossey E, Thomas N. Internet-based interventions to support recovery and self-management: a scoping review of their use by mental health service users and providers together. BMC Psychiatry 2019 Jun 20;19(1):191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2153-0] [Medline: 31221125]
- 30. Thomas N, Farhall J, Foley F, Leitan ND, Villagonzalo K, Ladd E, et al. Promoting personal recovery in people with persisting psychotic disorders: development and pilot study of a novel digital intervention. Front Psychiatry 2016;7:196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00196] [Medline: 28066271]
- Thomas N, Farhall J, Foley F, Rossell SL, Castle D, Ladd E, et al. Randomised controlled trial of a digitally assisted low intensity intervention to promote personal recovery in persisting psychosis: SMART-Therapy study protocol. BMC Psychiatry 2016 Sep 07;16(1):312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-1024-1] [Medline: 27604363]
- 32. Charmaz K. Constructing Grounded Theory (2nd Ed). Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2014:1-416.
- 33. Tweed A, Charmaz K. Grounded theory metods for mental health practitioners. In: Harper D, Thompson A, editors. Qualitative Research Methods in Mental Health and Psychotherapy: A Guide for Students and Practitioners. 1st Ed. Hoboken, New Jersey, United States: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011:1-272.
- 34. Henderson AR. A substantive theory of recovery from the effects of severe persistent mental illness. Int J Soc Psychiatry 2011 Nov;57(6):564-573. [doi: 10.1177/0020764010374417] [Medline: 20659965]
- Tickle A, Brown D, Hayward M. Can we risk recovery? A grounded theory of clinical psychologists' perceptions of risk and recovery-oriented mental health services. Psychol Psychother 2014 Mar 10;87(1):96-110. [doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8341.2012.02079.x] [Medline: 24497399]
- Naslund JA, Grande SW, Aschbrenner KA, Elwyn G. Naturally occurring peer support through social media: the experiences of individuals with severe mental illness using YouTube. PLoS One 2014;9(10):e110171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0110171] [Medline: 25333470]
- 37. Singleton A, Abeles P, Smith IC. Online social networking and psychological experiences: the perceptions of young people with mental health difficulties. Comput Hum Beh 2016 Aug;61:394-403. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.011</u>]
- 38. Birks M, Mills J. Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide (2nd Ed). Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2015:1-208.
- Williams A, Fossey E, Farhall J, Foley F, Thomas N. Recovery after psychosis: qualitative study of service user experiences of lived experience videos on a recovery-oriented website. JMIR Ment Health 2018 May 08;5(2):e37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.9934] [Medline: 29739737]
- 40. Bazely P, Jackson K. Qualitative Data Analysis With N-Vivo. (2nd Ed). Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2013:1-328.
- 41. Nelson J. Using conceptual depth criteria: addressing the challenge of reaching saturation in qualitative research. Qual Res 2016 Dec 14;17(5):554-570. [doi: 10.1177/1468794116679873]
- 42. Rennick-Egglestone S, Morgan K, Llewellyn-Beardsley J, Ramsay A, McGranahan R, Gillard S, et al. Mental health recovery narratives and their impact on recipients: systematic review and narrative synthesis. Can J Psychiatry 2019 Oct;64(10):669-679 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0706743719846108] [Medline: 31046432]

- 43. Soundy A, Stubbs B, Roskell C, Williams SE, Fox A, Vancampfort D. Identifying the facilitators and processes which influence recovery in individuals with schizophrenia: a systematic review and thematic synthesis. J Ment Health 2015 Apr;24(2):103-110. [doi: 10.3109/09638237.2014.998811] [Medline: 25643043]
- 44. Wallace G, Bird V, Leamy M, Bacon F, Le Boutillier C, Janosik M, et al. Service user experiences of REFOCUS: a process evaluation of a pro-recovery complex intervention. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2016 Sep;51(9):1275-1284. [doi: 10.1007/s00127-016-1257-9] [Medline: 27365099]
- 45. Borg M, Kristiansen K. Recovery-oriented professionals: helping relationships in mental health services. J Ment Health 2004 Oct;13(5):493-505. [doi: <u>10.1080/09638230400006809</u>]
- 46. Strand M, Gammon D, Eng LS, Ruland C. Exploring working relationships in mental health care via an e-recovery portal: qualitative study on the experiences of service users and health providers. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Nov 14;4(4):e54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.8491] [Medline: 29138127]
- 47. Torous J, Hsin H. Empowering the digital therapeutic relationship: virtual clinics for digital health interventions. NPJ Digit Med 2018;1:16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-018-0028-2] [Medline: 31304301]
- Naslund JA, Aschbrenner KA, Marsch LA, Bartels SJ. The future of mental health care: peer-to-peer support and social media. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2016 Apr;25(2):113-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1017/S2045796015001067</u>] [Medline: <u>26744309</u>]

### Abbreviations

CGT: constructivist grounded theory CHIME: Connectedness, Hope, Identity, Meaning, and Empowerment MHW: mental health worker SMART: Self-Management And Recovery Technology SU: service user

Edited by S D'Alfonso; submitted 24.11.20; peer-reviewed by F Cataldo, D Jung, M McKeown; comments to author 11.01.21; revised version received 04.03.21; accepted 16.04.21; published 16.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Williams A, Fossey E, Farhall J, Foley F, Thomas N Impact of Jointly Using an e-Mental Health Resource (Self-Management And Recovery Technology) on Interactions Between Service Users Experiencing Severe Mental Illness and Community Mental Health Workers: Grounded Theory Study JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e25998 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25998 doi:10.2196/25998 PMID:34132647

©Anne Williams, Ellie Fossey, John Farhall, Fiona Foley, Neil Thomas. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 16.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Twitter Users' Views on Mental Health Crisis Resolution Team Care Compared With Stakeholder Interviews and Focus Groups: Qualitative Analysis

Natasha Chilman<sup>1,2</sup>, MSc; Nicola Morant<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Brynmor Lloyd-Evans<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Jane Wackett<sup>1</sup>, BSc, PGCert; Sonia Johnson<sup>1,3</sup>, DM

<sup>1</sup>Division of Psychiatry, University College London, London, United Kingdom

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychological Medicine, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom <sup>3</sup>Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Nicola Morant, PhD Division of Psychiatry University College London Maple House, 149 Tottenham Court Rd, Bloomsbury London, W1T 7BN United Kingdom Phone: 44 7969688554 Email: n.morant@ucl.ac.uk

# Abstract

**Background:** Analyzing Twitter posts enables rapid access to how issues and experiences are socially shared and constructed among communities of health service users and providers, in ways that traditional qualitative methods may not.

**Objective:** To enrich the understanding of mental health crisis care in the United Kingdom, this study explores views on crisis resolution teams (CRTs) expressed on Twitter. We aim to identify the similarities and differences among views expressed on Twitter compared with interviews and focus groups.

**Methods:** We used Twitter's advanced search function to retrieve public tweets on CRTs. A thematic analysis was conducted on 500 randomly selected tweets. The principles of refutational synthesis were applied to compare themes with those identified in a multicenter qualitative interview study.

**Results:** The most popular hashtag identified was *#CrisisTeamFail*, where posts were principally related to poor quality of care and access, particularly for people given a *personality disorder* diagnosis. Posts about CRTs giving unhelpful self-management advice were common, as were tweets about resource strains on mental health services. This was not identified in the research interviews. Although each source yielded unique themes, there were some overlaps with themes identified via interviews and focus groups, including the importance of rapid access to care. Views expressed on Twitter were generally more critical than those obtained via face-to-face methods.

**Conclusions:** Traditional qualitative studies may underrepresent the views of more critical stakeholders by collecting data from participants accessed via mental health services. Research on social media content can complement traditional or face-to-face methods and ensure that a broad spectrum of viewpoints can inform service development and policy.

# (JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e25742) doi:10.2196/25742

# KEYWORDS

Twitter; social media; qualitative; crisis resolution team; home treatment team; mental health; acute care; severe mental illness

# Introduction

# **Twitter in Mental Health Research**

Twitter has emerged as a prominent social media platform that may be a valuable data source for researchers wanting to access

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25742

stakeholders' views on many topics, including mental health services [1]. Results from a survey of mental health professionals suggest that psychiatrists and psychologists hold mixed views on using social media in their professional lives [2]. However, in recent years, researchers have used Twitter as

a source of qualitative data to explore mental health by analyzing tweets from the general public regarding depression [3-7], schizophrenia [7,8], Alzheimer disease [9], suicide [10], stigma [11], and mental health professional conduct [1]. This research has found active communities of Twitter users discussing topics related to mental health and mental health care [5].

Twitter has its own methodological strengths and limitations as a source of secondary data for research. First, it offers researchers a quick and affordable way to access textual data that can be analyzed both qualitatively and quantitatively. For example, researchers have analyzed Twitter posts to provide rapid insights into the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic [12-14]. Twitter allows information to be collected in a naturalistic setting and therefore captures meaningful moments for Twitter users, which are less subject to the researcher's influence [4,15,16]. However, Twitter analysis clearly only accesses the views of those who use the internet and engage with this particular social media platform. Tweets are currently more likely to be from younger, more affluent sectors of the population [17,18]. Twitter users may sometimes tweet in a reactive way, conveying in-the-moment feelings and experiences [19] rather than more reflective views. Finally, short tweets can lack depth of content and context, making them harder to make inferences from when compared with rich and complex interview transcripts [5]. Similar to any data collection method, these strengths and limitations are important to consider when analyzing Twitter data in mental health research.

Research using Twitter or other social media data relies on the premise that the data reflect authentic experiences. Recently, commentators have attempted to evaluate the authenticity of Twitter posts [20-22]. Twitter has a public declarative function, which might influence the way people communicate on the platform and the content they share [23]. Social media platforms provide a forum for the construction and curation of social identities via a rapid exchange of personally, socially, and politically relevant information [23]. As such, data obtained via this medium need to be understood within the context of these multiple agendas [24,25]. Nonetheless, Twitter has been viewed as an extension of the real world [26,27]. Where Twitter posts are considered within their context, they can provide researchers with authentic knowledge of people's daily rituals, opinions, and experiences [23].

Traditional qualitative methods are usually labor-intensive and costly [28]. In research environments where resources are scarce and where rapid investigations of stakeholder views with direct clinical and policy relevance are needed, Twitter may be a readily accessible opportunity for data collection. Twitter may also provide novel perspectives on mental health service provision, as users posting on social media platforms may be different from those who agree to participate in research, especially research in which participants are recruited via mental health services. However, studies have not yet investigated how views on mental health care are expressed on Twitter compared with those identified through traditional qualitative data collection methods, and little is known about the unique contribution of a Twitter analysis.

XSL•FO

#### **Crisis Resolution Teams**

Crisis resolution teams (CRTs; sometimes known as home treatment teams) were implemented nationally in the United Kingdom following policy directives in the National Health Service (NHS) in 2000 [29]. The remit of CRTs is to provide intensive community support to those experiencing a mental health crisis, with the aim of reducing the need for inpatient psychiatric hospital admission [30,31]. Research using electronic health record data indicates that most patients using CRT services are White, unmarried, middle-aged, and live in areas of high social deprivation [32]. Although research has shown that CRT support increases service user satisfaction with acute care in some circumstances [31,33,34], this is not consistent across services [35,36]. Furthermore, CRTs have not reduced admission rates nationwide to the degree anticipated [32,37]. Stakeholder perspectives of CRT care can inform initiatives to improve implementation, service user experiences, and outcomes [35,38]. The largest qualitative study on UK stakeholders' views of CRTs to date was conducted by Morant et al [38] as part of the work to develop a model of CRT good practices [39]. The thematic analysis found that staff continuity, carer involvement, and emotional and practical support are important components for CRT implementation [38].

#### **Study Aims**

Combining different sources for qualitative analyses is advocated to achieve a comprehensive understanding of a phenomenon [40,41]. Thus far, research on CRTs has relied on traditional qualitative methods. In this study, we aim to explore Twitter posts about CRTs and compare these posts with views obtained via interviews and focus groups. We seek to extend our understanding of the potential of Twitter as an easily accessible source of relevant stakeholder views, compare findings from Twitter with those from more traditional qualitative methods, and consider what this adds to our understanding of CRT implementation as experienced by stakeholders, including service users, family carers, service providers, and mental health practitioners.

A common methodological pitfall when comparing and combining different qualitative methods is to claim that one method is *better* than another [40]. By comparing Twitter posts with data collected via face-to-face methods, we do not wish to verify one data collection method or claim that one method is more trustworthy; rather, we are interested in comparing findings from these data sources to explore similarities and differences among views expressed regarding CRTs in both contexts.

# Methods

#### **Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate**

This study was designed in accordance with guidelines on social media research published by the British Psychological Society [42] and the Association of Internet Researchers [43] and was approved by the University College London ethics chair (project ID: 1329/001). As this study only used publicly available tweets, there was no requirement for consent to participate. Twitter quotes used in this study have been paraphrased. Paraphrased quotes were tested through Twitter and Google search engines

to ensure that the identity of the Twitter users was protected. Ethical approval for the Crisis Team Optimization and Relapse Prevention (CORE) study was obtained from the London Camden and Islington Research Ethics Committee (REC reference number 10/H0722/84), and written informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

#### **Data Collection**

# Twitter

Twitter's advanced search function was used to retrieve public tweets relevant to CRTs. Search terms were chosen through informal explorations on Twitter and included known terminology relevant to CRTs (eg, *home treatment team*) and relevant *hashtags* (including *#crisisteamfail* and *#crisisteamsuccess*). A full list of search terms is presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Total number of tweets retrieved, excluded, and randomly selected for analysis by the	search term <sup>a</sup> .
--	----------------------------

Search term	Total retrieved tweets, n (%)	Date range of retrieved tweets	Excluded tweets <sup>b</sup> , n (%)	Included tweets, n (%)	Tweets randomly selected for analysis, n (%)
#CRHTT <sup>c</sup>	16 (0.33)	August 23, 2012-September 5, 2017	0 (0)	16 (0.38)	1 (0.2)
#crisisteam	516 (10.65)	December 6, 2011-May 25, 2018	109 (17.03)	407 (9.68)	186 (37.2)
#crisisteamfail	934 (19.27)	November 20, 2014-May 12, 2018	4 (0.63)	930 (22.11)	127 (25.4)
#crisisteamsuccess	26 (0.54)	November 20, 2015-November 25, 2017	0 (0)	26 (0.62)	6 (1.2)
#dearcrisisteam	147 (3.03)	November 24, 2014-May 1, 2018	0 (0)	147 (3.5)	30 (6)
#hometreatmentteam	20 (0.41)	September 10, 2013-May 29, 2018	1 (0.16)	19 (0.45)	1 (0.2)
Crisis resolution team	132 (2.72)	September 22, 2010-June 1, 2018	21 (3.28)	111 (2.64)	10 (2)
Home treatment team	1714 (35.37)	July 12, 2010-June 1, 2018	37 (5.78)	1677 (39.87)	209 (41.8)
Crisis team	1255 (25.9)	November 1, 2017-November 30, 2017; February 1, 2018-February 28, 2018	465 (72.66)	790 (18.78)	90 (18)
Total	4846 (100)	July 12, 2010-June 1, 2018	640 (100)	4206 (100)	500 (100)

<sup>a</sup>Some tweets were captured by more than one search term.

<sup>b</sup>Reasons for exclusion: tweet not clearly relevant to UK mental health crisis resolution teams, tweet not in the English language, or tweet suspected to be from or about minors.

<sup>c</sup>CRHTT: Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team.

We collected tweets posted between January 1, 2010, and June 1, 2018. While conducting the search, we found that the term *crisis team* produced many results. Most of these tweets were irrelevant to the study's focus on mental health CRTs. To ensure that the data set was manageable and relevant to the study, we collected 2 months of tweets for the *crisis team* search only. We assigned a number to each month in the overall period (January 1, 2010-June 1, 2018), then used a random number generator that randomly selected 2 months of tweets (November 2017 and February 2018) for the *crisis team* search. For all other search terms, we collected tweets posted between January 1, 2010, and June 1, 2018.

As tweets were extracted into an encrypted Microsoft Excel document, identifying features such as usernames and pictures were removed. Tweets were included if they were clearly relevant to UK mental health CRTs and excluded if they were not in the English language or were suspected to be from or about minors. The latter included tweets that either mentioned Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services or explicitly stated that their or someone else's age was below 16 years. We did not analyze the number of retweets or responses. Tweets citing external links were included, but these links were not accessed or analyzed.

#### https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25742

RenderX

#### **CORE Interviews and Focus Groups**

We used interview and focus group data from the CORE study for a comparison with the Twitter data. CORE was a research program that aimed to define and improve fidelity to good practice in mental health crisis teams [44]. A qualitative study was conducted as a part of this, aiming to explore stakeholders' experiences and views of CRTs and identify what they considered important for good CRT care. Semistructured interviews and focus groups were conducted with service users (n=41), carers (n=20), and CRT practitioners (n=137). Participants were recruited via CRT clinicians from 10 mental health catchment areas in England. The topics covered included experiences of CRT care, access to and discharge from CRTs, what is most important in CRT care, suggestions for best practices, and any barriers to or facilitators of achieving good practice. Questions were broad and open to allow respondents to bring up what they found important. Further details can be found in the previous study [38]. In this study, researchers had access to the full set of anonymized transcripts as a secondary data source.

# **Data Analysis**

### Twitter Analysis

Once all search outputs had been collated, tweets were selected for analysis using a random number generator. Tweets were selected and analyzed, 100 tweets at a time. Tweets were organized into basic descriptive categories following the principles of conventional content analysis [45] to provide an overview of the data set. If the tweet stated what kind of stakeholder was tweeting, for example, a service user or staff member, this was recorded as the tweet *relation*.

The main qualitative analysis of the Twitter data used thematic analysis, following the guidelines by Braun and Clarke [46,47]. We used an inductive approach to explore the data, although we were also guided by the awareness of findings from the previous CORE study. The lead researcher (NC) generated codes from the first 100 tweets to identify the initial themes. A second researcher (JW), who had lived experience of mental health service use, also conducted a thematic analysis on the first 100 tweets [48]. The 2 researchers discussed the tweets and combined their codes to collaboratively develop ideas on initial themes. The lead researcher then progressed through the data set of 100 tweets at a time, continuing with an inductive approach and transforming the coding frame as appropriate. One tweet could have multiple codes or contribute to multiple themes, although due to the short nature of tweets, this rarely occurred. The analysis was a collaborative and iterative process in which the wider research team met regularly to discuss the development of the coding frame and the clustering of codes into more abstract themes, and any uncertainties or disagreements between members of the team were resolved through discussion. The research team included various perspectives on the research topic, including lived experience, clinical roles, and academics working in CRT research. This iterative analysis process continued until thematic saturation was reached at 500 tweets. Changes or trends over time were not analyzed.

# **CORE** Analysis

The CORE interviews and focus groups had already been analyzed using inductive thematic analysis by researchers in the original study [38]. The researchers in this study had access to the analyzed transcripts, notes, and coding frames on NVivo (QSR International). The lead researcher (NC) read this content to familiarize herself with the data and their interpretation in the original study. Other members of the research team worked on the original CORE study (NM, BLE, and SJ).

# Comparative Analysis

The principles of refutational synthesis were used to compare the CORE qualitative interview data set to the Twitter data set. Refutational synthesis is a form of meta-ethnography that involves exploring and explaining contradictions among qualitative studies, with a focus on contextual differences [49,50]. We created tables, to structure the refutational synthesis, in which codes and themes from both data sets were listed against one another if they had any relation or contrast. Discussions on these comparisons were held by the research team.

# Results

# Twitter Search Results

Table 1 shows the number of tweets retrieved and included per search term. In total, 4206 tweets were retrieved from nine search terms. The highest number of relevant tweets was collected using the search term *home treatment team*. Hashtags identified in the search process included trending topics such as *#crisisteamfail*, which was the most frequently tweeted hashtag search term.

# Who Is Tweeting?

Owing to the search strategy and the nature of Twitter, we were unable to determine the precise demographics of our sample, such as age, location, or mental health diagnosis (if any) of *tweeters*. As the search was made from a computer in London, tweets are more likely (but not verifiably) to be from the United Kingdom. It was feasible to identify what kind of CRT stakeholder the Twitter user was with reasonable confidence for most analyzed tweets (381/500, 76.2%). Table 2 shows the total number and percentages of stakeholder groups for the 500 analyzed tweets. Service users were the most common group who tweeted about CRTs (239/500, 47.8%) with fewer tweets posted by job advertisers, staff, and family or friends. There was 87% agreement between the 2 coders for 100 tweet relations, indicating that it is feasible to identify who is tweeting consistently.

Table 2. Twitter user relation groups (who was tweeting) for analyzed tweets (N=500).

Relation group	Tweets, n (%)
Service user	239 (47.8)
Unknown	119 (23.7)
Job advertisers	60 (12)
Other	30 (6)
Family or friend	26 (5.2)
CRT <sup>a</sup> staff	26 (5.2)

<sup>a</sup>CRT: crisis resolution team.



## What Do People Tweet About?

The content analysis for 500 tweets indicated that large proportion of tweets expressed negative views about CRTs (205/500, 41%), compared with a small proportion of posts about positive experiences (36/500, 7.2%). The remainder of tweets were more neutral, for example, personal updates. These personal updates involved the Twitter user sharing live updates on their whereabouts and activities, such as "I'm off to see the CRT." Information sharing (80/500, 16%) was more common than information seeking (21/500, 4%). For example, Twitter users shared information on how to contact the CRT. A proportion of tweets included job advertisements to work in CRTs (62/500, 12.4%). Sometimes we could identify where tweeters were engaged in conversation with one another through the "@" symbol in their tweets (80/500, 16%), where they shared their experiences of CRT services and at times offered emotional support.

### **Thematic Analysis of Twitter Content**

We identified principally critical Twitter content about experiences of accessing CRTs and the quality of care provided, comments on resource limitations, and a small number of more positively toned tweets by CRT staff members.

### Accessing Crisis Team Care

Among the critical posts, some Twitter users reported having difficulty accessing CRT care for themselves or a family member or friend. Twitter users described barriers to access help, such as feeling prematurely *turned away* by the CRT. This was particularly the case in which Twitter users posted that they had been diagnosed with a *personality disorder*. Other mental health diagnoses were rarely mentioned and were not associated with this experience of rejection from the CRT. Twitter users also reported difficulties in contacting the CRT, particularly by phone:

When the CRT find out you have a diagnosis of BPD, they just ignore you.

I'm lucky to have access to the crisis team—not everyone does just because of their diagnosis.

Just tried to ring the crisis team, no-one answered, no answerphone.

Although not all tweets discussing access to crisis care were negative, positive sentiments were sometimes tinged with surprise or sarcasm, suggesting a mixed landscape of experiences and a lack of consistent access to the CRT:

Crisis team staff came to see me the same day that I called them, what kind of parallel universe is this?

# Quality of Care

Twitter users expressed varying experiences of quality of care, although sentiments were once again weighted toward the negative. There were many tweets about CRT staff giving inappropriately basic self-management advice to service users, such as having a cup of tea or taking a bath. Service users tweeted that, as a consequence, they felt that services did not understand or appreciate the severity of their crisis and that their own self-management strategies may have already been

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25742
```

exhausted. They expressed finding distraction or self-care advice to be patronizing and insensitive. Discussions on inappropriate self-management advice have been so widely circulated on Twitter that, at times, Twitter users interacted with each other in tones of sarcasm:

Crisis team, if I'm talking to you I've already tried drinking tea and doing mindfulness colouring whilst in the bath.

A paramedic would never advise a patient to just go for a walk or watch TV, so why does the crisis team?

Of the smaller number of service user tweets about positive experiences of CRTs, these were often attributed to CRT staff listening to service users and providing meaningful, appropriate advice. Interestingly, Twitter users tended to attribute *success stories* to individual staff members. In other words, *#crisisteamsuccess* depended on the expertise of individual staff members:

There are some really excellent CRT staff members out there, they are rare but real.

The woman who visited from the crisis team this morning was so reassuring.

#### Strain on Mental Health Services

There were recurrent mentions of NHS cuts, a lack of hospital beds, and the use of police and paramedics to cover what was felt to be a lack of mental health professionals in the community. Such frustrations with the *system* were expressed by service users, family, and friends alike but were not mentioned by any self-identified CRT staff members in this sample:

The mental health system is in meltdown, further cuts mean services can't cope, no hospital beds, crisis team overwhelmed, they need more funds.

My local CRT have no resources, no training, the system is broken.

# Working in a CRT

A small number of Twitter users (26/500, 5.2%) were identified as CRT staff members. Although there were some suggestions for long and unsociable working hours, there was a positive trend in these tweets in which staff members expressed gratitude to their team. Most of these tweets seemed to be from nursing or medical trainees on placements, reflecting that Twitter is often used by a younger age group who may be more open to talking about their work on social media [2]:

Am sad that my time working in the CRT is coming to an end, it is a v good team #rewarding

Working on new years eve, yay for me! #mentalhealthcrisisteam

# **Refutational Synthesis: Themes From Twitter Compared With Interviews and Focus Groups**

#### Overview

The CORE study identified three domains that were important to stakeholders in CRT care: (1) the organization of CRT care (including easy and quick access to care and staff continuity), (2) the content of CRT work (including the staff being

empathetic and providing emotional support), and (3) the role of CRTs in the wider system (eg, gatekeeping admissions). This was explored in detail in the original study publication, along with the demographics of the sample [38].

In the refutational synthesis, we found that the features identified as important for good access to and quality of CRT care in the CORE study aligned with the views of tweeters. However, there were differing views on how far this was currently being achieved in practice, with tweeters being generally more critical of CRT care. In Table 3, we list some of the comparisons among themes that highlight similarities and differences between the data sets. Here, we provide details on the areas of convergence and divergence in stakeholder views of the access and quality of CRT care. We also discuss the strain on mental health services as a theme that is unique to the Twitter data set.

**Table 3.** Results from the refutational synthesis examining similarities and differences among themes identified in the Twitter data set and the Crisis Team Optimization and Relapse Prevention interview and focus groups data sets, with code examples<sup>a</sup>.

Theme	Twitter data set	Interviews and focus groups data sets		
Accessing	Accessing CRT <sup>b</sup> care			
	Importance of quick and easy access	Importance of quick and easy access		
	Reports of difficulty accessing the CRT, for example, via the phone	c		
	Diagnosis of a "personality disorder" as a barrier to accessing CRT care	_		
Quality of CRT care				
	Importance of empathetic staff members	Importance of empathetic staff members		
	Feeling dismissed by inappropriate distraction or self-care self-management advice	—		
	_	Holistic models of care		
Strain on	mental health services			
	Underresourced community crisis services	_		
	Use of police or paramedics in mental health crises	_		
CRT's ro	le in the wider system			
	_	Gatekeeping hospital admissions		
	_	CRT as an alternative to hospital		

<sup>a</sup>Codes are indicated using italics. <sup>b</sup>CRT: crisis resolution team. <sup>c</sup>Not identified.

#### Accessing CRT Care

The importance of having readily accessible crisis care was evident in both the CORE interviews and the Twitter data set. However, the two data sets illustrated very different service user experiences. As discussed, service users on Twitter largely complained that the CRT was not readily available, for example, by not answering the phone or being too far away. Such tweets were often in real time, reporting contact (or a lack of contact) with the CRT as it happened:

#### No one will answer the phone during handover for an hour, what if it's an emergency? [Twitter user]

In contrast to the largely negative views expressed on Twitter, CORE service users reported mixed experiences with access to care. Some service users reported that it was mostly quick and easy to contact the CRT by phone, and many appreciated that care was available during unsociable hours:

Overall, what matters most? I would say the fact that you can make contact with the Crisis team 24 hours, 24/7. [CORE service user]

An important finding in the Twitter data set was that people who were diagnosed with a *personality disorder* felt that their

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25742
```

diagnosis was a barrier to access care, and these Twitter users often felt that stigma against their diagnosis meant that they were denied care:

Crisis team said "CRT care for people with a diagnosis of BPD can make them worse, so we don't really visit them." [Twitter user]

Issues regarding access to care for people with *personality disorders* did not arise in the CORE study. Among the small subset of service users in the CORE study with *personality disorder* diagnoses, the sense of rejection identified in the Twitter posts was not expressed. Conversely, these service users often reported positive service experiences and did not identify their diagnosis as a barrier to treatment. In focus groups with CRT staff members, there were diverging opinions regarding whether CRT support was appropriate for those with *personality disorder* diagnoses. Some staff expressed perceived difficulties in supporting people with these diagnoses, including difficulties in maintaining the boundaries of therapeutic relationships, difficulties with the time-limited nature of CRT support, and general pressures on mental health systems and teams:

More and more, we've got a lot of people on our books with borderline personality disorder...They

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

refer to us because they [referrers] don't know what to do with them, which is fine, but neither do we. [CORE CRT staff]

In summary, although both data sets show a mixed landscape of experiences, Twitter users often reported more difficulty accessing CRT care. This was particularly the case for Twitter users who were posting about *personality disorder*.

## Quality of Care

Both service users and carers in the CORE study reported mixed experiences of the quality of care received from CRTs. In the CORE interviews, help with practical issues, emotional support, and relationship building were all described as important aspects of good quality care. Service users valued times when they received emotional support from staff who listened to them and came across as caring. There was a wish among some stakeholders for a more holistic approach to care, for example, more support with social issues. This was not observed in the Twitter sample:

They did listen to me. They did understand my predicament. They acknowledged my dilemma about taking a medication. [CORE service user]

Crisis team advising me to take a walk in the park is probably the worst thing to say considering I make self-harm plans in the park [Twitter user]

Importantly, a significant aspect of care quality that was frequently discussed by service users on Twitter was receiving unhelpful self-management advice from the CRT. This was unique to Twitter: in the CORE data set, stakeholders did not report experiences of feeling dismissed by distraction or self-care advice.

Both data sets identified staff characteristics as a determinant of good quality treatment, with consensus that there is a wide variety of staff expertise within CRTs. As CRT staff work shifts, the extent to which consistent therapeutic relationships are established varies greatly, and continuity of care is a challenge. This was reflected in both data sets, where continuity of staffing was valued and seen as important in CRT care. Personal staff characteristics, such as empathy and compassion, were consistently described in both forms of data as critical ingredients in good CRT support:

He's had some good, really good staff come to see him, and he's had some damn awful, pretty diabolical people come to see him, as well. [CORE carer]

Shocked by reading the hashtag #crisisteamfail, I have experienced this but I also think some CRT staff are great [Twitter user]

#### Strain on Mental Health Services

In our sample, we found that people posted on Twitter about a strain on mental health services due to high demands and a lack of resources. This theme was unique to the Twitter data set and was not discussed in the CORE interviews and focus groups with service users, despite the broad semistructured nature of the interview questions. Some Twitter users directed tweets toward the Twitter accounts of the NHS and UK government. This theme reflects the political nature of Twitter as a social

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25742
```

forum in comparison with interviews and focus groups that take place in a private space. This theme was distinct from the theme "the role of CRTs in the care system" in the CORE data set, which described the role of CRTs as gatekeepers for hospital admissions:

*NHS mental health crisis services are being stretched to breaking point.* [Twitter user]

Police are helping people who are self-harming cos the conservatives slashed funding for CRTs. [Twitter user]

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Our findings suggest that the analysis of Twitter data can complement traditional qualitative research methods and expand our understanding of stakeholder views of mental health crisis care delivered by CRTs. Many of the same things feature in what service users and family caregivers describe as valuable components of good quality CRT care in both fora, particularly staff who listen and provide warmth and empathy. We accessed additional insights into the experiences of CRTs from Twitter. Twitter users posted that self-management strategies suggested by CRT staff were frequently experienced as unhelpful and expressed concern about the strain on mental health services. Twitter users with *personality disorder* diagnoses discussed their diagnosis as a barrier to accessing CRT care. More generally negative sentiments were expressed on Twitter compared with traditional face-to-face data collection methods. Therefore, it seems likely that more negative experiences of CRT service use and implementation may be missed by relying solely on face-to-face data collection methods.

Twitter differs from traditional qualitative methods in several respects. Interviews and focus groups are often set up as *spaces for reflection*. This is encouraged in numerous ways: at the time of data collection (usually after some time has elapsed since the experience), in the open nature of questioning, and in the way in which interviews are introduced as research where there are no *right* or *wrong* answers [51]. The interviews and focus groups were also structured to some degree by the researcher. Twitter, on the other hand, is an instant form of communication, where individuals often post using mobile phones in the *heat of the moment* [19,52]. Twitter posts also take place outside of research contexts, this strengthens our confidence in the congruent themes in our analysis, as these are expressed both inside and outside of the *interview room*.

Twitter is set up as a social media forum, encouraging interactions between users [23,53,54]. There appeared to be a community of service users with similar negative experiences of CRTs in this study, who engaged and supported each other in the *Twittersphere*. For example, interactions about unhelpful self-management advice appear to have turned into a *running joke* in this Twitter community as part of the hashtag *#crisisteamfail*. This is a clear example of how views are constructed and reinforced in the social sphere of Twitter in a way that is very different from how views are expressed in

individual face-to-face methods. Analyzing Twitter posts can therefore allow access to how issues and experiences are shared among socially mediated communities of health service users [23,55].

The participant recruitment processes for interviews and focus groups in the CORE study likely introduced some selection bias, as potential participants were identified via CRTs. This necessarily excludes people in mental health crises who could not or did not want to engage with CRTs. As the CRT staff contributed to identifying service users and their family members, they may have been more likely to identify service users who had engaged positively with CRT care (although CORE study researchers took steps to help avoid selection bias by the staff). For example, participants diagnosed with *personality disorders* in the CORE interviews had received a service from the CRT, so the sample was unlikely to include people who felt that they had been denied care. The Twitter analysis may therefore allow research to access a broader range of voices compared with face-to-face qualitative methods alone.

Individuals who are active on Twitter may differ from those who engage in traditional qualitative research and may differ from CRT service users as a whole. A significant proportion of mental health service users (and nonusers) are distrustful of services or may have had negative previous contacts with services, sometimes involving coercion. These individuals may be more inclined to engage in Twitter than in traditional research projects. In addition, given its broad social reach, people who use Twitter may be more likely to engage as advocates and activists, bringing this distinctive point of view to the table. Twitter can be viewed as a naturalistic public setting in which service users can have their voices heard [23], gaining power in this virtual space where they can choose to remain anonymous. Some people may feel more comfortable communicating through text, rather than face-to-face interactions. Twitter users tend to be from younger sectors of the population [18], whereas CRT service users as a whole tend to be middle-aged [32], which may explain some differences between themes identified in this study and highlights that Twitter may reflect younger service users' experiences of CRTs. By using interviews and focus groups alone, research on CRTs thus far may fail to access the views of less-engaged service users and more critical stakeholders.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

This is the first study to compare views expressed on Twitter with data collected from interviews and focus groups in the field of mental health research. A broad range of search terms were used, both with and without *hashtags*, which link tweets together. By conducting the search directly from Twitter, we avoided bias that would have been introduced if we used software such as NCapture [56]. The benefits of including lived experience perspectives in analyzing qualitative data in mental health research to help provide a more complete understanding of the data [57] are equally relevant for research involving Twitter. Collaborative coding in this study enhanced the validity of qualitative analysis: the research team included key stakeholder perspectives and experiences of using, providing, and researching mental health services.

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25742
```

This study has some limitations. The search strategy meant that the demographics of tweeters could not be retrieved. Tweets were accessed through Twitter's advanced search function, which uses Twitter's application programming interface. This means that the search output is determined in part by Twitter's programming. Nevertheless, research suggests that the application programming interface method still retrieves a large proportion of tweets available in the public domain [58]. The search terms used in this study were inclusive, but there will inevitably be some relevant tweets that were missed. The study design meant that we were unable to conduct any causal analysis to explain the differences between the themes in both data sets. Finally, tweets are by nature short and may therefore lack the depth, nuance, or complexity of other narrative forms. There is some room for misinterpretation where there is a lack of context and a lack of opportunity to explore the meaning of tweets further [5]. Collaborative coding and meetings with a wider research team aimed to resolve the uncertainties as much as possible.

#### **Implications for Clinical Practice and Future Research**

The refutational synthesis found that there are some overall congruent messages about what is considered important in CRT practice; however, there were differing views about how far this is being achieved and some themes emerged from only one set of analyses. Our confidence in CORE study findings [38] regarding critical ingredients of good CRT implementation-including good access, responsiveness, and consistent and caring staff-is strengthened by the present findings. This is consistent with previous qualitative studies that identified similar critical ingredients of good CRT services [35]. To our knowledge, our study is the first to examine stakeholder perspectives of CRTs using social media data. The stark comparison between service user experiences accessed using Twitter or face-to-face methods shows that we should approach either data source with caution as a gauge of overall service user experience. This reinforces the need for better and more coordinated routine collection and analysis of patient-reported experience measures in mental health services and highlights the virtues of triangulating different sources in qualitative research [41].

Our analysis suggests that CRTs need to develop new approaches when supporting individuals with self-management advice and that CRT staff should avoid giving general self-care advice, such as going for walks. This is likely to apply to other clinical contexts in mental health care. Instead of self-care advice, self-management strategies should be tailored toward relapse prevention and recovery goals [59]. For example, a randomized controlled trial demonstrated the benefits of having a peer support worker promote self-management strategies for those recently discharged from a CRT [60]. Although research has shown that mental health professionals have mixed opinions about using Twitter in their professional life [2], we argue that Twitter may be a helpful source of viewpoints for service improvement initiatives [1,16]. However, future work is needed to investigate whether Twitter is representative enough to provide real-time feedback on mental health services.

Researchers may find it beneficial to engage proactively with Twitter to gain a broad range of perspectives. This is particularly the case when research questions seek to include those who have difficulty engaging or have disengaged from services or where studies have difficulty recruiting participants for lengthy interviews and focus groups. Future research using Twitter data may use natural language processing techniques to examine the broad content of Twitter posts. It would also be interesting to track trends and changes over time. A limitation of this study was that we could not conduct any causal analysis, and future research may explicitly ask CRT stakeholders to reflect on and explain differences between themes in the Twitter and interview data sets. The themes identified in this study demonstrate that more research is needed on how best to optimize crisis care for people who have been diagnosed with a *personality disorder*, as our Twitter analysis showed that this group often felt dismissed, neglected, and stigmatized by services. Further

explorations are desirable to examine the potential of Twitter and other social media platforms in mental health research. We hope that there will be developments in evidence-based best practice for conducting qualitative research using Twitter data and for combining social media analysis with standard interviews.

## Conclusions

Twitter users provided unique perspectives on CRT implementation, including the importance of the type of advice offered to help manage crises and the perceived limitations of CRT services. Research on social media content adds complexity to our understanding of phenomena and can complement traditional or face-to-face research methods in health care research by allowing the voices of people who may be more critical of services to be heard.

# Acknowledgments

This study was not externally funded and was completed as part of the University College London MSc in Clinical Mental Health Sciences by the lead author (NC). The MSc program contributed a small amount of funding to research costs. The CORE interviews and focus group transcripts were used in a fully anonymized form as a secondary data source. This study was funded by the National Institute for Health Research under its Grants for Applied Research program (reference number: RP-PG-0109-10,078). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS or National Institute for Health Research.

# **Authors' Contributions**

NC, NM, BLE, and SJ contributed to the study design and data collection. NC, JW, NM, SJ, and BLE contributed to the data analysis. BLE and SJ led the CORE program, and NM led the qualitative component of the CORE program. All authors contributed to the drafting of the manuscript, led by NC. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Shepherd A, Sanders C, Doyle M, Shaw J. Using social media for support and feedback by mental health service users: thematic analysis of a Twitter conversation. BMC Psychiatry 2015 Feb 19;15(1):29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0408-y] [Medline: 25881089]
- 2. Deen S, Withers A, Hellerstein DJ. Mental health practitioners' use and attitudes regarding the internet and social media. J Psychiatr Pract 2013 Nov;19(6):454-463. [doi: 10.1097/01.pra.0000438184.74359.88] [Medline: 24241499]
- Park M, McDonald DW, Cha M. Perception differences between the depressed and non-depressed users in Twitter. In: Proceedings of the 7th International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, ICWSM 2013. 2013 Presented at: 7th International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, ICWSM 2013; Jul 8-11, 2013; Cambridge, MA, United States p. 476-485 URL: <u>https://www.aaai.org/ocs/index.php/ICWSM/ICWSM13/paper/download/6114/6387</u>
- 4. Choudhury MD, Gamon M, Counts S, Horvitz E. Predicting depression via social media. In: Proceedings of the 7th International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, ICWSM 2013. 2013 Presented at: 7th International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, ICWSM 2013; July 8-11, 2013; Cambridge, MA, United States.
- Cavazos-Rehg PA, Krauss MJ, Sowles S, Connolly S, Rosas C, Bharadwaj M, et al. A content analysis of depression-related Tweets. Comput Human Behav 2016 Jan 01;54:351-357 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.023] [Medline: 26392678]
- Lachmar EM, Wittenborn AK, Bogen KW, McCauley HL. #MyDepressionLooksLike: examining public discourse about depression on Twitter. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Oct 18;4(4):e43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.8141] [Medline: 29046270]
- 7. Reavley N, Pilkington PD. Use of Twitter to monitor attitudes toward depression and schizophrenia: an exploratory study. PeerJ 2014;2:e647 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7717/peerj.647] [Medline: 25374786]
- Joseph AJ, Tandon N, Yang LH, Duckworth K, Torous J, Seidman LJ, et al. #Schizophrenia: use and misuse on Twitter. Schizophr Res 2015 Jul;165(2-3):111-115. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2015.04.009</u>] [Medline: <u>25937459</u>]

- 9. Cheng TY, Liu L, Woo BK. Analyzing Twitter as a platform for Alzheimer-related dementia awareness: thematic analyses of tweets. JMIR Aging 2018 Dec 10;1(2):e11542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11542] [Medline: 31518232]
- 10. Gunn JF, Lester D. Twitter postings and suicide: an analysis of the postings of a fatal suicide in the 24 hours prior to death. Suicid 2015 Jun 01;17(3):2173. [doi: 10.5617/suicidologi.2173]
- Robinson P, Turk D, Jilka S, Cella M. Measuring attitudes towards mental health using social media: investigating stigma and trivialisation. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2019 Jan 1;54(1):51-58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00127-018-1571-5] [Medline: 30069754]
- Valdez D, Thij MT, Bathina K, Rutter LA, Bollen J. Social media insights into US mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: longitudinal analysis of Twitter data. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 14;22(12):e21418 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21418] [Medline: 33284783]
- 13. Koh JX, Liew TM. How loneliness is talked about in social media during COVID-19 pandemic: text mining of 4,492 Twitter feeds. J Psychiatr Res 2020 Nov 07:A. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.11.015</u>] [Medline: <u>33190839</u>]
- Xue J, Chen J, Hu R, Chen C, Zheng C, Su Y, et al. Twitter discussions and emotions about the COVID-19 pandemic: machine learning approach. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 25;22(11):e20550 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/20550</u>] [Medline: <u>33119535</u>]
- 15. Golder S, Ahmed S, Norman G, Booth A. Attitudes toward the ethics of research using social media: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 06;19(6):e195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7082] [Medline: 28588006]
- 16. Peters ME, Uible E, Chisolm MS. A Twitter education: why psychiatrists should tweet. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2015 Dec 13;17(12):94. [doi: 10.1007/s11920-015-0635-4] [Medline: 26463050]
- Schootman M, Nelson EJ, Werner K, Shacham E, Elliott M, Ratnapradipa K, et al. Emerging technologies to measure neighborhood conditions in public health: implications for interventions and next steps. Int J Health Geogr 2016 Jun 23;15(1):20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12942-016-0050-z] [Medline: 27339260]
- 18. Mellon J, Prosser C. Twitter and Facebook are not representative of the general population: political attitudes and demographics of British social media users. Res Polit 2017 Jul 13;4(3). [doi: <u>10.1177/2053168017720008</u>]
- 19. Petrovic S, Osborne M, Lavrenko V. I wish I didn't say that! Analyzing and predicting deleted messages in Twitter. arXiv: Computer Science Social and Information Networks. 2013. URL: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1305.3107</u> [accessed 2021-05-28]
- 20. Jenkins EL, Ilicic J, Barklamb AM, McCaffrey TA. Assessing the credibility and authenticity of social media content for applications in health communication: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 23;22(7):e17296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17296] [Medline: 32706675]
- 21. Leppänen S, Møller JS, Nørreby TR, Stæhr A, Kytölä S. Authenticity, normativity and social media. Discourse Context Media 2015 Jun;8:1-5. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.dcm.2015.05.008</u>]
- 22. Bruns A, Stieglitz S. Twitter data: what do they represent? it-Inf Technol: Method Appl Inform Info Technol 2014;56(5):240-245. [doi: 10.1515/itit-2014-1049]
- 23. Murthy D. Towards a sociological understanding of social media: theorizing Twitter. Sociology 2012 Sep 24;46(6):1059-1073. [doi: 10.1177/0038038511422553]
- 24. Ngai EW, Tao SS, Moon KK. Social media research: theories, constructs, and conceptual frameworks. Int J Inf Manag 2015 Feb;35(1):33-44. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2014.09.004]
- 25. Cheung CM, Lee MK. A theoretical model of intentional social action in online social networks. Decis Support Syst 2010 Apr;49(1):24-30. [doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2009.12.006]
- 26. Arora P. Typology of web 2.0 spheres: understanding the cultural dimensions of social media spaces. Curr Sociol 2012 Apr 19;60(5):599-618. [doi: 10.1177/0011392112440439]
- 27. Bollen J, Mao H, Pepe A. Modeling public mood and emotion: Twitter sentiment and socio-economic phenomena. In: Proceedings of the Fifth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media (ICWSM-11). 2011 Presented at: Fifth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media (ICWSM-11); July 17–21, 2011; Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain URL: <u>https://ojs.aaai.org/index.php/ICWSM/article/view/14171</u>
- 28. Pope C, Ziebland S, Mays N. Analysing qualitative data. In: Pope C, Mays N, editors. Qualitative Research in Health Care, Third Edition. Hoboken, New Jersey, United States: Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2006.
- 29. The NHS plan : a plan for investment : a plan for reform : presented to Parliament by the Secretary of State for Health by command of Her Majesty : July 2000. Stationery Office, Department of Health, Great Britain. 2000. URL: <u>https://dera.ioe.ac.uk//4423/</u> [accessed 2021-05-28]
- 30. Johnson S. Crisis resolution and intensive home treatment teams. Psychiatry 2007 Aug;6(8):339-342. [doi: 10.1016/j.mppsy.2007.05.011]
- Johnson S, Nolan F, Pilling S, Sandor A, Hoult J, McKenzie N, et al. Randomised controlled trial of acute mental health care by a crisis resolution team: the north Islington crisis study. Br Med J 2005 Aug 15;331(7517):599. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38519.678148.8f]
- 32. Werbeloff N, Chang C, Broadbent M, Hayes JF, Stewart R, Osborn DP. Admission to acute mental health services after contact with crisis resolution and home treatment teams: an investigation in two large mental health-care providers. Lancet Psychiatry 2017 Jan;4(1):49-56. [doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(16)30416-3]

- 33. McCrone P, Johnson S, Nolan F, Pilling S, Sandor A, Hoult J, et al. Economic evaluation of a crisis resolution service: a randomised controlled trial. Epidemiol Psichiatr Soc 2011 Apr 11;18(1):54-58. [doi: 10.1017/S1121189X00001469]
- Allen D, Blaylock W, Mieczkowski S. Local implementation of the crisis model: the Buckinghamshire community acute service. Psychiatr Bull 2018 Jan 02;33(7):252-254. [doi: <u>10.1192/pb.bp.107.018499</u>]
- 35. Wheeler C, Lloyd-Evans B, Churchard A, Fitzgerald C, Fullarton K, Mosse L, et al. Implementation of the Crisis Resolution Team model in adult mental health settings: a systematic review. BMC Psychiatry 2015 Apr 08;15(1):74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0441-x] [Medline: 25879674]
- 36. Right here, right now. Care Quality Commission. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/</u>20150611 righthere mhcrisiscare summary 3.pdf [accessed 2021-05-28]
- Jacobs R, Barrenho E. Impact of crisis resolution and home treatment teams on psychiatric admissions in England. Br J Psychiatry 2011 Jul 02;199(1):71-76. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.bp.110.079830</u>] [Medline: <u>21292926</u>]
- Morant N, Lloyd-Evans B, Lamb D, Fullarton K, Brown E, Paterson B, CORE Service UserCarer Working groups. Crisis resolution and home treatment: stakeholders' views on critical ingredients and implementation in England. BMC Psychiatry 2017 Jul 17;17(1):254 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1421-0] [Medline: 28716022]
- Lloyd-Evans B, Bond GR, Ruud T, Ivanecka A, Gray R, Osborn D, et al. Development of a measure of model fidelity for mental health Crisis Resolution Teams. BMC Psychiatry 2016 Dec 01;16(1):427 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-1139-4] [Medline: 27905909]
- 40. Lambert SD, Loiselle CG. Combining individual interviews and focus groups to enhance data richness. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(2):228-237. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04559.x] [Medline: 18394035]
- 41. Patton M. Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. Health Serv Res 1999 Dec;34(5 Pt 2):1189-1208 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10591279]
- 42. Ethics guidelines for internet-mediated research. British Psychological Society, Leicester, UK. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.bps.org.uk/sites/www.bps.org.uk/files/Policy/Policy%20-%20Files/</u>
- <u>Ethics%20Guidelines%20for%20Internet-Mediated%20Research%20%282013%29.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-05-28]
  43. Markham A, Buchanan E. Ethical Decision-Making and Internet Research: Recommendations from the AoIR Ethics Working Committee (Version 2.0). 2012. URL: <u>https://aoir.org/reports/ethics2.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-05-28]
- 44. Lloyd-Evans B, Osborn D, Marston L, Lamb D, Ambler G, Hunter R, et al. The CORE service improvement programme for mental health crisis resolution teams: results from a cluster-randomised trial. Br J Psychiatry 2020 Jun 14;216(6):314-322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.2019.21] [Medline: 30761976]
- 45. Hsieh H, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov 01;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: <u>10.1177/1049732305276687</u>] [Medline: <u>16204405</u>]
- 46. Clarke V, Braun V. Thematic analysis. In: Cooper H, Camic PM, Long DL, Panter AT, Rindskopf D, Sher KJ, editors. APA Handbooks in Psychology. APA Handbook of Research Methods in Psychology, Vol. 2. Research Designs: Quantitative, Qualitative, Neuropsychological, and Biological. Washington: American Psychological Association; 2012:57-71.
- 47. Braun V, Clarke V. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qual Res Sport Exerc Health 2019 Jun 13;11(4):589-597. [doi: 10.1080/2159676x.2019.1628806]
- 48. Brett J, Staniszewska S, Mockford C, Herron-Marx S, Hughes J, Tysall C, et al. Mapping the impact of patient and public involvement on health and social care research: a systematic review. Health Expect 2014 Oct 19;17(5):637-650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2012.00795.x] [Medline: 22809132]
- 49. Barnett-Page E, Thomas J. Methods for the synthesis of qualitative research: a critical review. BMC Med Res Methodol 2009 Aug 11;9(1):59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-9-59] [Medline: 19671152]
- 50. Noblit GW, Hare RD. Meta-Ethnography: Synthesizing Qualitative Studies. Vol. 11. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications; 1988.
- 51. Kvale S, Brinkmann S. InterViews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: Sage Publications Inc; 2008:1-376.
- 52. Branthwaite A, Patterson S. The power of qualitative research in the era of social media. Qual Mark Res: Int J 2011 Sep 06;14(4):430-440. [doi: 10.1108/13522751111163245]
- 53. Stieglitz S, Dang-Xuan L. Emotions and information diffusion in social media—sentiment of microblogs and sharing behavior. J Manag Inf Syst 2014 Dec 08;29(4):217-248. [doi: <u>10.2753/mis0742-1222290408</u>]
- 54. Bruns A, Moe H. Structural layers of communication on Twitter. In: Weller K, Bruns A, Burgess J, Mahrt M, Puschmann C, editors. Twitter and Society Series: Digital Formations. Bern, Switzerland: Peter Lang; 2013:15-28.
- 55. Carron AA. I tweet therefore I am: an interview study of identity development and portrayal of Twitter users utilizing the communication theory of identity. Graduate Thesis Or Dissertation, Oregon State University. 2013. URL: <u>https://ir.library.oregonstate.edu/concern/graduate\_thesis\_or\_dissertations/bv73c4547</u> [accessed 2021-05-28]
- 56. Gonzalez-Bailon S, Wang N, Rivero A, Borge-Holthoefer J, Moreno Y. Assessing the bias in communication networks sampled from Twitter. SSRN Journal 2012:1-45. [doi: 10.2139/ssrn.2185134]
- 57. Locock L, Kirkpatrick S, Brading L, Sturmey G, Cornwell J, Churchill N, et al. Involving service users in the qualitative analysis of patient narratives to support healthcare quality improvement. Res Involv Engagem 2019 Sep 11;5(1):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40900-018-0133-z] [Medline: 30788147]

- 58. Morstatter F, Pfeffer J, Liu H, Carley KM. Is the sample good enough? Comparing data from Twitter's streaming API with Twitter's Firehose. In: Proceedings of the 7th International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, ICWSM 2013. 2013 Presented at: 7th International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, ICWSM 2013; Jul 8-11, 2013; Cambridge, MA, United States.
- Lean M, Fornells-Ambrojo M, Milton A, Lloyd-Evans B, Harrison-Stewart B, Yesufu-Udechuku A, et al. Self-management interventions for people with severe mental illness: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 2019 May 22;214(5):260-268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.2019.54] [Medline: 30898177]
- 60. Johnson S, Lamb D, Marston L, Osborn D, Mason O, Henderson C, et al. Peer-supported self-management for people discharged from a mental health crisis team: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2018 Aug;392(10145):409-418. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(18)31470-3]

# Abbreviations

**CORE:** Crisis Team Optimization and Relapse Prevention **CRT:** crisis resolution team **NHS:** National Health Service

Edited by J Torous; submitted 13.11.20; peer-reviewed by M DeJonckheere, A Roundtree; comments to author 05.01.21; revised version received 02.03.21; accepted 16.03.21; published 29.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Chilman N, Morant N, Lloyd-Evans B, Wackett J, Johnson S Twitter Users' Views on Mental Health Crisis Resolution Team Care Compared With Stakeholder Interviews and Focus Groups: Qualitative Analysis JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e25742 URL: <u>https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e25742</u> doi:<u>10.2196/25742</u> PMID:<u>34185017</u>

©Natasha Chilman, Nicola Morant, Brynmor Lloyd-Evans, Jane Wackett, Sonia Johnson. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 29.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Trajectories of Change in an Open-access Internet-Based Cognitive Behavior Program for Childhood and Adolescent Anxiety: Open Trial

Sonja March<sup>1</sup>, BPsych(Hons), BA(Hons), PhD; Philip J Batterham<sup>2</sup>, BSc(Hons), MPH, PhD; Arlen Rowe<sup>3</sup>, BPsych(Hons), PhD; Caroline Donovan<sup>4</sup>, BA(Hons), PhD; Alison L Calear<sup>2</sup>, BAppPsych(Hons), PhD; Susan H Spence<sup>4,5</sup>, BSc(Hons), MBA, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Centre for Health Research and School of Psychology and Counselling, University of Southern Queensland, Springfield, Australia

<sup>2</sup>Centre for Mental Health Research, Research School of Population Health, The Australian National University, Canberra, Australia

<sup>3</sup>Centre for Health Research, University of Southern Queensland, Springfield, Australia

<sup>4</sup>School of Applied Psychology, Griffith University, Mt Gravatt, Australia

<sup>5</sup>Australian Institute for Suicide Prevention, Griffith University, Mt Gravatt, Australia

### **Corresponding Author:**

Sonja March, BPsych(Hons), BA(Hons), PhD Centre for Health Research and School of Psychology and Counselling University of Southern Queensland Sinnathamby Blvd Springfield, 4300 Australia Phone: 61 734704434 Email: sonja.march@usq.edu.au

# Abstract

**Background:** Although evidence bolstering the efficacy of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy (iCBT) for treating childhood anxiety has been growing continuously, there is scant empirical research investigating the timing of benefits made in iCBT programs (eg, early or delayed).

**Objective:** This study aims to examine the patterns of symptom trajectories (changes in anxiety) across an iCBT program for anxiety (BRAVE Self-Help).

**Methods:** This study's participants included 10,366 Australian youth aged 7 to 17 years (4140 children aged 7-12 years; 6226 adolescents aged 12-17 years) with elevated anxiety who registered for the BRAVE Self-Help program. Participants self-reported their anxiety symptoms at baseline or session 1 and then at the commencement of each subsequent session.

**Results:** The results show that young people completing the BRAVE Self-Help program tend to fall into two trajectory classes that can be reliably identified in terms of high versus moderate baseline levels of anxiety and subsequent reduction in symptoms. Both high and moderate anxiety severity trajectory classes showed significant reductions in anxiety, with the greatest level of change being achieved within the first six sessions for both classes. However, those in the moderate anxiety severity class tended to show reductions in anxiety symptoms to levels below the elevated range, whereas those in the high symptom group tended to remain in the elevated range despite improvements.

**Conclusions:** These findings suggest that those in the high severity group who do not respond well to iCBT on a self-help basis may benefit from the additional support provided alongside the program or a stepped-care approach where progress is monitored and support can be provided as necessary.

(JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e27981) doi:10.2196/27981

# **KEYWORDS**

iCBT; child; adolescent; anxiety; online; trajectories of change



# Introduction

Anxiety is an increasingly common childhood mental health condition, with potentially significant life-long repercussions for those who do not access early treatment [1]. Internet-based or eHealth interventions are recommended for encouraging the primary prevention and early intervention for mental illness [2]. In particular, the evidence base for internet-based cognitive behavior therapy (iCBT) in the treatment of childhood anxiety has been growing continuously, with the best outcomes observed when delivered with therapist support [3-8]. More recently, research has demonstrated the feasibility of self-help iCBT for childhood anxiety as a means of achieving widespread service implementation in real-world clinical and community contexts [9]. Self-help iCBT, which does not rely on any therapist support, has the potential to offer evidence-based mental health assistance in a timely and effective manner and in a way that overcomes barriers to accessibility, cost, stigma, anonymity, and shortages of health care professionals [10]. Several successful iCBT platforms have been developed and validated internationally for children and young people (eg, BIP Anxiety [11,12] and SPARX [13]) and adults (eg, MindSpot Clinic [14], This Way Up [15], and Shuti [16,17]).

The BRAVE Self-Help program is the only widely disseminated iCBT program for childhood anxiety, which is made publicly available, free of charge, to all children and adolescents in Australia. Although the preliminary effects of this self-help iCBT program appear somewhat weaker than those found for the therapist-supported iCBT version [9], clinically meaningful improvements are still made by a large proportion of anxious youth who engage in and complete the program, further demonstrating its potential as a population-level, early intervention. Specifically, it was demonstrated that for those users who completed six or more self-help iCBT sessions, there was a moderate to large reduction in anxiety (Cohen d=0.81and Cohen d=0.87 for adolescents and children, respectively [9]). Furthermore, for those who had completed nine sessions, approximately 57.7% (94/163) achieved recovery into nonelevated levels of anxiety and 54.6% (89/163) showed statistically reliable reductions in anxiety [9]. However, anxiety was not measured at every session, and the amount of change made from session to session was not explicitly tested. Therefore, it is unclear when reductions in anxiety actually occurred and for whom.

Very little research has been conducted on the timing of benefits made in iCBT programs (eg, early or delayed). March et al [9] demonstrated that users' anxiety was reduced after only three self-help iCBT sessions (Cohen d=0.59), suggesting that change may occur early and rapidly. Furthermore, in their examination of brief and full versions of a cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) website (MoodGym) for adults with elevated depression, Christensen et al [18] found that a single module of CBT was insufficient to reduce depression symptoms, but extended CBT (approximately three sessions) was associated with greater improvements. Importantly, however, they also found that programs longer than three sessions were not necessarily associated with greater improvement [18]. There is also some evidence from face-to-face interventions that can provide potential insight into the ideal dosage and response trajectories. In one study of face-to-face CBT for anxious youth, a nonlinear symptom trajectory was reported, whereby a rapid response was evident over the first six sessions, with tapering anxiety reductions over the remainder of the intervention [19]. In another study examining the separate trajectories of anxiety and depressive symptoms over the course of a transdiagnostic treatment for adolescents, Queen et al [20] found that, on average, participants' total anxiety scores reduced steadily during treatment (by 4.76 units every 8 weeks) and then slowed during the follow-up period (reduced by only 1.48 units every 8 weeks). Together, the evidence to date suggests that a reduction in symptoms appears to commence after at least three sessions of iCBT [9,18]. However, a session-by-session trajectory across iCBT programs for children and adolescents has yet to be examined.

We examined patterns of symptom trajectories (changes in anxiety) across BRAVE Self-Help program sessions to determine whether BRAVE Self-Help produces a gradual and linear impact on anxiety symptoms or whether the greatest impacts are made early in treatment and to determine distinct trajectories of anxiety symptoms within BRAVE Self-Help participants. Such information will help in determining ideal doses of self-help iCBT and whether small doses of treatment are sufficient. Given that variability is likely to be present in how young people respond to self-help interventions, identifying factors associated with different trajectories may assist in understanding the mechanisms through which the program works and may inform targeting and tailoring of the program. Thus, we aim to identify subgroups of participants (including identifying common demographic and clinical characteristics of these subgroups) based on latent change trajectories in anxiety scores in response to BRAVE Self-Help. Previous studies have used this analytic approach to determine the trajectories of depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation in internet-based interventions [17,21], and in longitudinal studies examining trajectories of anxiety symptoms [22,23]; however, this approach is yet to be applied for examining responses to anxiety treatment in the context of a web-based program for young people. The identification of key demographic and clinical variables that predict subgroup membership has the potential to inform the effective delivery of supported interventions, tailored, or alternative treatments. In this way, the results will inform recommendations regarding the use of iCBT within the context of population-level models of care that are open to everyone and are typically not monitored by health care professionals.

# Methods

# Intervention

BRAVE Self-Help is an interactive internet-based iCBT program for preventing and treating anxiety among youth. The program, described extensively elsewhere [9,24], is offered as an open-access web-based program targeting young Australians aged 7 to 17 years. It comprises 10 sessions of 30 to 60 minutes each, with two additional booster sessions that can be completed as revision modules. Sessions include CBT techniques incorporated into interactive web-based activities focused on

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

psychoeducation, recognition of physiological symptoms of anxiety, relaxation training, cognitive strategies of coping statements and cognitive restructuring, graded exposure, problem-solving approaches, self-reinforcement, and relapse prevention. Each session comprised pages that included the presentation of information or material, examples of technique application, activities to facilitate the knowledge acquisition and application of skills to the young person's circumstances, quizzes to consolidate learning, and homework activities to promote the application of skills in real-world contexts. The self-help program has previously demonstrated its acceptability and feasibility [9].

Depending on age, participants completed either the child program (7-12 years) or the adolescent program (12-17 years),

with 12-year-olds given a choice of either program. Although there were accompanying parent programs, these were not included in this study. BRAVE Self-Help is delivered without any therapist support, and there are no timing restrictions between sessions; however, the sessions must be completed in a predetermined sequence. Automatic reminders to complete sessions are sent to a young person via email.

#### **Participants**

Participants included 10,366 Australian youth aged 7 to 17 years with elevated anxiety (4140 children aged 7-12 years; 6226 adolescents aged 12-17 years) who registered for the BRAVE Self-Help program between July 1, 2014, and October 26, 2018. Table 1 presents a full summary of the baseline characteristics of participants according to program grouping.

Table 1. BRAVE Self-Help baseline participant characteristics (N=10,366).

Characteristics	Child program (n=4140)	Adolescent program (n=6226)	Total participants (N=10,366)
Age (years), mean (SD)	9.34 (1.48)	14.55 (1.66)	12.47 (3.01)
Gender, n (%)			
Male	2192 (52.95)	1480 (23.77)	3672 (35.42)
Female	1948 (47.05)	4532 (72.79)	6480 (62.52)
Other	0 (0)	214 (3.44)	214 (2.06)
Transgender or transsexual	0 (0)	40 (0.64)	40 (0.39)
Transgender or transsexual	0 (0)	12 (0.19)	12 (0.12)
Genderqueer	0 (0)	59 (0.95)	59 (0.57)
Androgynous	0 (0)	28 (0.45)	28 (0.27)
None of the above	0 (0)	75 (1.21)	75 (0.71)
Remoteness area, n (%)			
Major cities	2324 (56.14)	3559 (57.16)	5883 (56.75)
Inner regional	1013 (24.47)	1424 (22.87)	2437 (23.51)
Outer regional	499 (12.05)	712 (11.44)	1211 (11.68)
Remote	111 (2.68)	141 (2.27)	252 (2.43)
Very remote	38 (0.92)	20 (0.32)	58 (0.56)
Missing	155 (3.74)	370 (5.94)	525 (5.07)
Number of sessions completed, mean (SD)	3.04 (2.98)	2.04 (2.51)	2.39 (2.67)
Baseline anxiety			
CAS-8 <sup>a</sup> , mean (SD)	14.16 (3.04)	15.75 (3.42)	15.11 (3.36)
Elevated, n (%)	2275 (54.95)	2819 (45.28)	5094 (49.14)
Clinical, n (%)	1865 (45.05)	3407 (54.72)	5272 (50.86)

<sup>a</sup>CAS-8: Children's Anxiety Scale 8-item.

The BRAVE Self-Help program is an open-access intervention offered to young people and families throughout Australia; thus, registration does not require referral from a health care professional. Children and adolescents who registered for the program were referred by school-based professionals (3480/10,366, 33.57%); referred by external health professionals (1973/10,366, 19.03%); referred by parents, friends, or family members (1330/10,366, 12.83%); referred through *beyondblue* (645/10,366, 6.22%); self-referred through internet searching

(840/10,366, 8.1%); or referred through other means (eg, word-of-mouth, radio, magazine, or advertising; 676/10,366, 6.52%). A full breakdown of referral sources is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Eligible participants were required to have registered for the BRAVE Self-Help program between July 2014 and October 2018 and to have completed the Children's Anxiety Scale 8-item (CAS-8) [25] during the registration process. All participants had access to BRAVE Self-Help (single-cohort longitudinal

design); there was no randomization or comparison condition. Participants were not required to demonstrate symptomatic levels of anxiety to register for the program; however, only those with elevated anxiety were included in this study. Of the participants included in this study, 49.14% (5094/10,366) showed elevated levels of anxiety (CAS-8 ≥84th percentile or T-score ≥60) and 50.89% (5272/10,366) showed clinical levels of anxiety (CAS-8 ≥96th percentile or T-score ≥65). As the primary objective was to examine the trajectories of session completion and reductions in anxiety, there were no inclusion criteria regarding the minimum number of completed program sessions.

#### Measures

All measures were embedded within the BRAVE Self-Help program. Further data were collected via BRAVE program analytics regarding adherence to the program.

### **Sociodemographics**

Basic demographic information, including age, gender, and location (postcode), was collected during the registration process. Age was measured in years, and the residential location was assessed using postcode. Postcode data were coded according to the Australian Standard Geographic Classification system [26], and participants were grouped into the categories of major cities, inner regional, outer regional, remote, and very remote locations. In terms of gender, participants were able to select from male, female, transgender or transsexual, transgender or transsexual, genderqueer, androgynous, or other. For the purposes of analysis, gender was subsequently recoded into male, female, and other.

# Anxiety Severity

Anxiety levels were measured using the CAS-8 [25]. The CAS-8 comprises eight items asking the young person to rate how often each item (eg, "I worry what other people think of me") applied to them. Items are rated on a 4-point scale ranging from 0 (*never*) to 3 (*always*). Items are summed to produce a total score ranging from 0 to 24, with higher scores indicating greater levels of anxiety.

The CAS-8 has been used in large-scale school-based prevention program trials with subsequent population-level, gender-standardized norms for comparison [25]. Scores  $\leq$ 83rd percentile ( $\leq$ T-score 59: CAS-8 score  $\leq$ 9 for males and 11 for females) are considered *normal*; scores  $\geq$ 84th percentile (above T-score 60: CAS-8 score  $\geq 10$  for males and 12 for females) are considered indicative of *elevated anxiety* and scores  $\geq 94$ th percentile (above T-score 65: CAS-8 score  $\geq 13$  for males and 16 for females) indicate clinical levels of anxiety. For this study, and as per procedures of March et al [9], for other gender, scores  $\geq 11$  were considered indicative of *elevated* and scores  $\geq 15$  were considered indicative of *clinical* anxiety. The CAS-8 was completed by participants at baseline or session 1 and then at the commencement of each subsequent session (ie, up to nine time points after baseline). For example, if a participant had completed five sessions, they would have CAS-8 data at baseline and sessions 2, 3, 4, and 5. The CAS-8 has demonstrated good psychometric properties, with a reliability coefficient  $\alpha$  of .89 in previous studies [25] and an average internal consistency across data collection points of 0.83 in this study.

# **Program Adherence**

Program adherence was measured as the number of sessions completed by each participant over a period of 20 weeks from the date of registration. The number of sessions completed was automatically recorded by the program.

# Procedure

Data for this study were collected as a part of a large community effectiveness trial of the BRAVE Self-Help program (ethical approval H13REA264 from the governing university). During the registration process, participants were required to read a developmentally appropriate web-based participant information sheet and provide informed consent. Children aged below 16 years were also required to obtain parental consent to continue with registration. After providing consent, participants created a profile and completed an initial questionnaire, including basic demographic data (age, gender, location, referral source, and email contact address) and baseline anxiety assessment (CAS-8). Participation in the program was voluntary, and participants could choose to provide anonymous information (eg, nickname) if they chose. They could also discontinue using the program or withdraw from the study at any time without adverse consequences.

Participant data were recorded for a 20-week period from the date of registration, thus allowing sufficient time for the completion of the 10 sessions. Figure 1 provides a visual representation of the selection process for the inclusion and exclusion of data and the final sample included in the study.



Figure 1. Participant inclusion in the BRAVE Self-Help program. CAS-8: Children's Anxiety Scale, 8-item.



#### **Analytic Strategy**

Trajectories of anxiety symptoms based on CAS-8 scores were identified using growth mixture models (GMMs), with intercept, linear change, and quadratic change estimated using all available data from the baseline assessment and up to nine subsequent measurement occasions. GMM was used to identify latent classes of participants with distinct longitudinal trajectories, with all available data included in the models [27]. The GMM approach is a form of latent class analysis that identifies distinct subgroups, combined with growth modeling that estimates linear and quadratic trajectories over time. The methodology classifies the heterogeneity of individual trajectories in symptoms over time into a discrete number of latent classes. Models with between one and five latent classes were tested to identify an optimal number of latent classes based on a significant Bootstrapped Likelihood Ratio Test (BLRT) [28]. We also considered the size of each latent class, as models with classes

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27981
```

RenderX

that represent <5% of the total sample are difficult to identify [28]. After selecting an optimal number of classes, predictors of latent class membership were tested using logistic regression models to identify participants' characteristics (eg, baseline anxiety severity, gender, age, and geographic location), who showed differential responses to the intervention, and to characterize the relationship between adherence and response to the BRAVE Self-Help program. GMM analyses were conducted using Mplus version 7 (Muthén & Muthén), whereas descriptive and regression analyses were conducted using SPSS version 25 (IBM Corp).

# Results

# **Program Adherence**

The number of participants completing each session decreased throughout the program. As indicated in Figure 2, only half of the participants completed two sessions of the program.



Figure 2. Rates of program adherence. CAS-8: Children's Anxiety Scale, 8-item.

# **Trajectories of Anxiety Symptoms**

The GMM with two classes had a significantly better fit than a single-class solution based on the BLRT statistic (P<.001); however, the BLRT for a three-class model was not significant as compared with the two-class model (P=.99). Furthermore, in the three-class model, one of the classes accounted for 0.7% (73/10,366) of the sample. Consequently, a two-class model was selected. Scores on the CAS-8 for the two total classes are shown in Figure 3. On the basis of the observed trajectories, the two classes were labeled as *high anxiety severity* (HAS;

2280/10,366, 21.99% of the sample, shown in orange), and *moderate anxiety severity* (*MAS*; 8086/10,366, 78.01% of the sample, shown in blue). On the basis of the GMM model, the intercept for the CAS-8 scores in the HAS group was 19.72 (SE 0.09), with a negative slope (estimate=-1.39; SE 0.11; *P*<.001). The intercept for the MAS group was 13.75 (SE 0.04), with a negative slope (estimate=-0.97; SE 0.04; *P*<.001). A quadratic relationship was also evident in both the HAS (estimate=0.08; *P*<.001) and MAS (estimate=0.05; *P*<.001) groups, showing that the rate of change in CAS-8 scores decreased over time for both classes.



March et al

Figure 3. Trajectories of anxiety symptoms for the two latent classes of high and moderate anxiety severity based on observed mean (SD). CAS-8: Children's Anxiety Scale, 8-item.



# **Predictors of Class Membership**

A logistic regression model was used to identify the factors associated with class membership. The outcomes are presented in Table 2. Teen program participants had 31% greater odds of being in the HAS class than those receiving the child program (P<.001). For every year increase in age, participants were 4% more likely to fall in the HAS class (P=.007). Females had twice greater odds of being in the HAS class than males

(P<.001). Participants of other gender had 47% greater odds of being in the HAS class than females (P=.007). The effects of remoteness of residence were not significant (Table 2). In terms of program adherence, those participants who completed a greater number of sessions were less likely to be classified as HAS, with the likelihood of being in the HAS class decreasing by 3% with the completion of each additional session (P=.01). There were no effects on the date of registration or the number of activities completed in session 1.



Table 2. Logistic regression model of class membership: odds of having a high compared with moderate anxiety severity class trajectory

Variable	Estimate (SE)	Chi-square ( <i>df</i> )	P value	Odds ratio (95% CI)
Program: teen versus child	0.27 (0.05)	29.9 (1)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>	1.31 (1.19 to 1.44)
Age at registration	0.04 (0.02)	7.2 (1)	.007	1.04 (1.01 to 1.07)
Gender		148.5 (2)	<.001	
Male versus female	-0.69 (0.06)	135.8 (1)	<.001	0.50 (0.45 to 0.56)
Other versus female	0.38 (0.14)	7.2 (1)	.007	1.47 (1.11 to 1.95)
State of residence		17.3 (8)	.03	
Missing versus SA <sup>b</sup>	-0.44 (0.50)	0.8 (1)	.38	0.64 (0.24 to 1.71)
ACT <sup>c</sup> versus SA	-0.10 (0.19)	0.3 (1)	.57	0.90 (0.62 to 1.30)
NSW <sup>d</sup> versus SA	-0.23 (0.09)	6.0 (1)	.01	0.79 (0.66 to 0.95)
Northern Territory versus SA	0.18 (0.28)	0.4 (1)	.52	1.19 (0.69 to 2.05)
Queensland versus SA	-0.28 (0.10)	8.5 (1)	.004	0.75 (0.62 to 0.91)
Tasmania versus SA	-0.40 (0.18)	5.0 (1)	.02	0.67 (0.47 to 0.95)
Victoria versus SA	-0.33 (0.10)	11.3 (1)	.001	0.72 (0.59 to 0.87)
Western Australia versus SA	-0.31 (0.11)	8.4 (1)	.004	0.73 (0.59 to 0.91)
Remoteness area		4.0 (5)	.54	
Missing versus major city	0.18 (0.117)	2.8 (1)	.10	1.20 (0.97 to 1.48)
Inner regional versus major city	-0.01 (0.064)	0.0 (1)	.93	0.99 (0.88 to 1.12)
Outer regional versus major city	-0.01 (0.084)	0.0 (1)	.90	0.99 (0.85 to 1.16)
Remote area versus major city	-0.05 (0.168)	0.1 (1)	.78	0.96 (0.69 to 1.32)
Very remote area versus major city	-0.37 (0.398)	0.9 (1)	.34	0.69 (0.32 to 1.49)
Date of registration	-0.01 (0.021)	7.4 (1)	.45	0.99 (0.95 to 1.02)
Number of sessions completed	-0.03 (0.011)	12.2 (1)	.01	0.97 (0.95 to 0.99)
Activities completed in session 1	0.00 (0.005)	1.5 (1)	.40	1.00 (0.99 to 1.01)
Constant	4.49 (8.44)	0.3 (1)	.59	N/A <sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Italics indicate statistical significance (P<.05).

<sup>b</sup>SA: South Australia.

<sup>c</sup>ACT: Australian Capital Territory. <sup>d</sup>NSW: New South Wales.

<sup>e</sup>N/A: not applicable.

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This study examined the trajectories of responses to a web-based, open-access, self-help intervention for youth anxiety. The results suggested two classes of trajectories that could be distinguished by high versus moderate baseline levels of anxiety and levels of change over time. Irrespective of trajectory, participants, on average, obtained benefits from the program, with participants generally showing significant linear reductions in anxiety. From a baseline average of around 20 (>98th percentile for females and males), those in the HAS trajectory class showed reduced anxiety scores of 6.58 points (or 5.68 points based on model estimates that accounted for missing data) on the CAS-8; however, this level remained within the elevated range. In contrast, the MAS trajectory class showed

XSL•F() RenderX reductions of 3.87 points (or 4.31 points based on model estimates) on the CAS-8 from a baseline of 12.6 (84th percentile for females; 94th percentile for males) to a level in the nonelevated range. Indeed, on average, those in the MAS class obtained a clinically meaningful benefit (scores within the nonelevated range) by session 6.

The finding that the HAS class tended to remain in the elevated range of anxiety scores despite showing significant reductions from a very high starting point suggests that at least a proportion of this group may require additional assistance over and above the self-help iCBT program. The finding also revealed that the HAS class completed fewer sessions than their MAS counterparts. It is possible that lower levels of perceived symptom improvement among participants in the HAS class contributed to lower motivation to continue engaging with the program, or a greater difficulty completing sessions due to

ongoing symptom severity and difficulty implementing strategies. Thus, a therapist-supported model or stepped-care approach may be beneficial for this group, whereby HAS participants either receive additional support from the outset or are monitored (in terms of anxiety reduction and session compliance) and are referred for additional therapist support as necessary. HAS participants could be easily identified at the beginning of the program (due to higher initial scores), and subsequently referred, monitored, and provided with additional support or intervention elements if their response to the program was poor. Preliminary results from case studies of a stepped-care model of BRAVE highlight the potential of this approach [29].

The study results also suggested that the rate of anxiety reduction decreased over time for both trajectory classes, with greater reductions occurring in the first six sessions than in later sessions. Importantly, in line with the findings of Christensen et al [18], the results showed that young people can show significant reductions in symptoms after brief iCBT programs. The findings are also partially consistent with the findings of Chu et al [19] for face-to-face CBT for youth anxiety; however, Chu et al [19] showed a more rapid initial decrease and a clearer plateau than this study. The results are also consistent with those of Queen et al [20], who demonstrated a large reduction in symptoms during the first eight weeks of face-to-face treatment and a far smaller drop in symptoms in the second eight weeks of follow-up treatment. It would seem that around six sessions of iCBT may be sufficient for many users, with the option of further session completion for those who choose to do so, or for whom poor treatment response suggests they may be indicated. Importantly, with the knowledge that six sessions may be sufficient for many users, this provides an opportunity to develop shorter intervention programs that may be more appealing and motivating for young people and ultimately attract more users.

In terms of predictors of class membership, the study found that adolescents and females were more likely to be in the HAS class compared with MAS class than children and males. These findings are perhaps unsurprising given that anxiety levels are known to increase with age and are higher among women [30]. Given that the HAS class tended to complete fewer sessions and were less likely to reach a nonelevated status, it is important that the greater representation by females and adolescents is considered to ensure that the needs of these participants are being considered in program design and delivery. For example, our previous research indicated that adolescents are more likely to complete the program alone without parental support. It is possible that additional forms of support, whether from a web-based therapist, school teacher, peer coach, or even automated chatbot could enhance treatment outcomes for adolescents. It may also be feasible to build web-based reward systems designed for adolescents that provide enhanced support to increase motivation and program adherence. Earlier dropouts among HAS participants may suggest that those with elevated symptoms found it more difficult to engage in the program. Nevertheless, the two classes had similar levels of initial engagement (based on activity completion), suggesting that other factors, such as perceived treatment efficacy, may have influenced adherence.

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27981
```

The implications of this research's findings are not limited to the BRAVE program and provide useful insights for other web-based interventions. For example, when there is a broad range of users who engage with an internet intervention, with diverse profiles, particularly related to symptom severity, the results of this study indicate that care should be taken to consider the needs of these subgroups. Particular consideration should be given to whether the service model is appropriate for them, whether the service needs to be tailored to profiles (eg, with additional support), or whether the service needs to be targeted to those who will benefit the most. However, it is important to note that there are drawbacks to targeting more narrowly-there is still a clear demand for the BRAVE program even among those in the high severity class, which suggests that many young people with anxiety may not be receiving the care they need from other sources (whether web-based or in-person).

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

There are a number of clear strengths of this study. It had a large sample size, included both children and adolescents, used naturalistic data from a clinical service without stringent eligibility criteria, and collected symptom-level data throughout the completion of the program. However, alongside these strengths, this study has a number of limitations. High attrition was observed, and although models were robust to missing data, dropout may be associated with treatment response. All outcome measures were self-reported; thus, there was no clinical verification of the symptom level. Furthermore, as the data were collected in the context of clinical service delivery, there was no control group. This makes it unclear whether factors external to the program may have influenced the trajectories and whether the reductions in anxiety were attributed to the treatment or were the result of spontaneous recovery over time. Finally, limited psychosocial factors were measured; thus, other factors, such as ruminative style, personality, social support, and previous exposure to treatment, may have influenced the observed trajectories.

#### **Future Research Directions**

Recent worldwide events have resulted in a significant shift in mental health care service needs, as numerous lockdowns during the COVID-19 pandemic severely impacted face-to-face mental health service access and provision. This subsequently led to the conversion of many services to telehealth, videoconferencing, and other digital modalities to provide continuity of care. With an increased access to digital mental health services, and likely increased experiences of distress at the community level, it will be important to examine whether the use of the BRAVE Program changes throughout and after COVID-19. Future research should examine whether users presenting to the web-based program during and after the pandemic present with different profiles and symptom presentations and whether their experience with the web-based program leads to similar outcomes as standard BRAVE program users.

#### Conclusions

Young people completing the BRAVE Self-Help program tend to fall into two trajectory classes that can be reliably identified

```
XSL•FO
```

in terms of high versus moderate baseline levels of anxiety and subsequent reductions in symptoms. Both classes showed significant reductions in anxiety, with the greatest level of change being achieved within the first six sessions for both classes. Those in the MAS class tended to show reductions in anxiety symptoms to levels below the elevated range, whereas those in the high symptom group tended to remain in the elevated range despite improvements. Thus, those in the high severity group who do not respond well to iCBT on a self-help basis may benefit from a stepped-care approach or additional support.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors wish to acknowledge the initial funders of the BRAVE Self-Help program, *beyondblue*; the many participants who participated in this research; the research assistants working on the project; and the members of the advisory panel (Professor David Kavanagh, Professor Jane Burns, Professor Britt Klein, *beyondblue*, and blueVoices youth representatives) who provided guidance on the overall implementation of the initial BRAVE Self-Help program. Authors SM, SHS, CD, AR, and ALC acknowledge funding provided by the Medical Research Future Fund through the Department of Health (APP1179490), and ALC acknowledges funding provided by the National Health and Medical Research Council fellowship (1173146).

### **Conflicts of Interest**

SM, SHS, and CD acknowledge that although intellectual property for BRAVE-ONLINE is owned by UniQuest, they may potentially benefit from future royalties related to the program.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Breakdown of referral sources to the BRAVE self-help program (N=10,366). [DOCX File, 23 KB - mental\_v8i6e27981\_app1.docx]

### References

- Lawrence D, Johnson S, Hafekost J, Boterhoven de Haan K, Sawyer M, Ainley J, et al. The Mental Health of Children and Adolescents. Report on the second Australian Child and Adolescent Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/2020/11/the-mental-health-of-children-and-adolescents\_0.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-06-04]
- 2. Australian Government Response to Contributing Lives, Thriving Communities Review of Mental Health Programmes and Services. Australian Government Department of Health. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/sites/default/files/</u>response-review-of-mental-health-programmes-and-services.pdf [accessed 2021-06-04]
- 3. Donovan CL, March S. Online CBT for preschool anxiety disorders: a randomised control trial. Behav Res Ther 2014 Jul;58:24-35. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2014.05.001] [Medline: 24927471]
- 4. March S, Spence SH, Donovan CL. The efficacy of an internet-based cognitive-behavioral therapy intervention for child anxiety disorders. J Pediatr Psychol 2009 Jun 15;34(5):474-487. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsn099</u>] [Medline: <u>18794187</u>]
- Reyes-Portillo JA, Mufson L, Greenhill LL, Gould MS, Fisher PW, Tarlow N, et al. Web-based interventions for youth internalizing problems: a systematic review. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2014 Dec;53(12):1254-70.e5. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2014.09.005] [Medline: 25457924]
- Spence SH, Donovan CL, March S, Gamble A, Anderson RE, Prosser S, et al. A randomized controlled trial of online versus clinic-based CBT for adolescent anxiety. J Consult Clin Psychol 2011 Oct;79(5):629-642. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0024512</u>] [Medline: <u>21744945</u>]
- Spence SH, Holmes JM, March S, Lipp OV. The feasibility and outcome of clinic plus internet delivery of cognitive-behavior therapy for childhood anxiety. J Consult Clin Psychol 2006;74(3):614-621. [doi: <u>10.1037/0022-006x.74.3.614</u>] [Medline: <u>16822117</u>]
- Warwick H, Reardon T, Cooper P, Murayama K, Reynolds S, Wilson C, et al. Complete recovery from anxiety disorders following cognitive behavior therapy in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev 2017 Mar;52:77-91. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.12.002] [Medline: 28040627]
- March S, Spence SH, Donovan CL, Kenardy JA. Large-scale dissemination of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy for youth anxiety: feasibility and acceptability study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 4;20(7):e234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9211] [Medline: 29973338]
- 10. Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Farrer L. Adherence in internet interventions for anxiety and depression. J Med Internet Res 2009 Apr 24;11(2):e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1194] [Medline: 19403466]
- Vigerland S, Ljótsson B, Thulin U, Öst LG, Andersson G, Serlachius E. Internet-delivered cognitive behavioural therapy for children with anxiety disorders: a randomised controlled trial. Behav Res Ther 2016 Jan;76:47-56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2015.11.006] [Medline: 26649465]

- Jolstedt M, Ljótsson B, Fredlander S, Tedgård T, Hallberg A, Ekeljung A, et al. Implementation of internet-delivered CBT for children with anxiety disorders in a rural area: a feasibility trial. Internet Interv 2018 Jun;12:121-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2017.11.003] [Medline: 30135776]
- Stasiak K, Merry SN, Frampton C, Moor S. Delivering solid treatments on shaky ground: feasibility study of an online therapy for child anxiety in the aftermath of a natural disaster. Psychother Res 2018 Jul 26;28(4):643-653. [doi: <u>10.1080/10503307.2016.1244617</u>] [Medline: <u>27781568</u>]
- Titov N, Dear BF, Nielssen O, Wootton B, Kayrouz R, Karin E, et al. User characteristics and outcomes from a national digital mental health service: an observational study of registrants of the Australian MindSpot clinic. Lancet Digit Health 2020 Nov;2(11):e582-e593. [doi: 10.1016/s2589-7500(20)30224-7] [Medline: 33103097]
- 15. Titov N, Andrews G, Schwencke G, Robinson E, Peters L, Spence J. Randomized controlled trial of Internet cognitive behavioural treatment for social phobia with and without motivational enhancement strategies. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2010 Oct;44(10):938-945. [doi: 10.3109/00048674.2010.493859] [Medline: 20932208]
- Ritterband LM, Thorndike FP, Gonder-Frederick LA, Magee JC, Bailey ET, Saylor DK, et al. Efficacy of an internet-based behavioral intervention for adults with insomnia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2009 Jul 1;66(7):692-698 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.66] [Medline: 19581560]
- Batterham PJ, Christensen H, Mackinnon AJ, Gosling JA, Thorndike FP, Ritterband LM, et al. Trajectories of change and long-term outcomes in a randomised controlled trial of internet-based insomnia treatment to prevent depression. BJPsych Open 2017 Sep 2;3(5):228-235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjpo.bp.117.005231] [Medline: 28959453]
- 18. Christensen H, Griffiths KM, MacKinnon AJ, BritteLiffee K. Online randomized controlled trial of brief and full cognitive behaviour therapy for depression. Psychol Med 2006 Aug 29;36(12):1737-1746. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291706008695]
- 19. Chu BC, Skriner LC, Zandberg LJ. Shape of change in cognitive behavioral therapy for youth anxiety: symptom trajectory and predictors of change. J Consult Clin Psychol 2013 Aug;81(4):573-587. [doi: 10.1037/a0033390] [Medline: 23796317]
- 20. Queen AH, Barlow DH, Ehrenreich-May J. The trajectories of adolescent anxiety and depressive symptoms over the course of a transdiagnostic treatment. J Anxiety Disord 2014 Aug;28(6):511-521. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.janxdis.2014.05.007</u>] [Medline: <u>24960439</u>]
- Batterham PJ, van Spijker BBA, Mackinnon AJ, Calear AL, Wong Q, Christensen H. Consistency of trajectories of suicidal ideation and depression symptoms: evidence from a randomized controlled trial. Depress Anxiety 2019 Apr 22;36(4):321-329. [doi: <u>10.1002/da.22863</u>] [Medline: <u>30466148</u>]
- 22. Crocetti E, Klimstra T, Keijsers L, Hale WW, Meeus W. Anxiety trajectories and identity development in adolescence: a five-wave longitudinal study. J Youth Adolesc 2009 Jul 13;38(6):839-849. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10964-008-9302-y</u>] [Medline: <u>19636785</u>]
- Olino TM, Klein DN, Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR. Latent trajectory classes of depressive and anxiety disorders from adolescence to adulthood: descriptions of classes and associations with risk factors. Compr Psychiatry 2010 May;51(3):224-235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2009.07.002] [Medline: 20399331]
- 24. Spence SH, Donovan CL, March S, Gamble A, Anderson R, Prosser S, et al. Online CBT in the treatment of child and adolescent anxiety disorders: issues in the development of brave–online and two case illustrations. Behav Cogn Psychother 2008 Jul 1;36(4):411-430. [doi: 10.1017/s135246580800444x]
- 25. Spence S, Sawyer M, Sheffield J, Patton G, Bond L, Graetz B, et al. Does the absence of a supportive family environment influence the outcome of a universal intervention for the prevention of depression? Int J Environ Res Public Health 2014 May 13;11(5):5113-5132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph110505113] [Medline: 24828082]
- 26. Australian Standard Geographical Classification (ASGC). Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2011. URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/websitedbs/d3310114.nsf/home/australian+standard+geographical+classification+(asgc)</u> [accessed 2021-06-04]
- 27. Muthen B, Muthen LK. Integrating Person-Centered and Variable-Centered Analyses: Growth Mixture Modeling With Latent Trajectory Classes. Alcoholism Clin Exp Res 2000 Jun;24(6):882-891. [doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2000.tb02070.x]
- Nylund KL, Asparouhov T, Muthén BO. Deciding on the number of classes in latent class analysis and growth mixture modeling: a Monte Carlo simulation study. Struct Equat Model: Multidiscip J 2007 Dec 5;14(4):535-569. [doi: 10.1080/10705510701575396]
- March S, Donovan CL, Baldwin S, Ford M, Spence SH. Using stepped-care approaches within internet-based interventions for youth anxiety: three case studies. Internet Interv 2019 Dec;18:100281 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2019.100281] [Medline: 31890629]
- Merikangas KR, Nakamura EF, Kessler RC. Epidemiology of mental disorders in children and adolescents. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2009;11(1):7-20 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19432384</u>]

# Abbreviations

RenderX

**BLRT:** Bootstrapped Likelihood Ratio Test **CAS-8:** Children's Anxiety Scale 8-item **CBT:** cognitive behavioral therapy **GMM:** growth mixture model

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27981

HAS: high anxiety severity iCBT: internet-based cognitive behavior therapy MAS: moderate anxiety severity

Edited by J Torous; submitted 16.02.21; peer-reviewed by J Jacobs, A AL-Asadi; comments to author 29.03.21; revised version received 13.04.21; accepted 15.04.21; published 18.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> March S, Batterham PJ, Rowe A, Donovan C, Calear AL, Spence SH Trajectories of Change in an Open-access Internet-Based Cognitive Behavior Program for Childhood and Adolescent Anxiety: Open Trial JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e27981 URL: <u>https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27981</u> doi:<u>10.2196/27981</u> PMID:<u>34142971</u>

©Sonja March, Philip J Batterham, Arlen Rowe, Caroline Donovan, Alison L Calear, Susan H Spence. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 18.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Corrigenda and Addenda

# Correction: Association Between Improvement in Baseline Mood and Long-Term Use of a Mindfulness and Meditation App: Observational Study

Argus J Athanas<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc; Jamison M McCorrison<sup>2,3\*</sup>, BSc; Susan Smalley<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Jamie Price<sup>5</sup>, JD; Jim Grady<sup>5</sup>, BA; Paul Wehner<sup>6</sup>, BA; Julie Campistron<sup>5</sup>, MBA; Nicholas J Schork<sup>1,3,7,8</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biomedial Informatics, University of California San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>3</sup>J Craig Venter Institute, San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of California Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>5</sup>Stop, Breathe & Think, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>6</sup>Positive Place Inc, The Villages, FL, United States

<sup>7</sup>The Translational Genomics Research Institute (TGen), Department of Quantitative Medicine, Phoenix, AZ, United States

<sup>8</sup>The City of Hope/Translational Genomics Research Institute IMPACT Center, Duarte, CA, United States

\*these authors contributed equally

### **Corresponding Author:**

Nicholas J Schork, PhD The Translational Genomics Research Institute (TGen) Department of Quantitative Medicine 445 N 5th St Phoenix, AZ, 85004 United States Phone: 1 (602) 343 8400 Email: nschork@tgen.org

# **Related Article:**

Correction of: <u>https://mental.jmir.org/2019/5/e12617/</u>

# (JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e28132) doi:10.2196/28132

In "Association Between Improvement in Baseline Mood and Long-Term Use of a Mindfulness and Meditation App: Observational Study" (JMIR Ment Health 2019;6(5):e12617) the authors noted one error.

In the originally published paper, author Paul Wehner's name was inadvertently not included in the list of authors, and the full list of authors and affiliations appeared as follows:

Argus J Athanas<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc; Jamison M McCorrison<sup>2,3\*</sup>, BSc; Susan Smalley<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Jamie Price<sup>5</sup>, JD; Jim Grady<sup>5</sup>, BA; Julie Campistron<sup>5</sup>, MBA; Nicholas J Schork<sup>1,3,6,7</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biomedical Informatics, University of California San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Bioinformatics and Systems Biology, University of California San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States <sup>3</sup>J Craig Venter Institute, San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of California Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>5</sup>Stop, Breathe & Think, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>6</sup>The Translational Genomics Research Institute (TGen), Department of Quantitative Medicine, Phoenix, AZ, United States

<sup>7</sup>*The City of Hope/Translational Genomics Research Institute IMPACT Center, Duarte, CA, United States* 

\*these authors contributed equally

The corrected list of authors and affiliations is as follows:

Argus J Athanas<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc; Jamison M McCorrison<sup>2,3\*</sup>, BSc; Susan Smalley<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Jamie Price<sup>5</sup>, JD; Jim Grady<sup>5</sup>, BA; Paul Wehner<sup>6</sup>, BA; Julie Campistron<sup>5</sup>, MBA; Nicholas J Schork<sup>1,3,7,8</sup>, PhD

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e28132

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Bioinformatics and Systems Biology, University of California San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biomedical Informatics, University of California San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Bioinformatics and Systems Biology, University of California San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>3</sup>J Craig Venter Institute, San Diego, CA, United States

<sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of California Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>5</sup>Stop, Breathe & Think, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>6</sup>Positive Place Inc, The Villages, FL, United States

<sup>7</sup>The Translational Genomics Research Institute (TGen), Department of Quantitative Medicine, Phoenix, AZ, United States

<sup>8</sup>The City of Hope/Translational Genomics Research Institute IMPACT Center, Duarte, CA, United States

<sup>\*</sup>these authors contributed equally

The correction will appear in the online version of the paper on the JMIR Publications website on June 30, 2021, together with the publication of this correction notice. Because this was made after submission to PubMed, PubMed Central, and other full-text repositories, the corrected article has also been resubmitted to those repositories.

Submitted 22.02.21; this is a non-peer-reviewed article; accepted 31.03.21; published 30.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Athanas AJ, McCorrison JM, Smalley S, Price J, Grady J, Wehner P, Campistron J, Schork NJ Correction: Association Between Improvement in Baseline Mood and Long-Term Use of a Mindfulness and Meditation App: Observational Study JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e28132 URL: <u>https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e28132</u> doi:<u>10.2196/28132</u> PMID:<u>34255702</u>

©Argus J Athanas, Jamison M McCorrison, Susan Smalley, Jamie Price, Jim Grady, Paul Wehner, Julie Campistron, Nicholas J Schork. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 30.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Original Paper

# Indications of Depressive Symptoms During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Germany: Comparison of National Survey and Twitter Data

Caroline Cohrdes<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Seren Yenikent<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Jiawen Wu<sup>2</sup>, MSc; Bilal Ghanem<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Marc Franco-Salvador<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Felicitas Vogelgesang<sup>1</sup>, MSc

<sup>1</sup>Mental Health Research Unit, Department of Epidemiology and Health Monitoring, Robert Koch Institute, Berlin, Germany <sup>2</sup>Symanto Research GmbH & Co KG, Nuernberg, Germany

### **Corresponding Author:**

Caroline Cohrdes, PhD Mental Health Research Unit Department of Epidemiology and Health Monitoring Robert Koch Institute General-Pape-Str. 62-66 Berlin, 12101 Germany Phone: 49 30 18754 2692 Email: CohrdesC@rki.de

# Abstract

**Background:** The current COVID-19 pandemic is associated with extensive individual and societal challenges, including challenges to both physical and mental health. To date, the development of mental health problems such as depressive symptoms accompanying population-based federal distancing measures is largely unknown, and opportunities for rapid, effective, and valid monitoring are currently a relevant matter of investigation.

**Objective:** In this study, we aim to investigate, first, the temporal progression of depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic and, second, the consistency of the results from tweets and survey-based self-reports of depressive symptoms within the same time period.

**Methods:** Based on a cross-sectional population survey of 9011 German adolescents and adults (n=4659, 51.7% female; age groups from 15 to 50 years and older) and a sample of 88,900 tweets (n=74,587, 83.9% female; age groups from 10 to 50 years and older), we investigated five depressive symptoms (eg, depressed mood and energy loss) using items from the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-8) before, during, and after relaxation of the first German social contact ban from January to July 2020.

**Results:** On average, feelings of worthlessness were the least frequently reported symptom (survey: n=1011, 13.9%; Twitter: n=5103, 5.7%) and fatigue or loss of energy was the most frequently reported depressive symptom (survey: n=4472, 51.6%; Twitter: n=31,005, 34.9%) among both the survey and Twitter respondents. Young adult women and people living in federal districts with high COVID-19 infection rates were at an increased risk for depressive symptoms. The comparison of the survey and Twitter data before and after the first contact ban showed that German adolescents and adults had a significant decrease in feelings of fatigue and energy loss over time. The temporal progression of depressive symptoms showed high correspondence between both data sources ( $\rho$ =0.76-0.93; *P*<.001), except for diminished interest and depressed mood, which showed a steady increase even after the relaxation of the contact ban among the Twitter respondents but not among the survey respondents.

**Conclusions:** Overall, the results indicate relatively small differences in depressive symptoms associated with social distancing measures during the COVID-19 pandemic and highlight the need to differentiate between positive (eg, energy level) and negative (eg, depressed mood) associations and variations over time. The results also underscore previous suggestions of Twitter data's potential to help identify hot spots of declining and improving public mental health and thereby help provide early intervention measures, especially for young and middle-aged adults. Further efforts are needed to investigate the long-term consequences of recurring lockdown phases and to address the limitations of social media data such as Twitter data to establish real-time public mental surveillance approaches.

(JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e27140) doi:10.2196/27140

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27140
```

#### Cohrdes et al

#### JMIR MENTAL HEALTH

#### **KEYWORDS**

depressive symptoms; GEDA/EHIS survey; Twitter; COVID-19; pandemic; social contact ban; temporal progression; data correspondence; public mental health surveillance; depression; survey; social media; data; infodemiology; infoveillance; twitter; mental health; public health; surveillance; monitoring; symptom

# Introduction

### Background

Worldwide, approximately 330 million people actively use Twitter at least once a month [1]. In Germany, as in other countries, the proportion of active Twitter users has increased over the past years and reached 17.1% of the population aged between 16 and 69 years in 2019 [2]. In light of this large group of users, web-based social communication platforms such as Twitter were proposed as potential sources of public health surveillance and early disease warning systems for the general population [3]. Recently, a review on the use of Twitter as a tool for health research revealed that approximately 23% of eligible studies were from the public health research realm [4]. The review showed that 26% of the studies used Twitter data for the surveillance of infectious diseases (eg, influenza [4]). However, a systematic investigation on the incremental value and reliability of Twitter as a tool for monitoring public mental health has not yet been conducted.

Worldwide, depressive disorders are among the most frequent mental diseases and among the three leading causes of nonfatal health loss and disability [5]. National health survey data similarly suggest a steady increase in depressive symptoms (eg, having little interest or pleasure in doing things and feeling down, depressed, or hopeless) over the past decades, with a recent prevalence of 10.4% among the adult population living in Germany [6]. Considering these findings and indications that mental health problems such as depressive symptoms may increase during epidemic or pandemic crises [7], it is of significance to strengthen the public mental health evidence in general and during the recent COVID-19 pandemic in particular.

#### **Twitter Communication on Depressive Symptoms**

Research on social media content and its individual psychological functions and effects has significantly increased over the past 15 years [8]. Explorations of why individuals discuss mental health issues on Twitter and the content of these discussions have revealed that establishing a sense of community are among the most frequent themes, aside from seeking personal relief and expressing thoughts or feelings [9,10]. Digitally mediated communication offers easy and low-threshold possibilities to connect to others and to express and share experiences of psychosocial stressors [9,11]. This is of particular relevance since depressive disorders have been associated with experiences of social rejection [12] and feelings of social isolation [13]. Despite the strong evidence on the role of social support for the developmental course of depression [14], it has been pointed out how the mode of social interaction (ie, in-person or digitally mediated contact) can be decisive in this regard [15]. Given the recent ban on in-person social contact during the COVID-19 pandemic, it is assumed that social media use has become particularly relevant to the general population [16]. Thus, the analysis of trends in social media to draw

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27140

XSL•FC

conclusions on the mental health status and needs of a population could be an interesting tool for mental health provision and policy.

Furthermore, previous research indicated promising approaches to detect signs of depression in tweets [17] and predict the individual onset of a depressive episode based on supervised algorithms, including content and linguistic style analyses of tweets (eg, for negative affectivity [18]). Although much rarer than tracking or predicting the temporal progression of individuals' mental health, researchers have monitored the course of mental health discussion in social media over time to draw conclusions on a current or prospective public mental health state. One example is a study from McClellan and colleagues [19] that showed how Twitter messages could be used to help to identify periods with more frequent content related to depression and suicide in social media and the association of this content with societal events such as World Suicide Prevention Day or the suicide of a prominent actor. The results demonstrated the potential of longitudinal social media analysis for identifying public mental health conditions that may otherwise be overlooked by mental health professionals [19]. However, solely computational approaches to capture depressive symptoms from tweets have also been criticized because of their disregard for the context of keywords and for theoretically driven approaches to identify keywords [20]. For instance, Mowery and colleagues [20] found that the majority of tweets containing predefined depression-related keywords were not necessarily indicative of depressive symptoms on closer examination. Hence, the implementation of reliable indicators for automated detection is essential for future investigations.

#### Twitter Communication on Depressive Symptoms During the COVID-19 Pandemic

In the context of the current pandemic situation, social media has gained even more attention as a tool providing the opportunity to discuss diverse issues related to the SARS-CoV-2 virus and potentially relevant information for policy makers [21]. By analyzing the content of English language tweets and their number of likes from February to March 2020, Abd-Alrazaq and colleagues [21] drew conclusions on the scope and relative relevance of COVID-19-related topics. One major finding was that individuals most frequently liked tweets referring to economic loss. In addition, a few studies have examined the course of the development of COVID-19-related English tweets. For instance, Lwin et al [22] captured how feelings of fear decreased, whereas feelings of anger and sadness increased over time. Another analysis based on US tweets captured higher frequencies of stress, anxiety, and loneliness in the time period from March to May 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 [23]. Further results on the course of tweets, including tweets on depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic, are not yet available.
## Population-Based Evidence on Depressive Symptoms During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Although research on the psychological burden of quarantine and the psychological burden for high-risk groups such as medical staff during other pandemic situations has already yielded important results [24], findings on the general population under social contact bans during a pandemic are relatively rare. The first results from the COVID-19 pandemic based on a comparison of nationally representative US data from March to April 2020 and from 2017 to 2018 suggested a more than threefold higher prevalence of depression symptoms in the 2020 study period [25]. A large cross-sectional survey including 7236 Chinese residents conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic in February 2020 also indicated a relatively high prevalence of depressive symptoms at 20.1% [26,27]. A recent cross-sectional online study of 15,704 German residents conducted in the period from March to May 2020 also found an increased proportion of depressive symptoms at 14.3% [28] (as opposed to 10.4%) as indicated by national survey data a few years before [6]). However, another representative German health survey found no significant differences in overall depressive symptomatology in 2020 compared to that in 2019 but indicated differences in single symptoms and specific time frames [29]. Additionally, it must be considered that most research has been cross-sectional, and investigations on the temporal progression and interrelatedness of depressive symptoms with social distancing measures in response to COVID-19 infection rates are not yet well established. Only a few results seem to underpin the assumption that strict stay-at-home orders are associated with decreasing mental health. One example is a Spanish survey that showed how depressive symptoms immediately increased after the stay-at-home order in March 2020 [30]. Thus, it may be advantageous to differentiate between different time periods and different symptoms to generate additional knowledge on the potential consequences of the current pandemic situation for the general population.

### This Study

Previous research has focused on the use of either cross-sectional surveys or social media data to investigate depressive symptoms. A systematic comparison of both data sources over time has not yet been performed. In this study, we aim to bridge this gap to gain knowledge on the prevalence of population-based depressive symptoms by examining the same standardized indicators but with different data sources. The central research questions are as follows: what is the developmental course of depressive symptoms in the general population before, during, and after the social contact ban decreed by the German government due to the COVID-19 pandemic and do tweets on depressive symptoms mirror population-based survey data?

Correspondingly, we aimed to, first, examine the temporal progression of depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic and, second, explore the consistency of the results between tweets and survey-based self-reports of depressive symptoms within the same time period. Based on these findings, we aimed to draw conclusions on how to interpret results from the two different data sources on the current mental health status of a certain society at a certain point in time and the

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27140
```

comparability and validity of such results. These analyses focus on depressive symptoms during the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany as observed through Twitter and national survey data. The results could facilitate the comprehensive and prompt understanding and monitoring of future variation in public mental health, with particular benefits for critical situations such as those during the COVID-19 pandemic.

# Methods

### **Sample and Procedure**

### Survey

These analyses are based on two different samples. The first sample represents a subsample of 9011 survey participants (n=4783, 51.7% female; age groups: n=151, 4.5% 15-17 years; n=424, 8.4% 18-24 years; n=746, 13.7% 25-34 years; n=1616, 19.9% 35-49 years; and n=6074, 53.6% 50 years and older) drawn from a recently conducted German national health survey (GEDA/EHIS-19; April 2019 to August 2020; for further information, see Damerow et al [29]). The data collection period considered is calendar week 1 to calendar week 31 (January 1 to June 30) of 2020. During this period, the German government for the first time implemented social distancing measures to contain the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus (ban on major events on March 10, closing of borders on March 15, and ban on in-person contact on March 22). For a better understanding of the development of depressive symptoms during that time, we also examined a period of 11 weeks before and after the implementation of social distancing measures (the gradual reimplementation of the ban on contact started on May 2 with the reopening of hairdresser's, food services, etc). Keeping in mind that the transition between strict lockdown and relaxation was not suddenly all-embracing, we first aggregated the data on a weekly basis and then summarized and labelled the three periods before (calendar week 1-11), during (calendar week 12-18), and after (calendar week 19-31) the contact ban.

### Twitter

The second sample is constituted of Twitter users. We collected tweets from Germany (N=95,201) via the public Twitter application programming interface (API) by querying tweets that contained terms indicative of depressive symptoms as formulated in the standardized Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-8; see the following section) [31]. We then applied the Symanto proprietary linguistic analysis model with the collected tweets to identify the tweets with self-references (ie, first-person pronouns and verbs), which would indicate that the mentioned depressive symptom was related to the user themselves [32,33]. This Twitter corpus corresponded to the period from January 1 to July 30, 2020. In the same way as the survey data, the Twitter data were first aggregated on a weekly basis and then summarized into the three periods before, during, and after the contact ban. Two items (less appetite and problems concentrating) needed to be excluded from further analyses due to the relatively low frequencies of related tweets (<12 a day). The item *moving or speaking slowly* was excluded because there were problems correctly identifying this item in the tweets. For the remaining five items from the PHQ-8, we had 88,900 tweets

XSL•FO

(n=74,620, 83.9% female; age groups: n=11,385, 12.8% 10-17 years; n=51,272, 57.7% 18-24 years; n=11,485, 12.9% 25-34 years; n=9408, 10.6% 35-49 years; and n=5350, 6% 50 years and older).

Based on previous suggestions for how to improve health-related Twitter-based research [4], we also took demographic characteristics (region of residence, age, and sex) of the Twitter users into account if applicable. The number of tweets that included regional references was 60,321. Since stratification by the 16 German federal districts led to small sample sizes and loss of statistical power, we used the participants' sex and age group as covariates for the regression modeling only. Descriptive statistics on the frequency of depressive symptoms grouped by sex, age group, and region can be obtained from Multimedia Appendix 1 (Tables S1 and S2).

The regional information was derived from publicly available location data on Twitter users. Twitter does not provide information on users' age and gender. Thus, we used Symanto proprietary text analytics models [34,35] that predict age and gender based on the content of users' tweets. These models were trained via deep learning technology [36] on millions of short texts by authors with known age and sex to identify distinct lexical and semantic patterns (eg, topics, word usage, and writing style) from each demographic group [37]. By applying the prediction models on the collected tweets, we inferred the age group and sex of the anonymous Twitter users to provide richer demographic information. The prediction models have been benchmarked against state-of-the-art models and have shown similar performance to public benchmarks for other languages, such as PAN'14 [38].

## **Measurement of Depressive Symptoms**

### Survey

We analyzed the same five items from the PHQ-8 [31] as in the lexical Twitter analysis (see description in following section). These items indicated the experience of diminished interest, depressed mood, insomnia or hypersomnia, fatigue or loss of energy, and feelings of worthlessness or inappropriate guilt. To make the results more comparable to the frequencies derived from Twitter data, the original responses to the PHQ-8 that were provided on a 4-point rating scale, ranging from *not at all* (0)

Figure 1. Flowchart summarizing the Twitter data collection process.

to *nearly every day* (3), were dichotomized into *not at all affected* (0) and *affected* (1), thereby yielded (relative) frequencies averaged across participants.

### Twitter

The terms used in the Twitter queries (previously mentioned) were curated to provide linguistic representations of the depressive symptoms in the Twitter analysis. The curation of this dictionary was based on a language processing methodology (see Figure 1 for an overview of the Twitter data collection process). We first manually produced a set of keywords (ie, seed words) by taking the items of the PHQ-8 as the basis. For instance, for the item that referred to depressed mood, three words selected seed were in this step: (1)(2) "Schwermut" "Niedergeschlagenheit" (dejection), (melancholy), and (3) "Hoffnungslosigkeit" (hopelessness). In the next step, to enrich the seed words, we extracted a corpus from a Reddit forum wherein the authors created and exchanged depression-related content in German [39]. This text corpus was then fed into the Symanto vocabulary refinement tool, which analyzes texts and represents each word with semantic dimensions using long short-term memory neural networks [40]. Using the seed words, this tool automatically identified words and phrases from the corpus that were semantically related to each of the seed words. For the item of depressed mood, for example, enrichment via the Reddit corpus revealed semantically related words to the three seed words, such as "aussichtslos" (hopeless), "ausweglos" (hopeless), "bedrückt" (depressed), "entmutigt" (discouraged), and "schlechte Stimmung" (bad mood). By doing so, we obtained an expanded vocabulary of depressive symptom keywords that were then used to collect the tweets. Having followed the tweet collection, we filtered out retweets so that only original tweets with the exact match of keywords (including hashtags and quoted tweets) would appear in the final data set. The final number of tweets among users varied between 1 and 10 tweets per week, with 96% (n=46,607) of the users accounting for 1 tweet only. Additionally, we applied syntactic rules to ensure that the keywords were mentioned in a self-reference manner. Example tweets that appeared in the final data set are provided in Textbox 1. Finally, we used the averaged frequency of daily tweets including depressive symptom keywords as a comparable measure to the (relative) frequencies derived from the survey.





**Textbox 1.** Example tweets from the final Twitter data set for each of the used Patient Health Questionnaire-8 items. Both the original German tweets and English translations are provided.

### **Diminished interest**

- "Ich habe keine Lust mehr auf Praktikum? So viel Heteronormativität ertrage ich nicht."
- "I don't feel like doing an internship anymore? I can't stand that much heteronormativity."

### Depressed mood

- "Es ist aussichtslos. Ich bin ins Mark erschüttert."
- "It is hopeless. I am shaken to the core."

#### Insomnia or hypersomnia

- "Sind das nur Einschlafprobleme, oder leide ich unter Insomnie?"
- "Are these just problems falling asleep, or do I suffer from insomnia?"

### Fatigue or loss of energy

- "Ja schon...Ich fühle mich immer so energielos."
- "Yes I do...I always feel so low on energy."

### Feelings of worthlessness

- "Du denkst du könntest mich verletzen? Bro ich bin die Enttäuschung der Familie."
- "You think you could hurt me? Bro I am the disappointment of the family."

### Inappropriate guilt

- "Ich denke nur darüber nach, wie es gefunden werden würde, wie sich meine Schwester fühlte. Schon mit dem Vater weg und jetzt bin ich tot. Die Szene von mir tot. Ich kann es nicht ertragen zu sterben, weil ich weiß, dass sie traurig sind"
- "I just think about how it would be found, how my sister felt. Already gone with the father and now I'm dead. The scene of me dead. I can't bear to die because I know they are sad."

### **Ethical Approvement and Data Availability**

The GEDA/EHIS survey was conducted in accordance with the data protection provisions set out in the Federal Data Protection Committee of Act, and the Ethics the Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin approved the study (No. EA2/070/19). The procedures used in this study adhere to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki. Participants gave their informed written consent. The Twitter data used in this study was collected via the Twitter Public API, and the use follows the Twitter Developer terms. No sensitive data is derived or inferred from individual Twitter users. Geo-data is solely used in aggregated format. A scientific use file of the GEDA/EHIS survey data will be available on request from the Health Monitoring Research Data Centre at the Robert Koch Institute in Berlin, Germany (email: fdz@rki.de) after release by the statistical office of the European Union (Eurostat). The full list of keywords and further information on text analytics technology applied in this project will be available on request at Symanto Research GmbH & Co KG (e-mail: info@symanto.com).

### **Statistical Analyses**

We first conducted five logistic regression models (one for each PHQ item, with the PHQ items as the outcome variables) to

predict the weekly number of depressive symptoms. The participant's age, sex, and age  $\times$  sex interactions were entered as control variables (model 1). As there were some weekly fluctuations in the survey data, these time estimates were smoothed by integrating the time variable calendar week as a fourth-degree polynomial (model 2). Both models were plotted together in one graph (Figure 2). To analyze whether there was a change in the number of depressive symptoms during the period of the first German social contact ban (calendar weeks 12-18), a third model (model 3) included a categorical variable dividing the survey into three time periods: before the contact ban (calendar weeks 1-11), during the contact ban, and after the stepwise relaxation of the contact ban (calendar weeks 19-31). We tested whether there was a significant change in the contact ban variable during these three time periods using an adjusted Wald test. Additionally, we pairwise compared the margins before, during, and after the contact ban. Models 1 to 3 were calculated using survey procedures to account for the complex sampling and weighting to balance the potential bias in significant demographic variables of the German population structure (eg, socioeconomic status, municipality, and migration background; see Damerow et al [29] for further details).



**Figure 2.** Temporal progression of five depressive symptoms in the survey data (on the left) and Twitter data (on the right) from January to August 2020 (calendar weeks 1-31). The dark gray line represents the weekly averaged frequency, and the orange line represents the smoothed progressions by fourth-degree polynomial.



Following the same procedure used for the survey data, we aggregated the Twitter data on a weekly basis. Depressive symptoms were measured based on the number of tweets per day containing terms indicative of depressive symptoms, and we built a linear regression model (model 4) with age, sex, and age  $\times$  sex interaction as the control variables. Again, these estimates were smoothed by integrating the calendar week in

model 5 as a fourth-degree polynomial. In model 6, the influence of the contact ban was analyzed in the same way as in model 3.

Next, we investigated similarities in the time course of depressive symptoms between the Twitter and survey data. Due to the different scaling of frequencies in the Twitter data (absolute count) and survey data (binary variable indicating the

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27140
```

XSL•FO RenderX

presence or absence of symptoms for each survey respondent), and to the explorative character of these analyses, including possible violation of linearity, we calculated Spearman rank-order correlations for each of the five depressive symptoms. Correlations based on weekly aggregated smoothed margins are shown in Figure 2. The analyses were run with StataSE 15.1 (Stata Corp).

# Results

# Differences in Depressive Symptoms Before, During, and After the First Social Contact Ban

The differences in the frequencies of depressive symptoms among the three time periods largely followed the same pattern in the survey and Twitter data, as did the lower frequencies of insomnia and hypersomnia, fatigue and energy loss, and worthlessness and guilt, and the higher frequency of depressed mood during the contact ban than before and after the contact ban (Tables 1 and 2, Figure 2, and Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1). However, the differences among the time periods were significant only for fatigue and energy loss for both the survey and Twitter respondents and for worthlessness and guilt for the Twitter respondents. Whereas depressive symptoms after the contact ban were similar to those before the contact ban for the survey respondents, for several depressive symptoms, the frequency of symptoms after the contact ban was even higher than that before the ban for the Twitter respondents. Significant differences before and after the contact ban were found for diminished interest, depressed mood, and fatigue and energy loss (Tables 1 and 2, Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1, and Figure 2).

Table 1. Predictive margins of simple slopes resulting from regression analyses (model 3, survey data; model 6, Twitter data) for before, during, and after the contact ban.

Data		Diminished interest, margin (95% CI)	Depressed mood, margin (95% CI)	Insomnia/hypersomnia, margin (95% CI)	Fatigue/energy loss, margin (95% CI)	Worthlessness/guilt, margin (95% CI)
Survey data						
Before (18.1	%)	0.38 (0.35-0.42)	0.27 (0.24-0.30)	0.50 (0.46-0.53)	0.54 (0.51-0.57)	0.14 (0.11-0.16)
During (24.)	1%)	0.40 (0.38-0.43)	0.28 (0.25-0.30)	0.47 (0.44-0.50)	0.50 (0.47-0.52)	0.13 (0.11-0.15)
After (57.8%	6)	0.38 (0.36-0.41)	0.27 (0.25-0.29)	0.49 (0.47-0.52)	0.52 (0.49-0.54)	0.14 (0.13-0.16)
Twitter data						
Before (33.7	7%)	99.4 (90.3-108.5)	60.5 (55.8-65.1)	60.6 (51.6-69.7)	129.0 (122.1-135.8)	27.7 (25.7-29.7)
During (21.0	0%)	99.6 (88.5-110.8)	65.1 (59.3-70.8)	54.2 (42.6-65.7)	115.7 (107.3-124.1)	23.9 (21.3-26.5)
After (45.3%	6)	115.0 (106.8-123.3)	71.2 (67.0-75.5)	64.3 (55.8-72.8)	141.7 (135.7-147.8)	30.3 (28.5-32.0)

Table 2. P values indicating the significance of the comparisons before, during, and after the contact ban resulting from the Wald test.

Data	Diminished interest, <i>P</i> value	Depressed mood, <i>P</i> value	Insomnia/hypersomnia, P value	Fatigue/energy loss, <i>P</i> value	Worthlessness/guilt, P value
Survey data					
Before vs during	.34	.90	.23	.04	.74
Before vs after	.94	.75	.80	.21	.75
During vs after	.29	.61	.25	.29	.44
Twitter data					
Before vs during	.97	.22	.39	$.02^{a}$	.02
Before vs after	.01	.001	.56	.006	.06
During vs after	.03	.09	.17	<.001	<.001

<sup>a</sup>Italics indicate significant results at *P*<.05.

# Differences in Depressive Symptoms by Sex and Age Group

Between January and August 2020, the frequency of depressive symptoms among the survey respondents varied from 13.9% (n=1011) for feelings of worthlessness or inappropriate guilt to 51.6% (n=4472) for fatigue or loss of energy. Additionally, across the tweets, feelings of worthlessness were the least frequent depressive symptom (n=5103, 5.7%), and fatigue or loss of energy was the most frequent (n=31,005, 34.9%; see

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27140
```

Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). In general, female respondents reported depressive symptoms more frequently than male respondents, as indicated by the significant sex comparisons and age  $\times$  sex interactions in Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1. The same result was found with both the Twitter and survey data. When we also considered the age of respondents, we observed that young adult women (younger than 25 years) most frequently reported depressive symptoms according to both the survey and Twitter data. Although depressive symptoms did not significantly differ between sexes

among middle-aged adults, the frequency of symptoms was higher in female survey respondents aged 50 years than in male survey respondents, except for feelings of worthlessness and guilt. Correspondingly, the overall comparisons between age groups showed that older survey respondents (50 years and older) more frequently reported depressed mood and insomnia and hypersomnia than respondents younger than 18 years and reported diminished interest and worthlessness and guilt less frequently than age groups younger than 35 years and fatigue and energy loss less frequently than age groups between 25 and 49 years (Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1). The Twitter data similarly showed a higher frequency of depressed mood in older adults (50 years and older) than in respondents younger than 18 years. Another similarity was that Twitter respondents 50 years and older reported diminished interest less frequently than those aged 18 to 24 years and reported fatigue and energy loss less frequently than those aged 25 to 34 years. Contrary to the survey respondents, older adult Twitter users (50 years and older) reported feelings of worthlessness and guilt more frequently than all other age groups.

Additionally, the regional frequencies of depressive symptoms showed relatively good correspondence between the survey and Twitter data. The German districts of Nordrhein-Westfalen, Bayern, and some parts of Berlin had the highest number of overall depressive symptoms in the given time period. Notably, Nordrhein-Westfalen and Bayern also had the highest COVID-19 infection rates in Germany. The frequencies of depressive symptoms from the survey and Twitter data grouped by age group and sex as well as the regional frequencies grouped by the German federal districts can be obtained in Tables S1 and S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

# Associations in Depressive Symptoms Between Survey and Twitter Data Over Time

Spearman rank-order correlations were calculated to assess the relationships between depressive symptoms based on the margins derived from smoothed curves over time (by calendar week) from the survey and Twitter data. The results showed moderate to strong positive correlations for depressed mood, insomnia and hyposomnia, fatigue and energy loss, and feelings of worthlessness and guilt (Figure 3). Diminished interest was not significantly correlated between the survey and Twitter data.

A closer look at the predictive margins of the weekly averaged and smoothed frequencies (model 4), as shown in Figures 2 and 3, indicated that the correspondence between depressive symptoms in the survey and Twitter data became even more evident when time shifts were taken into account. Whereas the courses of the symptoms of insomnia and hypersomnia and worthlessness and guilt were similar, reaching a minimum during the contact ban (as indicated by the blue color), depressed mood and fatigue and energy loss showed differences in temporal shifts in the Twitter and survey data. The frequencies of depressed mood and fatigue and energy loss in the Twitter data declined earlier before the contact ban and increased earlier during the contact ban than the frequencies of the same symptoms in the survey data.



**Figure 3.** Predictive margins of the smoothed curves of depressive symptoms in the Twitter and survey data by CW from January to August 2020 and the Spearman rank correlation results. Color shading: white represents the mean values, dark blue indicates the lowest values, and dark red indicates the highest values. CW: 1-11 "before," 12-18 "during," and 19-31 "after" the German social contact ban. CW: calendar week.

	Dimin inte	iished rest	Depre mo	essed od	Inson hypers	somnia/ Fatigue/ persomnia energy loss		Worthlessness/ guilt		
CW	Twitter	Survey	Twitter	Survey	Twitter	Survey	Twitter	Survey	Twitter	Survey
1	72.9	39.8%	75.7	27.1%	67.3	51.8%	147.4	54.1%	26.1	15.9%
2	80.3	38.8%	67.8	27.0%	68.0	51.7%	141.4	54.8%	27.4	15.2%
3	86.4	38.1%	62.1	27.0%	67.7	51.5%	136.1	55.0%	28.1	14.6%
4	91.6	37.6%	58.2	26.9%	66.6	51.0%	131.5	55.0%	28.5	14.2%
5	95.8	37.4%	55.9	26.9%	64.9	50.4%	127.6	54.8%	28.5	13.9%
6	99.1	37.3%	54.8	26.9%	62.9	49.8%	124.4	54.3%	28.3	13.6%
7	101.8	37.4%	54.8	26.9%	60.7	49.1%	121.8	53.8%	27.8	13.4%
8	103.8	37.6%	55.7	26.9%	58.5	48.5%	119.8	53.1%	27.3	13.3%
9	105.4	37.8%	57.1	26.9%	56.4	47.9%	118.4	52.5%	26.7	13.2%
10	106.5	38.2%	59.0	27.0%	54.5	47.4%	117.6	51.8%	26.2	13.1%
11	107.2	38.5%	61.1	27.0%	53.0	47.0%	117.4	51.2%	25.7	13.0%
12	107.7	38.9%	63.4	27.1%	51.8	46.7%	117.7	50.6%	25.2	13.0%
13	108.0	39.3%	65.6	27.2%	51.2	46.6%	118.4	50.2%	24.9	13.0%
14	108.1	39.6%	67.7	27.3%	51.0	46.6%	119.6	49.8%	24.8	13.0%
15	108.2	40.0%	69.5	27.4%	51.3	46.7%	121.2	49.6%	24.7	13.1%
16	108.3	40.2%	71.0	27.4%	52.2	46.9%	123.1	49.5%	24.9	13.1%
17	108.3	40.4%	72.2	27.5%	53.4	47.3%	125.2	49.5%	25.2	13.2%
18	108.4	40.5%	73.0	27.6%	55.2	47.8%	127.6	49.7%	25.7	13.2%
19	108.6	40.5%	73.4	27.7%	57.2	48.3%	130.0	50.0%	26.3	13.3%
20	108.9	40.5%	73.4	27.7%	59.5	48.9%	132.6	50.3%	27.0	13.4%
21	109.3	40.4%	73.1	27.8%	61.9	49.5%	135.1	50.8%	27.8	13.5%
22	109.8	40.2%	72.4	27.8%	64.3	50.1%	137.5	51.3%	28.7	13.6%
23	110.5	39.9%	71.4	27.8%	66.5	50.6%	139.8	51.8%	29.6	13.7%
24	111.4	39.5%	70.3	27.7%	68.4	51.0%	141.7	52.3%	30.5	13.9%
25	112.4	39.1%	69.1	27.6%	69.7	51.2%	143.3	52.7%	31.2	14.1%
26	113.5	38.7%	68.0	27.5%	70.3	51.1%	144.4	53.0%	31.8	14.3%
27	114.7	38.2%	67.0	27.3%	69.8	50.8%	145.0	53.2%	32.2	14.6%
28	115.9	37.7%	66.4	27.0%	68.1	50.0%	144.8	53.1%	32.2	15.0%
29	117.3	37.3%	66.4	26.7%	64.8	48.7%	143.9	52.7%	31.8	15.4%
30	118.6	36.8%	67.1	26.4%	59.6	46.9%	142.0	52.0%	30.9	16.0%
31	119.9	36.4%	68.7	25.9%	52.2	44.5%	139.1	50.9%	29.4	16.6%
ρ	0.	06	0.7	76	0.9	93	0.4	40	0.7	79
Р	.7	'5	<.0	01	<0.0	001	.02	28	<.0	01

### Depressive symptoms

# Discussion

XSL•FO RenderX 2020. We moreover differentiated between the age group and sex of the survey and Twitter respondents.

In this study, we investigated indications of depressive symptoms before, during, and after the first social contact ban decreed by the German government due to the COVID-19 pandemic using survey and Twitter data from January to July

# Differences in Depressive Symptoms Before, During, and After the First Social Contact Ban

In contrast to previous indications of heightened depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic [25,27,28,30] and

during lockdown periods [30], these findings reflect only a few significant differences in depressive symptoms before, during, and after the contact ban. In fact, the results indicate a temporary decrease in some depressive symptoms during the contact ban. The most distinct finding suggests that individuals had fewer problems related to fatigue and energy level during the contact ban than before or after the ban according to survey and Twitter data.

The explanations for the diverging results could be related to the fact that only a few previous studies have differentiated between diverse depressive symptoms or taken temporal fluctuations into account. Correspondingly, these findings are more in line with evidence on distinct mental health problems, showing a decrease in such problems immediately before the lockdown and the declaration of national emergencies in the United States (eg, fear [22]) and a steady increase thereafter (eg, stress and anger [22,23,40]). Similar temporal patterns of decreases and increases in depressive symptoms have been found in other challenging societal situations such as the global financial crisis in 2007 [41]. Within this context, a possible explanation for temporarily decreasing depressive symptoms over time was increased leisure time offering opportunities to foster social contact, pursue positive health behaviors (eg, a healthy diet and individual sports), or reduce work-related stress levels [42,43]. Moreover, emphases on collective experience and shared suffering as opposed to crises attributed to personal failure have been suggested as potential promoters of coping [41]. These assumptions are consistent with theories on coping with future stressful events (proactive coping [44]) and on expectancies of control [45]. The proactive coping approach postulates that coping in preparation for future stressors, for instance, to avoid or minimize negative effects, is associated with reduced stressor reactivity [46]; this approach is complemented by the idea that the controllability of a stressful situation can influence the efficacy of coping strategies and stress-related psychopathology [45]. In particular, an external locus of control (ie, a perception that something is outside of one's personal power, such as in the hands of fate or the authorities) has been discussed as advantageous for coping success and mental health [47]. Thus, an anticipatory character and external locus of control combined with the collective experience of the actual pandemic crisis may have positively influenced depressive symptoms during the first German lockdown. The forced break and temporary release from several work- or social-related obligations may have been a relief and a chance to recover and gain energy for many people [43]. A few studies have shown positive behavioral adjustment during the COVID-19 pandemic in the general population, such as having a better diet [42], pursuing hobbies and interests, or spending more time outdoors [43].

# Differences in Depressive Symptoms by Sex and Age Group

However, there seem to be population groups that are not consistent with the general results and need specific attention. Evidence from economic crises, for instance, showed a high risk of mental burden for particular groups such as middle-aged men looking for work but not for the general population [41]. As opposed to (solely) economic crises, during the COVID-19

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27140
```

pandemic, it is not middle-aged men but young adult women who seem to be at high risk for depressive symptoms. This pattern was consistently evident in both the survey and Twitter data, and agrees with previous findings in Germany and in other countries [28,30,48] independent of the pandemic situation. It has already been discussed that the generally enhanced risk of depressive symptoms in females and young adults may have been amplified in light of the pandemic situation [26,49] and thus requires public attention and further exploration.

Additionally, the survey and Twitter data were consistent regarding the average relative frequency of depressive symptoms across the German federal districts. The two districts showing the comparatively highest numbers of depressive symptom reports were also those with the highest COVID-19 infection rates during the investigation period. Thus, one may conclude that Twitter data can reflect the cumulative occurrence of depressive symptoms within the general population based on demographic characteristics such as sex and regionality.

## Associations in Depressive Symptoms Between Survey and Twitter Data Over Time

A closer inspection of the temporal progression based on weekly averaged depressive symptoms from January to July 2020 emphasized similarities between the two investigated data sources. The correlations between the Twitter and survey data were moderate to high for depressed mood, insomnia and hypersomnia, fatigue and energy loss, and worthlessness and guilt. Interestingly, the results also suggest differences in reactions to the social contact ban, with the Twitter respondents seeming to react earlier than the survey respondents in terms of depressed mood and fatigue and energy loss. This observation may lead to the conclusion that Twitter users proactively react to the given circumstances; however, the reasons for temporal shifts are not yet well understood and require further investigation.

Despite the aforementioned similarities, there were also some differences between the survey and Twitter data that require further attention. Exceptions to the decreasing trend after the initiation of the lockdown period were found for the symptoms of depressed mood and diminished interest, which remained relatively constant in the survey respondents and continuously increased in the Twitter respondents, even after the relaxation of the social contact ban. This finding can be interpreted to indicate either that Twitter is an attractive tool for people experiencing depressed mood and diminished interest or that individuals are more willing to disclose information of that kind on Twitter than in a survey. The finding that the number of reports of depressive symptoms was estimated to be approximately 8% higher [20] in tweets than in responses to a national health survey conducted in 2019 [6] (18.2% vs 10.4%) supports the first assumption. On the other hand, motivations to tweet and to participate in a survey likely differ, but the evidence is inconclusive so far. Although there is evidence suggesting a disproportionate use of social media by individuals with mental problems or real-life relationship problems to overcome feelings of social isolation [11,50], other investigations have indicated a rather balanced use of social media in the general population compared to that in mentally

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

ill individuals [51,52] and a lack of a relationship between social media use and (mental) health status [51,52]. Some findings even suggest a less active use of Twitter in individuals with diagnosed depression as compared to a nondepressed control group [17]. Within the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, the newly available leisure time during the social contact ban and the reduction of face-to-face contact may also have contributed to the higher use of Twitter as a medium to share thoughts and feelings. Previous results pointed toward the potential of social media to overcome loneliness and social isolation particularly in older adults [53] and have been discussed in terms of the pandemic situation [54]. Frequent social media use, however, was found to be associated with negative mental health status among Chinese citizens during the COVID-19 pandemic [55]. Further evidence is needed to get a clearer picture of the positive and negative effects of social media use and effects during the COVID-19 pandemic.

### Limitations

Apart from the potential benefit of Twitter as a tool to reflect public mental health conditions, there are some limitations of this study that have to be considered. First, although the proportion of Twitter users in the general population is constantly rising, we cannot rule out sampling and access bias. This study showed a disproportionate number of tweets across different population groups, reflecting an imbalance compared with other user statistics [56,57]. Consequently, the comparability of the survey and Twitter samples was limited. Second, the frequency of reported depressive symptoms cannot be interpreted as epidemiological prevalence rates because of the different coding and analysis approaches that were used in this study to enhance comparability. In addition, a general limitation of the study is related to the fact that depressive symptoms can be subject to seasonal variation [58], and this influence cannot be ruled out with this data. Accordingly, there is evidence suggesting that temporal, spatial, or geographical characteristics (eg, local weather or location-specific health characteristics) and other personal characteristics (eg, personality) can influence the content and sentiment of tweets [59-61]. Although this study considered the Twitter user's location if applicable (ie, users revealed their living area) and the results indicate that depressive symptoms vary by local infection rates, the information is vague and further effort is needed to take other relevant and reliable characteristics into account. Furthermore, the lockdown may have affected the responsibilities of not only the Twitter users but also the survey respondents (eg, due to increased leisure time and better accessibility), which cannot be yet estimated.

### Conclusions

Overall, these results indicate rather small differences in depressive symptoms associated with social distancing measures during the COVID-19 pandemic and highlight the need to differentiate between positive (eg, energy level) and negative (eg, depressed mood) associations and variations over time. The inclusion of individual characteristics such as the age and sex of both survey and Twitter respondents helped to add new insight into the distribution of depressive symptom indications. As a result, we found exceptions with young adult women, who represented a high-risk group for depressive symptoms, and individuals living in federal districts with high infection rates.

These findings also underscore previous suggestions of the potential of Twitter data to help identify hot spots of declining and improving public mental health and to thereby help provide early intervention measures [23]. We were able to add knowledge to the consistency of findings based on two different data sources and its potential for public mental health monitoring. More precisely, we found considerable overlap between the Twitter and survey data, which offer notable entry points for monitoring public mental health, especially for young and middle-aged adults, but further investigation is also required. For instance, some of the key symptoms of depression (eg, energy loss) seemed to be relatively reliably detected in Twitter data, and these Twitter data showed high similarity with the corresponding survey data. Moreover, the temporal progression of depressive symptoms showed relatively high correspondence between the two data sources, providing notable indications of general trends in public mental health states for the time periods before, during, and after the social contact ban. The correspondence of these findings indicate how learning algorithms predicting socioeconomic characteristics and mental health states can continue to grow and help create opportunities to enhance information content and expand research applicability.

However, these results also highlight the need to consider limitations and challenges, and perform further validation to establish real-time public mental surveillance approaches [62]. For example, conclusions based on Twitter data will be limited since researchers are blind to several potentially confounding characteristics in Twitter data (eg, the basic population size). More differentiated analyses may allow more reliable approximation of Twitter user proportions and of mental health-related topics, for instance, by putting further emphasis on metadata like retweets, hashtags, or the number of followers [63]. Considering the sentiment of tweets may also contribute to a better approximation of the actual experience of mentioned depressive symptoms in users [17]. In sum, future investigations need to clarify the role of possible explanatory factors for differences between Twitter and survey data sources, such as the motivation or willingness to share and communicate sensitive mental health information in different contexts and the ability of individuals to remember and reflect such information. For instance, although depressed mood may be easy to communicate, feelings of worthlessness or guilt may not be.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary materials. [DOCX File, 28 KB - mental\_v8i6e27140\_app1.docx ]

## References

- 1. Tankovska H. Twitter: number of monthly active users 2010-2019. Statista. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/</u> 282087/number-of-monthly-active-twitter-users/ [accessed 2020-08-19]
- 2. Tankovska H. Social media usage in Germany 2020. Statista. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/1059426/</u> social-media-usage-germany/ [accessed 2020-08-19]
- 3. Brownstein JS, Freifeld CC, Madoff LC. Digital disease detection--harnessing the Web for public health surveillance. N Engl J Med 2009 May 21;360(21):2153-5, 2157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMp0900702] [Medline: 19423867]
- 4. Sinnenberg L, Buttenheim AM, Padrez K, Mancheno C, Ungar L, Merchant RM. Twitter as a tool for health research: a systematic review. Am J Public Health 2017 Jan;107(1):e1-e8. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2016.303512</u>] [Medline: <u>27854532</u>]
- GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2018 Nov 10;392(10159):1789-1858 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32279-7] [Medline: 30496104]
- 6. Hapke U, Cohrdes C, Nübel J. Depressive symptoms in a European comparison results from the European Health Interview Survey (EHIS) 2. J Health Monitoring 2019;4(4):57-65. [doi: 10.25646/6227]
- Liu X, Kakade M, Fuller CJ, Fan B, Fang Y, Kong J, et al. Depression after exposure to stressful events: lessons learned from the severe acute respiratory syndrome epidemic. Compr Psychiatry 2012 Jan;53(1):15-23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2011.02.003] [Medline: 21489421]
- 8. Zyoud SH, Sweileh WM, Awang R, Al-Jabi SW. Global trends in research related to social media in psychology: mapping and bibliometric analysis. Int J Ment Health Syst 2018;12:4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13033-018-0182-6] [Medline: 29387147]
- Berry N, Lobban F, Belousov M, Emsley R, Nenadic G, Bucci S. #WhyWeTweetMH: understanding why people use Twitter to discuss mental health problems. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 05;19(4):e107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6173] [Medline: 28381392]
- Lachmar EM, Wittenborn AK, Bogen KW, McCauley HL. #MyDepressionLooksLike: examining public discourse about depression on Twitter. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Oct 18;4(4):e43 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/mental.8141</u>] [Medline: <u>29046270</u>]
- Gowen K, Deschaine M, Gruttadara D, Markey D. Young adults with mental health conditions and social networking websites: seeking tools to build community. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2012;35(3):245-250. [doi: <u>10.2975/35.3.2012.245.250</u>] [Medline: <u>22246123</u>]
- 12. Slavich GM, O'Donovan A, Epel ES, Kemeny ME. Black sheep get the blues: a psychobiological model of social rejection and depression. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2010 Sep;35(1):39-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.01.003] [Medline: 20083138]
- 13. Ge L, Yap CW, Ong R, Heng BH. Social isolation, loneliness and their relationships with depressive symptoms: a population-based study. PLoS One 2017;12(8):e0182145 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0182145] [Medline: 28832594]
- 14. Teo AR, Choi H, Valenstein M. Social relationships and depression: ten-year follow-up from a nationally representative study. PLoS One 2013;8(4):e62396 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062396] [Medline: 23646128]
- Teo AR, Choi H, Andrea SB, Valenstein M, Newsom JT, Dobscha SK, et al. Does mode of contact with different types of social relationships predict depression in older adults? Evidence from a nationally representative survey. J Am Geriatr Soc 2015 Oct;63(10):2014-2022 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.13667] [Medline: 26437566]
- 16. Garfin DR. Technology as a coping tool during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: implications and recommendations. Stress Health 2020 Oct;36(4):555-559 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/smi.2975] [Medline: 32762116]
- 17. Leis A, Ronzano F, Mayer MA, Furlong LI, Sanz F. Detecting signs of depression in tweets in Spanish: behavioral and linguistic analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jun 27;21(6):e14199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14199] [Medline: 31250832]
- Reece AG, Reagan AJ, Lix KLM, Dodds PS, Danforth CM, Langer EJ. Forecasting the onset and course of mental illness with Twitter data. Sci Rep 2017 Oct 11;7(1):13006. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41598-017-12961-9</u>] [Medline: <u>29021528</u>]
- McClellan C, Ali MM, Mutter R, Kroutil L, Landwehr J. Using social media to monitor mental health discussions evidence from Twitter. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 May 01;24(3):496-502 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw133] [Medline: 27707822]
- 20. Mowery D, Smith H, Cheney T, Stoddard G, Coppersmith G, Bryan C, et al. Understanding depressive symptoms and psychosocial stressors on Twitter: a corpus-based study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Feb 28;19(2):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6895] [Medline: 28246066]

RenderX

- Abd-Alrazaq A, Alhuwail D, Househ M, Hamdi M, Shah Z. Top concerns of tweeters during the COVID-19 pandemic: infoveillance study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Apr 21;22(4):e19016 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19016] [Medline: 32287039]
- Lwin MO, Lu J, Sheldenkar A, Schulz PJ, Shin W, Gupta R, et al. Global sentiments surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic on Twitter: analysis of Twitter trends. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 May 22;6(2):e19447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19447] [Medline: 32412418]
- Guntuku SC, Sherman G, Stokes DC, Agarwal AK, Seltzer E, Merchant RM, et al. Tracking mental health and symptom mentions on Twitter during COVID-19. J Gen Intern Med 2020 Sep;35(9):2798-2800 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-05988-8] [Medline: 32638321]
- 24. Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. Lancet 2020 Mar 14;395(10227):912-920 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8] [Medline: 32112714]
- Ettman CK, Abdalla SM, Cohen GH, Sampson L, Vivier PM, Galea S. Prevalence of depression symptoms in US adults before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Sep 01;3(9):e2019686 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.19686] [Medline: 32876685]
- Huang Y, Zhao N. Generalized anxiety disorder, depressive symptoms and sleep quality during COVID-19 outbreak in China: a web-based cross-sectional survey. Psychiatry Res 2020 Jun;288:112954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112954] [Medline: 32325383]
- 27. Huang Y, Zhao N. Chinese mental health burden during the COVID-19 pandemic. Asian J Psychiatr 2020 Jun;51:102052 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102052] [Medline: 32361387]
- 28. Bäuerle A, Teufel M, Musche V, Weismüller B, Kohler H, Hetkamp M, et al. Increased generalized anxiety, depression and distress during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study in Germany. J Public Health (Oxf) 2020 Nov 23;42(4):672-678 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdaa106] [Medline: 32657323]
- 29. Damerow S, Rommel A, Prütz F, Beyer A, Hapke U, Schienkiewitz A, et al. Developments in the health situation in Germany during the initial stage of the COVID-19 pandemic for selected indicators of GEDA 2019/2020-EHIS. J Health Monitoring 2020 Dec;5(4):3-22. [doi: 10.25646/71]
- Ozamiz-Etxebarria N, Dosil-Santamaria M, Picaza-Gorrochategui M, Idoiaga-Mondragon N. Stress, anxiety, and depression levels in the initial stage of the COVID-19 outbreak in a population sample in the northern Spain. Cad Saude Publica 2020;36(4):e00054020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/0102-311X00054020] [Medline: 32374806]
- 31. Kroenke K, Strine TW, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW, Berry JT, Mokdad AH. The PHQ-8 as a measure of current depression in the general population. J Affect Disord 2009 Apr;114(1-3):163-173. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2008.06.026] [Medline: 18752852]
- 32. Rude S, Gortner E, Pennebaker J. Language use of depressed and depression-vulnerable college students. Cogn Emotion 2004 Dec;18(8):1121-1133. [doi: 10.1080/02699930441000030]
- 33. Pennebaker J. The Secret Life of Pronouns. What Our Words Say About Us. New York: Bloomsbury Press; 2011.
- 34. Rangel F, Franco-Salvador M, Rosso P. A low dimensionality representation for language variety identification. In: Gelbukh A, editor. Computational Linguistics and Intelligent Text Processing 17th International Conference, CICLing 2016, Konya, Turkey, April 3–9, 2016, Revised Selected Papers, Part II. Cham: Springer; Mar 2018:156-169.
- 35. Rangel F, Rosso P. On the impact of emotions on author profiling. Inf Processing Manage 2016 Jan;52(1):73-92. [doi: 10.1016/j.ipm.2015.06.003]
- 36. Goodfellow I, Bengio Y, Courville A. Deep Learning. Cambridge: MIT Press; 2016.
- 37. Rangel F, Rosso P, Zaghouani W, Charfi A. Fine-grained analysis of language varieties and demographics. Nat Lang Eng 2020 Mar 10;26(6):641-661. [doi: 10.1017/s1351324920000108]
- Rangel F, Rosso P, Chrugur I, Potthast M, Trenkmann M, Stein B, et al. Overview of the 2nd Author Profiling Task at PAN 2014. 2014 Presented at: CEUR Workshop; September 2014; Valencia p. 898-927 URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10251/61150</u>
- 39. depression\_de. Reddit. URL: <u>https://www.reddit.com/r/depression\_de/</u> [accessed 2021-01-11]
- 40. Zhang Y, Lyu H, Liu Y, Zhang X, Wang Y, Luo J. Monitoring depression trend on Twitter during the COVID-19 pandemic. arXiv. Preprint posted online on July 1, 2020.
- 41. Reibling N, Beckfield J, Huijts T, Schmidt-Catran A, Thomson K, Wendt C. Depressed during the depression: has the economic crisis affected mental health inequalities in Europe? Findings from the European Social Survey (2014) special module on the determinants of health. Eur J Public Health 2017 Feb 01;27(suppl\_1):47-54. [doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckw225] [Medline: 28355641]
- 42. Jordan S, Krug S, Manz K, Moosburger R, Schienkiewitz A, Starker A, et al. Health behaviour and COVID-19: initial findings on the pandemic. J Health Monitoring 2020 Nov;S8:2-14. [doi: <u>10.25646/7055</u>]
- Fullana MA, Hidalgo-Mazzei D, Vieta E, Radua J. Coping behaviors associated with decreased anxiety and depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown. J Affect Disord 2020 Oct 01;275:80-81. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.027] [Medline: 32658829]
- 44. Aspinwall LG, Taylor SE. A stitch in time: self-regulation and proactive coping. Psychol Bull 1997 May;121(3):417-436. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.121.3.417] [Medline: 9136643]

RenderX

- 45. Rotter JB. Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement. Psychol Monogr 1966;80(1):1-28. [Medline: <u>5340840</u>]
- 46. Feldman G, Hayes A. Preparing for problems: a measure of mental anticipatory processes. J Res Pers 2005 Oct;39(5):487-516. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jrp.2004.05.005</u>]
- Solomon Z, Mikulincer M, Benbenishty R. Locus of control and combat-related post-traumatic stress disorder: the intervening role of battle intensity, threat appraisal and coping. Br J Clin Psychol 1989 May;28(2):131-144. [doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.1989.tb00823.x] [Medline: 2743053]
- 48. Özdin S, Bayrak Özdin Ş. Levels and predictors of anxiety, depression and health anxiety during COVID-19 pandemic in Turkish society: The importance of gender. Int J Soc Psychiatry 2020 Aug;66(5):504-511 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0020764020927051] [Medline: 32380879]
- Fitzpatrick KM, Harris C, Drawve G. Living in the midst of fear: depressive symptomatology among US adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. Depress Anxiety 2020 Oct;37(10):957-964 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/da.23080</u>] [Medline: <u>32667117</u>]
- 50. Primack BA, Shensa A, Sidani JE, Whaite EO, Lin LY, Rosen D, et al. Social media use and perceived social isolation among young adults in the U.S. Am J Prev Med 2017 Jul;53(1):1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.01.010] [Medline: 28279545]
- 51. Chou WS, Hunt YM, Beckjord EB, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Social media use in the United States: implications for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2009 Nov 27;11(4):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1249] [Medline: 19945947]
- 52. Naslund JA, Bondre A, Torous J, Aschbrenner KA. Social media and mental health: benefits, risks, and opportunities for research and practice. J Technol Behav Sci 2020 Sep;5(3):245-257. [doi: 10.1007/s41347-020-00134-x] [Medline: 33415185]
- 53. Hajek A, König HH. The association between use of online social networks sites and perceived social isolation among individuals in the second half of life: results based on a nationally representative sample in Germany. BMC Public Health 2019 Jan 09;19(1):40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6369-6] [Medline: 30626369]
- 54. Razai MS, Oakeshott P, Kankam H, Galea S, Stokes-Lampard H. Mitigating the psychological effects of social isolation during the covid-19 pandemic. BMJ 2020 May 21;369:m1904. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1904] [Medline: 32439691]
- 55. Gao J, Zheng P, Jia Y, Chen H, Mao Y, Chen S, et al. Mental health problems and social media exposure during COVID-19 outbreak. PLoS One 2020;15(4):e0231924 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231924] [Medline: 32298385]
- 56. Tankovska H. Twitter usage reach in the United States 2021, by age group. Statista. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/</u> <u>statistics/265647/share-of-us-internet-users-who-use-twitter-by-age-group/</u> [accessed 2020-08-19]
- 57. Kemp S. The state of digital in April 2019: all the numbers you need to know. We Are Social. URL: <u>https://wearesocial.</u> <u>com/blog/2019/04/the-state-of-digital-in-april-2019-all-the-numbers-you-need-to-know</u> [accessed 2020-09-15]
- 58. Øverland S, Woicik W, Sikora L, Whittaker K, Heli H, Skjelkvåle FS, et al. Seasonality and symptoms of depression: a systematic review of the literature. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2019 Apr 22;29:e31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S2045796019000209] [Medline: 31006406]
- 59. Gore RJ, Diallo S, Padilla J. You are what you tweet: connecting the geographic variation in America's obesity rate to Twitter content. PLoS One 2015;10(9):e0133505 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133505] [Medline: 26332588]
- 60. Padilla JJ, Kavak H, Lynch CJ, Gore RJ, Diallo SY. Temporal and spatiotemporal investigation of tourist attraction visit sentiment on Twitter. PLoS One 2018;13(6):e0198857 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198857] [Medline: 29902270]
- 61. Auer EML. Detecting deceptive impression management behaviors in interviews using natural language processing. ODU Digital Commons. 2018. URL: <u>https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/psychology\_etds/70/</u> [accessed 2021-01-11]
- 62. Gupta A, Katarya R. Social media based surveillance systems for healthcare using machine learning: a systematic review. J Biomed Inform 2020 Aug;108:103500 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2020.103500] [Medline: 32622833]
- 63. Alvarez-Mon MA, Llavero-Valero M, Sánchez-Bayona R, Pereira-Sanchez V, Vallejo-Valdivielso M, Monserrat J, et al. Areas of interest and stigmatic attitudes of the general public in five relevant medical conditions: thematic and quantitative analysis using Twitter. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 28;21(5):e14110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14110] [Medline: 31140438]

# Abbreviations

**API:** application programming interface **PHQ-8:** patient health questionnaire



Edited by J Torous; submitted 12.01.21; peer-reviewed by R Gore, M Alvarez de Mon; comments to author 05.04.21; revised version received 25.04.21; accepted 29.04.21; published 18.06.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Cohrdes C, Yenikent S, Wu J, Ghanem B, Franco-Salvador M, Vogelgesang F Indications of Depressive Symptoms During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Germany: Comparison of National Survey and Twitter Data JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e27140 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e27140 doi:10.2196/27140 PMID:34142973

©Caroline Cohrdes, Seren Yenikent, Jiawen Wu, Bilal Ghanem, Marc Franco-Salvador, Felicitas Vogelgesang. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 18.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Original Paper

# Psychological Crisis Intervention for COVID-19 Lockdown Stress in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: Survey Study and Qualitative Analysis

Katarzyna Cyranka<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Dominika Dudek<sup>1</sup>, Prof Dr; Maciej Tadeusz Małecki<sup>2</sup>, Prof Dr; Bartłomiej Matejko<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Tomasz Klupa<sup>2</sup>, Prof Dr

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Krakow, Poland <sup>2</sup>Department of Metabolic Diseases, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Krakow, Poland

# **Corresponding Author:**

Katarzyna Cyranka, PhD Department of Psychiatry Jagiellonian University Medical College Kopernika Street 21a Krakow, 31-501 Poland Phone: 48 124248700 Email: <u>katarzyna.cyranka@gmail.com</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** The COVID-19 pandemic has challenged the worldviews of most people. Social isolation after the COVID-19 lockdown has not only led to economic difficulties but also resulted in adverse psychological reactions. As in most countries, including Poland, this situation has been very challenging for patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM). In Poland, a crisis intervention team for patients with T1DM was established. The goal of the team was to provide psychological support for these patients, if needed, and to present information concerning how these patients may obtain medical consultations and prescriptions.

**Objective:** We aimed to analyze the psychological parameters and main emotional reactions of patients with T1DM during the COVID-19 lockdown.

**Methods:** An email with information concerning the possibility of having a web-based consultation with psychologists and psychiatrists and an attached set of psychological tests was sent to all patients with T1DM who were under the care of an outpatient diabetes clinic. The consultations were performed by licensed clinical psychologists and psychologists. This study was approved by the Bioethics Committee of the Jagiellonian University in Krakow, Poland.

**Results:** The patients who decided to use psychological support had statistically higher levels of anxiety (state P=.043; trait P=.022), stress (P=.001) than those of patients from the group who did not seek support.

**Conclusions:** The presented intervention team may be perceived as an example of important and successful cooperation and communication between specialists of different fields of medicine (diabetology, psychiatry, and psychology) in a crisis situation.

(JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e28097) doi:10.2196/28097

# **KEYWORDS**

COVID-19; pandemic; type 1 diabetes mellitus; crisis psychological intervention; anxiety; stress; psychosomatics; diabetes; type 1; psychology; crisis situation; intervention

# Introduction

# Background

RenderX

The COVID-19 pandemic, with its subsequent mental health consequences, has challenged the worldviews of most people. Social isolation after the COVID-19 lockdown has not only led to economic difficulties but also resulted in adverse

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e28097
```

psychological reactions. People's most common reactions when faced with such life-threatening circumstances are stress, anxiety, and depression [1]. People with diabetes and other comorbid conditions, such as asthma, heart failure, raised serum creatinine levels, and an age of >65 years, have turned out to be at higher risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection complications and the emotional burden related to such complications [2].

Regardless of the potential spread of COVID-19, as with influenza-related mortality, diabetes is an important risk factor for adverse outcomes [3]. With the medical focus being largely centered on COVID-19, the clinical support needed by patients living with noncommunicable diseases, including type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), has been severely affected. Treatment delays, the discontinuation of routine care, a lack of services, and the uncertainty surrounding medicine availability have left these patients more at risk than ever before. A survey of 155 countries by the World Health Organization reported the dramatic curtailment of health services for patients living with noncommunicable diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic. It was reported that diabetes treatment has been partially or completely disrupted in 49% of the countries surveyed [4]. Glycemic control is important for any patient with COVID-19. Although there is limited data about the association between blood glucose levels and the disease course of COVID-19 at present, data regarding other infections, such as SARS (severe acute respiratory syndrome) and influenza H1N1 infection, have shown that patients with poor glycemic control have an increased risk of complications and death [5-7]. In many countries. organizing proper care for people with T1DM in a pandemic situation became a pressing issue [8]. In the United Kingdom, the National Diabetes Inpatient COVID Response Group was formed at the end of March 2020 to support the provision of diabetes inpatient care during the COVID-19 pandemic. It was formed in response to two emerging needs. The first was to ensure that basic diabetes services were secured and maintained at a time when there was a call for redeployment to support the need for general medical expertise across secondary care services. The second was to provide simple, safe diabetes guidelines for use by specialists and nonspecialists treating inpatients with confirmed or suspected SARS-CoV-2 infection [9]. As in most countries, including Poland, the COVID-19 pandemic has been very challenging for patients with T1DM, especially during the first 2 months of the pandemic lockdown. In the Malopolska region, around 600 patients with T1DM found themselves in a difficult situation due to the transformation of the University Hospital in Krakow into an infectious diseases center for patients with COVID-19. Thus, some diabetologists who were working on a regular basis in the Outpatient Diabetology Clinic have been transferred to work with patients with COVID-19 and cut off from their patients with T1DM. In Poland, a crisis intervention team for patients with T1DM was established. The goal of the team was to provide psychological support for these patients, if needed, and to present information concerning how these patients may obtain medical consultations and prescriptions.

# Aim of This Study

This study presents data from telephone consultations that were carried out by the crisis intervention team between April 14 and May 11, 2020, and subsequent interventions.

# Methods

### **Study Design**

An email with information concerning the possibility of having a web-based (email, Skype, or telephone) consultation with

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e28097
```

psychologists and psychiatrists and an attached set of psychological tests was sent to 473 patients with T1DM who were under the care of an outpatient diabetes clinic. Of all the individuals who received the email, 50 patients filled in the set of questionnaires and reported their mental condition, and 34 patients did not need psychological support. However, by means of email or telephone contact, these 34 patients asked questions concerning medical issues (eg, how they may contact their diabetologist, how they may obtain prescriptions for insulin, etc), and they were given proper information. In total, 20 patients decided to attend telephone-based psychological consultations. There were 24 consultations conducted from April 14 to May 11, 2020. The average consultation time was 45 minutes; the shortest consultation lasted 20 minutes, and the longest consultation lasted 1.5 hours.

The crisis intervention team included the following: 2 psychiatrists (one was a professor in psychiatry and the head of the Department of Psychiatry, and the other one was also a psychotherapist), 2 clinical psychologists (one with a specialization in psychosomatics and one with a specialization in adult psychopathology; the latter was also a certificated psychotherapist), 1 certificated supervisor of psychotherapy, and 1 professor and regional consultant in diabetology

This study was approved by the Bioethics Committee of the Jagiellonian University in Krakow, Poland, on January 4, 2020 (approval number: 1072.6120.78.2020).

The set of psychological tools included the following:

- The Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations (CISS)—a 4-factor model of humans coping with adversity developed by Endler et al [10]. Their construct differentiates the following three types of coping: task-oriented coping, emotion-oriented coping, and avoidant-oriented coping.
- 2. The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) by Spielberger et al [11]—a commonly used measure of trait and state anxiety.
- 3. The Perceived Stress Scale-10 (PSS-10) designed by Cohen et al [12]—the most widely used psychological instrument for measuring the perception of stress.
- 4. The General Health Questionnaire-30 (GHQ-30)—a screening tool for identifying minor psychiatric disorders in the general population and within community or nonpsychiatric clinical settings, such as primary care settings or general medical outpatient care settings. It assesses a respondent's current state and asks if that state differs from their usual state [13].

# **Studied Group**

In total, 20 persons—7 men and 13 women—contacted a psychologist. All the consulted persons were patients of the University Hospital in Krakow undergoing insulin pump T1DM treatment.

During the first period of lockdown, 1 person needed 3 consultations (1 woman), 2 people had 2 consultations, and 17 people had single consultations. The average age of the consulted persons was 25 years. Further, 6 patients who asked for a crisis consultation were currently undergoing or had previously undergone psychotherapy.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

The data on the underlying psychiatric diagnoses at the time of this study were not complete; 2 patients indicated having depression, 3 said that they had anxiety disorder, and 1 admitted having eating disorder. As a result of the consultations, of the 20 patients consulted, 7 were diagnosed with anxiety disorder (chapter F4 of the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision [ICD-10]) and depression (chapter F3 of the ICD-10), 5 were diagnosed with personality disorder (chapter F6 of the ICD-10), and 2 were diagnosed with eating disorder (chapter F5 of the ICD-10). The diagnoses were based on the ICD-10. Additionally, in 11 patients, adjustment disorder was diagnosed and directly connected to the pandemic situation as a comorbid or main diagnosis. At the consultation stage, the patients claimed that their basic need was to discuss their situations with a psychologist. However, during the later stages of the diagnostic process, 7 patients were referred to psychiatrists for consultation and 5 patients were offered pharmacotherapy. There was no additional survey conducted at the end of this study, but all patients who required further diagnostic procedures and treatment were provided with these benefits.

# **Data Availability**

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author, KC, upon reasonable request.

# Results

# **Consultation Topics**

The main problems that were discussed with the patients with T1DM during telephone intervention during the pandemic lockdown are categorized and presented in Textbox 1.

Of the 20 patients who attended the telephone consultations, 10 submitted their set of questionnaires, and the rest decided to stay anonymous or refused to fill in the questionnaires for various reason.

We decided to carry out statistical analyses for the group of 10 patients who submitted their questionnaires, bearing in mind that they only made up half of the group that underwent psychological intervention, and we compared their results to the results of patients with T1DM who did not need intervention but also filled in the questionnaire screening tools during the pandemic lockdown.

Statistical analyses were carried out using the IBM SPSS Statistics 25 package (IBM Corporation). U Mann-Whitney tests were performed. The classical threshold  $\alpha$  value of .05 was used as the level of significance.



Textbox 1. Main topics issued by the patients during crisis intervention and their descriptions.

### Fear of SARS-CoV-2 infection

- The patients reported high levels of anxiety.
- Worried that they may become infected with SARS-CoV-2 and that they may die or experience complications of diabetes after being infected, 5 patients described nightmares related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

### Feeling depressed

- After a few weeks of lockdown, 13/20 (65%) of the patients who asked for a consultation reported a feeling of sadness, a lack of energy, depressiveness, and a feeling of helplessness.
- Some patients indicated that they were sad because they lost control over their diabetes as a result of an emotional crisis and lockdown-related changes in their daily routine.

### Fear of insufficient medical care

• In total, 19/20 (95%) of the patients admitted that they experienced some level of stress, sadness, or anger because of limited access to the attending physician, especially patients who had their planned visits postponed or cancelled.

### The fear that the attending physician will get hurt or that he will become sick with COVID-19

- As some of the patients had information regarding their attending physician being transferred to work with patients with COVID-19, they expressed fears that he may become infected and that he may not come back to his previous work.
- In total, 3/20 (15%) patients were angry that the hospital "preferred" patients with COVID-19 and took their diabetologist away.
- In total, 4/20 (20%) patients hoped that by conducting the crisis telephone calls, they would be able to send supporting words to their doctors. The patients wished their doctors strength and all the best, which reflected good patient-diabetologist relations and the patients' positive attitudes toward their diabetologists.

### **Disorganization of everyday functioning**

• In total, 16/20 (80%) of the patients who used the telephone interventions admitted to having serious problems with their daily functioning, which intensively affected their type 1 diabetes mellitus control. The dysfunctions included diet modifications, problems with regularly exercising, and financial and work difficulties that resulted in changes in work routine and lowered income (a few patients feared that they would not be able to use an insulin pump because of the loss of work).

#### The fear that insulin will not be available

• In total, 3/20 (15%) of the patients had a strong fear that insulin would not be available and that they would die as a result. After longer conversations, it turned out that the three patients had family trauma concerning Siberia or Auschwitz experiences, which could be interpreted as transmitted family war experiences related to a high level of fear concerning a lack of supplies.

#### Family conflicts due to being together for a long time

- In total, 14/20 (70%) of the consulted patients reported some family tensions or conflicts related to the need to spent a lot of time together in an unexpected lockdown situation.
- The patients connected their stress with worse glycemic control.

#### Need to describe how the patient is coping with an epidemic (to gain reinforcement)

• In total, 5 patients decided to attend the consultations to make sure that they were coping well and to describe how they cope with everyday lockdown challenges concerning type 1 diabetes mellitus and how they support other patients with the disease. They also searched for reinforcement and the possibility of not being alone during their everyday challenges.

#### Worsening of previously present symptoms of mental disorders

- In total, 5 of the consulted patients turned out to have comorbidities to a type 1 diabetes mellitus psychiatric diagnosis. Further, they previously underwent psychological or psychiatric treatment. Some of them had limited access to their therapist and felt the need to discuss their current state. Others were still in contact with their therapist, but they felt that they needed additional crisis consultations.
- All patients who needed further psychotherapy or psychiatric consultations were taken care of, and such help was provided.

# Level of Anxiety in the Examined Groups Measured With the STAI

In the first step, we checked whether the levels of state and trait anxiety varied between the studied groups. As shown in Table 1, there were statistically significant differences in terms of both these variables. A higher level of anxiety was recorded for the group of patients who asked for psychological intervention. The strength of the observed effects was moderately high (Table 1).

RenderX

Table 1. Level of anxiety in the examined groups.

Anxiety type	Scores of patients with T1DM <sup>a</sup> who asked for psychological intervention (n=10), mean (SD)	Scores of patients with T1DM who did not ask for psychological intervention (n=39), mean (SD)	U	Z	<i>P</i> value	r
State anxiety	47.80 (11.29)	40.08 (9.36)	113.5	-2.02	.04	0.29
Trait anxiety	47.20 (8.09)	40.46 (8.09)	102.5	-2.30	.02	0.33

<sup>a</sup>T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus.

# Level of Stress in the Examined Groups Measured With the PSS-10

In the second step, we checked whether the levels of experienced stress were different between the studied groups. As shown in

Table 2, a statistically significant difference was noted. A higher level of stress was recorded for the group of patients who needed crisis intervention. The strength of the observed effect was high (Table 2).

Table 2. Level of stress in the examined groups.

Type of stress	Scores of patients with T1DM <sup>a</sup> who asked for psychological intervention (n=10), mean (SD)	Scores of patients with T1DM who did not ask for psychological intervention (n=39), mean (SD)	U	Z	<i>P</i> value	r
Level of perceived stress	23.60 (5.42)	15.44 (6.30)	62.0	-3.30	.001	0.47

<sup>a</sup>T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus.

# Styles of Coping With Stress in the Examined Groups Measured With the CISS

Table 3 shows that there was 1 statistically significant difference in coping strategies between the patients with T1DM who asked for intervention and those who did not. In the intervention group,

 Table 3. Styles of coping with stress in the examined groups.

a higher emotion-focused coping style level was noted. The differences in task-oriented coping style (P=.27), avoidant-oriented coping style (P=.35), distraction seeking (P=.42), and social diversion (P=.053) levels between the 2 groups were not statistically significant.

Style	Scores of patients with T1DM <sup>a</sup> who asked for psychological intervention (n=10), mean (SD)	Scores of patients with T1DM who did not ask for psychological intervention (n=39), mean (SD)	U	Z	P value	r
Task-oriented style	53.40 (10.34)	56.67 (9.08)	150.5	-1.11	.27	0.16
Emotion-oriented style	49.30 (6.86)	38.23 (10.51)	60.0	-3.36	.001	0.48
Avoidant-oriented style	40.00 (5.87)	42.54 (8.64)	157.0	-0.94	.35	0.13
Distraction seeking	18.30 (3.83)	17.56 (5.68)	162.5	-0.81	.42	0.12
Social diversion	13.90 (4.12)	16.92 (3.92)	117.5	-1.93	.053	0.28

<sup>a</sup>T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus.

# General Mental Health Condition Measured With the GHQ-30

Finally, we checked whether the level of general mental health, which was measured as both a condition and a feature of the examined patients, varied between the studied groups. As can be seen in Table 4, there were statistically significant differences in all three analyzed variables. Higher scale scores were noted for the group that needed crisis intervention. The strength of the observed effects was very large for the anxiety and depression scale scores and large for the other two variables (Table 4).

Table 4. General mental health in the examined groups.

Mental health variables	Scores of patients with T1DM <sup>a</sup> who asked for psychological intervention (n=10), mean (SD)	Scores of patients with T1DM who did not ask for psychological intervention (n=39), mean (SD)	U	Z	P value	r
Fear and depression	2.58 (0.30)	1.85 (0.41)	20.0	-4.36	<.001	0.62
Interpersonal relations	2.38 (0.41)	1.97 (0.39)	97.0	-2.51	.01	0.36
General functioning	2.76 (0.53)	2.30 (0.25)	87.0	-2.73	.006	0.39

<sup>a</sup>T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus.

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e28097

# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

A wide array of evidence-ranging from epidemiological evidence to animal model evidence-points toward the role of psychological stressors in T1DM pathogenesis. Various mechanisms have been proposed, including the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, the influence of the nervous system on immune cells, and insulin resistance [14]. Studies have also indicated that general psychological stress plays a role in the glycemic control of individuals with T1DM [15]. A study of 1396 people with diabetes by Joensen et al [16] showed that worries related to the COVID-19 pandemic are highly prevalent. The participants were most frequently worried about "being overly affected due to diabetes if infected with COVID-19" (56%), were worried that "people with diabetes are characterized as a risk group" (39%), and were worried about "not being able to manage diabetes if infected with COVID-19" (28%). Further, 25% of the participants experienced diabetes distress at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic [16]. With regard to young people and adolescents, stress and social isolation may affect brain health and development. A UK survey that was conducted during the COVID - 19 pandemic found that 83% (1752/2111) of young people with a history of mental health needs felt that their mental health was worse. Further, one-quarter of participants (5/20, 25%) were no longer able to access their usual mental health support [17].

The 2020 pandemic lockdown situation has turned out to be a globally recognized stressor, especially for people with chronic diseases. For individuals with T1DM, this situation has resulted in a multifaceted threat related to their limited access to their attending physician, changes in the everyday organization of life, a sense of threat related to the possibility of being infected and experiencing complications, and many other detriments. Health care providers face the new challenges of providing optimal medical and psychological care for this group of patients and taking into account the difficulties related to the epidemiological situation. University Hospital in Krakow took up this challenge through the collaboration between the Department and Clinic of Metabolic Diseases and the Department of Psychiatry and created a crisis intervention team for patients with T1DM that was available 24 hours per day during the first stage of the lockdown. The patients who decided to engage with this psychological support team reported a set of specific emotional problems and difficulties that, in their opinion, had a major impact on their glycemic control during this period. The patients presented a wide range of problematic issues concerning various aspects of their lives; however, all of these issues were related to their diabetes control. The possibility of using psychological support was a form of intervention that

did not replace diabetological consultation but helped the patients deal with the stressful situation and thus release their tension and improve their feelings of control over the disease. Additionally, the consultations were a source of information on how to obtain medical support, if needed. In the group of patients who decided to use psychological support, 10 persons filled in a set of questionnaires that assessed their mental condition. Their test results indicated high levels of stress, anxiety, and general mental psychopathology in comparison to the patients with T1DM who did not ask for psychological support during the lockdown. Further, it was found that this group of patients was less task oriented and that they reacted very emotionally to the stressful COVID-19 pandemic situation.

Although this study made important observations, it also has some limitations. As the crisis intervention team was designed under the specific conditions of the first stage of pandemic, the main aim was to provide support to the patients as soon as possible. Thus, we did not collect sociodemographic data from all of the patients. Additionally, some of the patients who wanted consultations for their situations did not send their set of questionnaires, as they wished to keep their anonymity. Therefore, we could not analyze the questionnaire results of the whole intervention group. Given these conditions, we also did not focus on analyzing the correlation between the metabolic parameters of the patients and their mental health test results. As the work of the crisis intervention team has continued, we were able to include data on the diagnostic process.

Although the results cannot be generalized due to the small sample, they may suggest that there is a group of patients with T1DM who need regular, special psychological attention due to psychological conditions, which may influence their glycemic control. Apart from their reactions to stress, some patients turned out to have comorbid personality disorder or eating disorder. These disorders develop over time, with some developing from early childhood. Thus, we assumed that these disorders were present before the pandemic lockdown and that this stressful situation was, for some patients, a moment of decompensation. This observation requires further analysis and attention.

# Conclusion

The presented intervention team may be perceived as an example of important and successful cooperation and communication between specialists of different fields of medicine (diabetology, psychiatry, and psychology) in a crisis situation. Although consultations were conducted for a small group of patients, the content of the consultations indicated the legitimacy of and the need for such cooperation on a regular basis, as the mental health of patients with T1DM and their stress management are two of the essential factors in achieving glycemic control.

# Acknowledgments

The University Hospital in Cracow and the Jagiellonian University Medical College are supported by the National Center for Research and Development CRACoV-HHS project (model of multi-specialist hospital and nonhospital care for patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection) through the initiative "Support for specialist hospitals in fighting the spread of SARS-CoV-2 infection and in treating COVID-19" (contract number: SZPITALE-JEDNOIMIENNE/18/2020).

# **Authors' Contributions**

KC and TK conceptualized this study. KC, BM, TK, and DD were responsible for the methodology. KC, BM, and TK conducted the formal analysis. KC and TK conducted the investigation. KC prepared and wrote the original draft of the manuscript. TK, DD, MTM, and BM reviewed and edited the manuscript. TK, DD, and MTM supervised this study. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- 1. Naqvi HA. Mental health in the aftermath of COVID-19: A new normal. J Pak Med Assoc 2020 May;70(Suppl 3)(5):S141-S144. [doi: 10.5455/JPMA.30] [Medline: 32515394]
- 2. Gao YD, Ding M, Dong X, Zhang JJ, Azkur AK, Azkur D, et al. Risk factors for severe and critically ill COVID-19 patients: A review. Allergy 2021 Feb;76(2):428-455. [doi: 10.1111/all.14657] [Medline: 33185910]
- 3. Bloomgarden ZT. Diabetes and COVID-19. J Diabetes 2020 Apr;12(4):347-348. [doi: <u>10.1111/1753-0407.13027</u>] [Medline: <u>32162476</u>]
- 4. Khader MA, Jabeen T, Namoju R. A cross sectional study reveals severe disruption in glycemic control in people with diabetes during and after lockdown in India. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2020;14(6):1579-1584 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2020.08.011] [Medline: 32858476]
- 5. Erener S. Diabetes, infection risk and COVID-19. Mol Metab 2020 Sep;39:101044 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2020.101044] [Medline: 32585364]
- Singh AK, Gupta R, Ghosh A, Misra A. Diabetes in COVID-19: Prevalence, pathophysiology, prognosis and practical considerations. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2020;14(4):303-310 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2020.04.004] [Medline: 32298981]
- Hussain A, Bhowmik B, do Vale Moreira NC. COVID-19 and diabetes: Knowledge in progress. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2020 Apr;162:108142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108142] [Medline: 32278764]
- Chowdhury S, Goswami S. COVID-19 and type 1 diabetes: dealing with the difficult duo. Int J Diabetes Dev Ctries 2020 Jul 14:1-6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13410-020-00846-z] [Medline: 32837091]
- Rayman G, Lumb A, Kennon B, Cottrell C, Nagi D, Page E, London Inpatient Diabetes Network-COVID-19. Guidelines for the management of diabetes services and patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. Diabet Med 2020 Jul;37(7):1087-1089 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dme.14316] [Medline: 32365233]
- 10. Endler NS, Parker JDA, Szczepaniak P, Strelau J, Wrześniewski K. CISS Kwestionariusz Radzenia Sobie w Sytuacjach Stresowych. Warsaw, Poland: Pracownia Testów Psychologicznych; 2020.
- 11. Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene RE, Strelau J, Tysarczyk M, Wrześniewski K. STAI Inwentarz Stanu i Cechy Lęku STAI. Warsaw, Poland: Pracownia Testów Psychologicznych; 2011.
- 12. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R, Juczyński Z, Ogińska-Bulik N. PSS-10 Skala Odczuwanego Stresu. Warsaw, Poland: Pracownia Testów Psychologicznych; 2009.
- Frydecka D, Małyszczak K, Chachaj A, Kiejna A. [Factorial structure of the general health questionnaire (GHQ-30)]. Psychiatr Pol 2010;44(3):341-359. [Medline: 20672514]
- Sharif K, Watad A, Coplan L, Amital H, Shoenfeld Y, Afek A. Psychological stress and type 1 diabetes mellitus: what is the link? Expert Rev Clin Immunol 2018 Dec;14(12):1081-1088. [doi: <u>10.1080/1744666X.2018.1538787</u>] [Medline: <u>30336709</u>]
- Delamater AM, Patiño-Fernández AM, Smith KE, Bubb J. Measurement of diabetes stress in older children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Pediatr Diabetes 2013 Feb;14(1):50-56. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1399-5448.2012.00894.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22913570</u>]
- 16. Joensen LE, Madsen KP, Holm L, Nielsen KA, Rod MH, Petersen AA, et al. Diabetes and COVID-19: psychosocial consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic in people with diabetes in Denmark-what characterizes people with high levels of COVID-19-related worries? Diabet Med 2020 Jul;37(7):1146-1154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dme.14319] [Medline: 32392380]
- 17. Hillson R. Covid-19: psychological issues for people with diabetes and health care staff. Pract Diab 2020 Jun 09;37(3):101-104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pdi.2278]

# Abbreviations

RenderX

CISS: Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations GHQ-30: General Health Questionnaire-30 ICD-10: International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision PSS-10: Perceived Stress Scale-10 SARS: severe acute respiratory syndrome

https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e28097

**STAI:** State-Trait Anxiety Inventory **T1DM:** type 1 diabetes mellitus

Edited by J Torous; submitted 21.02.21; peer-reviewed by H Bhatt, M Vallis; comments to author 12.03.21; revised version received 29.03.21; accepted 14.04.21; published 30.06.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Cyranka K, Dudek D, Małecki MT, Matejko B, Klupa T Psychological Crisis Intervention for COVID-19 Lockdown Stress in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: Survey Study and Qualitative Analysis JMIR Ment Health 2021;8(6):e28097 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2021/6/e28097 doi:10.2196/28097 PMID:33852411

©Katarzyna Cyranka, Dominika Dudek, Maciej Tadeusz Małecki, Bartłomiej Matejko, Tomasz Klupa. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 30.06.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

